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TRANSLATOR’S PREFACE

Every time 2 celebrated political personage dies, one,
two or a host of his surviving intimates and associates fill
their fountain-pens, send out for writing-paper, hire
secretaries and make contracts with publishers to the end
that their dead friend or master may be suitably recorded
for those who already knew all about him. Occasionally
posterity is taken into account, but not often or seriously,
The biographer’s principal intention is to write an extended
obituary notice, pointing out the deceased’s virtues, the
so frequent occasions on which he was right and his
enemies wrong, and, if possible, to produce hitherto
unpublished documents wherewith to support new,
interesting and perhaps sensational revelations.

This book has no such purpose. The impulse which
led to its writing and the circumstances under which it was
written are fully set forth by the author in his first chapter
and need not be elaborated here. His unique contact with
Clemenceau led to an unrivalled opportunity for know-
ledge of him, particulatly during those nightmare days of
the last year of the war. That knowledge, as in the case
of countless others, led to respect and boundless admira-
tion ; but in the case of M. Mattet this admiration went a
step further and became a deep and lasting affection—an
affection which its subject but rarcly commanded in his
active and pugnacious careet.

But it is an affection which frankly stops short of
idolatry. No one can mistake the love and reverence
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which M. Martet felt for his chief; but, equally, no one
can fail to penetrate the author’s careful self-suppression
and perceive the half-sympathetic, half-sardonic smile with
which he regards so many of the activities which occupied
his hero’s life—sepatation of Church and State, universal
male suffrage, ideals of Justice and Patriotism, all the
panaceas which the mature philosopher Clemenceau came
to discard but which the congenital philosopher Mattet
could never from the beginning have taken seriously.

So when the author sets himself to the task of recording
his hero, as he explains in the opening pages of his book,
he is not concerned with re-opening closed debates and
giving temporary life to dead issues. His sole idea is to
make the world see that unique man, Clemenceau, as he
saw him, in three dimensions: Clemenceau speaking,
breathing, scolding, eating, philosophising, haggling and
musing over the sculptutes and pictures which he so
deeply and passionately loved. The old political quarrels
are allowed to lie——Clemencezu is not made to argue them
over again with Thiers and Gambetta. Who cares?
It is mote important to know that he loathed Thiers and
why, that he respected Gambetta and why, that he adored
the painter Claude Monet more than any politician he
had ever known. The sole exception to this general rule
is the controversial matter which still remains open
between Clemenceau and his contemporaries Foch,
Poincaré, the enemy statesmen and the Allied statesmen at
Versailles. Those issues were still living and active when
these conversations took place, and Clemenceau speaks
his mind about them as an advocate of his own views. No
one will regret hearing his re-statement of them or reading
the documents and the new evidence he adduces.

The task that M. Martet set himself, then, is not that
of the journalist whose business it is to discuss, but that
of the artist whose task it is to present. How far he has
succeeded the pages that follow will show. In the prepara-



TRANSLATOR’S PREFACE ix

tion of this translation I have read his manuscript through
with care three times, and have been struck anew each time
with the fact that here was a work of art which partook of
the nature, though it did not perhaps attain the degree, of
Boswell’s portrait of Johnson or Plato’s of Socrates. All
three make their heroes acquainted to us in the only way
that it is possible for a man to know his fellow human beings
—by observing what they did, what they said, what they
felt. And again, in kind though not in degtee, M. Martet
shared this advantage with the others I have mentioned—
that his subject was a man of rare and formidable stature.
No one who probes to the depth of Clemencean’s mind
and follows and studies the contours of his intelligence,
who sympathises with his enthusiasm for the greatness
of man’s achievements, who appreciates the strength of
his hate, the violence of his scorn, the power of love
and loyalty that could be aroused in him, the unsclfishness
of his patriotism (though in itself it may have been exces-
sive) his sense of justice, will fail to recognise that here
was a man who would have been distinguished even if
he had not given his life to action and his name had not
been spread daily across the newspapers of the world.
For there was nothing in which he was interested which he
was unable to illuminate with an original and characteristic
thought couched in a striking and memorable phrase—
and there were few things in which he was not interested.
The arts and sciences, histoty, archzology, sculpture,
pamtmg, geology, the humanities—the manifestations of
man’s effort and his stupidity in the realm of politics,
religion, economics and sociology. With all these he
familiarised himself and pursued their study with intensity.
In these pages there appears also the story of his life.
Owing to the form which these conversations took, as the
author explains in his first chapter, there is no set chronology
of events. Clemenceau talked as ideas and memoties
came to him, making no effort to attain to the effect of 2
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formal statement, and wisely not being encouraged to do
soby M. Martet. Ideas suggested imagesand imagesideas,
and in the course of these talks, which were spread over
neatly two years, he tells of his family, the stout Vendée
yeomen who grew to be landed proprietors in the course
of the centuries; of the corner of France in which he
was born, on 28th September, 1841, which he loved and
returned to all his life and where in the end he was buried,
on 2s5th November, 1929 ; of his relatives, especially his
father and mother, and of their part in forming his mind
and character.

The next period of his life, the scholastic, is given in
some detail, especially his study of medicine, a profession
which he was destined to follow because it had been
followed (somewhat inattentively, we gather) by his father,
his grandfather and his great-grandfather. We see him
through his medical course at Nantes and Paris, and
observe how early and how ardently he threw himself into
the materialistic philosophy so fashionable amongst the
youth of his time, a philosophy to which he gave his final
expression in his last important wortk, Ax Soir de lz Pensée.

The next event of his life was his journey to America
in 1865, “ to see how Democracy wotked out there.” With
many cases of books and a most elegant wardrobe (this
latter passion seems to have left him in middle life) he went
to New York and looked about him, eking out the meagre
allowance which his father was able to give him by teaching
French and riding to young ladies in a school at Stamford,
Connecticut. He martied in America a Miss Plummer,
of Springfield, Massachusetts, heard Dickens lecture, and
came back with a vast indignation against America because
of the way the whites treated the blacks—his feeling in
this respect coloured many of his subsequent opinions of
the United States, as mote recent events in the book show.

Returning to Paris in 1869, he began, with moderate
success, the practice of medicine. But very early it was
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obvious that his lifework was to be politics. An inefface-
able impression was made on him by his father’s arrest in
1848 on an unjust charge of conspiracy against the Second
Empire—the protests of his fellow-townsmen obtained
old Dr. Clemenceau’s release just as he was being trans-
ported to Algiets, the experience costing the reason of one
of his daughters. The young Georges vowed to avenge
his father, and within four years was imprisoned for an
anti-Imperialist demonstration in the Place de la Bastille.

His actval political career began with his appoint-
ment as Mayor of Montmartre in September of 1870—
Napoleon III had been driven cut, the Third Republic had
replaced him, and the victorious Germans were investing
Paris. 'The appointment was confirmed a short time later
in the popular election. Hence, during the fearful and
bloody uprising of the Commune, it was the young Mayor’s
duty to keep order in his troublesome artondissement.
What his problems were will appear in a lengthy document
which he himself compiled in 1872 and which is here
published for the first time, Briefly it may be said that he
had to suppress insurrection on behalf of a government he
distiked, and frustrate the patriotic tebels of the Com-
munards with whom to a large extent he was in sympathy ;
as a result both sides distrusted him, and the document
referred to is his answer to the accusation later brought
against him, that he was in part responsible for the
shocking assassination of Generals Lecomte and Clément
Thomas. In this document all the fury and madness of
civil insurrection is unrolled in simple language.

From then on he remained one of the conspicuous
figures of the Third Republic, 2 thotn in the side of suc-
cessive governments through the papers he edited, two of
which are particulatly referred to—ILa Justice and L’ Homme
Libre. So troublesome did they find him that extreme
measutes were Very neatly resotted to. Grave charges
were brought against him—a dramatic scene in the Chamber
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of Deputies is described, when a Prime Minister, declating
that his colleagues were all afraid of Clemenceau’s tongue,

istol and sword, hurled the direct charge of treason because
one of the backers of Justice, Cornélius Herz, was a German-
born American. On another occasion 2 plot was formed
to inculpate him in treasonable dealings with England by
means of a forgety. And his magnificent defence of the
unfortunate Alfred Dreyfus, the victim of that celebrated
canse céldbre which convulsed France for nearly a decade,
calied down on him as well as on his colleague Zola the
exccration of 2 host of the respectable, whom his sturdy
opposition to priestly influence in the State had already
made his encmics.

Then during the early years of this century came a
period of comparative quiet, during which he sat in the
Scnate and cdited his paper. He travelled widely, always
departing from the beaten track, and collecting impressions
which are peculiarly, often amusingly, his own. In 1906
he became Prime Minister, or President of the Council,
an office he held during the Casablanca crisis, and which
he handled with characteristic firmness. An entertaining
incident of that crisis is here discussed. But being strong-
willed, unable to brook opposition, contemptuous of the
abilities of such colleagues as the Constitution and political
necessity compelled him to include in his Cabinet, he fell in
1909—having, as he remarks, brought down every govern-
ment for thitty years, he ended by bringing down his own.

At the outbreak of the war he was editing L'Homme
Libre and playing a minor part in the political situation.
He still held his seat in the Senate and became a member
of the Military Committee. But the way in which the war
was conducted daily aroused his wrathful contempt, and
the short-lived Ministries, even the President of the
Republic, quivered under the darts of his mordant
sarcasm. The censotship attempted to restrain him by
deleting his editotials ; his answer, more pointed than
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any invective, was to change the name of L'Homme Libre
to L’ Homme Enchainé.

The day came when it was obvious that he and he alone
could end the war successfully. The military situation
was desperate ; patt of the army was in mutiny ; the public
was restive, and defeatists were gathering the courage to
become articulate. Even those who hated him realised
that it was to him that France must turn if she was to win
through. And so in November of 1917 Poincaré, the
man he distrusted and to whom he had refused to
truckle, summoned this modern Cincinnatus to powet.
And to real power, the only kind he would accept. For
this fighting democrat had all his life been by temperament
an autocrat, and in his view the situation now demanded
nothing short of despotism.

The rest of his story is too familiar to require repeti-
tion. He announced his policy in one word, ¢ Victory >-—
the * Tiger’ became known to his countrymen as Pére /a
Vietoire. Ruthlessly, arrogantly, but with supreme self-
confidence, he pressed to his goal. He supported the
unified command, as be explains, though he disliked the
commander—a bitter pill for him to swallow, but a neces-
saty onc. And he achieved victory—it is faitly safe to
say that no one else in his place could have done as much.
He wrangled, bargained, threatened, even compromised
his way through the peace negotiations. Then he resigned,
and fell quickly into oblivion. It will seem sad as well as
surprising to many who read these pages that the hard-
bitten, disillusioned octogenarian cared so deeply because
the crowning honour of the Presidency of the Republic
had been withheld from him—hete he admits the fact.

His life had more of action, of success and defeat,
triumph and disappointment, worship and loathing in it
than fell to the lot of any other man of his time. Yet in
the end he remains apart from it all. His real life was

in his mind ; the rest was only a process of illusion and
b
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disillusion. I can only repeat that had he done none of the
things he did, merely thought the thoughts that were his,
he would have been a greatly distinguished person. He
was 2 Greek of the Periclean age in his passion for ideas,
his ironic attitude towards his fellow-men, his love for his
country—a worthy subject for a book which should become
a permanent contribution to biographical literature.

Mirron WaALDMAN,
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GEORGES CLEMENCEAU

I

INTRODUCTORY
Paris, May 18th, 1928,

My DEAR MARTET,

I have been criticised and attacked. I shall be again.
In order to answer these attacks it is possible that you
will have need of certain documents. Iam giving them to
you, leaving you free to make what you judge to be the
best use of them,

Hereis, first,a collection of documents relating tocertain
facts and notably those of the 18th March, 1871.

Here is, secondly, another collection which will enable
you to make cleat certain events of yesterday :

1. A note from Mordacq about Foch, beginning
with the words, ‘1st October, 1918, the Marshal
states . , .

2. A memorandum by me {. . . . pages) on my relations
with Foch,

3. A letter from Mangin dated 2nd December, 1917.

4. A letter from me to Tardieu, dated 24 November,
1923, relating to the left bank of the Rhine.

Yours,
G. CLEMENCEAU,
Mounsieut Jean Martet, G.C.



2 CLEMENCEAU

I became Clemenceau’s secretary in Februaty, 1913.
'The war had been going on for six months. Clemenceau
was a Senator, member of the Military Committee and the
Committec for Foreign Affairs, besides which he edited
a daily newspaper called before the war L'Homme Libre
and since the institution of the censorship changed to
L’Homuwe Linchainé,

In November, 1917, Clemenceau took office and made
me chicf of his private secretariat. I held this position
unti the fall of the ministry in January, 1920. Clemenceau
had once more become a private citizen ; he had given up
his scat in the senate and resigned the editorship of his
newspaper.! 1 thercupon took over the duttes of an
ordinary secrctary and continued to exercise them for two
or three more years. When I was compelled to leave him
I remained his friend, and retained that friendship until the
day of his death.

In July, 1927, Clemenceau was very seriously ill ; one
day, having gone to the Rue Franklin,? I had so strong an
impression of sccing a dying man that upen my return
home I set down a tew notes on what I then believed to be
his last words and his last views. Why, in the name of
heaven, 1 asked mysclf, hadn’t T undertaken this little job
in the beginning ? What treasures I should have accumu-
lated! But from 191§ to 1920 thete was the war, there
was his ministry : at that time one did not think vety
much about taking notes, of collecting documents for
future books. . . . One knew so little of what the morrow
would bring forth.

Beginning with 1920 I might perhaps have been able
to undertake this task. But I had my daily bread to think
of ; I scarcely had the leisure to wotk for the future,
Besides, I must say that the twenty-four months which I

! The day that the Clemenceau Cabinet was formed L’Homme Enchainé became
once more L' Hompre Libre,
2 He lived at 8 Rue Franklin in Passy.
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had just passed in the Rue Saint-Dominique?! with a
Clemencean for whom nothing existed but action and
struggle, a Clemenceau who seemed, in the grip of this
superhuman necessity, daily mote devoid of all ¢ humanity,’
a Clemenceau whom the armistice perhaps left a little drunk
with his victory—those twenty-four months, though they
had assuredly not caused me to lose my admiration for him
(on the contrary, for I had seen him at work : I had seen how
in one year, from November, 1917, to November, 1918, he
had wrested victoty from the tragic and desperate situation
in which mattets stood when he resumed office), had
diminished a little the filial affection which I bote him when
he was solitary, beaten and hated. For © one should only
write about what one loves.”

I found him again alone in 1927, and if he was not
hated, it was only because he had been forgotten. Itis per-
haps one of the most incredible facts of history, the career
of this man, who, having saved his countty, saw himself
abandoned by everyone less than ten years after his triumph,
thrust into a loneliness for which I fervently hope France
will one day blush. By 1927 the stupidity and ingratitude
of his fellow citizens had brought together those who during
the years of war and victory had seen him as the arm rather
than the man, and who had admired rather than loved him.

It was at this time that I began to make notes of these
conversations, I went to see him, and we talked, or more
accurately he talked, for he was always very fond of
expressing himself with the spoken word, believing that
it frequently arranged and gave direction to his thoughts.
When I returned home I set down as faithfully as I could
all that I had been listening to, not only all of the
essentials, but with the turns of phrase, the colour, intona-
tion, the liveliness that he had given it. I shall probably
be charged with having put in Clemenceau’s mouth words

1 The old mansion of the Ministry of War is situated in the Rue Saint-
Dominique,
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which he never uttered.  Well, if that accusation is made,
I shall answet that T may have been, that I have certainly
been, incxact on occasions in feproducing these conversa-
tions ; but never in the way of adding, oaly in curtailing.
That scemed to me proper. I thought it right to dis-
tinguish between what was actually said to me and what
was thought aloud in my presence. Everything that I
have written was spoken, and nearly always to the exact
wotd, to the comma almost ; I may have made mistakes
in names or dates, have heard incorrectly, or remembered
imperfectly, but if so I should be surprised ; my hearing
and my memory ate both quite good.

1 have recorded all this without the least desire to
intrude myself. 1 did not even want to correct certain
ungrammatical turns of phrase which he used, nor to read
into vatious somewhat supetficial reflections what Clemen-
ccau had disdained to put into them. Some will say
perhaps, hackneyed jokes; commonplaces.” 1 should
indeed like to heat the ultimate truths which fall from
their lips when they are prattling with a friend. . . .

It will be seen that in the majority of these conversa-
tions Clemenceau avoids speaking of his current activities
and turns to his past. He passes in review his childhood,
his youth, his travels, his struggles for the Republic,
against clericalism, etc. These conversations, with the
lively pages hetein included which he himself wrote on his
part in the tragic days of March, 1871, are, I believe, the
only ‘Memoirs’! which he will leave? They are of
course incomplete, and it will be noticed that, like all old
men, Clemenceau remembers the earlier years of his
life more easily and willingly than more recent events.
But these recollections have one outstanding merit.
Clemenceau spoke them instead of writing them, and

1 His book on Foch is an admirable historical and political work : it is not

his memoirs,
? The future tense is due to the fact that this was written shortly before

Clemenceau’s death.—Translator's note,
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consequently left them their freshness and colour. No
pen could have conjured him up so well as these modest
little gramophone recotds, which, I trust, will show him to
us as he was, in his ardent, impetuous, reckless youth, in
his victories and defeats, in the spares and treacherics he
encountered in his life. I may presume to utter this
eulogy of the following pages—for I only wrote them to
dictation.

The reader will notice that at the beginning these con-
versations go on at random. I do not attempt to give
them one direction rather than another. Clemenceau
passes from M. Poincaté to Soir de la Pensée from Soir
de la Pensée to his little cottage in the Vendée,? etc.

But one day, the 12th May, 1928, Clemenceau sent for
Piétri ® and myself, and turning to me said: ‘I am about
teady to make my last appearance. I am going to talk to
you about a few of the “ crimes " of which I have been
accused ; it is right that you should know how to answer.’

These © crimes ” were the Commune, the assassination
of Lecomte and Clement Thotmas,* Cornélins Herz,® the
Dreyfus affair.

When Clemenceau satd that he temembered these
distant occurrences I remarked that there wete in fact other
‘ crimes * even more recent which were being dragged out
and hurled at him oftener ; his attitude towards Monsieur
Poincaré, towards Marshal Foch, the way in which he had
conducted the war, concluded peace, etc. Clemenceau

L Tt was in 1927 that Clemenceau published his large philosophical work in
two volumes, wherein he set forth his conception of the universe,

2 Clemencezu was the tenant of 2 little farm house in the Vendée at Saint-
Vincent-sur-]Jard, where he passed his summer months,

3 Executor of Clemencean’s estate. His best friend and the one who showed
hirmn the warmest and most disinterested affection (see later).

1 On the r8th March, 187r, Generals Lecomte and Clement Thomas were
killed by the Communards in Patis. Clemencean was Mayor of Montmartre at
that time and was accused of having taken a hand in this assassination.

§ In 189z, when Clemencean was editor of Justics, he was accused of having put
his paper at the disposal of Gemmany through the instrumentality of one of his
sleeping partners, Cotnélius Herz,
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gave his views on all these issues, then he told me the story
of his life. He * spoke ” his memoirs to me. I don’t think
that anyone will be surprised at the desultory and irregular
coursc of these talks ; they are only conversations and not
a formal cxamination. Probably some contradictions will
be found and perhaps some unjust and excessive state-
ments ; and it would be impossible to eliminate these
unless I ignored lapses of concentration and portrayed 2
Clemencean who wasn’t really Clemenceau.

Henry Bernstein hassaid : “ Thelife of Georges Clemen-
ceau is the finest contemporary work of art. What a
poem! What subject in tragedy can outdo in pathos the
fate of this contemporary of ours?’ I apologise to the
memory of Clemenceau ; but this is the only point of view
that I have been able to take in writing these pages. Heis
great because he won a war which seemed to have no end,
he is perhaps greatest of all for having lived as he did in
the midst of passion, hazard, danger, hate, contumely. He
fought for liberty and for justice and for even more decep-
tive chimeras. There was no day which for him was not
a day of defeat or victory. He was loved to the point of
adoration, denicd and forgotten in the depths of oblivion.

All of his partisans of one day became his adversaries
of the next.  He was accused of everything and worse than
everything. He made men and he unmade them. He
formed parties and spurned them with disgust. He loved
action with a kind of intoxication and came in the end to
see the vanity of it.

Who was right, he or Gambetta? he ot Jules Ferry ?
he or M. Poincaré ? he or M. Briand ? It matters little |
Even Monsieur Briand and Monsieur Poincaré would
agrec to this: if he was wrong his very mistakes were
on the grand scale, noble, splendid—and useful. The
hatted which he kept to his last day for the opponents
of his ideas and his methods was of value to them, and
could not but increase their capacity for action and for
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thought. One only learns one’s own strength when met
with opposition.

I hope that I shall be pardoned, then, for having tried
to protract the echo of a voice which has not always sounded
agreeably in people’s ears: for the sake of humanity’s
records I have not the right to leave this chronicle in my
drawer.

I hope also that the plain reader will forgive me for
having so often brought myself on the scene in the course
of the following pages. The ‘ myself ” who turns up neatly
every instant will perhaps in the end seem odious. But
in order that Clemenceau might talk it was necessary that
there should be someone to listen to him. I was that
listener ; that is all that I was, and beyond that I have no
vanity in the matter.



II

THE Dying MaN
July 11th, 1927

I am at my desk. Bernier? is speaking to me on the
telephone :

‘Hallo! isthatyou? Ihavejust been brought a news
agency despatch.  I'm going to read it to you. . . . Are
you listening ?”’

¢ Go ahead’

““M. Georges Clemenceau, who has grown weaker
during the last fortnight and kept to his room, has become
noticeably worse in the last 48 hours.”’

‘Goonl’

““Professor Laubry and Dr. Florand, the former
Premicr’s usual doctors, have called a consultation. We
are informed that, though they do not consider the con-
dition of the illustrious patient critical, they at least thought
it advisable to inform his family that his condition is giving
cause for serious uneasiness.” Do you hear me?” asks
Bernier.

¢ Continue.” . . .

¢“In consequence, M. Albert Clemenceau, brother of
the former Premier, his son M. Michel Clemenceau and his
daughter Mme. Jacquemaire, have been notified, and went
at once to the Rue Franklin, His other daughter, Mme.
Yung, who is taking a cure, will arrive shortly.

““No definite illness is affecting M. Clemencean,
Certain organs, especially the heart and the lungs, are stiil

1 Diirector of L’'Homme Libre. Bernier lived for many years in the most
intimate friendship with Clemenceau,
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functioning petfectly; but a noticeable decline in the
mental faculties of the former President can be noticed.”’

I start. “What’s that! Decline in his mental
faculties 7 They’ve written #haz?’

‘Let me finish,” says Bernier. *“ However, a slight
improvement was noticed yesterday, and M. Clemenceau
has been able to take light noutishment.”

“Is thatall?’

‘Yes. . . . When did you last see him ?°

‘ Not a month ago. He was in petfect health and his
spirits were livelier than those of three-quarters of the men
of our own age.” . . .

‘ Oh, my dear fellow ! My dear fellow |* says Bernier,
who is on the point of teats.

‘ He spoke of a voyage which he wanted to make to
the coast of Asia Minor? A fortnight ago I received
a most enthusiastic letter from him. . . . To-day his mental
faculties are failing 1’

‘Try to get some information. Telephone the Rue
Franklin. You’ll let me kaow what’s going on, won’t
you?’

“ Yes, presently.’

I telephone the Rue Franklin. Passy 98-82. A num-
ber which I am getting to know. . . . A thick, peevish
voice answers—Brabant’s, the chauffeur.

“Is Albert 2 there P’

“Yes.’

¢ Let me speak to him.

And when Albert is at the end of the wire : ¢ Now then,
what’s happening ? M. Clemenceau is ill ?*

‘Yes. . . 0

1 M. Clemenceau intended, for a short while, to write 2 book on the Ionians
and Dorians. He saw in them certain bases of comparison with the age in which
we are living, It was on March 24th that he fisst spoke to me of his project,  * That
sea, that Pacliament of Islands!  'Will you corne? Il take you.” His ideas shortly
took another turn, and the project was abandoned.

* The valet. He was for years the most petfect and devoted of M. Clemen-
ceau’s servants,
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“ Seriously ill 2’

“ That’s to say . . . Things aren’t going . . .}

‘ But are they feeling uneasy ?’

¢ Does Monsieur wish to come ? Twill tell him. . . .
He will be able to see Monsieur. Three minutes. . . .

Taxi.

Rue Franklin.

Albert opens the door for me,

‘Well2?

‘ Well, he’s been ill for five or six days, very ill. His
memory’s going. In the evening he no longer remembers
the people he saw in the morning. He has become much
thinner ; he can’t stand on his legs any more.’

‘Can I see him?’

He shows me into the study. I see this room again
—full of books, full of Indian, Chinese, Japanese objects,
all with 2 kind of strident heaviness, and giving the illusion
of having come from the remotest points of space and time
in order to find a billet where they could be traversed in
the flap of a wing. . . . I see again the Daumier,! the
Monct.2  Above the door the enormous pale mask of
Queen Taiae ® smiles mystetiously. On one of the book
shelves the Tegea head*® looks with serenity towards the
Infinite.

Albert returns to fetch me. 1 cross the little hall,
also crammed to the ceiling with books, atlases, old papers,
dictionaries. I hear a dismal cough—his. I enter the
room. He is there, fully dressed, wearing his grey jacket,
swallowed up in the sofa, fat, heavy and over-stuffed like
a mattress, which a furniture dealer had offered him at the

! In rg1g the Ministers of Clemenceau’s Cabinet had given their President this
vety lovely Daumier which represents Don Quixote and Sanche Panza,

¢ A Jandscape, It is well known that Claude Monet was & pgreat friend of
M. Clemenceav. In 1928 Clemenceau wrote 2 monograph on the work of this
great painter.

3 The original of this cast is in the Cairo Museum.

4 A head of 2 Goddess of the finest period of Greek sculpture. The osigina]
is in the Muscum of Tegea.
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time of Cottin’s attempt at assassination.? He is hemmed
in, shut off—sullen. His face is hollow, his eyes half-
shut. He extends a lifeless hand which at once falls back
inits place. With a flicker of his eyelids he indicates a seat.

I ask him: ‘Are you coughing? Have you got
bronchitis ??

A vague gesture. ‘Icough ... Idonotcough. ..
I don’t know anything about it. You know . . . What
God does . . . He has His own ideas.’

¢ What treatment have they prescribed for you ?°

‘Oh! Little stories, fantasies; that’s none of my
business. My business is to be ill.”

‘I thought you were leaving for the Vendée.’

*Yes, but at the last moment T changed my opinion
about my health.’

It was not a bad phrase on the tongue of one whose
‘ mental faculties were declining.’

He is silent. I don’t know what to say. I don’t
want to speak to him of himself. I speak of myself,
idiotically, . . . of my work, of my troubles. . .

¢ What,’ he says, ‘ did I heat you remark that thete wete
several sluts running about the streets 7 There ate indeed.
That’s necessary for the picturesque aspect of things.’

Again silence. I venture this question :

‘ Have you scen Mandel ?’ 2

‘Yes. Who has not seen Mandel? He pierces walls
. . . I find him from time to time . . . there, in front of
me . . . on 4 sofa, in a chair. He tells me things. Ido
not listen. He is satisfied.” ®

1 Tt will be remembered that in 1919 Clemencean received 2 bullet wound from
a man named Cottin,

2 A deputy. Formerly head of M. Clernencean’s Cabinet,

3 M. Clemencean was always fond of these witticisms about Mandel, On
July 23rd hewrote tome: ‘Isee from the papers that Mandel has been operated on
for anthrax and that the English are going to fortify Singapore. Although there
is no connection between them, both phenomena are equally deplorable. I can
see the intervention of Gosset (the surgeon) in the first case, But no sign of the
League of Nations in the second.”
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¢ Are you suffering from diabetes at the moment ?’

‘It’s possible . . . I have everything and nothing.
These village witch-doctors try to put little tickets on my
diseases. They exert themselves quite uselessly. My own
impression is, chiefly, that I am 86 years old. . . . Ah,
Martet! Martet! What do you think of all this ?’

¢ Of all what, sit?”’

‘Oflife? Of men?’

I can no longer see anything in his eyes but a little
stcely flame. Not a word which does not bear the mark
of his will and his scoffing sanity—to their extreme limit.
But he is tired, so tired! I should like to say a friendly
word to him, but I am afraid lest he suspect my anxiety.
As a matter of fact it would not frighten him. He feels
himself to be dying ; he weighs oblivion with an amused
look and an air of saying : ° So that’s the hole I'm about to
jump into? Let’s sce what’s at the bottom of it.’

With 2 gesture of his grey-gloved hand he shows me
a letter on the table: ° There’s an Englishman who has
wiitten to remind me that it will soon be ten years since
I came into power. He would like to know if T have
any impressions about it. I haven’t. I haven’t even any
memories. . . . Have you any memories ?’

“ That is all T have, sir.”

‘ Eventhatistoomuch, Forget, Martet. Let’s forget,
let’s be men of our own time.’

Then, as 1 extend my hand to take my departure :

“ Tell your Poincaté . . . tell him I have nothing to
say to him.’

Albert is waiting for me behind the door. He escorts
me out. We exchange a couple of words. The doctors
have said that he ought not to receive any visitors. - -

‘How do you find him?* Albert asks me. I shrug
my shoulders.

Outside a storm has broken noisily. I should like to
telephone to Betnier, but all the telephones in the neigh-
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bourhood are out of order. The rain falls like a warm
shower-bath, Lightning flashes, A few spiteful kicks on
a sheet-iron heaven. Something Aeschylean, which seems
specially made to the measute of the dying man. For he
is going to die . . . and he was so great, so great !

Forget? How can I? The coming to power in
November 1917—I remember it as I lived it, in a kind of
stupor; I remember how inevitable and yet how un-
expected it was at the same time.

For many, many months M. Clemenceau’s intimates had
advised him to adopt an attitude of conciliation towards
M. Poincaré. Mandel repeated it to him every evening at
U"Homme Enchainé, and very frequently returned the next
morning to the Rue Franklin to reiterate it once more,

¢ But pardon me, Mr. President, what would M. Guizot
or M. Thiers * in sitilar citcumstances have . . .

‘Lay off it, Mandel! You look at everything like a
politician 1’

As for myself—although I made it a habit not to inter-
fere too much in these things—I could not help saying to
M. Clemenceau in our morning conversations * what I
thought of all this.

‘In your to-day’s article you still take a line against
M. Poincaré. You reproach him with not wanting to
know and not knowing what he wants. . .

¢ Yes, because it’s true.  Oughtn’t it to be said ?”’

‘I don’t know if it ought to be said or not. But I do
know that in saying it you take away from M. Poincaré all
desire to entrust you with power. . . .’

“Well °

1 Mandel always expressed himself in the most academic phraseology and talked
through his nose. I shared the same room with him at the War Oifice for over
two years, and I know his eloquence.

* In 1917 I went to the Rue Franklin in the morning and to the office of
P Homms Enchainé, 13 Rue Taitbout, in the evening,
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¢ The war will end without you, and I am afraid that in
conscquence it will end very badly.” . . .

‘It will end as it began and as it is being prose-
cuted. . .

“Exactly ! T am sure that M. Poincaré is only waiting
for a sign from you in order to appeal for your co-operation.
For the Jove of God, make that sign !’

Clemeniceau stopped joking and locked at me with
sardonic eyes :

‘ No, Martet,” he said to me, “ I'shan’t make that sign—
you can do what you like. I shan’t do it, for this reason:
that, far from seeking power like all these worthy people,
Pm afraid of it. I am terribly afraid of it. I would give
anything to escape from it! You have merely to look at
me and sec clearly that I’m a goner : seventy-six years old,
rotten with diabetes. . . . How do you expect me to pull
it off 7 Sccondly, I'm not at all sure that we could pull it
off in the pass to which we’ve come.’

 You think that Germany can’t be beaten ?’

‘I think it’s a job, a difficult one . . . not because
Germany is Germany ; German strength has its limits
the Boche is stupid, narrow.  But because France is France,
My unhappy country frightens me. I look about on all
sides : I scc nothing. I see . . . Patliament bewildered
and cnslaved, a press . . . pteposterous, a public opinion
unbalanced, distracted . . . and beyond all that just words.
Ah! those magnificent words. Never have such beautiful
speeches been heard ! A pity that that isn’t enough for
victory !’

¢ But, nevertheless, if M, Poincaré tendered you office ?°

‘But do you really mean that he will offer it to me?
Despite everything, alas! Despite everything !

¢ What shall you do?’

‘I shall accept. One cannot refuse office.  But I shall
not have sought it. There will be nothing to reproach me
with : not the wink of an eye, not the shuffle of a foot,
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Then the power that will be offered me will have this new
and special quality about it, that it will be real power.’

During this time M. Clemenceau wrote such things as :

gth September: ‘ The President of our Republic has
not made much mote than a beginning. . . > It was the
day after the fall of the Ribot Cabinet, at the height of the
ministerial crisis.

13th September: ° M. Poincaré himself ended up by
understanding that there is a public opinion in France.’

8th October : “My cotrespondent has concluded, “ Of
what is M. Poincaré thinking then? ™ ‘I answered, “ Of
himself.” >  FEtc., etc.

Painlevé’s Cabinet falls.?

On the 15th November M. Clemenceau was still writing
his daily article : Bernier must have the text of this in his
archives, and probably Clemenceau tacked on to it with
his own vitriolic and savage pen a footnote directed against
‘’homme de I'Elysée.” But the article did not appear,
For in the afternoon of the 15th Clemenceau, who had
alteady been called by the President of the Republic on the
afternoon of the 14th, was again summoned by M. Poincaré,
who tendered him office.

Clemenceau accepted. In the issuc of J'Homme
Enchainé of the 16th Clemencean’s article was replaced with
an article by M. Camille Picard, deputy for the Vosges,
¢ Why We Shall Hold On.> It was no longer just a question
of ‘holding on.” . . . Save for the title one would have
known instantly that Clemenceau had dropped his pen.

On leaving the Elysée on the 15th Clemenceau began

1 The ministties from 1914 onwards were :
15t Viviani (June 13th to August 26th, 1914).
2nd Viviani (August 26th to October zgth, 1915).
1st Briand {December 1zth, 1916, to March zoth, 1917}
Ribot (Mzarch 20th to September 12th, 1917).
Painlevé (September 12th to November 16th, 1917).
Not to mention minor changes.
Since the outbreak of war thete had been six War Ministers : M. Messimy,
M. Millerand, General Galliéni, Geaeral Roques, General Lyauatey, M. Painlevé,
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his visits, calling on M. Antonin Dubost, President of the
Senate, and M. Deschanel, Presideat of the Chamber, On
the 16th the Cabinet is formed. Clemenceau presents his
colleaguesto M. Poincaré : M. Nail, who holds the Portfolio
of Justice, M. Pichon, of Foreign Affairs, and so forth.
The papers say, © Speed record.” The reason was that the
Clemenceau Ministry had been formed well befote Pain-
levé’s was overturned.
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TuE Dving MAN COME 10 LIFE AGAIN

July 12th, 1927,

I telephone the Rue Franklin., Albett tells me: ‘ He
passed a good night, this morning he has been able to eat.
Florand came : he’s satisfied.’

July 22nd,

I was compelled to leave Patis for several days. I
wrote to Albert, He answered: ‘I am happy to be able to
tell you that M. Clemenceau is well on the way to acomplete
cure. The doctors are allowing him to leave for the
Vendée . . . but he doesn’t date undertake the trip. His
great weariness persists and the vigour which you have
always known him to have isn’t there any longer. You
can write to him. . . . Butif he answers you himself it will
be with difficulty. Words do not flow easily from his
pen any more and it is often necessaty to re-wtite the
addresses on his letters.”

I writealetter to Clemenceau over which I take a great
deal of trouble and in which I try not to show my anxiety.

Then one fine morning the following appeared in the
papets :

¢ Louveciennes, 3oth July.—M. Georges Clemenceau,
former President of the Council, was present this morning
at the marriage in the Mairie of Louveciennes,! of his
grandson, M, Georges Clemenceau,? to Mlle. Jeanne-Lucie
Roseneau.

1 A small place near Paris.
2 The elder of Michel Clemenceaun’s two sons.
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‘ The witnesses were: for the groom, M. Georges
Clemenceau, his grandfather ; for the bride, M. Loweanthal.

* The ceremony took place in the strictest privacy.

¢ The two families and 2 few guests went on foot from the
Chiteau de Louveciennes to the Mairie.

‘M. Georges Clemenceau, who seemed very vigorous
and very cheerful, left Louveciennes at once after the
ceremony and returned to Paris by car.’

And I receive this card from Albert :

¢ Saint-Vincens,? the znd.
¢ MoxNsteEUR MARTET,

‘lamvery glad to notify you of the arrival in the Vendée
of the President after an excellent journey which has not in
the least tired him. His health is as good as it could be at
the moment and I notice that he is working regulatly now.

Believe me, etc. . . .

Aupgust 15th,

The newspapers announce :

‘Dr. Antoine Florand, honorary physician to the
hospitals of Paris, Commander of the Legion of Honour,
has just died.’

It was—if I may say so—a dramatic stroke of the kind
whose tragic humour Clemenceau so deeply appreciated.
Death was unable to do anything with him, therefore he
carried oft his physictan.

1 Saint-Vincent-sur- Jard {Vendée). It was here—at the seaside—that Clemencean
had 2 housc called Bel-Ebat,
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¢ A MIXTURE OF ANARCHIST AND CONSERVATIVE ®

September 20th, 1927.
The papers announce : M. Clemenceau has left Saint-
Vincent-suz-Jard by road for Paris, where he will remain
several days. He will also retutn by road.’
September 21st.

I telephone the Rue Franklin. It is the cook who
answers : M. Clemenceau is back. But the flat is under-
going repairs and he has gone to stay with M. Piétri.” 2

2 Avenue de Messine. A large room with two windows
on the Avenue and the Boulevard Haussmann. Albert
shows me in at the same time as an American whom I
have just met on the landing.

. And Clemenceau is there, erect and solid, returned from
aft,

CLEMENCEAU : Come in! (To the Anrerican) How are
you? You’re looking very well. (Te me) And you?
What has become of you? It’s odd. I often look for
your name in the papers, but I never see it. . . .

MYSELF : There must be some shrinking violets.

[I notice on the mantelpiece an enormons
Browning antomatic conspicuously in view,
very black against the white marbls.

! Piétti bad known Clemencean in 1917. In 1921 he tock him to Corsica,
From there Clemencesu wrote to me: “ Corsica is a place where you cao always
hear 2 hmllabaloo in every direction.  You can’t go and pick a rose without a rifle
and several pistols in hand. You're usually forced to lie prone on the ground
before daritig to go down into your garden. You soon get used to it bowever,
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Huh! What’s that for ?
CLEMENCEAU : What ?

MYSELF : That instrument over there.

CLEMENCEAU: Oh! That, Martet, is simply because
I don’t allow anyone to stand in front of my car on the road
with the idea of preventing my passing.

MyYsELF : If he does, you fire on him ?
CLEMENCEAU : Rather !
MYSELF : But if it’s a policeman ?

CLEMENCEAU : Specially if it’s a policeman! (Tv the
Apmerican) I must tell you that I am a mixture of anarchist
and conservative, in proportions which still remain to be
determined.  (To both of us) Sit down.

[We sit down. The American atters a few
words tn English.  Then, suspecting
that 1 do not wnderstand, be changes
over politely 1o French, which bhe
Speaks very well,

THE AMERICAN : But you look as if you were going on
marvellously.

CLEMENCEAU : Yes. I have decided not to die this
time: 86 years . . . My life would have been too short.
I must be allowed a little more time. When I left Paris
1 was practically a goner. I had laryngitis with a kind of
diabetic bronchitis. . . . Now I look myself over—it’s all
right, T left the Vendée yesterday morning, and before
leaving I made three appointments here for 3.0, 3.5 and 3.10.
At seven minutes to three I was climbing these stairs. Not
bad, eh, for a dead un ?

MYSELF : Then you are settled in here ?

CLEMENCEAU : Yes. They're making a devil of a
mess at my place, tearing off the wallpaper and taking
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up the carpets. They tell me it was dirty. Was it
dirty ?
MYSELF : Yes, it was 2 little dirty.

CLEMENCEAU : Ugh! Then they’re cleaning. I think
that you are satisfied with our foreign policy ?

MYSELF: Sir, ] . ..

CLEMENCEAU : You have reason to be. M. Briand
believes in peace, so that’s all right. ‘There 75 2 man who
believes in it perhaps a little less: I mean President
Hindenburg.? Mark well what I'm telling you: in six
months, in a year, five years, ten yuars, when they like,
as they like, the Boches will invadeus. Idon’t know if you
recently saw in the Josmrnal that extraordinary pictute—it
represented all the ministers in the park at Rambouillet, at
2 meeting of the Cabinet, frolicking with a swan. That
picture reassured me, We are well defended.?

THE AMERICAN : And the Vendée? How is it there ?
Did you have good weather ?

CLEMENCEAU : Yes, it rained all the time.
MYSELF : You love the rain,

CLEMENCEAU : Ido. Itis the one divinity which really
does good. Thanks to the rain I now have in my garden,
in front of my windows, plants as high as that (éndérating
with bis bhands) between myself and the sea. Ah! Martet,

1 Jtwas at the time of the Tannenburg speech,

Z ‘The silence of Clemencean since 1520 was caused in large part by this hope-
less pessimism. He wrote to me in 1922 : * We are marching to catastrophe so
complete that it is impossible for me to find a way oot of it. The worst of it is
that these puppets who have brought us to this point are enly in part responsible.
They have given themselves away. ‘The country has tolerated everything. Even
to-day all it can do is to wring its hands, The defeat of Germany was crushing.
You see how she rebounded. Amongst us I only see the lowest kind of ambition
in the midst of a complete collapse into apathy.  As far as I am concerned I atn ready
to act. But ] should like to know if it is a question of having oneself killed
all alone for good government, or if it is possible to obtain a concentration of
enczgies,”
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when I'm there, seated on my bench, I am happy. (7o
the American) 1 must tell you that your Coolidge is an
exttaordinary specimen.  You will have got on very well
with your debts by the time you have ruined us. You
will be a little more alone in the world than you are to-day.
As for England . . .

THE AMERICAN : England will always be England !

CLEMENCEAU: 1 should think there ate very good
chances of it! As for Japan, it is useless to talk of her.
1f she could only swallow you! And then? There was
France, We didn’t hate you. We loved you rather.
We arc such a funny people.  'When we find ourselves face
to face with people who allow us to live at all we always
want to fling ourselves on their necks. When we are no
longer here what will you do? Towards whom will you
turn ? But you get angry with me when I say that.

THE AMERICAN : No. We are never angry with you.
We forgive you even when you haven’t a very high idea
of us. We have a very high idea of you.

CLEMENCEAU : Yes, I know you. You applaud me,
you send me flowers, and when my back is turned
. . . Oh, well, there are 2 few good Americans, I suppose.

THE AMERICAN : Thank you.

MYSELF : What have you come to Paris for ?

CLEMENCEAU : Ob, a very sad business. I have come
because of my sister.? She is seventy-seven years old

1 Clemenceau wrote to me from the Vendée on July 27th, 19231 * With my
books, my flowers and the sea, I am in a very comfortable nook, T have not
budged from my window for 2 week,’

August 8th, 1925,

*1am in a bath of flowers and I am slogging away at animal psychology, now
watching my dog who is eating his leash (thereby showing his superiority to many of
us humans), now putting my own questions to shrimps and sardines, who make no
reply. . . . The weather does not matter here, There is sunshine in my * soul,”
whatever happens. The proof is that at the prize distribution at the Saint-Vincent
schooldI made a speech which astonished myself even, I am discoveting myself
cvery day.”

 Mille. Adrienne Clemenceac.
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and has conttracted a disease about which nothing can be
done, and she knows it. Which does not prevent her
from writing to everybody letters as calm and serene as
if she were as well as you or I. I’ve come to look up
a nursing home for her, I thought at first of the Sisters
in the Rue Bizet,! but they told me there: ‘We only
accept people for operations. But wait 2 moment. We
will ask the Mother Superior.” Then I left. I went to
the Rue Antoine Chantin, to Gosset’s nursing home. . . .
Chantin ? Do you know anything about him, Martet ?

MYSELF : He is probably some great man or other.

CLEMENCEAU : There are too many of them. One gets
lost amongst them.2 In a few days I shall go back to the
Vendée. Not for long, though. She has only a few
months to live . . . (57ghs) God deceives me !

MYSELF : Fortunately you still have men left.

CLEMENCEAU : Fortunately we still have men left.

[Enter Albert.

ALBERT : Thete is a man here who would like to see
you, sir. He says he is the son of M. Momus of Lourdes.

CLEMENCEAU ;: M. Momus of Lourdes ?
ALBERT : Yes, Sif,

CLEMENCEAU : Don’t know him. I know one Momus :
he is the hero of the little thymes. Maybeit’she. Martet,
you’ve been my secretary. Carry on as if you still were.
See this heto, squeeze the’juice out of him and toss him
away.,

[f goout. Albert says : “ I think be's off
bis head” I come face to face in the
doorway with a man whose eyes burn
with alarming brilliance.

1 1t was here that M. Clemenceau had had an operation on the prostate gland.

2 Clemencean’s little joke about the Parisian passion fur saming streets after the
latest celebtity, major or minor.— Translator’s note,
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THE MAN : M. Clemenceau ?

MYSELF : He’s just gone out.

THE MAN : They told me he was here.

mysELr : They were wrong. What do you want of
him ?

THE MAN : It’s about a family affair. I have come to
find him because I know he’s got some  pep.” I have my

rights to vindicate. I also have ‘pep,’ and 1 have a
Browning in my pocket with six bullets in it.

MYSELF : I might have suspected it. If you have any-
thing to communicate to M. Clemenceau, write me a note.
I will consider it, I will speak to M. Clemenceau about it,
and if he judges that he ought to and can interfere he will
do so.

THE MAN : There’s a good deal of “ if * in all this.
MYSELF : 1 can’t do any more than that.

THE MAN : What’s your name ?

MYSELF : Martet.

[He writes the name on a newspaper which
be takes from bis pocket, and offers me
his left band ; bis right hand is bandaged.
I push him gently towards the daor.

THE MAN : I should have preferred to see M. Clemen-
ceau.

MYSELF : Write to me. It’s the same thing.
THE MAN : So you say.

[He goes out.
MYSELF (fo Albert) : Who is the American ?

ausirT: He is Colonel Bonsal, who accompanied us

during our visit to America.?
[I go back into the room.

1 In 1922,
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CLEMENCEAU : Well ?

MYSELF : It’s a man who asserts that he has rights to
vindicate . . .

CLEMENCFAU : Oh! TI’m not so keen about that. . . .

MYSELF : . . . and has a Browning with six bullets in
his pocket.

THE AMERICAN : Ohl

CLEMENCEAU (who bas seen others like that). Good!
Would you like me to tell you about my last love affair ?

THE AMERICAN : Not the last : the most recent,

CLEMENCEAU : Yes, but I don’t like to boast, I was
in the Vendée with two or three young women who had
come to see me. . . .

THE AMERICAN : That’s quite a habit of yours, isn’t it ?

CLEMENCEAU (fo m¢): You know one of them—little
Bensa.! One day, taking advantage of the fact that I had
gone for a walk, and secing on what terms of familiarity
we were, little Bensa and 1, another young woman undet-
took to question her on what 1 did and what I was, 1came
up from behind without making any noise and said,
¢ There’s one further bit of information which Mme. Bensa
would not be able to give you—when I am in bed 1 always
kick.’

THE AMERICAN (smiling): A detail to chronicle for
History.

CLEMENCEAU: And can you also guess who also
turned up in the Vendée ? I had a visit from Mandel!

MYSELF : It isn’t possible !

CLEMENCEAU ; ‘That surprises you? You find that

Mandel appears rarely in my life ?* He stayed an hour.
1 M. Clemenceau’s goddaughter,

% Pure irony. The reproach has often been brought against M. Clemenceau

that Mandel—with whom not everyone sympathised—did not appear ‘ rarely *
enough in his life.
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He talked to me about heaps of things which I didn’t catch
very well.  Then it occurred to me that T hadn’tasked him
to lunch.

MyseLF : Oh, and poor Florand! You took very bad
care of him.

CLEMENCEAU: Ah! Yes, poor old Florand! A bit
dull perhaps. Florand probably was not . .. a very

. an extraordinarily good doctor. They think a lot
of themselves. . . . But what a nice fellow !

One day he gave me a drug to swallow. I asked him,
‘What’s in it?’> He answered, ‘ My word of honour,
{ haven’t the least idea.” I therefore took the stuff on his
word of honout. It did me good. Why not ?

MYSELF: You haven’t yet entrusted me with any
commission for M. Poincaré.

CLEMENCEAU ¢ Yes. Tell him this, When I made the
Peace 1 asked Wilson for the left bank of the Rhine, A
little fiction to keep Foch happy.! He refused to give
it to me. He said, ‘I am going to give you something
much more useful than that: an agreement to come
to your help in case of aggression. Naturally with the
reservation that Congress consents.” But Congress said
no. (With a gesture) That was the end. It was necessary
to begin all over again! They preferred to agree to
everything,

MYSELF : But why didn’t you tell all this yourself, sir?

CLEMENCEAU : Oh, Monsieur Martet! 1 have the
habit of speaking only when thete are ears to hear me.

1 Histoire de faire ploirir aw Fock in the 6riginal.—-—Trm:1¢!or'.r note,
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THE AMERICAN LEGIONAIRES

Septernber 231d, 1927,

The newspapers announce that Clemenceau received
a delegation from the American Legion this moming.
The American Legionaires have been in France for some
time. Yesterday, the 22nd, at the instance of M. Piatt
Andrew, the Committee of Resolutions placed before the
Convention the following motion, which was carried
unanimously :

‘The Convention of the American Legion, having
learnt of the arrival in Paris of the man who was Prime
Minister of France at the time when we ranged ourselves
on the side of the Allies, sends to M. Georges Clemenceau
its fraternal greetings and assures him that the memory of
the great part he played in the victory has remained vividly
in the minds of the Legionaires. The latter send him
their best wishes for his health and prosperity.’

This morning at 10 o’clock a delegation proceeded to
the Avenue de Messine. It was Jed by General Pershing
and Messrs. Savage and Piatt Andrew. Colonel Stephen
Bonsal presented the delegates to Clemenceau. Friendly
wotds were exchanged. Then General Giguilliat, Super-
intendent of the Military Academy at Culver (Indiana),
offered Clemencezn a little set of shelves upon which were
atranged thirteen volumes, specially printed for the purpose
under the editorship of the University (of Paris). Thir-
teen volumes, amongst which were: The Life of Jobn
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Marshalt, by Albert Beveridge, Jefferson and Hamilton, by
Claude G. Bowers, etc.  All the great Americans.

After which the Legionaires, drawn up on the pavement
of the Avenue de Mcssine, cheered lustily—Clemenceau has
shown himself on Piétri’s balcony, has thanked them with
a wave of his hand. They separate good friends.

Pershing makes a speech : © Always the same!  Always
young !> Clemenceau glanced at Pershing and murmured :
* I wonder how old he thinks I am, anyway !’



VI

From Céciie Soren 1o Corris.

October 2nd, 1927.

I return to see Clemenceau with my wife ; he is still at
Piétri’s.  Albett shows us into the dtawing-room. On the
divan is the charming little set of shelves presented by
the American Legionaires. On a three-legged table is a
bouquet of enormous and gorgeous chrysanthemums.

ALBERT (showing me the flowers): They are from Cécile
Sorel. Monsieur thanked her in a letter in which he said,
¢ Thanks for the wonderful flowers with which it has
pleased you to humiliate my old age.’

MYSELF : Is he doing well now ¢

ALBERT: Very well. He has entirely recovered. He
is working,

MYSELF : And the Vendée ?

AUBERT : The garden is splendid. There are flowers
everywhere. Unfortunately it’s an old shanty, you know ;
the rooms let in water and everything is rotting.

MYSELF: Do many people come to see Clemenceau
both in the Vendée and here ?

ALBERT: Very few, sir, very few.

[He goes out.  Five minutes elapse. Cle-
mencean enters, looks at my wife.

cLEMENCEAU: Ah! Well, welll How nice you
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look—like someone whose body and soul are in excellent
state,

MY WIFE : My husband says that I haven’t got a soul.

CLEMENCEAU : That’s very exaggerated. Come this
way.
[(He makes us lead the way into bis bedroom.

MY WIFE : How nice it is here |

CLEMENCEAU : It’s all right.  All my life I have been
pretty lucky., Sit down. But not on that sofa—it’s a
little hard. Piétri has plenty of good qualities, but really
you do wear out your backside on his sofas. Sit here.
That’s it.  Arc you all right ?

MY WIFE: Very well, thank you,

CLEMENCEAU : You have to get a2 move on in this
world in order to get your share of comfort. You don’t
know if you'll be able to get it in the next one. The data
are missing.

MYSELF : How are you, sir ?

CLEMENCEAU : Notmal. I went to bed yesterday at
nine o’clock. I got up at four and began to work, It’s
going well—I’m satisfied. You know, when the phrases
hang together neatly it is because your blood is circulating
as it ought. But it’s odd—1I don’t care.

MYSELF : About what ?

CLEMENCFEAU : About living, They might say to me,
‘ You'’re still good for twenty-five years,” and I’ve no idea
how I should take it. I have seen everything, Martet |
All that passes before my eyes at this moment is only
a series of depressing repetitions.

MYSELF: I used to believe that no one man resembled
another. , . .

CLEMENCEAU : Perhaps, when you take the trouble to
look at them. But men don’t amuse me any more. I find
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that they attach an exaggerated importance to themselves.
It’s like those people who consecrate their entire lives to
making a collection of beetles. They end up by never
seeing anything in the world but beetles. There should
be something else, all the same.

MY WIFE: But what’s left, then P
CLEMENCEAU : Nothingness, dear lady.

MY WIFE: Do you believe that in the long run
Paradise . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Oh, Paradise is not nothingness. I
don’t know who had the first idea of Paradise. He must
have found life too short, that fellow, Happy man! He
wanted it to go on with a less stupid government and with
more amusing diversions. . . . Nothingness is really
superior to Paradise. Paradise is an improvement—
Nothingness is perfection,! With nothingness cverything
arranges itself perfectly. 1 am seeing my poor sister. . . .

MYSELF ; How is she?

CLEMENCEAU : As one is when one is done for and
knows it and is suffering, The saddest thing is that she
still has months of it to bear, This morning I went to see
her with my brother Albert. On leaving I said to her,
I am going to shake hands with Gosset now, and then
I will come up again to say goodbye to you.” She answered,
‘It’s no good coming back again : you might have to tell
me les.” I didn’t answer—what was there to say?
Ididn’t goback. . . . Of usall she was my fathet’s favourite.
I was very fond of her. Nevertheless she is associated with

1 Clemencean wiote to me once : * I will not try to hide from you that the state
in which one would seem to me the most likely to be happy is the vegetable, if it
were not for the cruel ferocity of the browsing animals to the dandelions, 1
should plump therefore at the final reckoning for the mineral state, if it was not
always in danger of finding itself threatened by the first mishap to the sun. T shall
therefore tarn my desire to the atornic state which, according to Henri Poincark,
is a hole in the ether; consider me therefore henceforward fixed. As it is not

forbidden for two holes to get together I hope to mect you in the next catastrophbe,
which cannot be long delayed.’
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a very disagrecable date in my life. ‘They sent me to school
when she made her first appearance in the world. Until
then it was my mother who taught me my lessons.

MYSELF : Are you working ?

CLEMENCEAU : Yes, Monsieur Martet. I am preparing
a ncw cdition of the Démosthéne which will be illustrated
by Bourdelle.! Bourdelle is an odd sort, eh! He didn’t
do it badly. Onc of his stunts turned out pretty
well. Tt is true, of course, that he did it according to my
instructions. It is the one where Demosthenes is leaning
his head against a column and looking at Attica, like this
. .. simply. . ..

MYSELF : What a funny idea to have a book illustrated
by a sculptor !

CLEMENCEAU : He is making 2 kind of small bas-relief,
and afterwards the engravings will be cut. The idea
sounds a bit revolutionary, but that doesn’t mean that it’s
stupid.

MYSELF 1 And what about Ax Soir de la Pensée ?

CLEMENCEAU : Ah! (Rummages amongst bis papers and
bhands me a letter from M. Gruber, © not the brewer * but the former
German professor at Lyons.) 'This fellow Gruber claims that
dens is not a brother of theos. I want to answer that and
tick off Gruber. Unfortunately I have only too much to
say . . . would you answer it for me?

MYseLF: Me? But I don’t know anything about it.

CLEMENCEAU : All the mote reason. That’s what’s
wanted. At least you have a little sense.

MYSELF : Humph |
CLEMENCEAU: At any rate you’ve got as much as
a professot, haven’t you ?

MYSELF : In what way do you want me to answer him ?

1 The scuolptor.
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CLEMENCEAU: In whatever way you like. The im-
portant thing is to tick him off. I have such a horror of all
these people. Because in 2 moment of intoxication some-
one flung a diploma at them. . . . Will you do it?

MYSELF : All right,

CLEMENCEAU : Do you know there are still people who
wiite tome ?  Oh, not many, perhaps three or four, when
it rains. . . .

MYSELF : There is 10 reason why anyone should write
to you or think of you any longer. You saved France—
but that was ten yeats ago !

CLEMENCEAU : That is indeed obvious. Iam not com-
plaining . . . what could they say to me in fact, the poor
things ? No one has anything to say. All the same there
is a woman who wrote to me: ‘I am very Catholic but
I have your photograph hanging up in my house.” It’s
very decent of her, what? Those who touch me the most
are those who don’t sign their letters. They don’t want
anything, There are othets who sign and who ask me for
heaps of things—ribbons and gold lace. But [ look round
in vain, I don’t see anyone I could recommend for them,
I don’t know anyone any more. At times it’s frightening.
Frightening like the desert—and marvellously delightful,
like the solitude of high peaks. Those who haven’t left
me I’ve eliminated, gently pushing them by the shoulders

and making them understand that . . . no . . . it wasn’t

. wasp’t any longer the same thing . . . that I'm no
longer on their planet. . . . They understood. They left
very gracefully.

MYSELF: Don’t you ever see your former ministers
even ?

CLEMENCEAU: I’'m going to tell you something
interesting, Martet. I should be hard put to it to say who
were my ministers and who weren’t. There are those who
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come to see me from time to time . . . or who write to me;
1 look at them or I look at their signatures. I ask myself,
‘ Wasn’t he minister for something or other in my Cabinet,
that fellow?’ Hold on! There is one ... do you
remember that chap who had a nose like this ?

MYSELF : A nose like that ¢

CLEMENCFAU : A nose in the air. . . . I’ve never seen
a nose so much in the air. . . .

MYSELF : Albert Favre ?
CLEMENCFAU : Yes. What was Albert Favre ?

MySELF : Under-Secretary of State for Internal Affairs.

CLEMENCEAU : Do you mean to tell me that he had
anything to do with Internal Aflairs, the poor fellow ?
And will you also tell me why I chose Albert Favre? It
must be another of Mandel’s doings. He brought round
a lot of people like that, . . . The funniest thing about it is
that Albert Favte was a member of the opposition before
entering my Cabinet ; once in, he remained 2 member of
the opposition. He had it in his blood. Pams . . . the
man who was at the Ministry of Justice and who was run
over: Nail . . . Pichon ... Nice fellows! They had
only one fault : they were too decent. They weren’t made
for war : things are different when you’re looking into the
jaws of the Boche.

My WiFE: Monsieur, do you think we shall always
have war ?

CLEMENCEAU : | can’t say, dear lady. Perhaps there
will come a day when the peoples will come together in
a fraternal cmbrace to the sound of the flute, when,
alone amongst all things who are born, live and die,
man will live out his allotted time in peace. It isn’t
probable; it’s possible. Only, the question is not
whether we shall never again have war and whether in 2
more or less distant future all this or that will come to
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pass. . . . It is—to know whether between to-day and
to-morrow we can have confidence in the people who up
to now have done nothing but lie to us. Suppose Pierre
has stuck a knife into my back. He says to-day, ‘ 'll never
do itagain.” Ought I then to give him back his knife, or
ought I rather to buy a revolver ?

MY WIEE: Well, it’s a nice lookout,

CLEMENCEAU : What do you want me to do? [ can
understand that it worries you. Think of something else.
DoasIdo: go tothe Vendée and look at the waves.

MYSELF : Are you returning to Saint-Vincent soon ?
CLEMENCEAU : On Tuesday or Wednesday.
MYSELF : By road ?

CcLEMENCEAU : Naturally! (To wy wife) He puts such
stupid questions, your hushand. Have I 2 head to catch
atrain? I detested M. Thiers fervently, and the sentiment
was quite mutual. But we agreed on one thing: we
couldn’t bear railways. 1 shall be back in a fortnight ;
Pve an appointment with some Americans. I want to
talk to them about the debts. They irritate me with their
debts. There are several things which ought to be said
to them. I shall say them.

[Albert enters.

ALBERT (announcing) : M. Thiébault-Sisson.1

CLEMENCEAU : Show him into the drawing-room.
(Albert goes ont.) He is charming, Thiébault-Sisson. Just
think : he has read .Aw Soir de Ja Pensée. He wants me
to wtite my name in the book. He wrote mein verse. . . .

MYSELF: No! Why?

CLEMENCEAU: Because he loves me. When one
loves one writes in verse. Martet, I must tell you that
this morning while having my breakfast I took stock of

1 The Temps art critic.
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myself. And I realised that I am not annoyed any
longer with anybody.

MYSELF : H’m!

CLEMENCEAU : Yes, Martet, it’s true, I still have
little fits of anger now and then, but they don’t really come
from the depths of my soul. There is nothing left in me
essentially but peace and forgetfulness, Briand, Poincaré
. . . René Renoult? . . . all those fellows are fading away
into pale shadows. In that way .Aw Soir de Ja Pensée has
done me a lot of good. It has forced me to climb and see
other worlds. Looked at from Vega in the Lyra con-
stellation, the greatest of our statesmen do not seem to
deserve so much hate. (T2 my wife) Do you happen to
need a dog ?

My wirFe: Thank you, monsieur. I already have
a husband and a daughter.

CLEMENCEAU : Yes, that’s a good deal. But I don’t
know what to do with my Aberdeen, now that my flat in
the Rue Franklin has been redecorated. These animals
have a magnificent contempt for anything like carpets,
divans, sofas . . .

MYSELF: And the legs of beds. You once gave me
one : and in no time at all he had devoured the two front
legs of our bed. We were compelled to pass him on to a
friend.

CLEMENCEAU: You ought to have waited until he
absorbed the two hind legs : that would have restored your
bed to an even keel.

MYSELF : After Au Soir de Ja Pensée what are you going
to do next ?

CLEMENCEAU (with a wink): 1 have an idea !

myYserF: I know what itis, You remember that you
wanted to visit the coast of Asia Minor ?
1 A Senator, Formerly Minister for Justice.
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CLEMENCEAU : Yes, I gave that up. I have something
much better in mind.
[Albers comes back again.

ALBERT : M. Thiébault-Sisson is getting impatient.
He has a train to catch.
[T make a move to get up.

CLEMENCEAU : Will you kindly stay where you are !
I forbid you to move !

[He goes ont, goes to Thiébanit-Sisson,
who is waiting in the emirance, and
comes back with a copy of “.An Soir
de la Pensée’ wrapped and tied. I re-
move the string and paper : he scrawls
Some words o the delicate blue cover. He
goes out and reappears an instant after-
wards.

We ga on taiking—about a fellow who
i called Marin . . . Mawrin . . .
Maurois | and who has written several
volumes that are © thoroughly amusing’
about the English—and about Fleary's
book on the private life of Loais X1/ . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Ah! That Louis XV! To think that
we had that ! That we stood for that !

. of Versailles and the little staircase
which goes from the apartment of
Lowis XV to those of the Dubarry. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : It is at the bottom of that staircase that
Damiens made a pass at Louis XV with his knife. I have
seen that knife, It is in the Archives. It is a little gadget
about as big as this, They put the poor lunatic through the
most horrible tortures, . . . And those little gitls whom
they brought to Louis XV that he might amuse himself
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with them! Louis XIV had mote of 2 way with him all
the same . . . and he supported Moli¢re.

[Albers brings in a card.

CLEMENCEAU (glancing at it): Mme, Pezon? I know
who it is, Put her in the drawing-room.

[We get up. He accompanies us.  Whilst
crossing the salon Clemencean says to
Mme. Peon :

CLEMENCEAU : I should never have known you. You
have become a fat matron,

MME. PEZON (with a smile which is touching and a little sad) :
I should have recognised you. You haven’t changed.

CLEMENCEAU : They have been telling me that for fifty
years, my dear. (ITe my wife) Au ’voir. Thanks for
coming to see somebody who cannot even change any
more. (Te me) Au’voit. My regards to Cottin.

I take this last word away with me—Cottin, At homel
turn the pages of this already old dossier. . . . Clemenceau
still carries the bullet in the mediastinum, and from time to
time it draws a dry little cough from him. But except for
him who else temembers 2 Who else remembers that eight
years ago a man wanted to punish him for having tried to
save France ?  He himself even does not temember except
to make a joke of it. . . . Regards to Cottin !’

The first act took place on Wednesday, the 19th
Februaty, 1919. At that moment Clemenceau, seated
between England and the United States, having Germany
face to face with him, was engaged in painfully hammering
out the peace.

That mosning, then, he left the Rue Franklin at about
nine o’clock on his way to the Rue Saint-Dominique and
the Ministry of War. He was in his car, unaccompanied,
but on the front seat was a military chauffeur and a footman.
The car had just turned the corner of the Rue Franklin and
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was entering the Boulevard Delessert when a man who
had kept himself hidden in a public urinal leapt out, took
a step towards the car, which had slowed down in order
to tutn, and fired a first bullet through the cartiage door.

It was Cottin.

The chauffeur had accelerated and the man soon had
nothing but the back of the car as a tatget. He continued
to fire—clack, clack—I don’t know how many bullets,
three or four, which passed over the car from rear to front
and went out through the windscreen.

The car was hastening towards the Trocadéro when
Clemenceau, who knew himself to be wounded, rapped
on the window and the chauffeur made a half swing and
returned to the Rue Franklin,

An officer of the aeronautical depot in the Boulevard
Delessert, who was passing at the moment, leapt on the
running board, opened the right-hand door and entered
the car. Clemenceau said to him : “ He was a bad shot !’

Arrived in front of No. 8 Rue Franklin, the car stopped.
Supported by the chauffeur and the officer, Clemenceau got
down, crossed the courtyard and, as the chauffeur made an
awkward movement, said : ‘ Look out! You’re hurting
me.’

In the meantime the passers-by had thrown themselves
on Cottin, who, seeing himself surrounded, threw away his
revolver and put up his hands. Two policemen secured
him. The ctowd nearly lynched him and attacked the
policemen who were trying to protect him. He was
taken to the police station of the Mairie of the 16th arron-
dissement in the Avenue Henti Martin.

First aid was given to Clemenceau by his valet. Gosset
arrived at ten minutes past nine, followed by Tuffier. At
11.30 2 first bulletin was issued, signed by Tuflier, Gosset
and Laubty : ° A deep wound in the postetior portion of
the right shoulder blade with no vital injury. General
and local condition excellent.’
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Then all Paris flocked together : M. Poincaré, Marshal
Foch, all the ministers, etc.

When I arrived in the Rue Saint-Dominique they told
me the news, ‘ Clemenceau is wounded !’ I jumped into
a car and arrived at the Rue Franklin, where I found
Clemenceau seated, his face yellow and shrivelled ; he said
to me: ‘It is the one sensation which I hadn’t yet had.
I had never yet been assassinated.’

The morning passed. Telephonecalls . . . telegrams.
. . » Sarah Bernhardt got me to take him this little message
written on her own monogrammed card: ‘I beg you,
let me have some news of you. It is for me! For me
alone! Thanks with all my heart!’

Towards one o’clock Clemenceau was seized with a
slight heemoptysis which, as the bulletin published on the
following day said, ‘ indicates that the bullet has entered
the lung.” The wounded man underwent a radioscopic
and radiographic examination, and the bullet was discovered
in the mediastinum. . . . His temperature was normal.
1 did not answer Sarah Bernhardt, and she wrote me again,
¢ Will you please forgive me, but I so much want to have
news; I feel myself utterly unnerved by the rumours.
Just now Clemenceau is France. 1 have alwaysloved him,
and since this war I devoutly worship him. , . J?

The next day, the 2oth of February, it was learnt that
Cottin had been handed over to the military authorities.
The prosecution was assigned to Captain Bouchardon.
Cottin, who had been incarcerated at the Santé, entrusted his
defence to Me. Oscat Bloch, the former defendert of Héléne
Brion, the pacifist propagandist. Clemenceau, whose
temperature and pulse remained normal, joked with his
physicians, shook his head at their diagnoses, examined

! The great actors have always had a lyrical admiration for Clemencean,
Lucien Guitry wrote to him on November 18th: ‘1am sending you a flag which was
used on Gambetta's gun-carriage and at the lying-in-state of Victor Hugo at the

Arc de Triomphe. It will be so suitable at your window. Mr. President, we owe
our France to you—just that—and with heartfelt respect I greet you.’
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with the corner of his eye Dr. Paul, the expert in medical
jurisprudence, who declared before the X-ray examination
that the bullet, of which no trace had yet been found, had
enteted the flesh, struck the shoulder blade, glanced off
and gone out by the same hole. . . . Clemenceau had
already begun to get the bettet of Cottin’s bullet.

And so, on the 27th February, eight days after the
assault, Clemencean, with the bullet in his mediastinum,
resumed his place as President of the Committce of the
Great Powers at the Peace Conference.

On the 14th March Cottin appeared before the 3rd
Military Tribunal of Paris and was unanimously con-
demned to death. On the 8th April the newspapers
published this paragraph :

‘ The President of the Council and Minister for War
has to-day submitted a report to the President of the
Republic which, after recalling the circumstances of
Cottin’s crime, continued as follows: “ The membeis of
the court-martial having signed no recommendation to
mercy, the Government Commissioner and the Military
Govetnor of Paris are of the opinion that justice should
take its course. But the President of the Council and
Minister for War has appealed to the head of the State for
clemency on behalf of the condemned. In consequence
he recommends that the death penalty pronounced on
Cottin should be commuted to ten years solitary confine-
ment.” Accordingly the President of the Republic has
signed a decree for the commutation of the sentence.’

Three years pass. On the 31st January, 1922, Me.
Oscar Bloch writes to Clemenceau,
‘ MONSIEUR LE PRESIDENT, _
“You wete kind enough three years ago to assoctate
yourself with my efforts to obtain 2 commutation of
sentence for my client Emile Cottin, who was condemned
to death for his attempt to assassinate you, I should like
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once mote to express my gratitude, at the same time mak-
ing a fresh appeal to your generosity. Cottin is serving
his ten years at Melun; his conduct leaves nothing to be
desired, according to the information that I have gathered
on the spot. But his health, which has always been poor,
has been greatly undermined by his imprisonment ; his
unhappy patents, now very old people, are longing to see
him again and are greatly in need of his material as well as
mora] aid.

‘You will not refuse us your intervention, Monsieur le
Président ? It will be of enormous assistance to us in the
appeal for metrcy which we have submitted to the President
of the Republic, and will serve at the least to obtain a
commutation from solitary confinement to ordinary
imprisonment and reinstatement to civil status.

“You will appreciate better than I what would be the
most efficacious form of appeal, but if you will be so good
as to send me a letter written in this spirit I should be vety
happy to be able to add it to my documents.

‘In conclusion, allow me to tell you how much I dare
to count on your affirmative response : you have defended
anarchists guilty of political crimes too eloquently with pen
and word not to make allowances for my client, whose
youth moreover might be pleaded in his favour. Do you
remember the compassionate words which you were kind
enough to address to his mother in my presence : “ politics
should give way to humanity ” ?

“If you would be so good as to grant me an audience
I would gladly supply you with all the information you
might desite.

‘ Believe me, Monsieur le Ptésident, etc., etc.

‘Oscar Brocn’

‘ Martet,” says Clemenceau to me, showing me this
letter, © if you ever kill anybody dor’t hire this Bloch to
defend you. Hehasn’t got the right words. . . . * Cottin’s
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conduct leaves nothing to be desited.” Maybe they’ve
takenaway his gun, “ His parents are in need of his moral
aid.” Where next will motality build itsnest? * Politics
should give way to humanity.” It seems that in exposing
myself to Cottin’s bullet I was playing politics.’

Cottin stayed in prison,

But not for long.

On the 12th of July, 1924, the Chamber was discussing
the question of a legal amnesty. M. André Marty!
mounted the rostrum and asked, < Will the Minister for
Justice inform us what is the condition of Cottin, who is
at Melun. I beg you to make a demonstration in favour
of his release from prison. If I allow myself to be insistent
on this subject, it is because the assassin of Jaurés 2 is free,
and it is hard for the proletariat to understand why the man
who only wounded M. Clemenceau still remains in prison,
especially since he has already been there five years.’

Applause from the Left and the Extreme Left.

M. Maurice Viollette, who brought forward the bill,
said : ‘It is a matter for the Government to decide whether
in interpreting the amnesty law, as the Chamber asks it to
do, it would not be wise to take into consideration the
amount of time that the prisoners have already served,
and whether it would be compatible with certain natural
sentiments of humanity, etc.’

Then M. René Renoult, the Keeper of the Seals,
Minister for Justice,® said: ‘I undertake to examine i
a most Sympathetic spirit, the individual cases * which have
been quoted.’

1 A Communist deputy.

t Tt will be remembered that Jaurés was assassinated on the eve of the outbreak
of war by a tnan named Vilin, who was brought before the Assize Court and
acquitted,

3 On November 16th, 1519, M. Reaé Renoult kad besn defeated at the Parlia-
mentary elections. M. Clemenceau made it possible for hire to return to political
life by giving bim his scat as scnator for the Var, which elected M. René Renoult
on Jenuary r1th of the next year.

* There had been mention of a cortain number of other individuals sentenced
for vatious crimes.
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Then, when M. Ernest Lafont pressed him on the
point: I am convinced that the Government will keep
the promise which it has just made and carry it out in
circumstances where the long detention of the prisoners
who have been mentioned . . .’

M. Rent Renourr: ‘1 said
spirit’ "

And the Offciel’s report ends abruptly : M. le Prési-
dent: “ No one else wishes to speak ? **”’

No one!

On the 22nd of August, 1924, the newspapers
announced ‘ Cottin was set free yesterday.’

It was all quite meaningless. Four and a half years in
prison for having tried to kill the man who had saved his
country.

(11

a most Sympathetic
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‘T aM wrra HawmMourasr?

. October 23:d, 1927,
I receive 2 letter from Clemenceau :

Paris, October 19th, 1927,
Mry pEar Boy,
Come along and see me one day and exchange 2 few
profound thoughts :

1. On the etymology of Theos-deus.
2. On two polishers? which have been found on a
large stone near my village.
Ever youts,
G. CLEMENCEAU.

I go to see him in the Rue Franklin, The flat has been
completely redecorated. Wilton carpets and expensive
wallpapers. I enter his room.

CLEMENCEAU: Hullo there! What has become of
you? Have you turned Poincarist by any chance ?

[I pur in front of him on the open book
which be bas been reading a neolithic
“ scraper’ of fint which I found in the
Jeelds.

1 For several years M. Clemencean bad taken a keea interest in palzolithic
and neolithic studies, He wrote to me on Aungust $th, 1925 : < Thank you for your
Ietter painting the joys of your archmology. I am delighted to tell you that my
joys aze just as grear, for duting a walk in Jeanneney’s garden (Jeanneney was a
Senator) near Vesoul, amongst the coarse gravel 1 made a unique find : 2 stonc
bollowed out into a cup, undoubtedly by the hand of man. I invite you to come
and view it at the beginning of October. We can easily find out where the gravel
came from. I am surc there will be other finds to make.” It is superfluous to add
that there waa no trace of man’s handiwork on the stone in question.
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CLEMENCEAU (exiremely inferested): Hold on. Don’t
say a word. (He takes the object, turns it round and round in
a sort of flerce, enraptured curiosity.) What in the wotld is
this knick-knack ? It isn’t what Capitan ! calls a slinging
stone, is it ?

MYSELF : It is a sort of scraper, a lovely little scraper.

CLEMENCEAU : So it scrapes, does it, this little gadget ?

MYSELF : It is with that sort of thing that our ancestors
made their knives, their cutting tools. .

CLEMENCEAU: Youdon’tsay so! Youdo discover the
most admirable things! How do you do it? Just by
stooping down! Well, just think, in the Vendée I found

a kind of dolmen with traces of cuttings, grooves. . . . I
wonder if that wasn’t a polisher’s tool. Tell me, what is
a polisher ?

MYSELF : You know as well as I do. It is a stone on
which axes are ground. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Are there any grooves in it ?

MYSELF : Yes, there are. Grooves of different lengths
and different widths, according to the shape and thickness
of the axes, ot the work which they were meant to do, etc.

CLEMENCEAU : Thatsit then! Ihave found a polishet
and I'm rather proud of it! Can these things be seen in
the museums ?

MYSELF : Thete ate some at Saint-Germain.?

CLEMENCEAU : Will you take me to Saint-Germain ?
Who is the curator out there ?

MYSELF : M. Salomon Reinach.

CLEMENCEAU ;: What, in the name of the God of
Abraham, the Glozel man? What a colossal joke ! With
their bricks on which they amused themselves playing at
noughts and crosses. . . . How the scholars plunged in |

1 A specialist in the prehistoric period,  * In the Musée Archéologique,
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There is nothing in the world more ludicrous than a
scholar !

MYSELF : There is one who plunged a little less than the
others: Jullian? . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Not at all! Not at all! He plunged
like all the rest. ‘They all plunged. Reinach saw in them
paleolithic historical records; Jullian saw witches” spells.
It’s all the same humbug.

MYSELF : Jullian is so much more subtle, so much more
intelligent.

CLEMENCEAU : I know. You have 2 weakness for
Jullian. One day you took me to his lecture in that
dungeon at the Collége de France. Ilistened to him. He
said various things—quite nice—he is a poet. But you
don’t know what he has done in the meantime. He has
just written me a letter telling me that I ought to go and
hear Father Sanson 2 preach. . . . Really. . . . Do you
ever read the papers, Martet ?

MYSELF : Well, it happens now and then. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : And the news that you get out of them
fills you with joy, no doubt ... what? Rather nice
what they’re doing, isn’t it? Politics in France to-day is
a great game, (With a shrag of the showlders) Oh, yes,
I know. Our folly does not date from our own time.
There was already a germ of it in the mad schemes' of
Louis XIV. ... How dreary it all is! And the elec-
tions ?? Are they going to let them go on like that?
Isn’t anyone going to say what ought to be said ?

myseLF : They are waiting for you to say it.

CLEMENCEAU: Me? Just now I am with Ham-

mourabi, who was a man in every way to be recommended
and whom I have unfortunately neglected too much up to
1 Camille Julliso and Salomon Reinach have both written & great deal sbont

the famous Glozel discoveries. . .
® A fashionable preacher, 3 The legislative clections of May, 1928,
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now. What I sayabout himin A« Soir de /a Pensée should
be carried further, I am doing it. Do you see? It’s
not making decisions that tequires intelligence. There are
heaps of people about who are making heaps of decisions
—it’s seeing them through. I have decided to keep quiet.
Still, it will only begin to be interesting if I really do keep
quiet.!

MYSELF : But France ? _

CLEMENCEAU : If she does not understand my silence
she is no more likely to understand my words. Besides,
it is at least as necessary that I follow up the sun and Vega.
I said in Aw Soir de Ja Pensée that the sun was moving in
the direction of Vega. A man wrote to me: °In my time
they taught that it was moving towards Hercules. . . .
The Vega theory is the result of more mature calculations,
I shall answer him.

MYSELF : How’s your sister getting on ?

CLEMENCEAU : It’s frightful. There’s simply nothing
to do but wait. They are giving her hypodermics, two
every cvening. Her hand and arm are swollen. I hope
it’ll soon be over.

MyYSELF : When did you return from the Vendée ?

CLEMENCEAU : Sunday. At Gosset’s there were cruci-
fixes everywhete. They are amusing with their ‘ good
Gods.” God, God. Can you stick God up on 2 wall?
One day you will see me becoming a believer just to show
you how God ought to be loved. And Bolshevism, how
is that getting on? Progtessing nicely P

MYSELF : And Germany ?

CLEMENCEAU : Getmany is coming back. Doesn’t
anyone see what is going to happen? Isn’t anyone
afraid? Everybody is sitting about quite comfortably,
Well, Martet, thete it is.

* He changed his miad in April, 1929, in ordet to answer Foch’s attecks,
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[I get wp. Clemencean accompanies me to
the door.

CLEMENCEAU (o# the threshold): 1 am beginning to
regret 1918. It was idiotic, mad, but there was something

. alittle . . . magnificent about it. The times we are
now living in are base,
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THE ANNIVERSARY

11th November, 1927,

On the 6th of November, 1918, Vervins and Rethel
were retaken from the enemy.

On the 8th the German delegates arrived at Foch’s
headquarters. The terms of the Armistice were read to
them.

On the o9th William II abdicated. The English
entered Maubeuge.

On the x1th Paris went mad ! At ¢ o’clock there was
a terriffic mob in front of the Chamber of Deputies. At
11 o’clock the guns of the Air Defence began to fire.
France closed her cyes in an ecstasy of happiness.

At half-past two the Chamber began its session.  Vague
legal proposals were being discussed. At 3 o’clock a
recess was taken.  The sitting was resumed at four.

M. Deschanel suddenly recognised the President of the
Council, and M. Clemencean arosc: a deafening uproar
shook the room.

M. CLEMENCEAU : I am going to read you the official
text of the Armistice which was signed this morning
at § o’clock by Marshal Foch, Admiral Wemyss and the
German plenipotentiaries. This document runs as follows:

‘ Germany evacuates Belgium and all the invaded
portions of France; she evacuates Alsace-Lotraine; she
surrenders sooo pieces of artillery, 25,000 machine guns,
r7oo aeroplanes; the Allies occupy Mainz, Cologne,
Coblenz ; Germany will give back all her prisoners of war
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without exchange ; she will deliver up to the Allies all her
submarines, six battleships, ten cruisess, fifty desttoyers,
etc., etc.’

Frenzied cheers !

He gets down slowly from the rostrum : he seems to
be bowed down under the weight of events. They throw
themselves on him. They fling their arms about one
another’s shoulders and yell through tears: © Victory!
Victory !’

M. DESCHANEL : ‘ Here at last is the blessed hour for
which we have lived for forty-seven years,” etc.

M. ALBERT THOMAS! cries out: ‘We ask that the
deputies from Alsace-Lorraine who are present in this room
receive the honours of the session.” Everybody turns
towards the rostrum : the Abbé Wetterlé and Weil are there.
They advance to the fitst row, and suddenly there sweeps
upon them from left and right the Marseillaise ! . . . and
whoever heard this Marseillaise has touched the heights of
human grandeur.

On 1caving the Chamber Clemenceau went to the
senate. Then he returned to the Rue Saint-Dominique.
None of us dared to say a word to him,

People pressed into the courtyard and called out:
‘ Clemenceau! Clemenceau!” He opened the window,
looked at them for 2 moment and raised his arms, calling
out ‘ Vive la France [’

He then shut the window and without seeing any of the
ministers or generals who were waiting for a word from him
he sat down on a little rep sofa and sank into meditation.

That evening he found this letter on his little table in
the Rue Franklin :

* rrth November, 1918,
‘ Mr. PRESIDENT,

“In your vast glory so well deserved, blessed as you
are by our country and all the future ages of immortal
1 A Socialist Deputy.
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France, please allow an enthusiastic heart which has always
been faithful to your tremendous and inspired genius to
convey to you its unutterable emotion.

“ France and the world acclaim you: the victory and
yout name are inseparable ; you, so human, will be elevated
to a place among the gods—I should not try to express to
you on such 2 day my timid and boundless admiration if
I did not remember very strongly the 2nd August, 1914,
when I saw you in your garden, by the side of the Tricolour,
when your anxiety, your faith, the fire of those heights
which butned in you always, caused us to busst into tears.

‘I embraced you on that day, Mr. President, as a
grateful France would like to do to-day. With the same
impulse all my heart gocs out to your modest and ever-
lasting greatness.”

¢ ANNA DE NoAILLES.

And nine years later. .

I take the Passy Métro. At the Pasteut station 2 couple
of retired middle-class folk getin: they are M. and Mme.
Pichon. M. Pichon carries on the lapel of his overcoat
a little copper medal such as are being distributed in the
strects nowadays to commemorate the Armistice, Mme.
Pichon is wearing a similar medal on her dress. They
take seats facing one another, he absentmindedly looking
out of the window, she erect, firmly planted on her seat,
brushing away with the back of her hand the dust which
has collected on her husband’s clothes.

I arrive at the Rue Franklin just as a crowd of people
are coming out exclaiming with amazement, ¢ What fresh-
ness! What youth! One would not put him at a day
morethanseventy!” It is the Society of Vendéens in Paris,

Albert shows me into the study. Clemenceau is with
his former Prefect of Police, M. Raux. I tell him of the
arrival of the Pichons and their little medals.
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CLEMENCEAU: Poor Pichon! Isn’t that touching!
Have you no respect for anything ? (I par three or four
pamphlets on the table before him.) What are these ?

MYSELF: 1 have brought you two numbers of the
Revue de Ja Société Prebistorigue de France, whete you will
find a whole collection of polishets.

CLEMENCEAU (studying the pictures): So these are
polishers ?

MYSELF : Yes, at least that is what they say.

CLEMENCEAU ; Mine isn’t at all like these., Neverthe-
less I stick to my impression that it is a polisher. Leave
them there, I will look at them later. I have just been
receiving some people,amongst them two girlswho brought
me the flowers you see over there. (Chrysanthemums.
There existed a sort of tacit anderstanding thai the flowers which
suited him best were chrysanthemums.) 1 said to them,
‘ Young ladies, it is a tradition that when a gitl brings
you flowers you kiss her,” and I kissed them both. Then
they took my picture.

[Albers enters and announces M. and Mme.
Pichon.

CLEMENCEAU {going to meet them) : Well, here is Stéphan
Pichon!® And how are you getting on ?
Picaon : Very quietly.

[Mme. Pichon belps ber busband to sit on
the sefa. M. Ranx and 1 start to Jeave
the room.

MYSELF (fo Clemencean): Please don’t trouble to see
us out.

cLEMENCEAU ¢ Oh yes, 1 will. I shan’t have so much
showing out to do to-day as usual.

1 M, Pichoo was 2 very old friend of Clemenczan,
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[M. Rawx and I go out. We go to the
Place du Trocadére and take a little walk
Sor balf an howr.

MYSELF : A great old fellow that, to have dominated
this thrusting age. . . .

RAUX: Yes. ... A very great old fellow . .. and
when one thinks that there he is now with his polishers and
his stories of little gitls from the Vendée who come to offer
him their cheeks . . . the day of the Armistice! For-
gotten by the whole country !

MYSELF : They will remember later, They will sce
him grow into a legend.

RAUX : You and I will have seen it in our lifetime—to
have served him. .

MYSELF: You and I don’t see anyone whom we can
serve to-day.

ravx: Good Lord! ...

MYSELF : Moreover, I was recalling the other day that
scene which took place one evening in November 1917 in
the Rue Taitbout. . . .

rAUX : In the office of L'Homme Enchainé |

MySELF : When he announced to you that he was going
to take office and that he needed a man he could count on
at the Prefecture of Police . . .

RAUX: . .. and that he had thought of me. If I
remember! My head was in a maze. Certainly they can’t
say that I asked for the place.

MYSELF : And that happened in front of me. I was at
my little table going through the post. You accepted
with such wan and dismal thanks that I was embarrassed.
Howevet, Beauvais could not have been very pleasant just
then.

1 M. Raux was then Prefect for the Qise,
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rRAUX : It was being bombarded day and night., But
Prefect of Police under Clemenceau—in the midst of the
Malvy affait |—in the midst of the Caillaux affair ! —and
Turmel, Lenoir, Bolo?! and all the rest! You speak of
having fun—I was for the moment 2 little king of France.
And since the fall, eh? . . . We have seen them all
packed off, the little friends, haven’t we ?

MYSELF : What a stampede—as if we had all had the
plague! All those chaps whom I had ribbons pinned onto
and rosettes and otders. It’s very, very odd.

rRaUX : All those fellows whom I pulled out of the
gutter. Oh, well, let’s laugh about it.

1 These last two were shot,  They were mote or less traitoss,
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THE Lonery MaN

On the 23rd November, 1927, the newspapers announce
the death of Mlie. Adrienne Clemenceau, ‘the sister of
M. Georges Clemenceau, former President of the Council.?
On the sth December the death of M. Albert Clemenceau,
his brother.

December 7th . . . At Pére-Lachaise Cemetery. The
obsequies of Albert Clemenceau.r The hearse appears, we
follow it. We get out of breath climbing the slope. It is
cold. At last we arrive, barely two steps from the twin
tombs of La Fontaine and Moliére,

There we find the last battalion of the last Clemencistes,
both passionate and lukewarm. . . . Alerme,? bitter, the
lines of his face revealing his profound disillusion ;
Mordacq ® with the lively eye and the steely limbs—he is
wearing alittle grey overcoat; Lallemand, very grave . . .
and others: M. Pichon, M. Laflerre,s . . . The family:
Paul Clemenceau,® uncouth, his skull and forehead as if
modelled by blows of a fist; Michel Clemenceau, Mme.
Jacquemaire,” René Jacquemaire,® etc.

1 Albert Clemenceau was a lawyer.  He played a part in the Direyfus affair,

¢ Lieur.-Col. Alerme. Second in command of the Military Cabinet during
Clemencean’s administration,

1 General Mordacq.  Head of the Military Cabinet,

* A former Prefect. Head of the Civil Cabinet during the ministry,

5 Formerly Minister for Education,

' Clemenceau’s younger brother. An enpincer. Albert was the youngest
of the three brothers,

" Clemenceau had three children: a son, Michel, and two daughters, Mme.

Jacquemaire and Mme. Yung.
¢ The son of Mme. Jacquemaire, 2 doctor.
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Clemenceau arrived in his little Citroen driven by
Brabant. He seemed to-day very old, very wan and bent.
His head bare, his skull a waxen yellow. He walked up
to the tomb, locked into the hole with distracted eyes,
then went away again. . . .

Alerme said to me, ‘H’'m, h’'m. Fate does her job
tidily. You will see that he will be left altogether alone—
without even a dog.’



X
THE AMERICANS AND THE FRENCH

11th Deceinbet, 1927,

M. Clemenccau is sitting in his study with Mme. Albert
Clemenceau and Pournin, Albert Clemenceau’s former
sccretary.

I wait in the dining-room. [ have not seen this room
since the apartment was done up and, ye Gods! how clean
it is, how resplendent! All repainted and recarpeted, a
grey Wilton carpet on the floor, a grey-blue paper on the
walls—even the shutters have been changed. The little
sofa is now upholstered in pale blue rep. One would
think a honeymoon couple had just moved in for a lifelong
stay.

yThe rest of the decorations have not been changed;
1 see again the cnormous antique bas-telief mouldings
fastened to the wall with thick iron staples ; those yellowing
photographs of Greek temples, Greek statues—Praxiteles,
Polycleitus. . . . I see once more the unfinished study by
Monet; 2 view of Venice: four monks coming out of
some water where an incredible blue-green gondola is
slambering. Bits of pottery brought from Egypt are
piled up in a Japanese cabinet. On the little table in
front of the window are two books: Culinary Herbs and
an Archeological Survey of India.

[Mme. Albert Clemencean and Posrnin
leave. 1 hear the front door close. The
dining-room door opens and Clemenceanu

appears.
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CLEMENCEAU : Hullo there, Martet! Ate you evacu-
ating the Rhine ?

MYSELF : They’re talking about it. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Thope they don’t do anything more than
talk about it, Be nice to the Boches, Martet ]| Give them
back the Rhineland and, to prove beyond a doubt the purity
of your intentions and the sincerity of your desire for peace,
give them back Belgium, Alsace-Lorraine, Poland—the
whole works !

[We pass into bis study. Clemencean sits
down. I wait for what be is going to
say about bis sister, his brother, his
bereavements. He says :

CLEMENCEAU : I am just writing a little article for the
Ametricans.

MYSELF : Oh, what about ?

CLEMENCEAU: Well, several things. About them-
selves, what they are, what they are doing, what they’ve
done that’s beautiful, magnificent, grand ; and also that’s
less beautiful, less magnificent and less grand. I want to
speak to them as one speaks to grown men. Nobody has
ever done that yet.

MysELF: Will it be a book ?

CLEMENCEAU : I don’t want it to be as long as that.
You know, people no longer read very much., They
have cars, they eat—how they love eating ! . . . there is
a sort of renaissance of the kitchen. Nowadays people
exchange cookery recipes where they used to exchange
madrigals and jokes. I find that symptomatic. Petronius
. . . This does not seem like a very good age. In short
I am writing and scratching out; I shall see how it turns
out,

I now have two secretaties, one of whom is making
tesearches on the subject and discovering the most amazing
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things. You can never speak too well of the Americans.
What an example of living, of will, of courage! But why
must they be so pleased with themselves ? Their popu-
lation is made up of all the races of the world and yet the
American is thirty-six thousand times ptouder of being
Amecrican than the Frenchman of being French, Oswald
—who from a scientific point of view has a great name-—said
onc day, ‘ The United States is in advance of all other
nations ; not only is she supetior to them but she is the
perfect example of a civilised State.” What! Why do they
say things like that 7 Why this intoxication ?

MYSELF : If we could only resemble them a little !

CLEMENCEAU : I understand. But the French have
been French for such a long time ! It comes so natural to
them. . . . Hold on a moment. Thete’s 2 man named
J. Mark Baldwin who once wanted to pay me a vety nice
compliment and wrote me this (b¢ fakes a sheet of paper and
reads) : ¢ We Americans, we people of action, are not mis-
taken in saying that M. Clemencean is cast in the same
mould as ourselves. . . . Are you wondering why?
Well, here is the answer: ‘It is because in his youth he
lived in an American city where he became impregnated
with the spirit of American life. . . > It is very nice of
him, but one really should point out to j. Mark Baldwin
that there have been people gifted with a certain will power
and a certain taste for action, such as Louis XI, Richelieu
and others, who did not go to America to become  impreg-
nated ’ in that way. At least history doesn’t mention it.

As a mood it is a little disquieting. And not only
because of neighbouring countries, but for the sake of the
people amongst whom such things are thought and said.
The Greeks felt that: the supreme quality amongst
nations, as amongst individuals, in their opinion was
modesty, which alone enabled both nations and individuals
to keep their sense of proportion and to follow the right
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course to the end. Germany lacked modesty, and she
cannot exactly congratulate herself on the tesult.

The Americans do very nice things : they are the youth
and the hope of the world. And it is quite right that they
should appreciate the fact. But peoples only artive at
complete self-expression by a constant striving towards
perfection, and in ordet to arrive at this perfection they
must realise that not everything they do is altogether
admirable.

I want therefore to put all this togethet and try to tell
them what I think of them, good as well as bad. 1 shall
take advantage naturally of the opportunity to speak a few
home truths to the French : they also have been somewhat
lacking in understanding. TFate has decreed that I shall go
on to the end of time repeating these little fables to people
who won’t listen. Everybody continues in his own way,
for better or for worse—but at least it keeps me busy.
What annoys me in the case of France is that all my life
I have fought for what they call freedom of the press,
freedom of speech, etc. Now I have come to believe that
all these freedoms end in the worst form of slavery, namely
degeneration. Before setting the French free it would have
been better to have taught them what freedom was and how
to make proper use of it. It seems to me that the prepara-
tion was insufficient,

L Albert enters.

ALBERT (announcing) : M. Martin.

CLEMENCEAU : Which Martin ? I know a dozen.

ALBERT : The one from Champ-Saint-Pére.

CLEMENCEAU : Oh, the little Martin! Show him in.

[Enter Martin. He was Clemencead' s
Jformer seoretary whom 1 succeeded in
1915. Now be Jives at Champ-Saint-
Pére (Vendée), growing wheat, keeping
cattle, ek,
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GLEMENCEAU : Well, Monsicur Martin! What’s be-
come of you ?

MARTIN : Disgust with men has brought me to live in
the society of pigs.

CLEMENCEAU : Splendid! And what have you come
to Paris for? Are you getting married ?

MARTIN : Certainly not, sir.  The spectacle of the sort
of hermaphrodites one meets in the streets, who have
neither buttocks nor breasts and call themselves Parisiennes,
has not given me the least desire to get married. I don’t
sce myself having children with things like that.

CLEMENCEAU : They certainly are absurd. They wear
skirts nowadays which come above their knees and change
them four timesa day. My poor mother probably had only
two dresses and they fell to her feet—which did not prevent
her from bringing up six children properly.

MARTIN : But what do you think of the way things are
going, sir ?

CLEMENCEAU : The same as you do yourself, Martin—
except that I am in a very special situation: I don’t cate
a damn about anything. It would be no good God giving
me special attention—I have turned to marble.

MARTIN : How’s your health ?

CLEMENCEAU : I think I’m still in this world. That’s
as much as I can say. Oh, wait a minute, to pay you for
having come as far as this I am going to show you some-
thing, (He gets up.) Where did I hide that thing ? (He
looks about.) It was a kind of paper. (He finds it.) Oh,
here it is. These are the keys of the Bastille. 1 may give
them to the Carnavalet Museum. . . . Unfortunately I
haven’t the least idea who gave themtome. . . . Of course
that doesn’t exactly help to establish their authenticity. . . .

[He anrolls the piece of paper. Three
large keys appear, very rusty, very
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light, with a bit of chasn—like theatre
keys.
mYSELF : They look like cardboard. But pethaps the
Bastille was also made of cardboard.

MARTIN : It’s another Glozel stunt! What do you
think about Glozel ?

CLEMENCEAU : What a very fine story that is! They
catne to submit it to Boule.! A reindeer on a bit of flint,
He said, “ Will you permit me to clean one end of your
flint with a toothbrush ?”>  They answered, ‘ No.” ¢ Then
take it away,’ said Boule. Whereupon they told him,
‘' Then you can do what you like’ He took the stone,
scrubbed it with a toothbrush, and at the bottom of the
groove he found some strong glue. He said, © The people
of that age were not in the habit of putting glue on their
flints.” Then he went to his bookshelves and brought
back a volume in which there was an engraving : “ Wait
a minute ; ah! here is the very reindeer they've copied.”

[Albert annomnces Mme. Bensa. Martin
and I rise.

CLEMENCEAU (07 #he threshold) : Martet, I had something
to tell you—I don’t remember what it was. Ab, here it
is. Martet, you are not a very serious fellow.

MYSELF (nomplussed): Why . . . no, I do what I can
not to be.

CLEMENCEAU (dréfy) + You succeed very well indeed.
MYSELF : Why are you telling me this ?

CLEMENCEAU : You promised to come for me and take
me to the Saint-Germain Museum.

MyseLF : I didn’t want to at this particular time . . .
with all your bereavements.

t Marcellin Boule, & professor at the Museum,
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CLEMENCEAU : You might have come before ot after.

MYSELF : [ swear to you . . .

CLEMENCEAU ! Don’t swear and don’t defend yourself.
I’'m not angry with you, and for an excellent reason—I like
you.

MYSELF : But I object. I don’t want to be liked under
those conditions.

CLEMENCEAU : Well, that happens to be the way I like
you. Do what you like about it. (We bave now arrived
at the door.) Au ’voir, M. Martet, au *voit. (And the door
closes bebind as.)
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On Action anDp SoME O1HER THINGS
16th December, 1927,
In his bedroom : he is busy revising typescript.

CLEMENCEAU (noticing me) : What can I do for you,
Monsieur Martet ?

MYSELF : Sir, the othet day you said that you felt
friendship for me and that I did not deserve that friendship.
Now that annoys me.

CLEMENCEAU : Did I say that ?

MYSELF: Perhaps not exactly in that way. But that
was the sense of it.

CLEMENCEAU : If it was not exactly that way, that was
not exactly the sense of it. Don’t be a simpleton, Martet.
Yes. . . . There is still that little matter of Saint-Germain.
You promised to take e there, so it’s up to you to do it.
A promise is 2 promise. . . . Youpromised . . . and...

MyseLF: That’s because I'm the imaginative type.
When I've promised a thing it seems to me already
accomplished. It’s already in the past.

CLEMENCEAU : What you're saying is dreadful, because
all Frenchmen to-day think and act as you do.  The instant
they’ve built up a thing in their imaginations they become
tited of it. ‘They dreamed of victory—thenitnolongerin-
terestedthem. Theyare only ableto do 2 thing when there
isn’t any time beforehand for thinking about it.  Secondly,
Martet,—and this is moreover not 2 second matter, it’s
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the same—there is this : from the point of view of ideas I
don’t think you’re too stupid. . . .

MYSELF: Oh, don’t say that, sir. Quite the contrary,
I'm all stupidity! You haven’t any idea how little ideas
interest me !

CLEMENCEAU: Martet, you aren’t stupid! Now and
then it occurs to you to say quite apt things. Naturally I
say they aren’t bad because they happen to agree with
what I think myself. But I can’t judge you by the same
standards as 1 would Briand . . . or Poincaré. . . . In
addition you have certain qualities. . . . You'tre not
self-secking. . . .

MYSELF : Me, sir ? I’m bussting with rage at not being
a millionaire.

CLEMENCEAU : If you were bursting with rage at not
being one, you might become one. There’s nothing as
stupid as making money. You are . .. what are you
besides 7 You have a certain taste for lovely things. . . .
Actually you do not confuse Phidias with Bartholomé or
the Madeleine with the Parthenon. But you have one
fault, Martet . . . a nasty fault. . . . You're lazy!

MYSELF: Me? Tl be blessed! I'm only happy and
only feel myself living when I have a pencil between my
fingers.

CLEMENCFAU : Martet, you haven’t a ha’porth of will
power | '

MySELF : Oh! That’s a desctiption of my character. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : For a man of this generation it’s quite
notmal. They hardly do anything. . . .

MYSELF : Sir, I think that T know myself, and I . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Don’t say things like that. How can
you know yourself? You have never studied the
sciences. . . .
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MYSELF : Nevertheless I see in 2 general way where the
mechanism goes wrong. It isn’t that I'm lacking in

will power. ... But I don’t believe in action very
seriously.

CLEMENCEAU : I know that, my dear sir, A man who
waits to believe in action before acting is anything you like,
but he’s not a man of action. It is as if a tennis player
before returning a ball stopped to think about his views of
the physical and mental advantages of tennis. You must
act as you breathe.! . . . How old are you ?

MYSELF : Forty.

CLEMENCEAU : Damn it all, at forty it’s high time you
were doing something !

MYSELF : I am writing a novel.

CLEMENCEAU: Oh, a novel! Heaven preserve me
from novels! You should do something substantial!
What ? It doesn’t matter what !

MYSELF : For whose sake ?

CLEMENCEAU : Your own. Can you tell me at all how
it happens that, having seen what you have seen, you’ve
not yet produced anything? Not a line! Haven’t you
anything to say about the times we are living in, the men
who are taking part in them ?

MYSELF: Say? Why say anything? What difference
would it make? Everything that is done is in vain . . .
you know it as well as I do. You don’t believe any more
than I that it is possible to change anything whatever into
anything else whatever. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : I humbly ask your pardon, but the proof

? ‘ Pan comtnands us to act. Action is the hasic principle, action is the
tneans, action the end.  Petsistent action by every man to the good of all, unselfish
action which is above childish vanities, above compensations by dreams of im-
mortality, sbove despair for lost battles orunescapable death ; action is an evolution,
of the ideal, the vnique fotce and the sole vittue. . . .’ This is an extract from
Great Pan, by M, Geotges Clemenceau,
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that I do believe in the value of certain acts and words is
that I am engaged in writing this paper for the Americans.
I still have things to say, and I say them, That proves
that I have faith.

MYSELF: Then I marvel at you. For your whole life
and all your efforts prove superabundantly that nothing
is of any use.

CLEMENCEAU : Nothing is of any use because all French-
men are constructed on your model and nobody gives a
damn about anything : everybody says to himself, ‘I have
sixty or eighty years to pass; let’s try to pass them as
agrecably as possible, while staying in ourlittle corner. . . .’
You have a conscience, Martet. Doesn’t it expect any-
thing of you? Doesn’t it suggest that you get busy and
do something ? Or does it say to you, ¢ There you are,
sitting on the ground, your bottom in the dust; you are
quite comfortable there, stay where you are!’? Martet,
you’re a pretty poor specimen !

MYSELF : And then what, sit? I'vetold you: ideas...
ideas. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : But there aren’t only ideas! Assuming
that you haven’t a ha’porth of brains, you have eyes,
haven’t you? Describe what you see.  Images have theit
value. Moreovet, aren’t images ideas? Speak, Martet!
Write! Work !

myseLk : If T do write and make a book out of what I
have seen and heard, you might say to me, ‘ You aren’t
going to publish that !’

CLEMENCEAU: Not necessarily. And any way you
will still have written it. You musta’t just be thinking
about what I say. Doesn’t it make you furious to see that
there you are, just wasting your time ? .

MYSELF : But I’'m not wasting my time. . . . I look
about me . . . Ilisten, .. .
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CLEMENCEAU : That isn’t enough! You must get
somewhere.

MYSELF : All right. Tl try.

CLEMENCEAU : But it isn’t enough to try! Do it.
You may have the luck to have me with you for a few
months longer ; you must bring it to me and I'll tell you
what I think of it. Does that suit you ?

MYSELF : Perfectly.

CLEMENCEAU: Good! Monsieur Martet, I should
like to put a question to you. There was 2 man who wrote
to tell me that my style in the Démosthéne and Az Soir de la
Pensée was obscure and that he had to read them twice in
order to understand them. Is that true ?

MYSELF: In certain passages, yes. But I think that
it’s because you wrote those books for yourself rather than
for others.

CLEMENCEAU : That’s true. A pity that I haven’t three
or four more years before me: I would have re-written
them for my cook. I ought not to be obscure, however,
for I never revise and I don’t ovetload my phrases. When
something doesn’t come as I want it to, I begin the chapter
over again. For in my opinion—I don’t know if you feel
the same way about it—style is an arabesque: it isn’t 2
question of a word or of two words or ten words; it
is 2 matter of the whole and of the general construction.
Once the framework of your masonty is up, you can’t add
anything to it without debasing it, or take anything away
without making it collapse. From this point of view
perhaps I did do 2 little too much detail work on A# Soir
de la Pensée. .

MYSeLF : Don’t run down Aw Soir de la Pensée. What
life! What enetgy! What sanity |

CLEMENCEAU : Do you really thinkso? I'mglad. . . .
However, 1 was eighty-five years old when I wrote it; I
was racked by diabetes and could hardly stand.
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MYSELF: That’s the extraordinary thing about it. I
wonder if thete has ever been anything like it in the history
of the wotld. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : What completely false ideas one gets
about old age. In the first place there is no such thing as
old age ; one is old only when one decides to be old.

MYSELF : Sir, you talk like a young tman !

CLEMENCEAU : I talk Jike 2 young man who doesn’t let
anything get past him, In Government offices you often
sce people retire at sixty. At sixty! What a dreadful
ideal Then what happens? They die, of course! It’s
the law of nature. A man that isn’t any good for anything
ought to die! The truth is that you are all of you looking
for the slightest pretext to turn up your toes. And old
age is one of them. And that’s all it is.

There was a chap who came the other day to suggest to
me that I should begin my life over again. I answeted,
*I'beg your pardon, but I've no need to begin my life over
again. I have only to go on with it. . . .”> Then he
said, Right. I can have you made deputy for Colmar.’
I stared at him. ‘Deputy?’Isaid. ‘Can you see me in
the Chamber? Why not in the workhouse ?’

MYSELF : So you think . . .

CLEMENCEAU : 1 think that in my time there was still
something to do in the Chamber: we were still able to
fight for certain kinds of ideas. To-day that’s all over.
It’s worn out like everything else. It's no place for a
young man.

MySELF : However, they say that the Chamber of 1914
wasn’t so brilliant, .

CLEMENCEAU : Heavens, no! It wasnt brilliant.
Some of the people I met there! . . . ITused to wonderhow
a thousand or ten thousand poor devils could ever have
voted for those specimens. But the present Chamber
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surpasses even the one of 1914. I said to my man, ¢ Have
you any idea in what way my activities might find expres-
sion in the Chamber?” He shrugged his shoulders. . . .
You might put that question to all those fellows who
would like to be deputies. You might ask them, ¢ Why ?
What do you want to do?’ They would look at you in
bewilderment. ‘There isn’t one of them who ever had a
thought that he might enter the Chamber to defend ot
fight for something, You become 2 deputy nowadays the
way you might go on the dole: in order to live.

MYSELF : There are some of them with means to live
who still enter the Chamber.

CLEMENCEAU : In otder to put it on their visiting cards.
Although the word ‘ deputy’ is beginning to sound not
too well. . . . When you happen to be somewhere and
some one points out a man to you and says, ‘ That’s a
deputy,’” 2 sudden coldness comes over you. Martet, I
shan’t be deputy for Colmar. I shall remain young and
active. Only one thing annoys me, and that is that I can’t
move about any longer. When I have walked thirty
yards 'm done in. I used to love travelling . . . I must
giveitup. . . .

MYSELF: I intend to go on a little tour round the
Mediterranean for the working classes, to Cairo, Smyrna,
Athens. .

CLEMENCEAU: Lucky fellow! See Greece especially.
Ah, Greece | Greece, Martet, Greece is something madden-
ing. I remember one day in a lost corner of the Pelo-
ponnesus called Phigalia I had nothing to eat—yes, two
bars of chocolate. 1 noticed a hen which had caught its
foot in a fence. I teleased it and had it roasted over the
fire. Well, neither with knife nor teeth could 1 tear off
one sliver. It was made of stone. But the temple is
admirable. It was built by Ictinus, you know, the architect
of the Parthenon, ‘Thete are three temples which one must
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see before acquiring the right to leave this world: they
are the Parthenon and those at Phigalia and Paestum.
Are you going to Naples ?

MYSELF: Yes.

CLEMENCEAU : Then see Paestum. It’s sublime !

myYseLr : I’ll try to see Paestum . . . But I don’t know
whether I shall be entitled to see whatever I wish at the
price. I rather think that I shall be treated something like
an emigrant. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Why not on your own feet? That’s
the way to do it! Nowadays there are so many ships and
railways that you can visit the Pyramids without leaving
your bed. They bring them to you in the morning on 2
tray with the morning post.

MYSELF : Money is a great curse |

CLEMENCEAU: Do you mean that seriously? Look
at my grandson, Georges. He married a most impressive
collection of millions. Well, his father-in-law got the idea
of putting him into the jewellery business, in diamonds.
The other day he showed Georges a stone and asked him,
‘What do you think of this stone?” The little fellow
said, ¢ Oh, what 2 lovely emerald!’> Not at all,” answered
Roscneau, it’s the most appalling ruby that ever was.’
Do you see to what insults money may lead? The poor
little chap loves reading. . . . That’s even quite respectable
and it’s a good commentary on him. . . . Do you know
what his father-inlaw did? He went to the auction
rooms and bought him an entire library. . . . Now who
could read books under those conditions ?

MYSELF : Are you doing any reading now ?

CLEMENCEAU : Yes, I’'m reading a very amusing book,
a book about Alfred de Vigny . . . do you like de Vigny ?
He is industrious, conscientious, and that makes a certain
impression, But if you delve deeper, if you look behind
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the mere words, you don’t find very much at bottom. He’s
a thinker for the upper standards of a ptimary school. His
love affair with the actress Dorval was excruciating. He
wept, and let it remain there. When the same Dorval
became involved with a certain Gustave, who was one day
to become the illustrious actor Mélingue, our author said,
‘He became her lover without having uttered 2 word.’
Let that be a lesson to you, Martet! There is altogether
too much talking about.’

[Albert enters.
ALBERT : M. Chichet.?
CLEMENCEAU : Oh, bother! What does he want?

(To me) You come along with me. Il say two wotds to
him, and then you take him away. . . .

MYSELF : What has he done to you ? He’s very pleasant,
Chichet. . . .

CLEMENCEAU: He looks like Napoleon III. (7%
Albert) Show him into the study.

[Albert goes out.

MysELF: There’s a sculptor who has made a bust of
you without baving scen you, which is a most perfect
likeness. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : What’s his name ?

MYSELF : Cogné.

CLEMENCEAU : I've no luck with sculptoss. Either
they have genius and then their work doesn’t resemble me,
ot else they haven’t genius and it does. However . . .
I don’t know how it happens: they always give methe
head of a doddering idiot.

[Adbert returns.

ALBERT : Madame Bensa is here.

CLEMENCEAU : In the dining-toom. I’'m very much

1 Former editor of L'Hommse Librs,
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run after this morning. I always told you that I haven’t
lost any of my popularity.

[We go into the study. Chichet is there,

very imposing, with huge arms and Jegs.

CHICHET (gordially): Good morning, Mr. President.
How are you? All this while I’ve been thinking about
you. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : | thank you.

cHICHET: Moreover, there’s something I must tell you.
I'm writing for two newspapers, the Courrier du Centre and
the Nowvelliste d’ Alsace-Lorraine, and every time that I can
slide in a word about you and what you’ve done I do it.
Yes, indeed, on my word of honour !

CLEMENCEAU: Ah, that’s  charming . . . that’s
charming! . . .

cHICHET: I am also interviewing Motrdacq. The
other day—you’ll see—a very curious thing nevertheless . . .
I was speaking about you with Albert Sarrautl And
Albert Sarraut said to me, ‘I really should write to the
President. . . .’

CLEMENCEAU (with a starf): In Heaven’s name, what
for?

CHICHET : Well, there you are! . . . to assure you of
his friendship. I'll tell you this: you can see that to
Sarraut you are still ‘the President.” It’s interesting to
observe,

CLEMENCEAU (without emthusiasm): Yes? Do you
think so ?

CHICHET: You don’t believe it? (A sifence.) Then
I offer you my very best wishes.

CLEMENCEAU : What use are they ?

1 Minister of the Interior,
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CHICHET: Not much. It’s a2 formula one uses . . .
like that. I hope to have the pleasure of secing you again
s00n.

CLEMENCEAU : Au ’voir, my friend.
[Chichet poes away.
cLEMENCEAU : He gets to Jook more and more like
Badinguet.!
1 One of the surnames of Napoleon 111,
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A Harpy New YEeaR
15t January, 1928,

I gointo the dining-room, where MM.Raux and Pournin
are alrcady waiting.

MYSELF (fo M. Raux): Monsicur le Préfet de Police,
I wish you all happiness and prospetity.

raUX : Glory and wealth to you, Monsieur Martet,
and Paradise when your days are ended.

MYSELF : Did you go to the wedding of Mlle. Chiappe,?
Monsicur le Préfet ? 1 hear that there were several pretty
little children dressed as pages. . . .

rAUX: Yes, I heard so. It must have been rather
sweet. . . . Oh, Monsieur Martet, if I had had the Cardinal
Archbishop of Paris at the wedding of my daughter, to
what position might I not have aspired! Clemenceau
would never have forgiven me.

POURNIN : And Mandcl ?

ravx: They say that he is not going to have it all his
own way at Lesparre.? How I should love to see him
have a real contest |

MYSELF : But he will certainly be re-elected.
RaUX: By Jove, he must be! What should we do
without Mandel ?

! Daughter of the present Prefect of Police.
 In the Gironde. Mandel’s constituency,
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[Clemencean appears at the door of the
dining-room.

CLEMENCEAU : It is Monsieur Martet’s turn to speak.

MYSELF: How do you do? I have not come to wish
you a Happy New Year any mote to-day than yesterday.
I wish it to you every day.

CLEMENCEAU: It is a little formality which allows
people to lead you to believe they have not entirely for-
gotten you, Come along. (We go into the study.) Fox
a New Year’s gift someone has sent me an article which
says that the war was already half won when I took office
and there was really nothing to do but carry on the good
wotk which Messts. Millerand, Viviani, Briand, and Painlevé
had so auspiciously begun. I daresay I shan’t allow it to
woiry me.!

MYSELF: You seem to haveacold. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : It is only a touch of laryngitis. It’s
tickling the back of my throat. But I don’t think that my
vital organs are affected.

MYSELF : I want to tell you that I have begun to work.?
One of these days I shall bring you a manuscript. You
will tell me to throw it in the fire. And I shall throw it in
the fire.

CLEMENCEAU : It is quite possible, but I must read it
first. I have already told you, Martet, you are not a man
of action.

myseLF : Tell me, sir, what do you mean by action ?

1 ‘This idea of the ¢ victory which was beginning to dawn * had been put forward
several times, M. L. Dumont-Wilden answered : * A critical situation, Russia,
already disintegrated, had given up the struggle; American help still seemed a
long way off : Haly had not yet recovered from the disaster of Caporetto, and
Germany, freed by her victories in the East, was preparing to hurl the entire weight
of her available divisions against our front, ‘The Allies were ctippled and alarmed,
In France even, certain people, tired of the war, were already thinking of becoming
reconciled to a defeat which appeared to them inevitable.”

2 ] had hegun to write a history of the Clemenceau Ministry (1917-1920).
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CLEMENCEAU : ‘There you are! When a man asks
himself what is meant by action he proves that he isn’t
a man of action. Action is a lack of balance. In order
to act you must be somewhat insane. A reasonably
sensible man is satisfied with thinking, Now, you are
balanced. It is unfortunate for your sake, but there it
is! You were made for passing judgments. Well, good
Lord, go ahcad and pass them !

MYSELF : What a sentence !

CcLEMENCEAU : And for what a crime ! But go ahead
and judge, none the less. (Fe gets #p.) 1 have had a visit
from the Mother Superior of the Rue Bizet. I said to her:
¢ Mother, 1 tespect you because you live for a single idea.
I too live for a single idea. ‘They are not the same, but it
is possible that in 2 few hillions of years they may end up
by mceting.” Bring me your work. I will tell you what
I think of 1t as if you were my son.

MYSELF : Thank you.

[We are standing facing each other, and for
one moment we look into each other’s
eyes without saying anything.

CLEMENCEAU : | hope you will be happy, Martet.
MYSELF : Sir, will you allow me to embrace you ?
CLEMENCEAU : With all my heart, my boy.

[We embrace, and I go away with a beating
beart.
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CarLravx—THE KING OF AFGHANISTAN—A WORD
ABOUT ENGLAND AND THE UNITED STATES

zgth January, 1928,
MYSELF : How are you, sir?

CrEMENCEAU : All right, except that I’m coughing.
MYSELF : Still your diabetic bronchitis ?

cLEMENCEAU : Call it what you will, laryngitis, pleurisy,
general decay. Words don’t explain anything, All T can
tell you is that I'm coughing. 1am taking care of myself
as well as I can and having my back cupped.? Is there
any news ? Are you bringing me anything ?

MYSELF : Notyet. Inamonthortwo. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : I dreamed of Caillaux. What’s become
of him? I am under the impression that the French
people rather thought that Caillaux was 2 martyr to my
well-known ferocity, but unquestionably not a saviour. . . .

MySELF : Do you remember the session of the Chamber
on the 23:d December, 19177

CLEMENCEAU : No. What happened on the 23rd
December, 19177

MYSELF : It was the occasion when Caillaux came for
the last time to protest his innocence. . . . I was on the
little rostrum on the right which overlooks the Attachés’
gangway, and from there [ was able to see the scene pet-
fectly : Caillaux, in profile, his abrupt movements, his

1 Ventouses— Transiator's rote.
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hoarse voice, his purplish skull ; and you, sir, full face,
on the Government bench, looking out from under

knitted brows. . . .
CLEMENCEAU : And what was Caillaux talking about ?

MYSELF : I must say he was certainly declaiming away !

CLEMENCEAU : H’'m. That doesn’t surprise me. He
had a sense of the dramatic. . . .

MySELF : He said : “ Do you remember, Mr, President,
those tragic sessions when you yourself were accused of
treason, those impassioned speeches by Dérouléde, Mille-
voye. . . . Is it your desite that the injustice of those days
be repeated in ours? Do you want another Dreyfus
affair > Then he added :  You, you, Monsieur Clemen-
ceau, who to-day are all-powetful!” T cast a glance in
your dircction. 1 thought that something startling was
going to happen.

CLEMENCEAU : What ?

MysiLF: I don’t know. ... An unearthly electric
distutbance. Caillaux had just conjuted up those old
struggles, had appealed to your omnipotence, to your
generosity, . . . I wondered then what thoughts were
going through your mind.

CLEMENCEAU : 1 was thinking there was France, that’s
all
MYSELF : You once rather liked him, didn’t you ?

CLEMENCEAU : I didn’t hate him. He impressed me
as having at least a sort of go, a courage about him which
I liked, But if you ever want to take up politics as a
career, Martet, and want to get anywhere don’t worty
yourself with questions of liking. Keep yourself always
in readiness to break with your friends. Otherwise you
will be lost, lost.  You will never be able to carry through

1 The phrase is: Jo pensais gu'il y avait ia France, fout simplement, a sentiment
which cannot, 1 think, be perfectly rendered into English.— Translator's rose,
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what you have decided to do. In politics it is your friends
who hold you back.

Caillaux at the very height of the wat with Germany
kept putsuing his dream of an understanding with Germany,
cht up intercourse with Germany; in my view that is
a crime. If Caillaux before the war had the idea of main-
taining the equilibrium of Europe by effotts at industtial
and economic co-operation with the Boches he must
already have been mad. For you only had to look at them
in otder to see that they had no other idea than to throw
themselves on us and crush us. Perhaps in looking at
the matter from a distance, in considering it in the seclusion
of the study, one might hold dispassionately that the
Entente with Germany, our perpectual enemy, was well
worth the Entente we had with England—who is not our
perpetual enemy. Up to 2nd August, 1914, it was a little
hobby with which to divert oncself if one wished ; after
the 2nd August, 1914, one had to keep quiet about it.

As a matter of actual fact I did not trouble myself much
about Caillaux.! I really didn’t have as much to bother
about as I had about Malvy ; against him it was absolutely
necessary to take up the cudgels. In Caillaux’s case public
opinion, the newspapers, the ordinary machinery of
justice caught hold of him and balanced his account without
my having to interfere. But if it had been necessary, I
should have acted. I should not have rested until he was

1 Clemencezu once said : ‘It is probable that Caillaux is the only man with
whom I bave never had a controversy—it is strange but true—except perhaps
a fortnight before 1 came into powet. In my ptevious tinistry I chese him for
my Minister of Finance. And after I went out of office we met quite often ; 1 have
always spoken with him in a very friendly way. 1 never had any feeling of personal
enmity towards him, and even in moments of extreme irritation you will find if you
question him that he cannot say that I ever acted with hostility against him, To
tny knowledge he never did against me cither, I am not asking that any measures
be taken against him which could be called—1I do not say arbitrary, but which
might indicate any feeling of animus towards him—I only ask that he should be
treated as any ordinary citizen. If he was called John Smith there would not
be a conference around a table to discuss the matter when four people had been
proved beyond a doubt to bave received money on behalf of Germany and a man
was known to have had intimate relations with those four people.’
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put out of the way. There is no room for thirty-six ideas
in a country which is fighting for its life. There’s only
room for onc.

Malvy . . . you see, Malvy is the sort that lets things
take their own course, go-as-you-please, with a handshake
for everybody; while Caillaux is one of those gloomy
ill-starred herocs such as you find only in Shakespearean
drama. One should not despise them, for they bring into
this world where cverything is frayed, rubbed, worn, a
sense of the picturesque. . . . But for the sake of the
public safety it is better to withdraw them from circulation.?

Do you know, I should very much like to have the
opinion of the King of Afghanistan ? on the subject. 1
should like to know how these things are settled among the
Afghans. 1 think that there the Caillaux are hung up by
the feet.

MYSELF : Afghanistan is a country which seems to have
become very fashionable. The papers said the other day
it is bigger than France.

CLEMENCEAU : I can believe it. But the same thing
can be said about the Polar regions or the Sahara Desert.

MYSELF : What did you think of the King ?

CLEMENCEAU : I found him very congenial. But there
was one question which I put to myself. Can one be sure
that this really is the King of Afghanistan? Have they
asked to see his identity papers? Perhaps he is only a
slightly brunette gentleman who is travelling for pleasure,
One newspaper has a story that they took him to the
Invalides and Doumergue showed him the flags captured
from the enemy in 1870, and the king said,  The enemy ?
Which enemy?’ Thete is in that question a valuable

uQ

1 ¢ May I thank you for having spoken with me in so friendly a manner,” wrotz
Caillaux to Clemenceau in 1903, ‘ and tell you that I have been greatly touched by
the kindly way in which you have talked about me and which I trust gives me the
right to offer you, together with my sincere gratitude, my very decpest sympathy.’

® The King of Afghanistan was then in Paris.
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lesson in history and philosophy. He speaks French.
The Queen is very nice. The son goes to the Janson de
Sailly Academy. It’s all as it should be. A nice little
ménage. . . . Foucher! has invited me to go to a recep-
tion for them this evening at the Guimet Museum. I
have accepted.

MYSELF : Everybody knows perfectly well what they
have come to France for.

CLEMENCEAU : Of course ; to buy arms,
MYSELF : Against whom ?

CLEMENCEAU : Oh! against everybody who is annoy-
ing them. 1 am under the impression that since Locatno
the manufacture of firearms has increased considerably.
The titesome thing about Afghanistan is that there is
always a little too much assassination going on. Life
there is perhaps more exciting, but decath is tending to
become monotonous. When I was in India and wanted
to go to Afghanistan they told mc, * You will never come
out of it alive.” In order to go as far as the Khyber Pass
I had to have an escort of six hundred men with ammuni-
tion and baggage. But I did notice one striking thing :
a caravan with magnificent camels, whose enormous
mouths could break a head as easily as a nut. We saw
them coming towards us in the distance. You should see
a caravan from a distance. You would think it was a
serpent uncoiling. We knew where the caravan was going
and we attached ourselves to it. We arrived at a place
they called a caravansarai. It is very entertaining, a cara-
vansarai. . . . All those people, all those shouts. . ..
People sit about, unpacking their merchandise, scratching
themselves, delousing themselves . . . a stench of sweat,
squalour. I noticed a very pretty little ewer, covered with
smoke, in a cotner. I asked the man, ‘ How much do

1 The enrator of the Guimet Museum.
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you want for that?* He answeted, ‘ Three franes. It’s
what I paid for it last year in a bazaar at Peshawatr.’

Despite the restrictions, travelling in Afghanistan has
been going on for some time. Scholars have been sent
there. . . . There is that poor—what do you call him?—
the man who went to Bactra. He said to himself, ‘It is
impossible that thete is nothing at all in that locality.’
Thetefore he excavated, but found nothing. He was
furious.

When I went to the Khyber Pass they showed me 2
road ; on the right of that road was English territory, on
the feft Afghan territory ; and in the latter you can do any-
thing you have a mind to. It doesn’t matter; you can
kill your wife, your mother-in-law ; no one would be so
ill bred as to pass any remark about it.

Well, one day a2 man was found murdered in English
territory. An investigation was held ; the murderer was
discovered and arrested. He said ‘ You’re quite right.
I did kill that fellow. Only I killed him in Afghan terri-
tory. But he was spiteful, extraordinarily spiteful. In
order to have me arrested for it he dragged himself into
English territory, where he died. Do you want proof of
it? When I shot him from above he was sitting on that
rock over there. You can go over and look at it. There
are certain to be traces of blood on it.’

They went over and found that there was blood. He
was released with apologies.

MysELF : Still another judicial error.

CLEMENCEAU: To proceed to less cheerful matters,
I have to announce that Aulard * has written me. I have
no idea what was going on in his brain. He sent me a
poppy from the Acropolis with these words: ‘ My dear
friend, I am very fond of you, I should like very much to
see you again.’ I answered : My dear friend, for several

! The historian of the Revolution of 178y, Formerly a close friend of
Clemenceau’s.  His too Pan-European ideas had separated them.
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years you have devoted the best part of your energies to
supporting the men who are leading Fra.nce directly to
ruin. 'We have nothing mote to say to you.” Whereupon
Aulard took his revenge.

MYSELF: No!

CLEMENCEAU: Yes, indeed. Aulard is thc man to
avenge himself behind those spectacles of his. There was
a commission to examine proposed text books; Aulardand
Lanson ! were members of it. In the bosor of this com-
mission they discussed my books and wanted to know if
they were suitable for young people to read, and Aulard
remarked : ¢ They are rubbish. I have never been able
to read them myself.”

MYSELF : And what did Lanson have to say to that ?

CLEMENCEAU : Well, Lanson did just this. . . . He
taised his hands in the ait and then let them fall back again.

MYSELF : Did he say anything ¢

CLEMENCEAU : No, but that doesn’t matter, 1 shall
not withdraw my friendship from him. What happened
will bothet only him. We must begin with the principle
that professors cannot be courageous spontaneously, with-
out preparation, They don’t have very rapid reflexes.
When Lanson has time to see what is coming, to stir his
pen reflectively in the ink, he is brave. That’s z2bout
what it comes to.

MYSELF: You are still determined not to stand at the
elections, sir ?

CLEMENCEAU : No, there is nothing more for me to do
in that way. Neither for me nor anyone else, for that
matter. The mechanism has been destroyed. There are
no longer any parties, neither majority nor opposition.

I The historian of French literature. Professor at the Sorbonne for several
years, Clemenceau had a warm friendship for him.
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. . . Nothing whatever. The whole thing is like a kind
of sponge. You squeeze it and muddy water runs out.

Altogether it teminds you of the last days of the Roman
Empire. France has not Rome’s conquests, but in the
eyes of the nations she still cuts a good figure. They still
turn to her like 2 great spiritual leader. . . . But look
about you now, Martet, at what is going on and tell me
if it doesn’t make you uneasy.

MYSELF : But it is not only France which makes you
uneasy. . . .

CLEMENCEAU: No, that’s true. England as well
She has been a very great lady, England, aloof, ruthless,
but with an engaging quality about her. England alone
is perhaps of all peoples the one whose will held on the
longest. Unfortunately she has begun to show a kind of
weakening, of lassitude. The conquest no longet setves
to quicken the conqueror, What can you expect ?  Their
history goes back such a long way.

The English have three kinds of enemics to take into
account ; first, their natural enemies . . . and these are
not the most formidable; next, their Dominions, their
offshoots in Asia, Africa and Austtalia, who are beginning
to get festive; and, lastly, the English themselves; the
English of to-day are less enterprising than those of a
hundred years ago. Some virtue is going out of them.

MYSELF ; As for America . . .

CLEMENCEAU : America! Just a2 minute. (He shows
we some sheets of paper spread out on the table) 1 am just
engaged in surveying her at very close quarters and calling
up my memories, One day in ’66 or 67 I atrived at . . .
I don’t know where. . . . I got out of the train with my
bag. I got into a carriage; the coachman was a mulatto
with barely a trace of colour. He said to me: “Iam very
sorty, sit, I am only allowed to take a fare when all the
white coachmen are engaged.’






General Pershing, Clemenceuu und President Poincaré
arriving in The Place de T Concorde to review the Troops
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MYSELF : Diagnel * ought to hear of that.

CLEMENCEAU : They explained to me over there—very
nice and intelligent Americans—that they were compelied
to defend themselves against the negroes, that they were
afraid of degenerating if they allowed the two races to
mingle. I think there was something of that in it. But
I also believe that that wasn’t all. It’s becausc the Ameri-
cans ate still too near their beginnings ; they need a bit of
past. It takes a country a thousand yeats to come to the
point of understanding that 2 man is a man.

MYSELF : Do you think that one of these days America
and England . . .

CLEMENCEAU : War? I shouldn’t like it, for the sake
of the United States. They have good ships and they are
well manned, but the English have the sea in their blood.
Pershing thought they could improvise gencrals and that it
was enough just to raise millions of troops. He saw at
Thiaucourt it was not as easy as all that.

MYSELF : What do you think of the American ideology?

CLEMENCEAU : I think it is a very nice little article for
expott. They say to poor old Europe: ‘Now here is
what you ought to do. Here are the fourteen points and
the thirty-six points from which you should draw your
inspiration.” If you say to them, ‘ Quite so. But we
would like to know what you do at home and from what
you draw your inspiration,” they answer you : “ That’s easy.
We draw our inspiration from the Monroe doctrine.” This
business of reduction of armaments and outlawing war is
just a colossal buffoonery. Poor Claudel gets so excited
about it.

MYSELF : Have you ever read anything of Claudel’s 2
CLEMENCEAU : I used to think he was a carburettor,
and then I read a few pages of him—no, he just didn’t

! French deputy for Senegal, who is as black as ebony.
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carburate. He has a kind of conscientious emptiness such
as a Provengal would take on who was trying to attain an
atr of profundity. The Americans who read him between
two halves of a football match must have a good laugh.

[1 get up. We pass into the vestibule.

CLEMENCEAU (faking a long-necked Japanese vase from the
mantelpiece) : Here, take this. It was Steenackers?® who
brought it to me from out there. . . .

[He leads me out to the staircase and shows
me odds and ends of pottery and stones
spread out on a little round enamel table.

MYSELF : Have you been excavating ?

CLEMENCEAU : These are things that I dug up out of
a drawer. They come from Greece. This thing here
(be bands me a kittle acorn-shaped cup of terra-cotta) 1 picked
up in a ficld at Delos. It was probably used to contain the
oil for rubbing thebodics before the wrestling matches. . . .
(He shows me a piece of reddish stone as heavy as iron.) ‘That
was fixed in one of the scven gates of Thebes. . . . You
should see Thebes, Martet. And while T think of it, are
you going to Athens? If so, you should look up my
friend, Philaretos.

MYSELF : He was not in Venizelos’ Cabinet, was he P

CLEMENCEAU : Something like that. He lives in the
Villa Kallithea—which means Belle-Vue. A very nice
chap, Philaretos. He wouldn’t hurt a fly. 1 said to
him one evening : ‘I am going to leave you to work on
the Acropolis.” It is true: the Acropolis in moonlight
—is stupendous! You have those vast blue nights.
I asked him what those pedestal affaits were at the foot of
the Acropolis. Hesaid: ‘ Those? Aren’tthosetombs?’

1 An old friend of M. Clemenceau, He is now dead, He had been French
Consul-General for Japan.
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Philaretos never suspected that once there had been another
Greece.

MySELF : So far I hardly know the Greece which I saw
with you at the British . . .

CLEMENCEAU : H’m. There! Yes, ah! When you
go into that hall and those Phidias’s catch your eye! The
first time that I saw them I understood that all that T had
ever thought about everything had to be revised. You
cannot live without taking them into account,

MYSELF : The Parthenon brings order to the mind.

CLEMENCEAU : Did you hear that the Louvre has bought
that head from the Parthenon which is called the Laborde
head? From the name of the man to whom it belonged.
You know, the one of which I have a cast.

[We go into the siudy.

CLEMENCEAU (studying the head with a kind of rapt delight)
Thete’s something divine in that, isn’t there ?

MYSELF : Yes; they achieve their goal.

cLEMENCEAU : And the Tegea head. Look at it.
I can’t ever walk by it without stopping. What do you
expect to do after that? The man who made that brow
did it as if in a dream, with a caress of hishand. No effort,
no study. How did those people conceive of an idea like
that ? By what roads did they get there ?

MYSeLr: There is in the sculptures of the sixth
centuty . . .

CLEMENCEAU : No, that doesn’t explain anything, On
the contrary. Between archaic Greek art and the sculptures
of the Parthenon theteis . . . howmuch? . . . 2hundred
years, 2 hundred and fifty years, several generations—and
whata gulf ! Ido indeed think that the marbles of Phidias
derive from those awkward glumoldidols . . . asman has
descended from the monkey. For the very good reason
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that he couldn’t descend from anything else. But I don’t
see the links. You might say that one fine day there was
a spark and that it was made animate, human, divine. It’s
an extraordinary thing., The Laborde head is, with that of
the Thescus,! the only one which remains from the pediment
of the Parthenon.

When all that was in place under its own sun with that
sea in the distance-—it must have been something to look
at. What do you think of Morosini who bombarded it
with cannon-balls, and Elgin who carried away one of the
Caryatides from the Erechtheum and knocked the whole
thing down with his hammer ?

(We retrace our steps down the corridor
and return to the bedroom. Clemencean
5515 down.

MyseLF : Am I keeping you from working ?

CLEMENCEAU : Yes; but that’s as it should be, If no
one came to disturb me I should become stupid with
working. (Showing me the sheaves of paper laid out in front
of him) Huh! Can you really believe that I could have
had the luck to find all this to do? I need at least three
more months to come to the end of it. Martet, give me
three months.

MYSELF: Are you going to see the Revolutionary
Exhibition at the Bibliothéque Nationale ?

CLEMENCEAU : No, ought I to?

MYSELF : It’s very good.

cLEMENCEAU : All right, I'll go. Is Aulard’s portrait
there ?

MYSELF : There’s a great deal of blood, a great deal.

CLEMENCEAU: What do you expect? The Revolu-
tion—its principles were excellent, but you always have

men ...
1 In the Rritish Muscum.
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GREECE
1gth February, 1928,

CLEMENCEAU (woticing the porifolio which I am carrying
under my arm): Ah, at last! (I take the papers out of the
portfolio and band them to him.)

MYSELF : I ask you only to look at them after ’'m gone.

CLEMENCEAU : Oh! Why?

MYSELF : Because I say things which you will perhaps
think I oughtn’t to have said. But I shall be pleased to
have your opinion of it all the same.

CLEMENCEAU : You'll have it all right. (He begins 20
turn over the keaves.) What’sthis? M. Clemenceau? You
speak of M. Clemenceau. What’s he ever done to you,
that M. Clemenceau ?

MYSELF: I can only speak of what I’ve seen, and
amongst the things I've seen the one which struck me
most strongly was yourself. But don’t read it, sir, don’t
read it.

CLEMENCEAU (puiting the manuscript down): What can
you say about M. Clemenceau? What indeed /s there to
say ?

MYSELF : How are you to-day, sir?

CLEMENCEAU : I'm tired.

MYSELF : Spiritually ?

CLEMENCEAU : You put questions like Victor Cousin.
Physically, spiritually, it all comes from the same shop.
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Nevertheless I'm busy writing an article on the Debts.
The trouble about writing is that you can never write all
that you’re thinking—you must use shifts and evasions.
... And you? Have you had a visit from the King of
Afghanistan ?

MYSELF: No. I don’t associate with kings very much.

CLEMENCEAU: You’re wrong—get firmly hold of the
idea that most of the time kings think about exactly the
same things as your tailor or your dentist. I've never
known a king who had the soul of a king.

mysELr : Did you meet the king ?

CLEMENCEAU : Yes, at the Guimet Museum. They
asked me if T wanted to go to the reception they were
planning for him. I said ‘Yes.” So I turned up, and
it all went off very pleasantly. They put me next to
the queen, who wanted to know who the old gentleman
was whom they had seated next to her. She asked the
king, who replied vaguely that it was some sort of fossil,
now extinct. So, in otder to fix this solemn moment in
her memoty, she took out her watch and looked at the
time. 1 noticed that her watch was something quite
extraordinary—like 2 crab-apple cut in two. In the
centre of this instrument was a diamond—or thirty-six
diamonds—I don’t know the exact numbet. It seemed
magical.

MYSELF : What did they show the king at the Guimet

Museum ?

CLEMENCEAU : Well, fancy, they had the extremely
bright idea of showing him photographs of Afghanistan.
It was hardly worth the trouble to have him come so far
for that.

MYSELF : What imptession did he make on you ?
CLEMENCEAU : He came out of it not too badly.
MYSELF : Are you leaving for the Vendée soon ?
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CLEMENCEAU: I don’t dare to in this vile weather,
And you—what are you doing ?

MYSELF : Preparing my trip to Athens. I’m absotbed
in the history of Greece. What a frightful thing it was,
that catalogue of atrocities !

CLEMENCEAU ¢ It had its great moments too, Martet.

MYSELF : The treacheries, the stupidities. When one
thinks that the same people who fought Marathon and
Salamis .

CLEMENCEAU : Martet, I shall stop you right there!
In the first place, don’t take Marathon, Salamis, Thermopylae
too setiously. All those yamns. ... I've visited the
battle-field of Marathon. They pointed out to me the
hillock whete were buried the Athenians who died duting
the conflict. 'They totalled sixty-three. A battle in which
the losses number sixty-three, some of whom probably
died of sunstroke—we've seen better since then. . ..
After all, we only know Greek history through the Greek
histotians, and Herodotus is like a Marseillais. In speaking
of Xerxes’ army he says that they dried up the rivers
by drinking them. The rest is in keeping, It’s all been
puffed out and distorted by people who write history like
an exchange of fish-stories on the terrace of a café. Greek
history is simply the history of three dozen individuals.

But, Martet, amongst those three dozen—and that’s
my second point—wete some who did supremely great
things.

MYSELF: Ah, but there isn’t one of them who isn’t
under suspicion. Themistocles, Pausanias—all takers of
bribes, petjurers. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : There are others . . . Phocion. Don’t
you love Phocion? Ah, there’s 2 man I adote. I'd like
to have been the friend of that fellow. The detider of the
mob—* What asininity could I have uttered that they
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applaud me thus ?’ He read the future, that man, And
Soctates, Martet ?

MYSELF: Yes, There was Socrates,

CLEMENCEAU : Ah, Socrates! Isn’t he colossal, that
man against whom no reproach can be brought, who lived
free, died free, pursued his way with that smile of his?
How many such do you find amongst us ?

MYSELF : But Plato, Plato, sit.
CLEMENCEAU : What about him ?

MYSELF : Plato writing the Symposinm when Greek
strength and Greek thought were alteady being engulfed
by catasttophe. Don’t you find that joy in living and that
serenity overwhelming ?

CLEMENCEAU :  Yes, but—well, I'm not struck by
Plato’s philosophy. There is no man who has talked
more nonsense and reasoned more absurdly—but when
you've written the Symposiwm, Martet, and those para-
graphs about the death of Socrates, you’ve well fulfilled
your destiny. You’ve given a meaning to the prodigious
adventure which is the history of the race. Another one
I like very much is Xenophon. He isn’t very shrewd,
now and then. He narrates events without quite under-
standing them. But he is so decent, so balanced, Whata
splendid specimen of aman! One day I happened to be in
the village where he was born, at—oh 1 this elusive memory
of mine. In the morning I opened my window—I saw
nothing but a swallow flying past (be traces the curve of
its flight with bis hand)—that was all that remained of
Xenophon.

MYSELF : But the expedition to Sicily, Alcibiades.
CLEMENCEAU: Yes. Frightful. But ...

MYSELF : And that avalanche which from year to year
was on the point of falling—there never was a people who
drew so little profit from experience. The Persians had



GREECE 95

outflanked them the first time at Thermopylae by crossing
the Oeta pass. Thermopylae was flanked a second time,
and by the same pass. The pass was no more guarded
the second time than the first.

CLEMENCEAU : Quite so. But that’s not the story of
Greecconly. Look at all those countries who are throwing
themselves into the arms of the Boches just as if there had
been no war, no Belgium violated, no ships torpedoed. It
would seem that nothing can teach anything to anybody ;
people seem to grow new minds daily. They imagine
that their age is exceptional because they live in it, that it’s
quite different from all othets ; they believe that they will
live to see the beginning of a new era-—then they forget
to guard the pass. . . . As if there ever were new eras.

MYSELF : And Greece in the hands of Rome !

CLEMENCEAU : [ give you Rome. It’s a degeneration.
But Greece! There’s 2 book on Greece by 2 man named
Jardet which you should read. Jardet was a professor
at the University of Lyons, and he conceived this history
from the most enlightened point of view. He wrote his
book, and died, after an illness of two or three months.
Then it was learned that he hadn’t left enough for his
burial, and that his illness had exhausted all of his meagre
savings. Not a penny was left for his wife, A collection
was taken up—I contributed a trifle—and that, Martet,
that’s how you end up if you write a book on Greece.

MYSELF : I’m reading Aeschylus at the moment.

CLEMENCEAU : It’s beautiful, isn’t it? What heights
of grandeur !

MYSELF : 1t’s beautiful because he believed in what he
was doing. There is no more belief—one no longer even
believes in the pen which one’s holding.

CLEMENCEAU : ‘That’s it exactly. They opened their
eyes wide on the world—they discovered it. The world
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was the world for them and not what it’s become for us—
words. . . .

MYSELF : And Aristophanes.

CLEMENCEAU : That fellow—no. I can’t see him in
the picture—he spoils the composition. He understood
nothing about anything whatevet, took the great for the
small, the small for the great, threw his venom, his rancour
about promiscuously, broke everything, soiled everything.
It’s people like that who corrupt 2 country.

MYSELF : And Sparta.

CLEMENCEAU : When I arrived in Sparta I said * Show
me Sparta.” There wasn’t any. The Eurotas rolled by,
a pretty, ltmpid stream, but about as wide as this piece of
furniture. In the museum, which is about as large as
this room, there are a statue and a vase, both Attic. They’re
all that Sparta has left. I expected to find a countryside
as dour as themselves, but no—great fertility, vines beating
enormous grapes. And I crossed the Taigeta, which is
something of a mountain, I assute you, and artived at a
place called something like ¢ Coryza >~—the women crossed
themselves when they saw me and drunken priests kissed
me on the mouth.

MYSELF : Did you go to Olympus ?

CLEMENCEAU: Twenty times! Ah, Olympus! The
Circus . . . you still have that before you. And if, on
scraping away the earth with your foot and noticing the
white line where the runners finished, you experience no
sensation, it’s because you’re made of wood.

MYSELF ;: And the ancient cities—Azgos, Mycenae ?

CLEMENCEAU : Magnificent | All those huge piles—
there’s not one of those stone blocks which isn’t too large
to fit into this garden. They haven’t the look of having
been made for people like us. You begin to understand
the buskin of the Tragedians. .
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MYSELF : I learned with surprise that the Asclepieion
of Athena was quite small, . . .

CLEMENCEAU : It is. But the temples of the Golden
Age are minuscules, and the Asclepieion must be practically
contemporary with the Acropolis. That’s what con-
stitutes the triumph of those people; they guessed that
the key to the problem wasn’t size but harmony. They
wete the only race who understood that. The Egyptians
with their pyramids—what were they secking? They
may pile stone upon stone, yet even by breaking their
backs they cannot hope to scale the Heavens. 'The Greeks
did not look for their solution in space but in the mind.

And after the Asclepicion, which is so lovely in the
evening by moonlight, with the children playing all round
it, after the Parthenon, which has been so mistreated, which
has inspired so much literature, you will see the Pnyx,
Martet. The Pnyx reveals things. An old altar to
Apollo—yes, that’s all—made with artificial soil, so that the
Athenian cobblers might determine the fate of Demosthenes.

MYSELF : And Crete?

CLEMENCEAU: Crete! Now and then, in the night,
when I’m unable to sleep, I see Phaistos again. It’s some-
thing that’s fixed in my memory.

Ah, Greece, Martet. You must travel by way of
Greece to get anywhere you're going. I believe that
humanity reached its highest point there, easily, joyously.
At Rheims, amongst all those Gothic sculptures, which
are very fine and which one can’t help admiring, there are
two statues—copies of Roman things, probably, badly
conceived, badly executed. Well, when you notice the
folds of the draperies, which fall in that rhythm which the
Romans stole from the Greeks, you’re numbed, you can’t
see anything else—notlnng but those two statues which
are there as if in exile.

There’s nothing beyond Aeschylus, nothing beyond
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Plato, nothing beyond Socrates. It all ended in bloodshed
and domesticity. Well, pethaps it’s the history of all
peoples, in all times. Baber, my friend Baber, the con-
querot of Persia, used to have a pile of heads brought to
him cvery motning, and when the pile was a little smaller
than usual, he would say, * It’s pretty small, this pile. My
men are getting slack.” Nevertheless, it was the same
Baber who said, ¢ There are sighs which arouse the world
to action,” Men are like that. And one may even wonder
if all that blood and all that brutality were not necessary
for the making of an Aeschylus and the building of an
Ercchtheion. Gentle and kindly men are pleasant to have
about, but in general they don’t create masterpieces.
Soak yourself in Greece, Martet. It’s something that’s
sustained me in trouble. When I was weary of all the
imbecilitics and the futilities of which politics is composed,
I turned my spirit towards Greece. Others went fishing.
To each his own way.



XV
Rue SamNT-DoMiNIQUE—THE TriP TO LONDON

Itoss my notes into a drawer. They help me neither to
remember nor to muse. I have only to open my memory
at this or that page—the proof-sheets it contains ate not
yet yellowing. . . .

What street is this? The Rue Saint-Dominique!
The old mansion in which the Republic houses its Ministers
for War. Who is that man in the middle of the courtyard ?
Commandant Crepet, commander of this fortress, who
exercises supreme authority over its guard, its dozen rifles
and its drum. And this? Brum, brum! Mordacq!
And that? . . . Thin and whistling like the winter wind
inthe keyholes. Mandel! . . . Andthat great gesticulating
devil? Ignace. ... And that charming, so charming
man ? I souis votre ami ! Quseg of abonseg 11 Sabini |
Dear Sabini!? And that thickset man like a horse trainer ?
Derby! This one is Pétain, that one Mangin |

I behold the shade of that great devil of a National
Guardsman coming into view. Very blonde, very erect,
his eyes as blue as faience ware, and sublimely devoid of
all expression, who bowls me over with a salute of his
enormous open hand. Whilst I tush up the stairs every
morning, four at a time, in 2 horrible panic at the thought
of being late. I can see the people who brought up my

1 Untracslatable dizlect.—Transiater’s note.
* Commercial attacht to the Italian Embassy, M. Clemenceau liked him.
Sabini began by overwhelming me with cases of oranges. Then the orange

scason came to an end.  After that he made m* a Commander of the Order of the
Couronne Royale.
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post—those letters, those hampers of letters! How men
love to write! What an idiot the chap was who invented
writing | There is not a country under the sun which has
escaped that folly. Here is a letter from MM. Gianoulo-
poulo and Patras and M. Benito Villanueva of Buenos
Aites. What do they want? Four, eight, 2 dozen pages.
All languages : Dearest old friend, . . .” writes Margot
Asquith., “The game is hard,” writes Capel. . . . ‘ But
you shall (s#) win it.” I turn these letters over and over,
Shall I speak to him about this? Yes—no—if Ido speakto
him about it . . . but if I don’t speak to him about it . . .

I go into Clemenceau’s office. Mandel is there.

¢ And then ?’ Clemenceau asks him.

‘You must read Capus’s article, chiefly those words
which cannot fail to surprise. . . .’

The ‘ surprising > words read and noted.

Mandel with a gesture of his hands as if he were making
the otb of the wotld turn round and round, with a twist
of his back as if he were trying to roll over in a gutter—
Mandel] conveys that that’s all, although nevertheless .
but we might say all . . . all . . . and yet not altogether
all.

Clemenceau turns to me.

¢ At your service.’

At my service, but not for long. Just time to say to
him :

¢ A letter from Sir Francis Bertie.”

¢ What does he want ?°

‘ He is leaving for London.’

‘Next?’

‘ A letter from . . .

The door opens. ... Herscher,! Alby,2 Mordacq
enter. The front, tanks, trenches, spies, G.H.Q., the war.
I go back to my room. The office which I share with

¥ Coloncl Herscher. Head of the Militaty Secretatiat.
1 General Alby.
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Mandel? is full of people. There is Colonel Edmond
‘Théry,  the European economist,” in the uniform in which
he dresses himself up on holidays and other occasions of
public and private rejoicings, with the badge of the Legion
of Honour pinned on his stomach—the pot-bellied appari-
tion which symbolises in this sort of establishment some
vague mystetious science in a perpetual state of bank-
ruptcy. There is Alerme—undeceived, disillusioned.
‘What? It surprises you? But it’s always that way.
The more stupid it is, the more chance it has of sticking.’

My old friend Wormser? . .. Cassé-Barthe? . . .
‘Er...et...I statter ...’ Fontin,* smiling and
silent, his hands in the hip pockets of his trousers.

The bell! It’s the ‘boss.” I take a writing-pad and
pencil and go in. He is alone, lowering. He looks
towards the window and says :

* A telegram for Barrére: ® 1 HAVE NOT YET RECEIVED
M. ORLANDQ’S REPLY AND CANNOT WAIT ANY LONGER,
PLEASE REMIND HIM THAT EVEN TO-DAY THE WORD
“ PROMISE ” HAS SOME MEANING.

Then follow ten pages of my writing-pad. Not a
pause. Never a request for a repetition. His thoughts
unfold themselves lucidly and straightforwardly., When
he has finished :

‘Read it over,” he says.

I do not know how I succeeded in reading it back, for
he dictated it at breakneck speed. Not a word to change.
The flow was perfect.

‘ Have it typed.’

1 M, Painlevé’s old office. Clemencean installed himself in the former office
of the head of the Cabinet.

2 Head of the Cabinet later, when Mandel was elected to the Chamber.

3 Second in command of the Civil Cabinet. He became prefect. He would
make several starts before he could express any idea,

4 * In command of a mission,” and I could never find out what mission.

5 French Ambassador at Rome.
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[ go out, and return ten minutes later. He is with
Foch.

‘What is it ?°

‘ Your signature. . . .

He takes up his formidable goose quill, dips it in the
ink, scratches the point on the edge of the inkstand, signs.
I go out again.

People are waiting about for me in the billiard-room.
Who? Generals who are asking for decorations and
whom Motdacq has sent for a little walk. Colonels
who want the rosette or a general’s stars. Priests, nuns,
old gentlemen with troubled faces who have something
‘very interesting and important’ to communicate to
Clemenceau. . . . Women who need coal for their stoves.
. . . Emirs who wish to assert theirloyalty. . . . Manufac-
turers of trench mortars. . . . Journalists. . . . Old cronies
whom I have not seen for fifteen years and who look as if
they had just crawled out from under the furniture!
“Hullo ! you haven’t changed a bit.’

I receive them. Between two doots, in a beautiful
draught, without even listening very closely to what they
tell me. I am thinking that I have a paper on my table
which I must show to Clemenceau. . . . Evetry three
minutes I ask the door-keeper: “ Isn’t he alone yet?’

‘No, there is M. Boudenoot ! with him. Or there is
the Greek Minister, Or there is Colonel Repington.’

The poor wretch who has just come up to seek my aid
and protection tells me his little story :

‘You understand : if before the end of the war I
am not nominated a veterinary surgeon of the second
class . .

Suddenly the doorkeeper dashes out :

¢ The President is putting on his hat.”

I leave the vet. rooted to the spot.

‘ What else 7> Clemenceau asks me,

1 A Senator, President of the Army Commission.

?
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“ A letter which a Dane has sent you. . . . It seems
that your friend, Brandes . .

‘ The dirty dog! What has he done now?’ (I read
the letter.)  * Nothing could surprise me about that fellow.’

The morning passes. Afternoon comes. All day I
hear the hum of the hive where the fate of nations is at
stake. The great machine for making war is in action.
What about the Italians? Herscher declares: ° They
atre getting themselves together and establishing a front.’
What about Russia? She has collapsed. The Uktaine
and the Caucasus are pulling apart. The English? They
are fichting around Saint Quentin and Cambrai. . . . Our
troops ? The traitors 2 Alby reports : “ No. 34 has met
No. 122 at Geneva.” . . .

The soldiers melt away, giving place to the civilians.

. Here’s Klotz: How does the Loan stand ? Botet ;!
Andthe wheat ? Bread? Milk? Nail . ., Malvy? . . .
Ignace . . . Vincennes ? 2

Delysia! Delysia! The journey to London. A voice
whispers to me : delve in your memory for that beautiful
gitl . .. itwasin ...

In March, 1918, we left Paris on Wednesday the 13th
via the Gare du Nord. At Calais there was a cold drizzle.
We went aboatd an old boat called the Pas-de-Calais whose
captain seemed quite indifferent to the possibility of being
torpedoed. ‘A Boche submarine? Oh! Do you think
so? It would surprise me.’

The voyage was pleasantly sad. A faitly strong sea,
greenish-yellow in colour, a cold, biting wind ; and, once
we were out in the open sea, a mist. We went on, rolling
and pitching. Even the least timid amongst us looked

1 Minister for Agriculture and Food.
% Tt was at Vincennes that trairors and spies were shot.
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askance at that dirty water whence so many periscopes
might suddenly appear. We were escorted by I don’t
know how many destroyers, who circled around us like
watchdogs. Suddenly everyone was on the alert, A
destroyer had datted away towards the open sea, * There
they are !’ somcone cried. . ‘ Submarines!” Tt was only
an empty bottle.

I can see ourselves on the boat, Clemenceau in a black
overcoat and black bowler hat which, when we had left
port, he replaced with a little house cap. He paced up
and down the deck from prow to stern and from port to
starboard, amongst windlasses and coils of rope.

‘* Well, so you have gone and left your little wife ?’

“Yes)

‘Idon’t nced you. You might just as well have stayed
behind.”

‘1 know that, sit. You never do need me.”

¢ But I prefet to take you along.  Primarily to take you
away from your little wife. You are too much under the
thumb of women, Martet.’

‘' Well, sir, it’s a very gentle thumb.’

* And besides, you should see London. London in
war time is a strange sight.”

I see Foch again—with his cap at an angle, his long-
skirted coat, his little stick under his arm, a kindly, dreamy
light in his eye; Weygand, dark and sturdll) ugly, with-
drawn from the world ; Pichon, the good Pichon. He
was wearing a cattle merchant’s cap. I see Spiers again,
4 happy man, thirty years old and a general. He is thin,
lithe and charming.! Who else? That round, peaceable
fellow: it’s Orlando. There is General Giardino . . .
there is Batbier. . . . '

They handed out to all of us enormous cork belts
enveloped in white canvas, and we wrapped them round

! He was the liaison officer between the British War Office and our Ministry
for War.
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our stomachs. Orlando looked as if he wete wearing the
kind of harness they put on children to support their first
toddling steps. Pichon was girdled with a dozen large
white sausages.

When they brought one to Clemencean he said :

‘ What are you bothering about me for?’

I ask Barbier :

‘Why haven’t the Boches the netve to tutn up here?
What a scene for history !’

At last we are at Dover, The great Shakespeate
clif. . . . Then the neat little English countryside.
And then London . . . London. Clemenceau was quite
right. It is a strange and sinister place. Everybody is
disguised as a soldier, men, women, kids . . . and every-
body is dancing everywhere. . . . Upstairs, downstairs,
in the drawing-room, in the cellar . . . tangoes, Bostons,
and all soberly, so sobetly, The English dance the way
other people pray. Fagalde and Chasles de Noailles?
took me to a kind of grillroom—until the eatly hours of
the morning I saw couples in military uniform, male and
female, passing back and forth by my table as if possessed,
all ages and colouss, looking at the infinite with their blue
eyes, advancing, retreating——one, two; they seemed on the
point of bursting with homesickness, It was melancholy,
sad. And what is that over there? A wounded chap,
whose poor head is wrapped in gauze and gives forth the
hortible petfumes of the chemist’s shop. The hospital
dance, the operating table dance.

I say to Noailles :

‘ Don’t they make the skeletons dance, too ?°

I had just arrived from Patis, where scarcely anyone
danced and where the nights wete torn asunder by bom-
bardments and the shrieks of sirens. But Patis had kept
her laughter. People laughed even as they tumbled down
into their cellars. . . . London, where the nights were

1 He was working under Fagalde’s orders.
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peaceful and whete everybody Bostoned and tangoed, was
funereal, even on gala nights.

I asked Fagalde to introduce me to some French people.
He took me to call on Delysia. Delysia is French, she
should be called Dupont or Durand. She happened to
prefer Delysia: she was wrong. There is no prettier
name than Dupont, unless it is Durand. She offered us
dinner, and immediately after the last course said :

‘Listen! Listen!’

Shc sang—the most stupid of French songs . . . but
with what 2 voicc and what spirit]  You would have taken
her for a bugle. Brave Delysia |

“Well,” Clemenceau asked me, ‘ have you seen West-
minster 2’

‘1 have seen Delysia, sir, . .
" On the 17th we returned to Paris. On the 18th the
newspapers published this paragraph: ‘During his stay
M. Clemenceau has participated in London at Conferences
at which the Italian Prime Minister and other Italian
ministers were present. M, Clemenceau appeared very
satisfied with the conferences which he had had with the
English and Italian ministers, and states that the most
complete understanding was reached with the minimum
of effort.’

With the minimum of effort! He should have seen
the English dancing !

They would not have understood one another so easily.

>






Clemencean dressed for a visit to the Fronr




XVI
Tue Dark DAvs

On the 17th March, 1918, Clemenceau retutned from
London. The Getman offensive began on the 21st, five
days later. On the 231d the English tesistance gave way,
On the motning of the 24th the British communiqué
announced that ‘ powerful attacks launched by massed
infantry and artillery have broken out line to the west of
Saint-Quentin’ It was a fact. The English front was
broken.

The dark days began. . . .

Clemenceau left at dawn, wrapped in his thick brown
woollen overcoat, wearing his grey drooping hat, colossal,
savage, his dynamic will desperatc but unbreakable,
Brabant was on the drivet’s seat.

On the 23td he is at Compiégne waiting for Pétain.
On the 24th and 25th he is at the front ; he goes back there
the next day and the next. He is drawn by that infernal
cauldron where the fate of nations is being determined.
He goes to the very edge of the battle, breathes it in, The
fearful need thete is to establish cohesion between all those
men, all those spitits, all those races!  Some, disheartened,
pote over their maps and have too much sense of reality
not to despait. He mises them up with ‘Come on,
let’s get on with it” The others, the hot-heads, no
longer see anything as impossible in the smoke and
frenzy of action, and would like to throw in evety-
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thing, grab victory by the throat. He calms them with
‘ Patience |’

He returns to Paris, exhausted, covered with dung
and mud to his knees, but with the inspiration of Salamis
still before his eyes. There is not only the front . . .
there is also the rear gasping and burning in fever. There
is the Chambet of Deputies. On the 23rd, the day when
the English front broke under the German pressure, he
hastened into the cortidor of the Chamber.

¢ What’s happening ? * asked the deputies.

* Don’t make those faces. They ate sending reinforce-
ments. Nothing to fear. . . .

On the 27th—Noyon had just been abandoned, they
were getting ready to evacuate Montdidier—he comes to
the Chamber. °The situation has appteciably improved.
The German onslaught is weakening.’

There are the ministries. There is the Elysée. On
the morning of the 25th, while the French troops in the
Noyon sector were engaged in the ‘ terrific struggle’ of
which the communiqué spoke, there was a meeting of the
Cabinet : the military, diplomatic and economic sitoation
was gone into. . . . For it was not only a question of
fighting, It was a question of eating.

‘There was Paris, which now lived only on its nerves,
bombarded and racked at night by the Boche ’planes and
the scream of the sirens, in the daytime by Big Bertha. On
the morning of the 24th, before leaving for the front,
Clemenceau went to make the round of the ruins : houses
with gaping walls, looking as if they had been sliced off
by a razor and snatched from the adjacent walls. . . .
The round also of the wounded and the dead.

Then there was the group which was alteady wavering
and vacillating, which was looking to us ; and Clemenceau
telegraphed to Lloyd George on the 28th, just as we had
evacuated Montdidier, ¢ We ate firm and confident of to-
morrow.’
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There he is, the man of seventy-seven who has seen
everything, lived through everything, experienced every-
thing, and to whom only this one last horror was lacking
—the devastation of his country. M, Claveille  wrote to
him on November 19th, ‘ Perhaps you may remember the
momentous confidences you made to me on the 15th
August, 1918, at Marscille-en-Beauvaisis, and which I
had the honous to receive from you on one of the most
anxious days of the wat. My thoughts ate carried back
at this moment inevitably to those confidences : they recall
to me with complete fidelity the courage and tepacity of
my illustrious chief, who is so pre-eminently assoctated with
our country’s triumph. . . . It was the greatest honour
that I could have wished for in my modest career to have
been summoned to serve under your orders.” General
Guillaumat wrote to him, ‘ The army of the East is follow-
ing with anxiety the fluctuations of the struggle which has
been going on for the past fortnight and of which it knows
that you ate the guiding spirit. It is for this reason that
it asserts its confidence and dares to hope.’

So few years have passed since then and already it is
all so far away. How quickly horror is forgotten !

1 Minister for Public Works and Transport in the Clemenceau Cabinet,
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THE EreEcTioNs—ONE EvENING IN DECEMBER—THE
VENDEE

15t April, 1928.

CLEMENCEAU: How do you do, Monsteur Martet ?
Delighted to make your acquaintance.

MYSELF: How do you do, sir? Delighted to have
made yours thirteen years ago. How are you ?

CLEMENCEAU : Like 2 man in the last stages of decay,
thank you.

MYSELF : Albert tells me that you are leaving for the
Vendde,

CLEMENCEAU : Yes; oughtn’tIto?

MyseLF : Certainly, but you didn’t tell me about it.

CLEMENCEAU : Oh, reproaches! I beg your pardon,
Monsieur Martet. I’ll take you if you like. . . .

mYSELF : Thank you. Because of my littleness I think
I had better stay close to the shore.

CLEMENCEAU : So much the worse for you! I should
have shown you something that is rarely seen in these
parts of the world: a sky—with passing clouds. . . .
What are they saying about the clections ¢  Just think!
I'am having a most unpleasant experience—I am wondering
if I ought to vote. Do you believe in voting, Martet ?

MYSELF : Sir, whoever it was that fought for universal
suffrage it certainly wasn’t me.

CLEMENCEAU : Who is there to vote for? Poincaré
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or the Communists ? I don’t like the Communists very
much—and Poincaré . . . Poincaré . . . well, you know
the affection I have always had for him. In my con-
stituency there is 2 man called La Roche-Thulon.! . . .
Obviously I cannot vote for a La Roche-Thulon. One just
doesn’t vote for a La Roche-Thulon. Pacaud2? He said
to e when he presented himself for election to the Senate,
‘If you were nice, you would write a sweet little letter to
tell all the good that you know about me.” I wrote the
sweet little letter, and then what did Pacaud do? He
deserted me. I don’t know if you have ever noticed it,
but I seem to have a talent for being deserted.

MYSELF : Men do not like being loyal. It makes them
feel that they are losing their personalities.

CLEMENCEAU : They express themselves better by
betrayal. ‘Then who is thete to vote for, Martet ?

MYSELF : It’s a question which a number of people are
putting to themselves. There have ncver been so many
people who are wondering whom to vote for. To make
things even there have never been so many candidates.
Yesterday evening there were five hundred and ten for the
Seine alone.?

CLEMENCEAU : Five hundred and ten! 1t’s terrifying.
But it’s understandable. When politics was a matter of
idezs, that discouraged and frightened off a few. To-day
it’s quite the opposite. . . . I begin to believe that Mandel
will be elected. I see that a certain journalist has referred
to him as a species of microbs. . . . Thete is no better
single word for depicting him. He has a life. . .

MYSELF : Have you heard from him ?

CLEMENCEAU : He telephones me now and then and
asks me if he can come and see me. I answer neither yes

1 A reactionary candidate. 2 Another candidate, a radical.
¥ There were 921 on the day of the election, for 59 seats.
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not no. ., . . So he comes. He tells me things. He has
an ides, though only one, but he holds on to it firmly : he
wants to be elected and enter the Chamber in order to
scold people. . . . Haven’t you ever wanted to be a
deputy ?

MYSELF : I prefer to watch men of action act! . ..
act! . .. act!

CLEMENCEAU : Quite so. And you find that . . .

MmyYSeLF : Lovely! There are such marvellous results !
I bought myself a pair of shoes yesterday. I paid 175 francs
for them.

CLEMENCEAU : It would seem that you get the point.
Have you read Jouffroy, Martet ?

MYSELF : No, sir.

cLEMENCEAU : That’s a mistake. In the first place he
is a man who knows how to write. I should almost
incline to accuse him of writing too well. His sentences
are too well turned : they are like too beautiful women—
they don’t excite you. You admire them and haven’t the
least desire to. . . . Every now and then it happens that
I write things with subjects, predicates, objects . . . they
unroll like carpets. I have to recall them in order to
re-write them badly, because life itself is impetfect. And it
is life that matters before all else. This granted, there is
nevertheless a page of Jouffroy about a certain December
night which is very good. I will read it to you. I had
a book . . . I don’t know what possesses my books:
they hide themselves somewhere, insinuate themselves
into corners . . . there is no way of getting them back
again. I borrowed this one from the Bibliothéque
Nationale. Practically all of the Bibliothéque Nationale
books are tound here somewhere, (He resds.) I shall
never forget that December evening when the veil which
had obscured my natural scepticism was totn. I still hear
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my footsteps in that narrow bate chambet where, long after
the hour of sleep, I was accustomed to stride up and down.
« o (And the reading went on, the beautiful sentences unrolling
like carpets)) And here, at the end, ¢ Frightened by the
empty unknown into which I felt myself being drawn,
I turned my thoughts in vain for the last time towards my
childhood, my family, my country, all that was sacted and
dear to me; the inflexible tide of my thoughts was too
strtong ; parents, family, memories, beliefs, it was com-
pelling me to leave them all” Eh! What do you think
of that ?

MYSELF ¢ It’s well said.

CLEMENCEAU : Because it is well thought. There’s
a man who at least has questioned himself. How many
people ate thete who question themselves ?  It’s that way
because it’s that way, and it will still be that way to-
morrow. . . . Thete you have the entire content of their
spirits, While Jouffroy took his little lamp, turned its
tays on his soul and said, *Let’s have a look! What is
there there?’ And he realised that there was nothing
there,

MysELy : How did the idea of reading Jouffroy occur
to you ?

CLEMENCEAU : Because Jouffroy, as you see, had an
idea. I once had it . .. I have found it again in him.
Jouffroy asked himself if the human race will suffer the fate
of the other animal species which have disappeared, and,
if so, whether it will disappear thtough inadequacy of
numbers or because it is preparing its own death with its
own hands. I am going to take that up again. I want
to express the idea that the law which governs humanity—
the law which it cannot avoid, which it hasn’t the right to
avoid—is the law of progress, and it is progress that kills
humanity. We get excited, we agitate ourselves, we
expend our energies, we enunciate our ideas; each time
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that we extract something from chaos it is only a new poison
which leads us a little farther on the foad to extinction,
While speaking of this I might say two or three words
about Liberty, government, democracy and so forth,

MYSELF ;: It isn’t a very cheerful subject.
CLEMENCEAU : Don’t take me for a cheetful author.

MYSELF : It is obvious that the genius of man up to
now has reached its highest point in the manufacture of
poison gas . . . but . ..

CLEMENCEAU : But what? Oughtn’t it to be said?
. . . Truth should always be stated, and as nnmistakably
as possible. Then I shall leave on Tuesday at 4 o’clock in
the motning. 1 shall be at Tours at eight, and lunch at
home,

MYSELF : I see that in the Vendée the sea has broken
the dykes and that there are dozens of actes under water.

CLEMENCEAU : Yes, between Aiguillon and La Tranche.
At that point the land is protected from the sea by a little
mud dyke about as high as this. You can imagine that
the sea would have some fun with it. . . there is one man
who tells how he had to go into the water up to his neck
to find his cart horses. It seems that there’s going to be
2 high tide on the 2xst. I shall be there.

MYSELF : Have you any news of your house ?

CLEMENCEAU : Yes. It’s still standing. The flowers
are growing., I shall enjoy myself . .. take it easy,
relax and await the end with a2 smile. I shall have two
guests, Martin and one other, the son of one of my old
school friends—a chap without a very wide outlook, but
he doesn’t need that. What would he do with it? The
son has a nice little fortune ; he doesn’t do anything but
read . . . that’s all he does. He has read Aw Soir de /2
Pensée three times and seads me a chit from time to time.



THE VENDEE 11§

MYSELF : Have you noticed that your old friend Linyer 2
has just been elected senator for the Loire-Infétiente ?

CLEMENCEAU : What pleased me was that he was put
up against Briand’s candidate. Linyer is a nice fellow.
Do you remember his forest of evergreen oaks? He has
three or four hundred hectares in which I love to walk.
What a bore that the Linyers are Catholics ! They believe
that God comes in the night to make their little oaks grow.
It’s quite a harmless 1dea. Linyer once said to me, ‘ The
Church imposes its discipline on me and I submit to it.’
I only regret that he can’t find that discipline in himself
but is compelled to go and botrow it from the Pope. . . .
Let’s talk about something else.

MYSELF: And the landlord of your house at Bel-
Ebat ?

CLEMENCEAU ; Oh, he’s a character, that fellow! He
lives in a kind of chéteau? full of furniture and knick-
knacks and a lot of things which would rejoice the heart
of an antiquary. You can’t imagine what 2 mess it’s in.
Clocks on top of one another, buffets without tops or
bottoms! He lives there like a kind of Junatic and breeds
horses. His bedroom is three times as big as this room.,
When you go into it you see a bed that would hold four
people, and old saddles and odd boots strewn about every-
where. He eats at one corner of the table and says, ‘Tam
2 Bohemian.” He has something like twenty or twenty-
five millions. No fool . .. he ttavels, with another
specimen of humanity that must be his wife. Every now
and then you hear that he is in Java . . . or China. And
he reads—and how! He reads whatever falls into his
hands. One day he said to me, °Please explain Pascal’s
doubts. . . . His name is Comte Luce de Tremont, but
he says, ¢ My father called himself Luce for short.” He also

1 A barrister at Nantes, the owner of a fine property by the sea,
2 La Guignardiére, ncar Avrillé,
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says, ‘In the Vendée I go to Mass: it is the tradition.
But in Paris it would never enter my head.’

MYSELF : What are you taking away to read ?

CLEMENCEAU : Plutarch, my friend; I am going to
re-tead Plutarch. I should like to try to understand why
there were once so many great men and why to-day there
are so few.

MYSELF ; Have there ever been so many as all that ?

CLEMENCEAU : Yes, there have been. . . . The ancients
wete able to make whatever they wanted of the facts,
They magnified everything ; they made a great battle out
of a broil between portets and donkey dtivers. Now we
have the men themselves; we have their spirit, their
outline ; we know what they said, what they thought.
Socrates is great painted by Plato, who saw him in one
way, and he is great painted by Xenophon, who saw him
in another. I only wanted three words of Socrates in
order to know what thete was in the fellow—intellect,
light, courage, grandeur. Amongst the Romans there
were fewer characters ; nevertheless, there was Lucretius,
whose sayings were a little inflexible, Cicero. . . . He
wasn’t too bad, Cicero. .

MYSELF : And how all that ended !

CLEMENCEAU : Yes, Rome because of Byzantium, which
was an appalling phenomenon. . . . Athens, as you know
Aegos-Potatni—and the rest! It’s sinister. When
nations die abruptly it’s all right, but when they just drag
along and are enticed into debauchery . .. They ate
like those old fellows who go balmy and end up by marty-
ing their nurses. Hold on, though! There is still one
man who isn’t balmy and who seems to me to be worthy
of Plutarch. I mean Cristal? He is in his ninety-ninth
yeat : he is just about to die, and he writes me this letter,

1 The large wine-grower in Anjou,
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[Clemencean hands me a letter from ¢ Pére’
Cristal. It is written on cheap
ruled paper but in a neat and firm
handwriting.

MYSELF (reading): ‘I shall be very glad to see you
duting your journey. . . .’

CLEMENCEAU : I wrote that I would call and see him
on my way to the Vendée.

MYSELF : ‘ But I shall not be able to ask you to dinner
—a thing I never do for anybody. For I am no longer of
this world ; I am getting ready to die. But before going
away it would give me great hazppiness to shake your
hand. . . " Yes,yes,it’s a charming letter. Cristal is as
good as his wine.

CLEMENCEAU : [ shall go to see him. They wanted to
marty him off recently ... at ninety-eight! People
haven’t any pity. And the person who wanted to change
her name to Madame Cristal, knowing that I was on good
terms with him, wanted to get on good terms with me.
She therefore sent me 2 copy of Démosthéne and asked me
to write an inscription init.  Only she spelled it inseripshun.
Poor Pere Cristal ! I trust that he’ll remain a bachelor.
If he gets married at ninety-eight he’s practically ptecluded
by time from ever getting a divorce. . . . He was once
asked what his father did, and he answered, “ He’s a
chimney-sweep.” I don’t know if he’s very rich. He has
twelve hectares of vines which he no longer cultivates as
he says there is a shortage of labour. But he has the
nature of a dog and it is quite likely that he did everything
possible to chase his hands away.

MYSELF : Where does he live ?
CLEMENCEAU : At Parney, near to Saumur. A striking
spot. I follow the Loire on the embankment : the road

v Dddicarse.—Trontlater' s nofe.
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runs along the tiver. ‘The banks are of sand and there ate
magnificent poplars. . . . There is no better air than that
countty’s, and no cornet of France which is more French.
I cross the river at Montsoreau : gardens, chiteaux every-
whete—it’s heavenly, and that bewitching language!
Have you ever drunk Pére Cristal’s wine ?

MYSELF ; Yes, every time ] have a chance.

CLEMENCEAU : There is scatcely need to say that a
country which has that is a great country, because there
cannot be good wine without a great history and a great
civilisation, So I shall go to see Cristal ; I shall exchange
a number of profoundly philosophical thoughts with him,
especially about death. . . . He seems to have some very
well worked out, definite ideas on the subject, and I believe
he could clear up a number of obscure points for me.
Four hours later I shall be at Saint-Vincent with my feet
in the sand.

MYSELF : They tell me that a café has been opened next
door to you at Saint-Vincent.

CLEMENCEAU : Quite true. The Ocean Café. T hope
that it’ll go broke. All those poor people who go to the
seaside get so bored. Someone tells them,  Why not
go to Saint-Vincent-sut-Jard? You can sec the house
belonging to that fellow . . . you know . . . Clementel

. who did something or other duting the war . ..
some name like Clementel . . . Clemenceau. . .. So
they turn up with their tennis racquets and their cametas.
Sometimes there are five or six worthy folk lying in ambush
waiting for me to show myself. . . . Some idiot thought
that he could make his fortune by selling them glasses of
ted wine. I’'m only waiting till he calls it ‘ Clemenceau’s
Bar,” and then I shall go and ask him to take me on as page
boy. Martet, I love the Vendée. Why? Because I
passed my youth thete: I know every field, every farm,
every village. 1 have ridden on horseback through all
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those sunken roads. Sometimes you'll ride two or three
miles without sccing the sun. Where ate you from ?

MYSELF: [ was born in Angers of a Parisian father
whose mother came from Tours and whose father from

Carpentras.

CLEMENCEAU: I see. It’s very complicated. At
bottom you really have no country. My people have
always lived in the Vendée. And it’s odd: I love the
Vendéens. They are respectable people. I am just
re-reading the memoirs of Madame de la Rochejacquelin,
They are good. They have an ideal. And to defend that
ideal they have something obstinate, limited and savage in
them—which I like. It wasn’t the nobles who made the
wars in the Vendée ; it was the peasants who sought them
out and said, ‘ Lead us !’

MYSELF : Yes, they took up arms because they didn’t
want to be soldiers.

CLEMENCEAU : But you must see people as they are and
against the background of their own age. What mean-
ing could the Rhine have for 2 Mouchamps ! peasant in
17927 What meaning could even France? Who had
spoken to them about it? They were happy, those
people. They cultivated their bit of ground; they had
their rosaries and their crucifixes, which wete the answer
to everything. But one day somebody came and said to
them, ¢ That isn’t everything. Let’s go and learn about
liberty and fraternity from our brothers in Ttaly and
Prussia.’ They answered, ‘ Thanks! Go yourself, if it
amuses you !’ When they learned what ‘my country’
meant, you sec what they were capable of doing. There
were no better soldiers. Furthermore, the wars of the
Vendée would not have amounted to anything—just little
skirmishes. They only became serious because of the

1 The birthplace of the Clemenceau family.
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bankruptcy of the Government ; when there was a strong
government, nothing ever happened.

You will say that it’s stupid, but Pm happy at the
thought that I shall be buried at Colombier.! Thete isa
little wood there which was planted by my father. I have
2 little arrangement with the local authorities whereby they
have 2 man to keep an eye on it—a slightly absent-minded
eye. One day I went thete. I saw a lovely pile of tefuse
at the foot of a tree. I said to the man, * You oughtn’t
to let cows walk round hete.” He came closer, bent over,
looked at it. °That, sit? That isn’t a cow, that’s a
Christian !”  So you see: everybody has some use of it.
We ate all one big family. The wood is part of a property
which was left to my sisters. They sold the chiteau,
I took a walk through it with my grandfather, a silly, dried-
up old fellow in a high hat and not an idea under it. I
wonder how he produced my father, He used to read the
Book of Facts. Isn’t that very Second-Empire! There
have been all sorts in my family: peasants, bourgeois.
Yes, I'm satisfied to be buried amongst them all. . . .’

MYSELF: Extraordinary! I really don’t understand

CLEMENCEAU : What don’t you really understand ?

MYSELF : This anxiety about what’s going to happen
after your death. You have got Sicard 2 to make a stele
to put on your grave . . . do you think that once you’re
dead you will get any pleasure out of your tomb ?

CLEMENCEAU : I don’t think anything. It amuses me.
And I must tell you : no one is to go to my burial—except
myself. I'm just to be left in peace.

MYSELF : But, once more, what diffetence can that make
to you?

1 The chéteau of the Clemencean family. It is situated in the commune of
Mouchampa,
¥ A sculptor.
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CLEMENCEAU : And, once more, it’s silly, it has neither
thyme nor reason ; it’s anything you like—but that’s the
way I want it.

MYSELF: And if, despite your injunction, I want to go
to your burial ?

CLEMENCEAU : Martet, you won't do that! I forbid
it. Oh, there is something I wanted to tell you. Neat
Saumur there is 2 kind of megalithic temain on which I
should be happy to have your opinion. It is a sort of

chiteau with enormous stones. Go and see it. You can
then tell me what to make of it.2

MYSELF: If it’s megalithic it’s certainly not in my
department.

CLEMENCEAU : If it were in your department I should
not be talking to you about it. You would only tell me
alot of nonsense. (¥ get up. He shows me out.  In the ball
Clemenceau says) Perhaps you are right not to produce
children, 'This life is decidedly not a very handsome gift.

MYSELF : I haven’t had any children, but I've adopted
one.

CLEMENCEAU ; Oh, is that so! What? Aboy?

MYSELF: A girl. . . .

CLEMENCEAU: So you’ve found one already made.
Therefore I can’t say that that makes one poor unfortunate
the more. But it doesn’t make one poor unfortunate the
less, for you are satisfied merely to change the form of its
misery.

MYSELF : That’s all there ever is.

CLEMENCEAU : You'te tight: that’s all thete ever is.
Au ’voir, mon vieux.

1 I is mentioned in A« Soér dt o Pensée,
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‘My Crides’
11th May, 1028,

Piétti telephones me, * Clemenceau wants to see us both
to-morrow at two o’clock.’

 Oh, what’s going on ?’

 Can’t tell you over the telephone. . . . He’s making
some plans.’

12th May.

I say to Albert, ‘ Then you’ve come back from the
Vendée ?’

‘ Yes, the weather there was frightful. We came back
before the elections.”

I go into the study. The radiator gives out an infernal
heat. Piétri arrives and then Clemencean comes in, very
alert. He is weating enormous bedroom slippers lined
with fur.

MYSELF : But how does it happen that you’re here?
I didn’t know of your return. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : In the Vendée I was wotse than here,
and I had a number of things to do which I am going to
tell you about.

MYSELF : ‘Then you didn’t vote down there ?

CLEMENCEAU : No. I voted here in the first ward of
the 16th arrondissement for a man called Pierte Dupuy,?
who has one thing to his credit—he published verbatim
my remarks on America, which my warmest pattisans

I Director of the Petiz Paririen,
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carefully refrained from doing. He was my first choice
on the ballot; my servant asked me to make him my
second also, but I answeted, * Ob, no, once is enough.’

MYSELF: Is that all you have done for universal
suffrage P
CLEMENCEAU : That’s all. Universal suffrage is a toy

with which people are beginning to get bored. One
should not say that, however, because the people must have

a religion, But that’s how it is . . . sadly and with the
expression of my regrets, . . . M, Piétri, M. Martet, sit
down,

{We sit down, Clemencean at his large
Louis XV desk, Piétri and I opposite
him in two armchairs.

CLEMENCEAU : Well, then, T am in the midst of pte-
paring for my disappearance.

MYSELF : Charming idea !

CLEMENCEAU : Oh, it’s not so bad! It's an event ; it
can be considered without boredom, provided you carry
it out in an orderly and dispassionate manner., I am ill,
you sec; my hands burn as if they were on fire. I have
this racking cough again—and then I am going through
a vety bad period. I have finished writing my article on
the Debts. At present I am writing a kind of monograph
on Monet. Yes, indeed ; does that surpsise you? Well,
I have felt for a long time it was my duty to write it. And
so I am now at it. 1 write, I erase, I add—it wor’t go.
I no longer have my old accuracy and rapidity. It’s some-
thing that’s leaving me. In shott, I have summoned you.
I want to arrange certain papers, to say certain things.
After which I shall feel easier in my mind. I thought of
you two . . . of Piétri who is the most upright and most
devoted man I have ever met, who has made these last
years so much easier in 2 way that I cannot express . .
and without him it is certain that I should never have been
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able to write A Soir de Ja Pensée. For Au Soir de la
Pensée is for me the end, the ultimate achievement ; if I
had never written that, I should feel myself uncomfortable
in Eternity.

And T thought of you, Monsieur Martet. You have
fauits—a great many faults : you don’t believe in anything,
you doubt yourself, you doubt everything; you regard
the world with that sceptical smile. And to shake you out
of that réle—which has nevertheless enabled me to know
what you were thinking and saying—1I have had to scold
you. However, from the point of view of dependability
and judgment youll do. I have two friends'—yourselves.
That is why you are here.

MYSELF : Thank you, sir.

CLEMENCEAU : Now let us sec how we are going to
atrange things. (He shows me a bundle of papers on bis desk.)
First, I give you this: it is an article on Alcibtades which
Cavalotti gave me a short while before his death. You
can do what you like with it. You can publish it,
edit . . .

MYSELF:? 7 ?

CLEMENCEAU : Cavalotti is not of the highest class.
He stupidly died just when he might have done great
things or at least respectable things. In a few days I shall
give you two other articles by Cavalotti. They tell me
that one of them is very good. Next, here is an envelope
which I found in 2 corner which has yout name onit. Ido
not know what is in it: bills, drafts of letters—probably
nothing of any interest. . . .

MYSELF : I'll look them over at home.

CLEMENCEAU ;: That out of the way, and before comin
to the examination of the other papers which I have here,

1 T apologise for this testimonial to my dependability and judgment, 1 am
more embarraseed than pleased about it.
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there is a little talk I should like to have with you—its
purpose is not to soothe my conscience, as you might
think. I merely want to clarify certain of your ideas in
view of various contingencies which may arise. When
I fell from power in 1920 I thought that it would be
sufficient to withdraw into the ranks in order to be left at
peace. I even thought that in order to find refuge from
all controversy the best thing would be for me to dash off
to the other end of the wotld. If I am absent, I thought
in my simplicity, people won’t dare to say anything.
Hardly had I set foot on the boat when an illustrious
Marshal of France began to cast aspersions upon me

. as you know.? It is what made me think that when
I am no longer here, people will suddenly find their
courage again and hurl themselves on my corpse with
little wriggles of joy. That is the way things go, and I do
not care a hoot except that if I have tried to accomplish
anything it is right that something at least of this accom-
plishment should survive, even if it is only the thought that
inspired it. That is why I am going to speak to you of
my crimes,

MYSELF : Your crimes ?

CLEMENCEAU : Yes. I have committed three crimes
in my life.

MYSELF : That’s not very many.

CLEMENCEAU : ‘The first crime of which I am accused
is that I had Lecomte and Clément Thomas assassinated.
That was the affair of the 18th March, 1871, I have a
complete file on the subject somewhere which I shall hand
over to you: do with it what you like. In ’72 I undet-
took an investigation of the subject in order to assemble
all possible evidence. You will see that there are about
a hundred letters, among which are those of Méline and

1 Clemenceau had left for India. This was the moment which Marshal Foch
chose to reproach him with having given France a “ bad * peace.
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Schoelcher. In addition I had begun to write a state-
ment of all the facts, including those which preceded and
those which followed the 18th March : 1 spoke of my trips
to Bordeaux, M. Thiers’! promises. 1 wrote an account
of how I passed every minute of that day of the 18th March.
You will find the manuscript somewhere about. . . . It
shows exactly how the thing happened : the truth is that
if 1 had arrived a minute sooner they wounld have shot me
at the same time as the generals. It gave me at thirty an
excellent insight into the stupidity of public life to find
myself between two parties, both of whom sought my
death. Even that did not cure me. .

MYSELF : But do you believe that they still blame you
for Lecomte and Clément Thomas ?

CLEMENCEAU : I can tell you that I have a very peculiar
memory, 1 can remember distinctly that such and such
a thing has happened, but I only remember vaguely if it took
place before or after another event. I can still hear the
shouts of Baudry d’Asson 2 and other such freaks demand-
ing my explanation of that business. But whether it
happened yesterday or twenty years ago I don’t know.
. . . Stote that batch of papers away and do whatever may
be required with them in future. My second crime is
this. . . . Do you know that we have lost Leblois ? ?

MYSELF : 1 have heard it mentioned.

CLEMENCEAU : Yes . . . he hardly gave the impression
of having been a blazing comet. Well, I was told several
times that Leblois was a fellow whom it was well to
be suspicious of. 1 must tell you that I have been
accused of taking part in some rather strange conspiracies.
.« » You know that I was charged with taking payment
for defending Dreyfus. Every time I have ever done
anything in my life they accuse me of having taken money

1 For all this see later, Chapter XXV. 3 A deputy.
? The barrister, Brother of the general.  He played an important part in the
Dreyfus affair.
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for it. I was accused simultaneously of taking English
and German money: a kind of Treason Trust. As far
as the amounts which ate supposed to have brought me
to Dreyfus’s support are concerned, there is a letter from
me to Leblois where I say in substance, ¢ My dear Leblois,
thanks for having allowed me to pay the debts of Jus#ies.” 1
Was it that letter, I wonder, which gave people the idea
of accusing me of having taken the money ? It’s possible.
But in the first place it won’t escape your attention that in
writing that paper—in wtiting and signing it both—
I wasn’t hiding vety much. Secondly, Leblois had looked
me up and said, * Will you let me do now for Justice what
I wasn’t able to do sooner?” He had brought I don’t
know how many thousand francs, . . .2

My third crime. . . . How stupid of me, I've com-
pletely forgotten my third ctime! Oh, yes, it’s Cornélius
Herz. 1 must say that Cornélius Herz was a thoroughly
bad lot. Unfortunately it wasn’t written all over his face.
He had been introduced to me by Hébrard,® which was not
a bad sponsorship. Fate decreed that at that particular
moment I should be on bad terms with my wife. When
the cholera broke out at Marseilles I left with two or three
deputies. We were going to visit the cholera patients.
There was a possible chance that T might not come back.
I therefore wrote on a piece of paper, ¢ In the event of my
death I should like my two children brought up under the
supervision of M. Cornélius Herz” As you see, 1 was
very lucky in my choice of a teacher.

1 Tasdice had ceased publication because of lack of funds,

2 Bernier told me (in September, 1928) that Jusfics was a limited comnpany but
that nevertheless Clemencean had assumed all its debts personally—a not very
common practice in the world of journalism. He paid these debts by monthly
instalments, and these instalments were crushing him, Bemier knew Leblois : he
bad said to kim, * Nevettheless it is upfortunate that a man like Clemenceau has to
flounder about in the midst of such difficulties 1”

Bernier also told me that the good X—an old friend of Clemenceau’s—had
lent him 10,000 francs to wipe out these debts. He only asked him 12 per cent.

interest, Bernier used to call him * the 12 per cent. friend.’
3 A director of the Temps.
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MmysELk: He could at least have taught them arith-
metic. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Hete then are my three ctimes. I will
tell you the facts about them and give you documents on
certain of their aspects. It will be your task to see what
is the best use to make of them. The only thing that
worties me is whether you ought to keep the papers.
After my death they will search my house, obviously, and
they know that you have been my secretary, so probably
they will also come to yours.

MySELF : They will come, but it won’t do them any
good. These aren’t State papets.

CLEMENCEAU : No. I have made a pile of the State
papers : we’ll look them over together and then I shall
pethaps ask you to take them to the Foreign Office—ot
wherever else they belong.

myseELF: All I ask of you—and that is only so that I
shall not have any difficulties with any of them later on—
is to give me a paper saying, ‘ I give you this and that, etc.’

CLEMENCEAU : Agteed. You shall have that paper.
It is a good solution. When will you come back to fix
all this up ?

MYSELF: When you wish. As soon as possible,
Beginning on Monday if you like.

CLEMENCEAU : I take my gymnastic lesson at eight
o’clock. At 8.45 I shall have finished. Will you come

on Monday at nine ?
MYSELF: Yes.
CLEMENCEAU : And you, Piétti ?
PIETRI: It suits me perfectly.

CLEMENCEAU : Once that’s done, I shall be satisfied.
In the past fortnight I have burnt thousands of letters,
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When you have taken charge of the rest I shall be glad
to leave this happy world.

PIETRI (banding bim a sheet of paper) : In the meantime
please sign this for me.

CLEMENCEAU : Anything you wish, Piétri. Even if
it’s my death warrant. Especially if it’s my death warrant.

PIETRI (#0 me): 1 am proposing that M. Clemenceau
buy some 6 per cent. Loan. He has made 2 fantastic
amount of money with his books. I have even been com-
pelled to say to him, ¢ Here is some money : it should be
spent. Why be stingy ?”’

CLEMENCEAU: I'm no longer stingy, Piétri. I have
launched out into cyclones of expenditure. 1 was very
keen the other day to subsidise Mandel. He came to see
me. It appears that all the forces of the Government
have turned against him.

MYSELF : He won’t think any the less of himself because
of it.

CLEMENCEAU : That’s what he said, through his nose.
What do you think of the punches and kicks that the
Action Frangaise and the priests are exchanging? It is
one of the mast side-splitting farces of our time. ‘There
is only the Action Franpaise to take the Pope seriously and
only the Action Frangaise to take him to task. One fact
is certain : that wherever the priests and the communists
can do it, they will help one another out. In Alsace it was
they who put the autonomists out of business. But the
Government is going to act. . . . Have you ever read,
¢ To-morrow the Government will act!’ And when the
Government acts, you know there will be action . . . or
at least activity.
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Tue AVALANCHE OF HATRED

Cornélius Herz. . . . Clemenceau may well remember
him, There was not 2 moment in all his life when so many
enemies wetre reaching for his throat. 1 fre-read Lewrs
Figures « it is in Barrés that this monster should be studied,

On the z1st November, 1892, M. Jules Delahaye
ascended the rostrum of the Chamber and denounced the
Panama scandal: ‘ Three millions were distributed amongst
a hundred and fifty members of Patliament. ., , .

¢ Their names | Their names !’

Barrés wrote, © Constant in his policy Delahaye named
no one.’

Francois Sturel, the hero of Leurs Figarer, some time
later sought out Jules Delahaye at his house and said to
him: ‘Go into the rostrum again : declare that the Com-
mission of Enquiry declines to investigate; then, when
they revile you, as they are sure to, announce that you
refuse to name these grafters to this worthless and suspected
Chamber, and that you will only go to the country, and so
forth.’

Jules Delahaye’s answer to the House was, in conse-
quence : ‘If I name the grafters they will go out of the
house with their reputations rehabilitated and me under
more prison sentences than Latude. . .

Then Barrds notes cries of disappointment and also of
approval.
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There you have the whole of the book.

Without any proof whatever Barrés accuses Clemencean
then of having sold himself to Cornélius Herz, Without
any proof he accuses Clemenceau of being ¢ Cornélius Herz’s
man ’; he accuses Clemenceau ¢ of silences and contradic-
tions which arouse alarm’; he accuses him of having
given his assistance to Cornélius Herz by consent and
having deserted him through fear. A book which had
but one purpose—to drive his antagonist to prison ot to
suicide,

On the 20th December, 1892, Dérouléde ascended the
rostrum, and Barrés reproduces his speech with warmth ;
*Who was it after all who introduced, vouched for,
nationalised this foreigner? little by little, yet in so short
a time? FPor you must realise that he did not introduce
himself, that it was not even another foreigner who took
him by the hand and made him at home in out midst ; for
that a Frenchman was necessary, a Frenchman of position,
influential and audacious, who was at the same time his
patron and his protégé, his sponsor and his support. And
this agreeable, this loyal, this tireless intermediary, so
active and so dangerous, you all know him, his name is
on all youtr lips; but not one of you would dare to
name him: for there are three things about him which
terrify you—his sword, his pistol and his tongue.
Well, then, I shall defy all three and name him: it is
M. Clemenceau 1’

A speech which Barrés calls  an oration of unheard-of
violence wildly applauded—it must be called sublime. . , .

And Dérouléde continues :

*M. Herz admits having given M. Clemenceau two
millions, What wete these payments for? Since the
editor of Justice affirms that his paper has never done
anything for Cornélius Herz, why has this experienced
financier, this more rapacious than fastidious man of

! Cornélius Herv, was an American citizen of German origin.
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affairs, put so much money into 2 hopeless investment ?
This deduction seems to be unanswerable: since it is
averred that the editor of Jastice has never sold anything
publicly to Cornélius Herz, what did he sell him secretly ?
What really occurred between this foreigner and this
politician that no trace was left of any exchange of services ?
Is it possible that the one should have given everything
and the other nothing ? That this German would have
been content to pile up these sums without any interest,
any purpose, without profit to himself ?’

Then Dérouléde made the direct charge : * We cannot
help wondering if what he expected was not precisely all
those overthrows of ministries, all those attacks against
men in power, all the trouble which you and your great
talent have cansed to all the business of the country and of
Patliament |’

Applause from Barrés.

The war came and M. Clemenceau was in power. On
the 1rth July, 1918, Barrés delivered a speech before the
League of Patriots.! He exclaimed, * We have now at
the head of our Government 2 man who is celebrated for
his power to stimulate and elevate the morale of the French
people. . . . We have not always loved him, perhaps:
well, to-day we do love him, all of us, with all our hearts,
for the one reason that he is necessary to France.’

What did Dérouléde think about it ?

Well, when Clemenceau left for the United States after
the wat, © Mr, President ’ Barrés wrote to him, * On the eve
of your departure the League of Patriots wishes to send
with you their bomage and good wishes. We salute the
titeless chief who is going alone, his pilgrim’s staff in hand,
on a long journey to serve France and Truth by the power
of his words and the inspiration of his presence. May
God protect you, President Clemenceau, you who remain
a spiritual force of a kind unique in the world, the heart

1 Of which Maurice Barrés was President.
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of France who would not let her die in those tragic days
when she sank bleeding under her wounds.’

And now? Did not Clemenceau sell himself to
Germany after all? What becomes of Lears Figures?
Bernier told me that Barrés said to him one day at Buré,
¢ It is the great regret of my life that I wrote that book, , .

But he did not go so far as to disavow it publicly.



XX
Tre MmisreriAL DECLARATION

On returning home 1 tried to get to the bottom of the
documents which Clemenceau had given me. I found the
original of the Ministerial Declaration of the Clemencean
Cabinet. It has been said of this Declaration that it was
‘a page to preserve in the History of France.” I hereby
put it at the disposal of History.

Five sheets. . . . Clemenceau drew it up on the little
table in his bedroom, between two piles of old papers, on
the back of five large sheets whose front bore the heading
of the Senate in the top left-hand corner. He jotted down
on the first page ‘Gentlemen,” . .. and without an
erasure, with a steady pen which never wavered or hesitated,
he indited the first phrase: ‘ We have taken up the reins
of Government in order to carry on the War with redoubled
efforts and employ our every energy with the maximum
efficiency.’ *

He attacks the second sentence : ¢ We present ourselves
to you with the single thought of a united defence (he
crosses out defence and writes war). We should like the
vote of confidence which we are asking of you to be an
act of confidence in yourselves, an appeal to the historic
virtues which have made France in the hour when France

.’ 'The last words had become involved. He crossed
them out . . .  which has made us Frenchmen. Never
has France felt mote cleatly . . .

So he went on to the end-—one might say in the same

1 * With s view to greater efficieacy,” says 'O e,
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key and in the same manner, limiting himself to the sub-
stitution of 2 word here and there, or to the suppression of
certain phrases which sounded too harsh and were too
characteristic of their Clemenceau.!

The celebrated theme of this famous Declatation will
still be remembered : ¢ Justice shall take her coutse. The
country will know that it is defended.” One might say
that the entire Declaration revolves about these tragically
ominous wotds. . . . At the bottom of the third page he
had just written:  We shall show neither weakness nor
vindictiveness.” He adds,  Justice shall take her course.
The country will know that it is defended.” Bat he was
in too great haste, and before ending his programme with
the evocation of this spectre he has several things yet to
say. He therefore rubs out © Justice ...’ etc., and
writes above it: °All matters pertaining to the public
safety2 . . . all accused persons before courts-martial,
The soldier of the law making common cause with the
soldier of battle” And the terrible words reappear. He
writes again : ¢ Justice shall take her course. The country

. . etc., and again he rubs it out and finally carries it
over to the following page.

The Declaration was tead on the 20th November, 1917,
by M. Nail in the Senate and Clemenceau in the Chamber,
I was in the Chamber on that day, and for the first time in
my life I came into contact with that curious 2ssembly.
Clemenceau always read rather badly, looking for the words
and failing to give that impression of strong and unbending
will powet which the Chamber expected of and feared in
him. But there were interpellations—they gave him time
to recover himself.

M. Varenne ® wanted to say that  To criticise and to
govern are two different things,” and °that nevertheless

1 He hed written: * Crimes agninet France which call for prompt snd im-
placable punishment.” Implecable is crossed out,

L Thin phrase was suppressed by I"Offieiel.
A Socialist Deputy. Afterwards Governor of Indo-China.
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they were quite willing to try, on condition that at all times

. . that it was quite understood. ... M. Compére-
Morel asked for an explanation of the Government’s views
on economic matters. M. Jean Hennessy proposed that
an inter-Allied general staff be created. M. Forgeot
finally spoke for the purpose of expressing his doubts and
his fears and articulating his resetrvations. While everyone
was In consequence expecting him to say, © Let us not vote
for Clemenceau,” his exhortation was ‘Let us support
him unanimously 1’

After M. Forgeot it was M. Ossola, and after M. Ossola
it was Clemenceau. He had listened to all this without
saying a word and left the orators to have their say in their
own way. Again he ascended the rostrum, grave, bowed.
. . . And once there he did not make a speech . . . rather
he questioned himself. Hewas in power. Had he sought
it? No, but there he was, and tremendous things were
expected of him . . . would they be realised ?

The Chamber was full to bursting. In the aisles,
where we were packed together to the very foot of the
speaker’s platform, people were sitting, standing, suffocated,
nearly torn to bits, and looking round them in a kind of
silent stupor. They looked at this man of neatly eighty,
to whom had just been given something like the two
hemispheres of the globe—for it was a question of far more
than the fate of one nation—taking the globe in his hands,
turning it over and weighing it, with an air of saying to
himself, “ Shall T try ?°

Then Clemenceau looked in the direction of M.
Varenne, who was butied behind his great black beard :
* M. Varenne,’ he said, * whom I should have thought more
familiar with the common facts of everyday politics, has
accused me of having shown myself unfavourable to
arbitration. M. Varenne, do you really mean that? It
was 1 who sent M. Léon Bourgeois as France’s delegate
to a pleasant conference at The Hague. This conference
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formulated 2 mass of principles of international law which
Germany is engaged in violating at this moment. , . .
As for M. Forgeot: ‘ M. Forgeot wants us to consider
the question of peace whilst we are making war. And i
asks me what are my war aims. My waraims ? Victory 1’
The room bursts into a frenzy. M. Pierre,! in his long
frock coat, up there whete he seems to be final atbiter of the
laws and traditions of this assembly, M. Pierre himself
thrills—and then it’s over. After several words by M.
Albert Thomas, who tries to explain why the members of
his party have thrown their support against Clemenceau,
and how in surveying Clemencean from the cotner of his
(Thomas”) eye, and spying and peeting and prying, he des-
cried all the tutns and twists in his road, the Socialists have
nevertheless decided that they “will co-operate fully in
all efforts for the national defence. . . . The vote is taken.
The vote of confidence is carried by 418 to 65—the
65 votes of M, Albert Thomas and the members of his
party, who could not wait any longer for the occasion to
attest their unshakable intention of © co-operating fully,’
etc. !
MM. Malvy and Caillaux refrained from voting.

1 Secretary-General to the Chamber of Deputics.
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Orp Parers
14th May, 1928,

In the study.

CLEMENCEAU (seeing me come in): Well, Monsieur
Martet !

MYSELF : I’ve arranged my papers and I’'m bringing you
a certain number which seem to me of somewhat too con-
fidential a character to be left in my drawer: they ought
not, moreovet, to be left in yours. I brought them away
when we left the Ministry. Here they are.

CLEMENCEAU : Good. T’ll look at them. Come this
way.

[We go into the bedroom. Clemencean leads
me toa little secrétaire which stands beside
his bed. He opens a drawer and says,
“ Take it I put the drawer on the desk
and, as Piétri arrives :

CLEMENCEAU : Well? Tellmewhat’sinit. . .,
MYSELF : Papers, sir, more papers.
CLEMENCEAU : What sort of papets ?

MYSELF : Pirst, there is Joffre’s despatch of the 27th De-
cember, 1915, on the battle in Champagne, a despatch
which begins with the words, ‘ The causes of our initial
success were that the Command knew how to plan and
prepare the operation. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Noble words !
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MYSELF : Then there is a second copy of this despatch :
it bas been annotated in pencil by I don’t know whom.
Then three other copies, not annotated. Then here is 2
criticism of this despatch. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Oh! By whom?

MYSELF : Itisn’t signed. The author of this document
says, ‘ The Command knew how to plan and prepare, asserts
General Joffre. That is a mistake, and it was precisely the
lack of sufficient preparation which caused the plan to
miscarry,” Otherwise it is quite a free and easy review of
Joffre’s despatch.

CLEMENCEAU (showing me other papers) : And these ?

MYSELF : This is still another anonymous examination
of Joffre’s despatch. Thirty-four typewritten pages. But
it seems to me to be more carefully, more closely written.
The argument goes decper into various matters : Tahure,
Ripont, La Butte du Mesnil, the Trou Bricot. . . . ‘It
was the advance beyond the first zone which marked the
ctitical instant for the offensive. And it was precisely the
beginning of this step which the High Command had
neither foreseen nor prepared against, . . )

CLEMENCEAU : Who could have written that ?

MYSELF : Mangin? Ferry?

CLEMENCEAU : What 2 stting of generals has filed
through these doors !

MYSELF : A despatch from a commander on the attack
which took place on December 14th: ‘ The day cost us
seventeen officers and an as yet undetermined number of
men, which will probably exceed six hundred.’

CLEMENCEAU: Naturally for nothing. For the com-
muniqué. I took a stand against that sort of thing, so
they accused me of undermining the morale of the country.

MyseLr : Documents on the Sarre. A copy of a very
interesting letter from Paul Cambon to Delcassé.
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CLEMENCEAU : Of what date ¢

MySELF: The 22nd December, 1914. It is about the
entty of England into the war. ‘To fix the dates and
thereby establish certain facts of which it is advisable to
keep 2 record.’

CLEMENCEAU : Paul Cambon was a good man. A bit
inclined to lord it, and also, to be quite frank, a bit of 2
bore. . . . But he didn’t fly into tempers and saw clearly
enough. Nor is Fleuriau at all a bad sott. He would
event be nicer if he didn’t wear those silly riding stocks
round his neck. . . .

MYSELF : And a document of twenty-eight typewtitten
pages signed by M. Meunier-Surcouf, deputy, and dated
May, 1916.

CLEMENCEAU : What does he want ?

MYSELF : He declares that ‘a head is required for the
French army.’

CLEMENCEAU : By Jove! That’s Foch’s man!

MYSELF : A letter of no great interest from M. Jonnart,
who says . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Oh, don’t tell me what he says. Idon’t
carea hang. He’s a man who spent all his life in resigning,
I appointed him Minister of the Blockade. A week later
he resigned.

MYSELF : Documents about Malvy, Leymatie,? Caillaux,
A note from a general on ‘ the situation at Verdun” A
report on the use of artillery. A despatch from Pétain
on the Champagne offensive. This ends with the words :
‘ An enotmous expenditure of effort and money is necessary.
We ought not to fear to look the difficultics in the face.
We shall not succeed in overcorning them by denying them.’

CLEMENCEAU: Yes. Evervthing he said and every-
1 z23rd November, 1917, ? Head of M. Malvy’s Cabinet.
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thing he wrote was always full of good sense. Too full
of good sense. He wanted a gtrain of madness in him.

MYSELF : Documents about pacifist propaganda, about
Merrheim,! Almeteyda2 . . .

CLEMENCEAU : What do they say about Almereyda ?

MYSELF : ‘ After having been in an indefinite way an
apprentice to a photographer he arrived in Paris in October,
1899, at the age of seventeen, coming from Mont-Dore-les-
Bains (Puy-de-Déme). In 1900, on the 28th May, he was
sentenced to two months’ imprisonment at the Correctional
Tribunal of the Seine for complicity in a robbery.”

CLEMENCEAU : It musthave beenin consequence of that
that he felt himself ripe to guide the consciences of his con-
temporaties.

MYSELF : Telegrams from Lallemand to the Minister
of the Interior. He was then Prefect of the Loire. It is
about the pacifist-defeatists. These telegrams are a little
wild. He was always seeing revolution the next day.

CLEMENCEAU : Yes, he was a gallant fellow. Next?

MYSELF : A letter relating to the Norton affair, There’s
2 man who writes you, ‘Several days ago I had an
opportunity of speaking with some of the “ patriots ” who
had resolved to save France by forging papers to prove
that you and several others had sold it to England, . .
and told you all the details of the conspiracy.

cLEMENCEAU: Keep it. It may be useful.? Is that
all ?

1 A nototious syndicalist and pacifist.

* Director of a pacifist paper called the Bonnes Royge.  He was accused of treason
and was found hanged in his cell. )

® 4 propor of thz Norton affair, it would be profitable to re-tead Leurs Figures,

A poot negro, Notton, had brought to Millevoye documents to prove that
Clemenceau had sold himself to England. His treason was said to have brought
him [20,000, While wtiting bis hook Barris knew perfectly well that Mille“'oye
bhad been the victim of a devilish hoax, < But,’ says Barrés, © it must be admitted
that Millevoye fell into this classic trap because of a forgery supplied by the very
people whom the hoax inculpated in order that they might be able to ety out that
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MYSELF : That’s all,

CLEMENCEAU : Now hete is what I'd like you to do.
Take all these papers home with you, look them over, and
arrange them. Then tell me whether they ought to be
given back to the Government or merely bumt. When
will you be back ?

MYSELF : To-motrow morning. I believe it would be
better also to take home the papers which I brought you
this morning. I’ll examine them in the same way.

CLEMENCEAU ! Right |

MYSELF : But there is one thing I hope, and that is that
I shan’t be burgled to-day or to-night. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Piétri, tell your friend Chiappe ? not to
let Martet be burgled to-day. Tell him to wait till next
week,

[Piétri and 1 Jeave. My portfolio is stuffed
with papers capable of starting a grond
conflagration.

they had besn calumniated.” It was Clemencean who had invented the mythical
Norton !

On the 22nd June, 1893, Millevoye told his story from the rostrum: "I can
vouch that M. Clemenceau committed teeason, I gcoept the responsibility for the
authenticity of the papers on which I rest my charge. . . .” And then Millevoye
went to pieces under ridicule, * Oh, Clernencesn’s langhter,” wrote Bactds,  the
laughter of an overstrained man who can no longer contain himseif | *

But let us leave Barrés,

1 find amongst my papers this letter from Millevoye addressed to Clemenceau
on the 3rd May, 1916 * My dear Mr, President : Will you please name a day aad
an hour in the near future when you can grant me 20 audience, I have & most
imporuant and urgent message to convey to you, . . .' And the note finishes with
these words : * Very sincerely yours, Your most devoted L. Millevoye.” I find
another Jetter from the same Millevoye to the same Clemencean. It is dated
1st Novemnber, 1917: “ My dear Mr, President, . . , Your ever devoted. . , .*
Well ?

We owe to the Norton affair the fine ples which Clementeau uttered to the jury
before whom he bad brought his accusers ; to it we owe the magnificent Salernes
speech of the 8th August, 1893, Baut because of it Clemencesu was beaten in the
legislative elections of "g3. The clericals and the socialists made every effort o
put his opponent in.

From 1893 to 190z Clemenceau was out of the Chamber. In 1902 be wma
elected senator for the Var, 1 Prefect of Police.
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I return bome. 1 Jook through these
terrible papers. In ome there is an
envelope on which is written in Clemen-
ceaw’s hand: ‘Beware !’ and which I
did not open that morning. I find others

. Still others. . . .

I find the minutes drawn up by M.
Jeanneney of a sitting of the Cabinet where
the guestion of the keft bank of the Rhbine
was vigorously discussed ; a letter from
Clemencean to M. Tardien of the 242h
November, 1923, on the same subject ;
lesters from M. Poincaré, Mangin, efc.
A veritable powder magazine.

MYSELF (#o my wife) : Were we planning to go out this
evening ¢

MY WIFE: Yes. We were going to the moving
pictures.

MYsELF : I think it would be better to stay. . . .

MY WIFE : Oh, why ?

Mysek: Sh! ... Sh! TIll whisper something to
you. . . . Come here. . . .

[I tell ber. She exclaims ‘Ob!’ and
burries to the door to see if the bolt is

firm.
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THE ARMISTICE—THE LEFT BANK OF THE RHINE—MANGIN

15th May, 1pa8.
CLEMENCEAU : Hullo? Are you working ?

MYSELF: Yes. I’'ve arranged all the papers and put
them in two convenient piles: papers to be burnt and
papets to be sent back. I want to speak to you about them
presently.

CLEMENCEAU (showing me two letter-books on his desk):
Next, take a look at these. They’te things that 1 dug up
yesterday evening.

[I run through the first book and then the
other.

MYSELF : Do you realise what is in these two books,
sir P
CLEMENCEAU : What ?

MYSELF: The telegrams you sent in ’18 and ’1g9!
Telegrams to Cambon, Barrére, Jusserand! All your
cablegrams to Wilson, House, Orlando, Lloyd George!
All your code telegrams. All the secrets of the two years
of your ministry. How do you happen to have them
here ?

CLEMENCEAU : How should I know ?
MYSELF : Weren't you ever asked to give them back ?

CLEMENCEAU : | wonder if anyone even knew that they
existed. Pethaps they don’t even know I did any writing
during my ministry.
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MYSELF : But suppose you had been burgled ?
CLEMENCEAU : Well ?

MYSELF: All our secret codes would have been dis-
covered, including the military and foreign affairs ciphers !

CLEMENCEAU : Well, whatofit? It couldn’t have been
helped !

MYSELF (continuing to turn over the books): Yes . . . yes
. . . Irecognise them. . . . These ate the telegrams which
you used to dictate to me and I then had typed. You wete
telegraphing to the English to ask them to extend their
front, to the Americans to ask them to send more men,
always more men; to the Italians to ask them to get on
with the fighting. The correspondence for Novemnber and
Decembert, 17, and that for January, ’zo, is missing. Might
you not have put it away in some cotner or other ?

CLEMENCEAU : No! I’ve nothing else left !
MysELF : [ didn’t expect to find even this !

CLEMENCEAU : Well, you see, fate wanted to atrange
this surprise for you. Presently we shall sce what we
ought to do with these volumes. Tell me first about the
papers which you’ve gone through.

MysELF : I should like first to talk to you about two or
three things.

CLEMENCEAU : Go ahead.

MySELF: Well, you spoke to me on Saturday about
three ‘ crimes’ of which you might have been accused :
(1) 18th March, 1871 ; (2) Cornélius Herz; (3) the money
which you were supposed to have taken for defending

Dreyfus. . . .

CLEMENCEAU ; Yes. I've never added up all the sums
which they accuse me of having accepted for one thing or
another, but they would make an impressive total. The
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truth—as far as it concerns the debts of Justice—is that when
my father died I did not receive a legacy of a penny.

MyYSELF : As for the 18th March, *71, and Comélius
Herz, I have that clear. Where I need further explanations
is on the third point. You told me: * Leblois was 2 man
to be distrusted.’

CLEMENCEAU : It was Matthew Dreyfus? who passed
that remark on to me. And Matthew Dreyfus is a good,
straightforward fellow.

MYSELF: But did Leblois say specifically: 1 have a
paper proving that Clemenceau accepted some money’ ?

CLEMENCEAU : I can match that with this little remark
of Anatole France’s . . . .

[Piétri comes in: we shake hands. He
notices the two letter books.

PIETRI : What’s that ?

MYSELF: Nothing of any importance! Ounly the
secret correspondence of M. Clemenceau in 18 and ’19
with his ambassadors, with Lloyd George, Woodrow
Wilson. . . .

PIfrRI: The devil! How did it turn up here ?
CLEMENCEAU : That’s just what we were wondeting,

PIETRI: There is enough there to hang all three of us |
What are you going to do with it ?

CLEMENCEAU : We shall see presently. Let me go on
with my story. Icountered the phrase of Matthew Dreyfus
with another which Anatole France flung me. In his last
years Anatole France, as you know, was in a pretty bad
way spiritually. I never used to see him any mote—there
was nothing mote to see him for—it was dreadful.?
Anatole France said one day : ‘I myself have seen a docu-

1 The brother of Alfred Dreyfus.

* Clemencean never fotgave Anstole France for his sceptical attitude towards
certain things like the zrmy, his own country, etc.
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ment which proves that Clemenceau took money to defend
Dreyfus.” And since I only remember a letter I wrote to

Leblois. . . . Leblois had come to see me at the time of
the downfall of Justice; he had taken a certain aumber of
shares. , . . I wrote him that letter to thank him. Is that
clear ?

MYSELF: Quite. But what is equally clear is that if
people do one day reproach you with anything it won’t be
with things which are now ancient history. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Ah! With what, then?

MYSELF: They already charge you with certain things
which you did or didn’t do during the war and the peace
negotiations.

CLEMENCEAU : For instance ?

MYSELF : First of all, the Armistice.

CLEMENCEAU : Why the Armistice ?

MYSELF: They object that you signed the Armistice
too soon and prevented our troops from entering
Germany.!

CLEMENCEAU : Oh! That, Martet! How can you
talk like that ! In the first place the Armistice is a military
question and only soldiers have the right to say whether
or not the order to cease fire shall be given. And what did
Foch say? He repeated over and over again: °The
Germans are asking for an Armistice. We can and ought
to give it them.’? There were three reasons for this:

1 M. Emtnatiuel Bourcier went specially to interview General Mordacq.

“1could have wished that they had awaited the result of the strategic operations
apainst the rear of the German army in Lorraine. But my voice would not have
been heard’ And later:

* The march on Berlin? It was planned and it was possible. I can prove it
whenever one likes.’

Sce Paris-Midi for 24th November, 1927.

? Sec the Peift Jaurnal for 3rd January, 1928,

« Is it true,’ an editor of the paper asked Marshal Foch, ¢ that it was your intention
10 launch 2 formidable attack in the direction of Metz on November 1z2th, 1918, and

that it was only the Armistice which prevented you ?°
* Do not let us have any exaggeration !  In the first place it would not have been



148 CLEMENCEAU

because our men were completely worn out ; because, if
it had been necessary to continue the war, it would have
cost us another hundred thousand men—and a hundred
thousand men ate a hundred thousand men, whichever
way you look at it-—and because the Germans gave up
everything, handed over their artillery, their rifles, their
prisoners, evacuated France and Belgium. Would you
have liked to go on? Why? For the pleasure of seeing
more blood flow ?

And secondly, you know that it had been agreed—
we had given the most formal undertakings on this point,
and it was on the basis of these undertakings that the United
States entered the war-—that, once President Wilson’s
Fourteen Points were granted, we would lay down our
arms. The Boches accepted these points. Would you
have had us then, in spite of that, in spite of everything,
go on with the war? We should have had against us in
that case not only Germany but America, England. . . .
It would have been madness !

MYSELF: Then the question of the left bank of the
Rhine, I find in your papers a copy of 2 letter from you
to M. Tardieu, dated 1923, a letter which M. Tardieu has
not to my knowledge made public, and in which you say
particularly . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Read it to me. I forget what I said to
him,
MYSELF : First there is a note accompanying the
letter :
Paris, 25th November, 1913,
The enclosed letter was written by me on the evening
of November 24th, after a visit from M. Tardieu, to give

on the 12th but on the t4th. Next, such an sttack would have extended my front,
which already covered soo kilometres, to 340. Another 40 kilometres, if oot
more. . . . Moreover, were not the Germans completely defeated 7 We muant
not have any regrets.”’
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a2 precise form to any amendments which my Cabinet
Ministers present at the session ! might care to make.

G. CLEMENCEAU,

Here is the letter :

Parie, 24th November, 1923,
My pEAR FriExD,

You know that I have made it a rule never to answer
criticisms which have been belied by subsequent events.
After yesterday’s session, however, it would perhaps be
better to nail down certain © facts.’

There has #never been any dispute between the President
of the Republic and myself on the question of the Rhine
frontier. When the proposals for 2 guarantee were made
to me by the English Prime Minister and the President of
the United States I placed the question before M. Poincaré
without delay. 'The upshot of my letter was as follows :

‘1 cannot see myself saying to the French people: we
have won the war with the assistance of our good friends
and allies. We are now about to break with them and make
a separate peace at the instant when they offer to rein-
force the political and military agreement by a formal
undertaking.’

The President of the Republic answered me that it was
impossible to pursue this discussion.

Two ot three days passed without M. Poincaré making
the slightest allusion to the subject. Surptised, I reminded
him of his previous assent. He answered me quite briefly,
without labouting the point, that he had not wnderstood me

1 The sitting of the Chambet of Deputies on 23rd November, 1923, to consider
the foreign policy of M. Poincaré’s Government. It was during this sitting that
M. André Tardien made one of his most effective speeches: in it he magnificently
defended the peace treaty and recalled all the attemnpts at * sabotage * which had
disfigured it during the previous four years, His famous apostrophe to the
Chambert is still remembered : * It is an odd fact that this Chamber, which is always
and on all questions split in two, is only able to achieve enommous majorities on
those divisions which vote away some right from Franee !’

M. Poincaré on his side declared that he had signed the treaty very teluceantly,
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very well. I ought to have been used to this style of
language by now ! It was not easy to give two meanings
to my words. The matter called for an explanation which
was not forthcoming.

Later, Marshal Foch spoke to me of a military pact to
intervene in case of aggression. It was my opinion that
this pact would be a necessary consequence of the engage-
ments undertaken by the various governments after rati-
fication by their parliaments, but that one could not put
this result on the same plane as the cause which brought
it about. Without previons military alliance, England
and America entered the war on our side and employed
their resources to such good effect that Germany will have
to pause and reflect when confronted by such a formal
engagement on the part of these two powers.

I informed the President of the Republic of my point
of view, and there was no response on his part.

Finally, on the occasion of a debate in the Cabinet, the
proposal was voted unanimously without the President of the
Repaublic saying a single word. All the ministers can bear
witness to this fact.

To-day M. Poincaré states that there were several
‘ conferences > on this subject with the President of the
two Chambers and Marshal Foch. It was indisputably
his right, but in my opinion he should have notified his
Prime Minister, since it was the latter’s opinion which led
to the rupture, Finally, from the constitutional point of
view these °conferences’ between the President of the
Republic and Marshal Foch, my subordinate, should
obviously not have taken place unknown to me. Why
then were they held in this manner ?

And then again, the question of the Rhine implied such
changes in our future policy with regard to the peace that
neither Marshal Foch nor the Presidents of the Chambers
were in a position to decide it. There was only one
authority to convoke—the Cabinet. The President of the
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Republic, who was empowered by the constitution to
convoke it, did not do so.

His vague threats to resign ! moreover were not sub-
mittedtome. How can they be reconciled with his attitude
of silence towards the Council, before whom no such
suggestion had ever been breathed? On the other hand,
when I proposed to him several times during the war that
I should resign, M. Poincaré always answered that if I
resigned he would go into retirement also.

As for the question of military control, which still
remains unfortunately very much to the fore, I do not
know what better could have been done by those who
consider the present atrangement inadequate. At the
moment we see it overborne on the insistence of England,
who found her own guarantees in the destruction of the
German navy at Scapa Flow, whilst on land the German
menace could by no possibility be directed against anyone
but us. We therefore find that we have given way on the
one issue where it was essential that we should stand firm,
We shall see the consequences.

CLEMENCEAU : There is not a2 word in it that we can
change. It is correct, every bit of it. Poincaré never
wanted to conduct himself like a President of the Republic
nor Foch like a soldier. One day Foch said to me :

* You know, I suppose, that, constitutionally, [ am not
under your orders.’ 2

I answered :

‘I feel very friendly towards you, but if there is one bit
of advice I can give you it is not to try that game on me.’

He was satisfied that I meant what I said.

1 M. Alexandre Varenne bad just said, * There always remains to the Presi-
dent the right to resign.” M. Poincaré answered ; * In fact it is the onc right that
remains to him, thet of resigning. And for him it would certainly have been a
deliverance, If be did pot resign it was becanse after having weighed the pros
and cons, after having conferred with the Presidents of the two Chambers and
Marshal Foch himself, he considered it his duty to remain in office.” (Sitting of the
Chamber, z3rd November, 1923.)

® It was on 1st October, 1918, that Marshal Foch made this statetnent,
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MYSELF : But do you really think that Marshal Foch’s
and Poincaré’s policy is one which cannot in any event
be upheld ?

CLEMENCEAU : I might answer you, my deat boy, that
what grated on me in this business was not the policy, but
the way in which it was upheld behind my back, before my
eyes, at the very time when I was having to struggle with
Wilson and Lloyd George to conduct the war and negotiate
the peace. But no, I shan’t say that. Foch’s and Poin-
caré’s policy was a bad one in itself. It is a policy which
2 Frenchman, a French Republican, can only adopt as his
own momentarily in the hope of obtaining compensating
bencfits as part of the bargain. ‘That sort of thing is best
left to Bismatck, the famous man of iron.

MYSELF : You believe nevertheless that it was right—
and you think it all the more since it was at your insistence
that it was done-—to take possession of the Rhineland for
fifteen years ?

CLEMENCEAU : That is not the question. We ate only
in the Rhineland to ensure the execution of the Treaty.
If the Boches fulfil their contract we leave. If they do not
fulfil it we remain, We shall remain beyond the fifteen
years, we shall remain a hundred years if necessary, until
they have paid whatever they owe us—and we shall do it
by virtue of Articles 428, 429 and 430 of the Treaty, whose
cxistence no one seems to suspect. But who has read the
Treaty ? And if, once we have evacuated, the Boches
violate their contract, what then? 'We shall reoccupy the
territory, still by virtue of these Articles. Well, we have
the Rhine, haven’t we? What more does anyone want ?
That we keep it permanently? In that case let’s speak
candidly. Let us say annexation. I wonder if it has
struck you that that is a word Foch and Poincaré
avoid pronouncing. They ate bound to recognise that
that word no longer exists in our time. Annex the
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Rhineland ? It would be the same as renouncing all that
we fought for. After having won with the help of the
English and Americans it would be equivalent to saying
to them at the moment that the job is finished—and well
finished, thanks to them—* and now we shall take this, we
shall take that. . . > ‘I beg your pardon,’ the English
and Americans could propetly answer, ¢ you will take, yox
will take ! But what you are going to take doesn’t belong
to you alone. Thete are three of us who helped bring the
wild beast down.” And what would be their opinion then
of this war for the freedom of mankind? That there
were still oppressed peoples but that this time it was the
Boches who were the opptressed. Can you see me putting
my signature to a scheme like that? Our country has no
other interest then to uphold a principle. What principle
do you see in that ?

MYSELF : Then there is the Mangin affair,

CLEMENCEAU : He's another, still another, who added
to my troubles.

MYSELF: I want to speak to you about it because

a great many people accuse you of not having backed him
up propetly and of having taken his command away from

CcLEMENCEAU : Well, I should have liked to see them
tty to disentangle themselves from him.

MysELF: I find in your papers a certain number of
documents regarding Mangin, First a letter which Mangin
wrote to you personally, an intimate, familiar letter in
which he thanks you for what you have done for him, for
the suppott which you gave him . . .

CLEMENCEAU ; The one who disliked him most was
Pétain. I had the devil of a time to pacify Pétain. He
couldn’t even bear to hear his name mentioned.

MYSELF: . .. and assures you of his gratitude and
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devotion. In his letter Mangin reveals himself completely :
full of fire, of life, effervescent and excitable—also full of
bitterness and rancour. He speaks of a ‘ poison’ which
has been cast over him.

CLEMENCEAU : He was intolerable. In August, 1918,
Foch had to get rid of him because he had made I don’t
know how many communications to the press. I alone
behaved with a certain leniency towards him. Foch him-
self took on that dry little tone of his, * You are not going
to begin again, are you ?” which did not prevent Mangin
from beginning again every time he had a chance. Mangin
was a great soldier and a great commander, but he did not
think that obedience was made for him.

MYSELF: Next there are all the documents of the
Dorten affair and the question of Rhine separatism; your
letters to Mangin recommending caution, your telegrams
to Jeanneney, whom you instructed to look into the
subject.

CLEMENCEAU : The Dorten affair! Separatism! H’m.
They were angry with him because of that too. At
Pirmasens, a little German village occupied by the French
troops, the Boches besieged the separatists in the Mairie,
entered finally by breaking in, and cut their throats in cold
blood. This, if you please, under Poincaré’s ministry, And
in 2 village—you grasp that—which we were occupying.
That should tell you what sort of future separatismm—
Mangin’s great idea—had before it.

MYSELF ; These, then, were your three * crimes’ of
which I was speaking. When I am able to recall some
others I will talk to you about them.

CLEMENCEAU : That’s right. Now let’s arrange these
papets.

MysELF ¢ First, here are the papers whichI think should
be burnt,
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CLEMENCEAU : Why ?

MYSELF : Because they ought not to be in your hands
—and there is no occasion to send them back to the
Government,

CLEMENCEAU : Why not ?

MYSELF : Because they are only copies.

CLEMENCEAU : What are they about ?

MYSELF: Well, you have, for example, this report by
Joffre on the Champagne offensive of 1916, and this report
of Pétain’s on the same operation. In my opinion the best
place for them is the fire.

CLEMENCEAU : [ am greatly prejudiced in favour of the
fire. People never burn enough !

MYSELF : Next to those papers there ate others which
you ought perhaps to keep.
CLEMENCEAU : For example ?

MYSELF ; For example, this letter from Millerand, who,
with a few restrictions on certain features of the Peace
Treaty, declares that the treaty is  worthy of our victory.’

CLEMENCEAU ! Yes, let’s keep that. Even if Millerand
is of no great importance in the history of France, Inever
saw anyone more bewildered than Millerand at the War
Office. They would say to him, ‘ Damn it, man, order
some guns !’ and he would answer : * Oh, do you think that
they are really necessary ?’

MYSELF : Here’s a file of letters which Poincaré wrote
you during your ministry.

cLEMENCEAU : Oh, how he could write! Every time
I saw his dainty little handwriting it threw me into 2 fury.

[Ete., ete. Burn, keep, send back. . . .
When we bhad finished Piétri and I lft.
In the taxi Piétri said to me:



156 CLEMENCEAU

PIETRI: A propos of these letters about the paper
Justice. . . . Do youknowthisstory ? Oneday during the
war Clemenceau learnt that 2 woman who was then living
at Arcachon had in her possession a note signed by him in
acknowledgment of a debt of twenty thousand francs lent
to Clemenceau by the woman’s husband.

Clemenceau jumped into a car and arrived at Arcachon.
The woman said to him,  Yes, I really have the note, but
I wonder if you owe me anything whatever.”

* Oh,’ said Clemenceau, ‘ why ?’

‘ Because,” she said, ¢ you wrote in this note that you
recogniscd a debt to my husband of twenty thousand francs,
and that you would give this back out of the profits accruing
from Justice. Did you make any profits ?

‘ Profits ! My dear lady, profits with a newspaper that
called itself Justicel’

‘ Then you don’t owe me anything.’

¢ All right, then here are your twenty thousand francs.’

He climbed back into the car and returned to Pasis.
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‘It MUST NOT BE SAID’
L 16th May, 1928,
Piétri is already there.
CLEMENCEAU (fo me) : Well, have you looked through
those two volumes yet ?

MYSELF : Yes, sif, and I have thought about them, too.
They are exclusively about the war and the peace from
January, 1918, to December, 1919, all of which, at least your
telegrams to Cambon, Barrere, etc., wete collected by your
private secretariat. It is probable that amongst the tele-
grams which you sent there are others which you dictated
to Mordacq, Herscher, Lallemand, etc.

CLEMENCEAU : Sure to be,

MYSELF: Those aren’t here. Nevertheless there is
enough here to precipitate a catastrophe if they fall into
other hands.

CLEMENCEAU ¢ And

MYSELF: And so they should be given back to the
Government. Or else they should be burnt.

CLEMENCEAU : Beyond a doubt it’s better to burn them.
They must be burnt. Don’t you realise that if I gave
these papers back to Poincaré I should provoke arguments
and questions which would simply never come to an end.
Poincaré would write and ask me for explanations. That
would be too tiresome.

préTrI 1 On the other hand, it is provoking to suppress

?
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a document which represents an extraordinary page of
history.

CLEMENCEAU: The pages of history! You know,
I myself haven’t at all the soul of a historian. I have only
the soul of a2 man who wishes to God the world would
leave him in peace.

MYSELF : Would you like me, after I have run my eye
over these papers for the last time, to run over them
yet once more—which would be the last of the last—to see
if there is anything amongst them which might provoke
from the Government a demand for explanations? If I
see anything which might disturb your peace, I'll tell you.

CLEMENCEAU : Right. Secondly: Piétri and I have
just been having a little chat. Piétri was telling me that
I ought to leave a paper explaining what I did at the Peace
Conference and why I was not able to do more.

PIETRI ¢ I do think that there are certain points which
you would be able to clear up.

CLEMENCEAU : It is extremely simple, you understand.
All the disappointed failures of politics and journalism are
here to say, © You might have done this, you might have
done that.” I should have liked to see Briand, Painlevé,
Renaudel, Franklin-Bouillon and the others confront
Germany, confront England, confront the United States,
the whole world. It is eight years since I left office. For
eight years now Briand and Poincaré have been passing
their time sitting around little green baize-top tables to
make a lot of other little peace treaties with our former
friends and enemies. Every time they get up it is noticed
that they haven’t obtained anything. Not oaly that, but
they have let go of a little more, of boats, of millions,
billions. Millerand! What he alone gave up! It’s
mad !

Idid what I did and I did it alone, and I ask you to whom
I might have turned for advice—to those same Briands,
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Poincarés, Millerands? Because for three years they had
been making war and weren’t able to bring it to an end.
Was that a sufficient reason ?

They say to me now: You didn’t obtain anything,’
and 1 claim that T did, that I obtained everything that I
could reasonably have been expected to obtain. But there
you ate| The only value of a treaty is in its application.
You must go on and see it through.  What have they done?
Nothing ! Speeches! Oh, good Lord, those speeches !
What speeches !

They say to me, ‘ You should have broken with our
Allies” I nearly did. Forty-eight hours before the
ratification of the treaty I nearly broke off relations :
Lloyd George wanted two yeats of occupation or nothing.
Wilson arranged that matter . . . fortunately! Do you
see me saying to Parliament, ‘I have broken it off*? I
should have had the whole world against me. And with
petfectly good teason. It would have meant the loss of
everything.

The treaty was not so grand, I am quite willing to admit
that, but how about the war? Was ¢ 50 very grand? It
took four years and I don’t know how many nations to
bring Germany to her knees. It was necessary to go look-
ing for allies all over the face of the globe and recruit
troops even amongst negroes . . . twenty times during
the war it was believed that everything was at an end.
We touched the bottom of the abyss, but France came out
of it alive, her territory recovered, het colonial empire
increased, while Germany was broken and disarmed under
the threat of our guns. And now ... M. Marin isn’t
satisfied. All those chaps shrieking blue murder, throwing
out their chests, become suddenly arrogant and uncom-
promising to the point of imbecility as if we alone, without
help or support or a supreme effort, had broken Germany’s
neck |

They would like one of those merciless peaces such as
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Napoleon used to impose when he overthrew an empire
in three cavalry charges, I wonder if they can be serious,

PIETRI: Exactly what they are, and all that you have
been saying ought to be said publicly. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Well, what do you think about Piétri’s
idea, Martet ? Ought I to write something ? If you want
to know what I really feel, I much prefer a quiet life. If
they attacked me on a particular phase of the Treaty—but
they haven’t!

MyseLr: My advice is that you ought not to wrtite
anything.

CLEMENCEAU : Why ?

MYSELF: For several reasons. Firstly, because you
have remained silent for eight years, and your attitude only
has a meaning—as you’ve said yourself—if you maintain
it to the end.

Then you waat to be left in peace, and if you undes-
take to answer you will have it less than ever : every answer
will call forth another answer; and finally, because by
answering you would give the impression that you doubt
yourself and your own work, that you have put the question
to yourself and have found arguments and apologies,
recognising that the Treaty wasn’t able to defend itself.

CLEMENCEAU (delighted, makes a gesture as if be were
sweeping everything away): Thete! He’s said the right
thing, It’s decided 1!

PIETRI : I agree in principle, but nevertheless there are
two or three points which remain obscure. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Well, Martet will clear them up. If I
undertook to speak now they would say, *Ah ha! He
feels the criticism. He must be wrong.” (To me) And
ate you going to study these two volumes for the last time ?

MYSELF: Yes.
1 Clemenceau followed my advice, as it turned out, until Apsil, 1929,
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CLEMENCEAU : Are you going to take them away ?
MYSELF : I should prefer not to. I can do it here.
CLEMENCEAU : Right! WWhen?

MYSELF : Immediately.

CLEMENCEAU : I will arrange a place for you. We
should never talk ; there is always too much talking going
on.

Piétri leaves. Clemenceau goes into his room. I
make myself comfortable at the horseshoe table, and
attack the two volumes. There are two kinds of Letter
Books, whose pages are of the flimsiest tissue paper, On
each page there is pasted a sheet of the pad on which I
took down in a sort of semi-shorthand the telegrams
which Clemenceau dictated to me, or—most frequently—
the typed transcript of the notes.

I read all these pages cver—what a marvellous book !
How clearly, freshly, tidily and straightforwardly the chief
and master organiser of this great machine thought! How
splendidly active he was! When it is published how it
will increase his stature |

At eleven o’clock I have finished.

Clemenceau returns,

CLEMENCEAU : Done ?

MYSELF ; Yes, sit.

CLEMENCEAU : And?

myYSELF: ‘They must be given back to the Government.
CLEMENCEAU {(depressed) : Very well. I will give them

back. I'll say, ¢ Here are some papers which I've found ;

I’m sending them back to you. Don’t ask me for any
M
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explanations about them., I don’t remember a thing, and
anyway, I’'m dead !’

MYSELF : I want to point out to you that each of these
pages is numbered, but that there are several on which
nothing was pasted.

CLEMENCEAU : That’s nothing to do with me, Have
you thought this over carefully? Knowing Poincaré as
you do, do you think that it is wise to take him all that ?
Aren’t you afraid that . . .

MYSELF : I’m not afraid of anything. Your work here
shows up very well ; thete is no mystery about it, and I
don’t see what questions they could ask you. Further-
more they’re only copies, and duplicates undoubtedly exist
at the Quai d’Orsay or the War Office. Poincaré there-
fote is acquainted with those duplicates, and if anything
has seemed mysterious to him . . .

CLEMENCEAU : He would have taken it up. . . . But
hold on! Are you telling me that there are duplicates at
the two Ministries ? . . . Then these haven’t any value |

MYsELF: I said ‘ undoubtedly.” I believe so, but I'm
not sure. In any event I don’t know whete or how they
are filed. There is probably one telegram in one folder,
and another in another folder a mile away. Whilst these
books enable one to trace your every effort and every
thought day by day: you can follow their development.

cLEMENCEAU ;: Good! You may go and take them to
Poincaté, but you’re very annoying. Now come along
and I will give you various documents on old affairs, the
Commune. . . .
[We go into the ball. Clemencean shows
me two large parcels tied up with cord
which are waiting for me in a corner.

CLEMENCEAU: There! They ate yours. Do with
them what you want. Probably three-quarters of them
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should be burnt, . . . Burn them. I myself have bumt
thousands and thousands of old papers. But there ate
records which I have prepared myself with 2 view to a
possible emergency. I am handing on to you these
trenchant weapons in case the struggle should be resumed
when I am at the right hand of God. (Caliing) Albert |
(Albert appears.) Find a taxi and put these things into it.

[Albers goes to look for a taxi, Clemen-
cean and I remain without moving or
Speaking in the cpening of the doorway
which leads ont into the gardes.

CLEMENCEAU (dreaming) : The flowers are here. .



XXIV
18TH MARCH, 1871

In one of the two parccls of old papers which Clemen-
ceau had given me I found—and I ran through it at once
with deep emotion —the account dictated to his secretary
and corrected with his own hand, in which he had thought
it nccessary to set forth all the tragic days of March, 1871,
as he saw them and as he lived them.

Clemenceau had a long life and passed through many
bitter hours ; but no memory ever haunted him with such
persistence as the memory of those terrible times and all
the madness that, as a young mayor of thirty, he perceived
at the bottom of civilian insurrection, during which he
wondcred so many times if his own life’s adventure were
not going to end there in futility.

Later therc will appear these two hundred pages which
he dictated or wrote without preparation or reflection.
Actually they constitute the only memoirs which Clemen-
ccau has left and they represent beyond a doubt the saddest
moment of his life.

For the moment I shall merely reproduce the chapter
which he devotes to the 18th March, It is an excellent
picture and even more : one recognises the man of science,
the man of the Génération des Eléments Anatomiques ! who
leaned over his laboratory table to study the birth of a
revolution and ‘ observe ” it with curiosity stronger even
than distaste.

1 The ttle of the medical thesis which Clemencear wente.
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Certain facts are rapidly recalled: since the 4th Sep-
tember, 1870, the day of the proclamation of the Republic,
Clemenceau had been mayor of Montmartre ; Paris had
sutrendered, and on the 27th January the Prussians were on
the point of entering the capital. On the 26th some of
the National Guard had taken possession of forty guns
assembled in the parks of Passy and Wagram, and in order
to get them away from the Prussians hoisted them to the
very top of Montmartre and Belleville, Nearly two
months passed, and M. Thiers’ Government, hearing the
angty muttering of the Parisians due to their frequent
deceptions, determined to disarm them. Clemenceau
intervened, pointing out the dangers which would
arise from putting this scheme into effect; M. Thiers
promised to wait. Unfortunately the promise was not
kept.

It was the failure to carry out such undertakings which
led to the shocking tragedy of the Commune.

I now yield the stage to Clemenceau.

On the 18th March, at six o’clock in the morning, I was
awakened by M. Dereure, my colleague, who told me that
the Buttes of Montmartre had just been occupied by the
troops, and the guns retaken. He added that it was only
with the greatest difficulty that he had been able to come
to me, the streets being barred by the military, who
allowed no one to pass.

While speaking I saw that he was studying my face and
the meaning of my words carefully in order to find some
indication as to whether I was warned of the Government’s
undertaking. AsIcondemned the conduct of the Govern-
ment in this matter with strong indignation Dereure took
my side. For his part he did not then appear to believe
in the possibility of even an attempt at resistance. He
considered the guns already definitely seized and did not
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conceive that 2 counter-offensive on the part of the National
Guard would even be attempted.

I drew this conclusion only from his attitude and the
general sense of his words, for this question was not even
raised between us in our interview. He told me further
that General Lecomte was commanding the military, that
some of the National Guard had been wounded, and that
a certain number of prisoners had been taken.

I advised him to return immediately to the Mairie,
where his presence was necessary, and told him that I was
going to the Buttes to see the General and to take stock
of the situation.

Heleft.  As I had been dressing while we were talking
I shortly followed him.

I went directly to the Buttes. I had to parley several
times with soldiers who barred the way. The Outer
Boulevard and the streets which I traversed were either
deserted or practically so. The news of the coup was just
beginning to spread. On the doorsteps and in front of
all the still closed shops men in shirt sleeves were chatting
and preserving a completely calm attitude, Of National
Guard, uniforms or arms, not a sign. The nearer I cate
to the top of the Buttes, the more relaxed seemed to be the
attitude of the soldiers. Up there, there were a great many
civilians, They chatted with the soldiers, several of whom
had laid their rifles down on the pavement to go into the
bakers’ shops.

A detachment of constabulary and police were guatding
the house at No. 6 Rue des Rosiers.

I arrived on the upper plateau, where I found General
Lecomte in the mudst of several officers who were walk-
ing about between pieces of attillery, with no apparent
occupation,

I went up to him and informed him of my position,
I reminded him that I had seen him at the Ministry of
Public Instruction on the 22nd January and expressed my
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extreme surprise and disappointment at the Government’s
decision to use force without having warned us of their
intention.

The General answered that it was not his place to enter
into any discussions, that he had merely received his orders
and was executing them. He told me that he had been
waiting for quite 2 long time for transport which had not
artived.

I then said to him that the population seemed quite
calm in the district through which I had just come ; I con-
sidered it extremely important that the astillery should be
removed with the least possible delay.!

After leaving the General I proceeded to the house at
No. 6 Rue des Rosiers, where the chief of the constabulary,
Piquot, allowed me to enter. About a hundred prisoners
were assembled in the courtyard and several more could
be seen at the windows.

They told me that there was a wounded man in one of
the rooms. I went in. I found a National Guardsman
belonging to the Engineers Auxiliary Corps lying on a
mattress on the floor. Two women were lavishing atten-
tion on him. One was the canteen keeper of a battalion
of the arrondissement and the other was Louise Michel.?

The room, a tiny one, looked on to the garden.

I observed that the wounded man had received a bullet
in his side: it had perforated the peritoneum. He still
had a little hemorthage; a shect coveted the wound.
No attempt at a dressing had been made. I devised a
first-aid dressing as well as I was able. The wound was
obviously mortal.

Since he appeared to be suffering terribly and was,
furthermore, extremely badly accommodated there, I
announced my intention of having him taken to the

1 Compare all these facts with the various statements made before the court-
tartial, including my own statement.—Note by M. Climencean.
2 The celebrated revolutionary.—Nofe by tbe guthor.
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Lariboisiére hospital. I believe, without being able to
swear to it, that Captain Piquot was present and was
informed of my intention, but raised no objection, at least
at the moment.

I returned to the Mairie immediately in order to get a
stretcher. On the way it seemed to me that the attitude
of the crowd had not changed appreciably. There were
undoubtedly more people in the streets, but they did not
scem excited.

I returned to the Rue des Rosiers with the stretcher
carried by two National Guardsmen whom I had requisi-
tioned from the detachment at the Mairie.

The demeanour of the crowd during this second
journcy did not yet appear in the least threatening.

I went into the house, had the wounded man placed on
the stretcher and had it carried into the courtyard through
the window of the ground floor. While he was there and
the policeman was taking his name and address, Captain
Piquot came up and warned me that General Lecomte was
opposed to the wounded man being removed to the
hospital.

1 went back to General Lecomte, who said that he was
opposed on grounds of prudence to the transfer of the
wounded man, that the sight of him might rouse the mob,
that he could be taken care of and would be moved to
hospital after the military operations had been terminated.

I replied that the district, as I had previously said, was
quite tranquil and that I did not believe personally that the
transfer presented the objections set forth by the General.
Nevertheless, I could do nothing but yield, and I withdrew
without further argument.?

! The indictment against the assassing of Generals Lecomte and Clément
Thomas states that I wanted to incite insurrection by carrying out the manceuvre
known 2s ‘ parading the corpse.’

It goes on to say that I wanted to move a wounded man who had already
received all possible cate from a militaty surgeon. I counteted by the demand
that they produce this military surgeon, that they ask kim to statc where and when
he examined the wonaded man, what was the narure of the wound, and what dressing
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I noticed on my way that the crowd in the streets was
swelling ; at the same time I saw a large number of soldiers
who had laid their rifles on the pavement and were chatting
familiasly with the people of the neighbourhood. I have
heard it said that the troops had had nothing to eat all the
motning, I myself saw people give victuals to the soldiers ;
I saw quite a number of soldiets at the bakers and the wine
sellers. In the Rue du Mont-Cenis two young officers
were taking a stroll in the most casual fashion, chatting
away with no appearance of alarm, Nevertheless, I noticed
a National Guardsman reproaching in lively fashion a
soldier for having taken part in this expedition, and I was
surprised at the piteous expression on the face of the
soldier, who was accepting the abuse without protest.

When approaching the Mairie I met in the Rue de Vieux
Chemin 2 National Guardsman who, when he recognised
me, abused me roundly. He was in 2 great state of excite-
ment. He, no more than the others, was thinking of
venturing upon resistance. He did not call upon any
group whatever to start resistance, but he proclaimed that
he wanted to go and get his rifle in order to fire on any
soldiers who might attempt to remove the guns.

I made a very strong effort to dissuade him, but he
talked on without stopping and would not listen to me.
Finally he became a little calmer and promised me that he
would go home.

When I atrived at the Mairie Square I saw a group of

he had prepared for it. T affirmed that there was no doctor, no dressing, and that
T had given first aid myseif.

Captain Piquot snnounced triumphantly that a military surgeon had come
before me, but that he had limitad himself to Jooking at the wound and had pre-
pared no dressing. Captain Piquot, who was present at my two interviews with
the wounded man, still declares that no one had spoken to me of this surgeon. It
is permissible to regret that the Judge-Advocate did not require Captain Piquot to
give his explanation on this point before drawing up his indictment. There
femains therefore solely the testimony that I merely wanted to have the wounded
man, who had had no care, transferted to hospital at a time when there was no sign
of insurrection and when there were no indications anywhete of any pteparation
for armed conflict.—Nots by M. Clemnceen.
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twenty people, most of whom I knew. I was awate of
their influence on the National Guard of the arrondisse-
ment and had even negotiated with them for the restoration
of the guns. My colleague, M. Dercure, was amongst
them.

On my arrival there was a hush. I understood that
they were suspicious of me and believed that I was working
on behalf of the Government. 1 repeated to them the con-
versation which I had just had with the General on the
Buttes. They declared that they were betrayed, but though
extremely incensed said not a word about the possibility
of tesistance ; nor did they seem to be thinking about it,
for, having returned to the Mairie shortly after, Isaw them
from the window of my oflice disperse in different direc-
tions. They seemed discouraged and not as if about to
make an appeal to arms,

A few moments later I saw 2 member of my Armament
Committee, M. Sabourdy, arrive. It was about half-past
seven. He told me that he had been wakened by firing
and that he had scen soldiers fraternising with the National
Guard.?

I described my two journeys to the Buttes. It is
evident that at that moment the situation did not seem
to me to be critical. For, although I was alone at the
Mairie, I sent M. Sabourdy with his colleague, M. Huet,
to the Rue Lepic to settle some dispute or other with a
landlotd. It is obvious that if I had thought at that
juncture that the situation might suddenly become worse,
I should have kept him with me. For, I repeat, 1 was alone
at the Mairie.

M. Sabourdy was away quite a2 long time.?

‘The Mairie Square was practically deserted. After
a short interval several National Guardsmen passed by

' Ask him where, when and in what circumstances.—Nose by M. Clemenceau,
¢ Ask him how long and exactly what he was doing during this period.—Nu#e
by M, Clrnenceas.
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unarmed, and other groups appeared a little later. Several
of them scemed very excited.

At some time which I cannot state exactly, but which
must have been between eight and half-past, I heard the
call to arms for the first time. The sound came to me
faintly ; it must have been at some distance from the
Mairie.

A moment later a National Guardsman, alone and
unarmed, posted himself at the cotner of the Rue des
Abbesses opposite the Post Office and sounded his bugle.
While I was wondering if it would not be better to stop
him, and thinking of the consequences of a possible refusal
by the National Guardsten of this post if I ordered them
to do so, armed groups (the first) appeared in the Mairie
Square.

Within the space of a few minutes the whole aspect of
the Square was changed. Armed National Guards were
running about it in all directions and in the greatest con-
fusion. These fellows seemed to be obeying no orders
coming down the street and not even to have thought of
forming themselves into companies or battalions: they
called out, they were shouting ; it was all a perfect bedlam,

Later, howevet, propetly formed companies spread out
into the Square by way of the Rue Marie-Antoinette, a
drummer at their head. They seemed animated by great
enthusiasm and kept crying out, ‘ Vive la République !’
fiot even pausing when passing in front of the Matrie.

I noticed amongst the troops officers whose opinions
I well knew and who I assumed were going against their
will. 1 suspected that their men had compelled them to
come with them and to take part in what looked much more
like 2 popular demonstration than preparations for a battle.

All this lasted for a little while, up to the moment when
I noticed to my great surprise soldiers of the line  mingled
with the National Guards.

1 Soldiers of the Government,
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Then suddenly cannons, dragged by hand, arrived in
the Mairie Square. I learned at the same time that the
precious transport had finally turned up, that the National
Guards had recaptured in the Rue Lepic ? the guns which
were being taken away, and that the military had fraternised
with the people. This had been effected, moreover, quite
in a friendly manner and without a shot being fired.

During this interval M. Sabourdy returned ; he told
me what he had seen, and it was he, I believe, who apprised
me of what had taken place at the Buttes.

A few moments later several very excited National
Guardsmen presented themselves in my office and con-
firmed his story. General Lecomte was a prisoner, as
well as a certain number of the police and constabulary.

A little Jater I saw a detachment of these last two bodies
arrive at the Mairie and detained as prisoners at the Guard-
house which had formetly been occupied by the National
Guard and had now been evacuated by them.

Captain Piquot was with these men. I went up and
spoke to him. He was thoroughly calm. I apologised
for not having been able to house him and his men in mote
comfortable fashion. He answered that a soldier is used
to putting up with anything. T advised him to go home,
remain there and not to call attention to himself. T for-
bade his men to leave the Guardhouse, The exasperation
against the military constabulary was already considerable,
and especially against the police ; I was afraid that the sight
of them might arouse angry memories in several of the
more feverish spirits.

I returned quickly to my office, which was filled,
and all kinds of people were turning up armed with the
most contradictory and incredible versions of what had

happened.

1 M, Deschamps saw them take the Rue Lepic again with the aid of women
and children.—Note by M, Clemencean.
* What had he witnessed on his joutniey +—Nete by M, Clemenceau,
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I should mention the visit of M. J.,! a member of the
Central Committee, who was one of the people with whom
I had negotiated most consistently for the return of the
guns. During the siege he had been in charge of one of
the branches of the food supply. His task was still going
on since he had not yet rendered his accounts. He told
me that since it was impossible to foretell what was going
to happen he was going to turn over to me the money
which was in his possession. The secretary of the Mairie
inspected our books and settled up his accounts.

I observed his attitude of extreme distrust of myself
and pretended not to notice it.

Finally he could no longer contain himself, and said :

‘Well, you've cheated us.’” And when I made a
gesture: ‘ Yes, yes, you continued to negotiate with us
merely to lull us to sleep, and you cannot expect me to
believe you were not hand in glove with the Government.’

I was so dumbfounded by his tone of deep conviction
that I could not find a word to answer, I was bewildered,
astounded ; nevertheless, my attitude was such that, secing
a tear of rage on my cheek, without my baving said 2
word he begged my pardon for having insulted me and
swore that he would never again believe what he had just
said.

Unfortunately the attitude of the majority of the
National Guard who appeared in my office had caused me
to understand how generally this conviction was held. In
this lay so great a danger that I felt compelled to take every
possible precaution to protect at all costs the prisoners I
was holding and who were so detested by the people.

At about ten o’clock Captain Mayer of the 1st Company
of the 169th Battalion (of the National Guard) arrived.

He came to tell me that General Lecomte and a number
of his officets wete prisoners in the Chateau-Rouge.? He

1 Josselin,
2 A hall in the Rue de Clignancourt where public dances wete held.
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told me that these gentlemen were asking for their Iunch,
and since he had no funds available was wondering whether
I would supply the necessary money. I authorised him to
have the lunch brought from a neighbouring restaurant
and questioned him about the attitude of the people.

1 had known Captain Mayer during the siege. He was
a blunderer and casily influenced, but I had always found
him quite well disposed. 1 had no reason to suspect him
of the desire to harm anyone. He had an urbane manner
and a kindly disposition, which did not allow me to doubt
his benevolent intentions towards the prisoners. More-
over, his language was reassuring. He told me that the
General and his officers were comfortably housed, and
promised to see that they did not want for anything,

I asked about the behaviour of the people. He said
that it was good: the guns had been retaken without
striking a blow,? the troops had been fraternising with the
people, there was no feeling of hatred in their hearts and
no sign of hostility towards the General and his officers
was visible.

I asked Mayer which battalion was guarding the
prisoners. He answered that it was his own, that his men
werce there, that he could count on them, and that there was
no danger of any kind. Iszid to him: ‘ Pay close attention.
I have entrusted the care of the prisoners to you. You
will be answerable for them to me, won’t you 7’

He answered : “ Quite, That’s all right.’

This remark was repeated at least twice. Sabourdy
heard it. Mayer had (denied it) at the beginning of the
trial, but later went back on his assertion, Furthermore,
Chicandard stated a moment afterwards that he had met

1 That was only true in the eighteenth arrondissement (Montmartre}, where
not a shot was fired to tecapture the guns. A litle later, however, there were
collisions in the Place Pigalle between National Guards and Chasseurs. One
officer was killed. 1 believe that his men 1efused to fite. Ask Sabourdy. An
hour later the officet’s horse, which had also been killed, had been completely cue
up for food by the crowd. Not a trace of it was left. A characteristic detail.—
Note by Clemencean.
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Mayer, who told him that I had just entrusted him with the
care of the prisoners.

I (declared) quite formally during the trial that the
scope of my words should not be exaggerated at a moment
like that, and that they did not then justify so grave a
significance as subsequent events would seem to have given
them ; that, although my actual words were those which I
had repeated, it should not be lost sight of that at that
moment the General and his officers did not seem to be in
any danger ! and that what I had in mind at the moment
was ‘ If anything happens which we do not now foresee,
come and warn me.” It is obviously what Mayer should
and could have understood. Nothing more. I could not
ask him to do anything more insomuch as he had no more
authority than his men were willing to recognise. I could
only insist that he alone should ward off the danger which
did not yet exist and which was unforeseeable.

I should add that I considered myself fortunate to have
had to deal with Captain Mayer, whose intentions I could
not suspect, as I said above, and who had the advantage of
a very considerable influence over his men because of the
important part he had played in the matter of the guns.
At this juncture he had held his command for some time
and seemed to possess considerable authority on the Buttes.
I could not therefore but congratulate myself on seeing the
prisoners in the Chiteau-Rouge under his protection.

A few minutes after the departure of Captain Mayer
Captain Chicandard came in. My office was not getting
any emptier. There also arrived various people from the
centre of Paris who came to obtain information on the
state of affairs. I only had a very shott interview with
Captain Chicandard. This officer, who belonged to the

1 This is 50 true that they themselves, who could see the crowd from the
windows, thought that they were perfectly safe, and the proof is that when Caprain
Beugnot rencwed his acquaintance with Mayer, whom he had previously met at
Villemessant’s {Villemessant was the founder of Figare), they began to talk about
women and Villemessant.—No#e by Clemenceas.
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same battalion as Mayer, also had a detachment in the
Chitcau-Rouge.

As he was explaining the facts I said to him :

‘1 have already seen Mayer and entrusted the prisoners
to his care. Go and help him. I entrust them to you the
same as to him. Watch over them and do whatever may
be necessary.” !

I had lunch in my office after making out the necessary
requisition to ensure provisions for the prisoners.

My assistant Jaclard had gone to the Mairie at about
ten o’clock, when everything was practically over, so fat
as he remembers.2  He then remained at the Batignolles
and was not informed of what was happening until much
later,

We exchanged our impressions on the events of theday,
and as we were wondering what was going to come of all
this mess which we were witnessing, we agreed that the
struggle could only be ended—as everyone about us
seemed to believe—by another, and that probably another
conflict was going on whilst we were speaking in some
other quarter of Paris. The idea that the aggressor might
cscape by flight from the results of the conflict which he
had provoked could not have occurred to anyone.

I expressed strong indignation at the conduct of the
Government with respect to myself. 1 complained of the
false position in which they had put me by having recoutse
to force without warning me, after they had made me run
backwatds and forwards so long as they had thought it
possible to negotiate. But I told him clearly that I did not
belicve that it was a time to hesitate as to which line of
conduct to take.

‘ Whatever point of view one takes,” I said to him,

! Ask Chicandard at what time he met Mayer and when Mayer told him that
I had entrusted the prisoners to his care. Did he come to see me before or
aftes >—Nove by Clemencean,

® Ask Sabourdy what time Jaclard came.—Jbid.
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‘there is one conclusion which is unmistakable; the
Prussians are investing Paris. If the Government is over-
thrown this evening or to-morrow and the new Govern-
ment does not give them satisfactory guarantees they will
beyond a doubt occupy the city. I cannot believe that
any party is strong enough to saddle itself with such a
responsibility. Whatever our feelings with regard to the
Government, it is our duty to act in such a way that the
grave error which it has just committed shall have the
least unfortunate consequences possible. - Moreovet,” I
added at the end, * It seems impossible to me that the troops
will not resume the offensive and the Government remain
masters of the ground.’

Jaclard * told me that in principle he shared my opinion,
and that he understood as well as I the dangers of the
movement which had commenced, but that his friends were
in the movement and that he could not without dishonour
refuse to go along with them, at least during the fighting.
Moreover he added, “ I shall try to prevent them from doing
t0o many foolish things. Obviously I shall have a great
deal to do.’

As to my predictions on the outcome of the struggle he
did not endorse them without reserve. He believed that
the Government would sustain a serious reverse and be
reduced to accepting some form of compromise after
having lost or practically lost the struggle.

We said vety little about the imprisoned officers.
Since no danger seemed to menace them their imprison-
ment was no more than a minor incident in 2 struggle
whose distressing consequences were troubling us above
everything else. I told bhim what I had done. He
approved and said further that he would personally keep
watch at the Chiteau-Rouge and would without fail have

1 Whilst Jaclard {was) present we learned that the same things had happened
at Belleville as at Montmartre, and that in consequence the insurrection was of far
wider extent than we had at first thought.—Nose by Clemencean.
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himself informed of everything that might happen. I
tepeat that we did not press this question because at that
moment it did not seem to have the importance which it
acquired later. The causes, the outcome and the conse-
quences of the conflict now going on occupied our attentlon
almost exclusively,

He left me with the promise to return and give me news
if things took a fresh turn.

My assistant Dereure did not reappear at the Mairie
during the entite day, or if he came he could only have
remained a very short time, and I think that I can swear
he did not set foot inside my office. In any case I have no
recollection of his being at the Mairie during that day,!
nor during the night. The next morning when I went to
the conference of the mayors at the Bank I left the Mairie
absolutely empty; he had quite openly thrown himself
into the movement with the strongest illusions about its
outcome, and as he had always distrusted me he took care
not to cstablish a centre of his operations in the Mairie.
His conduct with reference to me lacked the frankness
which marked Jaclard’s. It was a question of temperament
as well as intelligence.

At about cleven o’clock M. Stupuy artived. Having
learnt what had happened and supposing that I might be
in need of help, he had come voluntarily to offer me his
services.?

I told him he could render me 2 great service by going
out to find 2 few of my colleagues or assistants who would
be able to lend me the aid of their authority.

He left.?

1 Thete was certainly a witness who during the coutse of the trial declared that
Dereure came to the Mairie several times that day, but this witness only came to the
Mairic at night. He is the same man who saw me with 2 red sash, There is no
oceasion to discuss this man’s statements.—No## by Clemenceas.

* Ask him to give evidence on what he saw that day. —Ibid.

3 1 think it was Tolain whom he went to find first. Ask him to whom he

went, what he saw, what he said, what he did. Ask Tolain what he did znd
saw.—Ibid,
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At about 12.30 ot one o’clock MM. Lockroy and
Langlois appeared, the latter having been advised by
Tolain,?

I repeated the events of the morning to them. When
they spoke about the captured officers I told them that
they were at the Chiteau-Rouge, where they were quite
out of danger.

It may be said that if I had had any reason whatever to
suspect danger it would have been easy for me to send my
two colleagues to the Chiteau-Rouge: I should in this
way have shifted a heavy responsibility to their shoulders.
I did not do so because I thought that the National Guards-
men, who suspected that I was working on behalf of the
Government, would probably have had similar suspicions
of thermn, and that the effect of such precautionary measures
would be the reverse of what might have been expected.
It might have brought the prisoners into peril if any
indication was given that fears were entertained for their
safety.

I said to Langlois and Lockroy that it was necessary for
our colleagues to come to the Mairie, that there we were
at the centre of the movement, that some turn might take
place which would allow them to take hold of things and
direct them to a more or less happy conclusion, that in any
case we ought to deliberate on what was to be done.

They left to hunt up our colleagues.

During this time this is how the Mairie Square looked :
battalions camped round their guns, parties of National
Guardsmen as well as soldiers of theline preceded by bands.

Towards two o’clock my friend M. Lioret, Sub-
Prefect of Issoudun, who had been in Paris for the last
twenty-four houts, thinking that I might be in difficulties,
came to offer me his services.

As far as he can remember, the Mairie was practically

1 Ask Lockroy who had summoned him, and get his statement,—Nose by
Clemencean.
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deserted when he arrived. Everybody had left to see what
was going on outside. Sabourdy had remained in the
room next to mine.

I answered M. Liotet that the best service which he
could render me would be to stay with me so that I might
have someone whom I could trust at hand in case of need.

A moment later M. Stupuy returned. He reported on
how he had fulfilled the mission with which I had entrusted
him. .

At about three o’clock Jaclard came in.  We exchanged
a few words and hc went on into the room used by the
Comunittee of Armament.

A moment later I heard a noise in this room and,
opening the door, found myself face to face with about
fifteen people who werc deliberating. Amongst these
were Paschal Grousset, Gerré, J. . . . 1 requested Jaclard
to come into my room and asked him what these men
wanted. He answered with an embarrassed air that it
was the Committee which had taken up its quarters there
in otder to deliberate and expedite orders. I told him in
the presence of Stupuy and Lioret that there could not be
two authorities in the Mairie, that so long as I was there I
was the sole head, and that I would not permit any
committee to take possession of the place surreptitiously.?

Confronted with my definite decision Jaclard said that
he would go and prevail upon the Committee to with-
draw. I waited a quarter of an hour or twenty minutes in
extreme anxiety, wondering what the National Guard would
do if I summoned it to expel the Committee, which did
not seem to want to leave, Danger of a conflict.

I recalled Jaclard and declared that I gave him another
ten minutes, and that if after that time the Committee had
not left I should call upon the National Guard—whatever
the risk involved—to expel the Committee,

1 1 think that a moment earlier the members of the Comnitiee had come to ask
e fora room and L had refused them. Ask Stupuy and Lioret,—Nade by Clemencian,
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Jaclard only required five minutes. At the end of that
time the Committee had in fact left.

After its departure I received 2 visit from several of
the National Guard, most of whom were unknown to me
and who had come from the arrondissements in the centre
of Paris to find out what had happened at Xlontmartre
since the morning. They brought conflicting news of
what was going on in the centre of the city.

At about half-past four Captain Mayct, followed by
Captain Garcin, came into my office. Mayer, greatly
troubled, told me that if 1 did not come as quickly as
possible they were going to shoot Generals Lecomte and
Clément Thomas.

I remarked that that was impossible : the newspapers
had announced that Clément Thomas had left a little while
before for America.

Mayer answered : ‘If it is not Clément Thomas it is
someone whom they take for him. In any case come as
quickly as you can, because they are talking of shooting him.’

The expressions which Mayer was using, although
indicating that the situation was serious, allowed me
to suppose that the crisis had not yet reached as acute
a stage as one might have feared.

I took my sash from my drawet and hurried out into
the streets, followed by the two captains and M. Sabourdy,
who wete in the adjacent room and whom I told in passing
to follow me, without saying what it was about.

MM. Lioret and Stupuy offered to follow me. Con-
vinced that I was running into grave danger I refused their
assistance, I instructed them to watch at the Mairie, to
protect the prisoners and to ward off as best they could any
emergencies which might arise.

I put on my sash in the stteet while running.

I had understood by Mayer’s remarks that the affair was
not going on at the Chéteau-Rouge, but I did not yet know
where it was happening,
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Mayer told me that we ought to proceed towards the
Buttes. We were too agitated to attempt to clear up in out
minds how the situation which we had to remedy had
arisen. Furthermore one moves less quickly while talking,
We ran and walked as fast as we could, practically without
saying a word.!

Considerably out of breath, we climbed straight up the
Buttes, practically along the wall of the church. Captain
Garcin twice expressed his intention of leaving us, saying
that his lungs could not stand it any longer. I insisted on
his following us, foreseeing that we might have a struggle
ahead of us and that his uniform would give us some
authotity over the mob.

Hardly had we turned the cotner of the wall when a
man dashed up and told us that the Generals had just been
shot. We did not stop to answer him, but hurried along
even faster. He did not seem to be perfectly sure of his
facts, but appeared rather to be repeating 4 rumour than
something which he himself had witnessed.

The Buttes wete covered with armed National Guards-
men. We were caught up in the mob. My sash called
everybody’s attention to me and I at once became the object
of the most hostile demonstrations. They accused me of
having conspired with the Government to have the guns
taken away, of having betrayed the National Guard, and
insults were hutled at me on all sides.

Placing myself between Mayer and Saboutdy, who wete
both well known in the arrondissement and were my only
protection, I continued on my way without answeting.

Whilst we went on I heard such things as :

‘It’s all over |—]Justice has been done !-—The traitors
ate punished |—If anyone isn’t satisfied we’ll do the same
to him I-—It’s too late !

I crossed the upper plateau, where I had met the
General in the morning, and arrived in the Rue des Rosiers

1 Route followed. Look it up—Nats by Clemencean.
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with Mayer and Sabourdy, having lost Garcin on the way.
As we arrived opposite No. 6 a detachment of National
Guards came out, in the midst of whom were several
officers of the line. It was no longer possible to doubt
the assassination of the Generals, since everyone was now
repeating the news with great enthusiasm.

The detachment of Guards having taken a route to the
left, T cut across their path and asked where they were
taking these officers.

M. Beugnot,! who states that I had a tticolour sash—
and it is quite possible—declares that I'was very pale. Ido
not doubt it, for I was under the pressute of extreme
emotion. As for him, he was livid and so changed that
seeing him later during the trial of the assassins of the
Generals, I could scarcely recognise him.

The officer who led the detachment, Lieutenant Meyer,?
told me that he was going to save the officess and that he
was leading them to the Vigilance Committee for safety.
I still hesitated a few seconds, because after the blow of
the frightful news I feared that they were trying to deceive
me and wanted to shoot the officers.

Captain Beugnot spoke a few words to me, of which
I understood nothing, either because I was too ovet-
whelmed to grasp their meaning or because he was not in
a condition to express himself clearly. I understood,
however, more from his attitude than anything else, that he
approved of what Lieutenant Meyer was doing. I there-
fore stepped out of the way and the detachment proceeded.?

Momentarily there was a sensation of emptiness in the
street.

I crossed the ground which the departing Guardsmen

1 Ajde-de-Camp to the Minister for War. He was amongst the prisoners. He
afterwards accused M., Clemencean of doing nothing to save the Generals.

2 Not to be confused with Captain Mayer.

# The indictment at the trial of the Generals® assassins states most categorically
that 1 did not go to the Rue des Rosiers.  What a pity that Captain Beugnot saw
me in it [—Note by Clesencean.
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had just occupied and went up to J., the same member of
the Central Committee who had that motning accused me
of having betrayed them. I exptessed to him my hotror
of the ctime which had just been committed. M. Saboutdy,
cutting me short, expressed himself to the same effect in
extremely strong language. J., who seemed on the verge
of collapse and was staggering in profound bewilderment,
simply repeated vaguely, ‘ It’s frightful | ®

Suddenly a terrific noise broke out, and the mob which
filled the courtyard of No. 6 burst into the street in the grip
of some kind of frenzy.

Amongst them were chasseuss, soldiets of the line,
National Guardsmen, women and children. All were
shrieking like wild beasts without realising what they were
doing. I observed then that pathological phenomenon
which might be called blood lust. A breath of madness
seemed to have passed over this mob : from a wall children
brandished indesctibable trophies; women, dishevelled
and emaciated, flung their arms about while uttering
raucous cties, having apparently taken leave of their senses.
I saw some of them weeping while they shricked louder
than others, Men were dancing about and jostling one
another in a kind of savage fury. It was one of those
extraordinary nervous outbursts, so frequent in the Middle
Ages, which still occur amongst masses of hutnan beings
under the stress of some primeval emotion.

Suddenly a piece of artillery drawn by four hotses drew
up in front of the house. The confusion increased, if that
were possible. Incongruously uniformed men on the
hotses wete shouting out oaths. 1 saw a woman leap on
one of the horses. She waved her hat, shouting, ‘ Down
with the traitors | * a cry which the mob took up ad infinitum.

For me the situation was becoming more and more
dangerous. This crazed mob was looking at me sus-
piciously while uttering the cry of ‘Down with the
traitors !’ Several fists wete raised.
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There was nothing more I could do in this place. I
had not been able to prevent the crime. It only remained
for me to assure myself of the fate of the prisoners whom
I had just seen taken away, and to prevent another mis-
chance happening to the prisoners at the Mairie, against
whom the hostility was vety great.

I therefore did not go into the house, having a profound
conviction that I should not come out of it alive. Thus
I did not see the corpses, as someone alleges, in his state-
ment, that I watched the National Guardsmen executing
a sott of danse macabre round the bodies.

I determined to proceed to the Chéteau-Rouge to assure
myself of the fate of the officers whom I had seen led away
a little while before and on whose account I was not
petfectly satisfied.

M. Saboutdy, to whom I communicated this ideca,
started to follow the road which the prisoners had taken.
I stopped him, and without giving any explanation told him
that we must go down again by the Buttes.

I have shown how hostile was the attitude of the
National Guardsmen towards me while I was climbing
the Buttes, Ihad neglected to answer their threats because
I still hoped to reach the Rue des Rosiers in time. Now,
thinking that it was necessary to have an explanation with
them, I decided that it would be better to do so there on
the spot and gain the credit for secking this explanation,
rather than expose myself at the Mairie to the risk of some
unfriendly demonstration which might well result in the
massacre of the prisoners.

I therefore turned and left the Buttes with M. Sabourdy.*

The hostile feelings which the National Guard enter-
tained towards me immediately became evident. I soon
became the object of very pointed threats. They accused
me of having plotted the removal of the guns; they

171 believe that we left Mayer in the Rue des Rosiers.  Ask Sabourdy.—Nose
by Clemencean.
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expressed their joy at the murder which had just taken
place; called out to me that there were others who had
catned the same fate, and repeated what had already been
said : that if I was not pleased about it they would do the
same thing to me. They accused me of having wished
to return the guns, which I was unable to deny. I only
extricated myself from this dangerous situation by com-
posure and coolness. Several men threatened me with
their weapons. [ retraced my steps and went directly up
to them, asking them to explain their grievances against
me. 1told them several times they had just disgraced the
Republic and that the murder on which they were con-
gratulating themselves so heartily would inevitably bring
the most disastrous consequences upon them as well as
the country. My vigorous attitude caused them to retreat.

Nevertheless, it was with extreme difficulty and by
patleying with them at every step that I reached the lower
level of the Buttes, whete one of the guns was placed.

At this spot there was a group who manifested par-
ticularly strong hostility towards me. Very luckily M.
Sabourdy was recognised by one of them, and as he served
as guarantor of my conduct it ended, not without difficulty,
in their allowing us to pass.

The rest of the descent was accomplished with com-
parative ease, although through the midst of 2 crowd of
National Guardsmen whose state of mind was unfriendly
towards me. If a single man had uttered to my face
certain definite accusations which were in the minds of all,
thousands of voices would have been raised against me,
and it is my profound conviction, as well as M. Saboutdy’s,
that I should have suffered the fate of the Generals.

The first words that M, {Sabourdy said to me as we
arrived at the foot of the Buttes was, ¢ Without your sang-
froid you would have been lost ! *
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The narrative continues. Clemenceau proceeds to the
Vigilance Committee in the Rue de la Chaussée-Clignan-
court and asks what has become of the officets whom he
met in the Rue des Rosiers. The answer is given that they
are at the Chéteau-Ronge and that the necessary steps will
be taken to have them released in the evening. Satisfied
on this point, Clemenceau regains the Mairic ; this day of
blood and madness ends without further imcident. It
must have left something of an impression on his life.
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CILICIA—ATTEMPTS TO SABOTAGE THE PEACE TREATY—
CLEMENCEAU TURNS PLAYWRIGHT

17th May, 1528,
GLEMENCEAU : Well, you know, I have looked at these
two Letter Books : and the more I think about it, the more
it annoys me to have to give them to Poincaré. For
thirty-six very good reasons, and especially because it
might look as if [ was wanting to resume friendly relations.
Between Poincaré and me everything is finished.

MYSELF : But on the other hand you can’t leave them
lying about. ‘There are no papers in the national archives
whose publication would entail more serious consequences
than these.

CLEMENCEAU : How about burning them then ?

MYSELF : Oh, what a pity! (Ts Pi#té) You haven’t
read them, have you ? As one turns over these pages the
entire war passes before one’s eyes: the Allies. . . . All
the difficulties it was necessary to overcome. . . . Cambon,

Bartére worn out and receiving two or three telegrams on
the same day: ‘Go and see Lloyd George . . . Balfour

...0Orlando . . . Sonnino . . . insist! Show them
that ., ., . Ask themif ...
CLEMENCEAU : Thete is one fellow in there. . . .1

wonder what became of him. 1 mean Otlando. He
wasn’t 2 bad sort. I think that he Lived near us some-
where in the Midi. A chap who was a great deal more
cunning was Sonnino. A Jew. . . .
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MYSELF : And a baron,
CLEMENCEAU : Jews afe quite often batons,

PIETRI: You oughtn’t to burn them. You haven’t
the right. Thave anidea. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Ah! Let’s hear your idea,

[Piétri sets st forth. Like our Piétri's
ideas it is full of good sense and reason.
Clemencean takes his side immediately,

CLEMENCEAU : Good! Tt’s decided. 1 should like
now to speak to you of another of my crimes. . . .

MYSELF : Still another ?

CLEMENCEAU : Yes—Mosul. I have been severely
attacked because of Mosul and the oil fields. Well, yes,
I gave up Mosul ; but what they forget is that I used it as
2 bait in order to get Cilicia, which several of our good
Allies very much wanted us not to have. Cilicia was,
it might again become, a very pleasant country, To-day
its soil is uncultivated : nothing is grown in it : wherever
the Arabs and the Turks have passed, they’ve brought the
desert with them. . . . But it must not be fotgotten that
when Cicero governed it, it was a country quite fantastically
wealthy. What prevented us from trestoring it to its
ancient glory? Unfortunately, in order to allow M.
Deschanel to mount the throne of France, I retired from
office, and the rest of the negotiations were conducted any
old how. . . . We gave up everything.! It had nothing
to do with me.

Wait a minute! I have 2 map of that country. Just
look ! (He shows me a little map of Asia Minor in which the
conniries snder French mandate are colowred violet and those
snder British mandate pink.)) Here is Palestine, with
Jerusalem, Nablus, and on the coast Jaffa and Acre.

1 The treaty of Angora, zoth Octobet, 1921,  Under this agreement the northern
frontier of the French Zone was put back to the south of the Bagdad railway.
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All that belongs to the English. There is Syria, with
Damascus, Aleppo and, as ports, Beirut, Tripoli, Latakia.
That is ours. Then here on one side is Mosul with its
oil fields, and on the other Cilicia, Adana. Herte is
Alexandretta and the Bagdad railway. Alexandretta is
an excellent port to which to bring the oil from Mosul to
the coast. We foresaw the construction of a pipe line for
the purpose. ‘The English were set on the idea of having
this pipe line end at Jaffa, but it would have cost them
something like a million and a half stetling to bring it
into Palestine, All this proves that Cilicia and Alex-
andretta were not such a bad thing. I therefore said to
the English, ¢ Which would you rather have, Mosul or
Cilicia?* They answered, ‘ Mosul’” 1 said, “ All right.
I’ll give it to you and I shall take Cilicta.” Can I be held
responsible if, later on, the Turks chased us out of Cilicia
and if M. Franklin-Bouillon, who was complaining that
the Treaty of Versailles had not given us sufficient advan-
tages, was called on to settle that matter? We have it,
haven’t we ?
MYSELF : Certainly,

CLEMENCEAU : As for the Peace Treaty, never lose
sight of the fact that there wete two things to consider :
what I got out of it, and what my successors got out of it.
When 1 left office, Alsace and Lorraine had been given back
to us ; French troops occupied the left bank of the Rhine
and the bridgeheads ; Poland and Bohemia had been put
on their feet; Roumania and Serbia enlarged; we had
reconquered Morocco, put our hand on the Cameroons
and so forth, After which came M. Millerand and others
—and the Treaty fell to bits. All there was still to do,
all the work to be partitioned out over the months and
years to come, was given up. I had not been out of
office a fortnight before they announced that they were
not going to extradite William II and all those people who
had burned, pillaged, and so forth, Germany should have
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been made to disarm. . . . At Spa and elsewhere she was
granted delay after delay; we removed all our com-
missions of control—and now the Boche army is built up
again, Boche factories are once more tutning out cannon,
machine guns—and everybody thinks that’s petfectly
all right.

Even better than that. The Treaty required Germany
to deliver us coal free. . . . At Spa we undertook to pay
Germany two billions for coal, and it was paid-—in the
consulship of M. Millerand. The Tteaty required Germany
to pay twenty billion gold marks before some date or other
in 1921. ., .. When the time for payment came, the
Boche owed us twelve billion. . . . So we said to them,
¢ Well, here is what you are going to do about those twelve
billion : you ate going to give us one of them right away,
and as for the other eleven we’ll just lump them in with
the rest of your debt and give you seventy years to pay
them.” And so forth, and so forth, Ten, twenty, thirty
imbecilities of that kind ! The Treaty has been practically
torn to pieces. Wherever the Treaty says a hundred
billions M. Millerand and his successors have said, ‘ No,
no, it is much too much! Give us ﬁfty billions, thirty
billions, and we’ll let you off the rest.” Everything that
I extracted from the Boches they give back to them.
Everything that could be said against the Treaty to weaken
it or even to wreck it was said. Millerand, as President
of the Council, asserted befote the Chamber, It is bigger
with promises than realities,” Briand also declared, It
is like Roland’s mare : she had no life left in her” What
next? What next ?

The moral of this story—that I was very wrong to be
eighty yeats old in 1920, If T had been twenty yeats
younger they would have thought twice before going on
in that way. (He #s silent. His bead is turned towards the
garden and be is considering that battle which evaded bim. Then)

Have you looked over my papers on the Commune ?
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MYSELF : I’ve begun,

CLEMENCEAU: A funny business that also, When
I think of my life. . . . I have always been surrounded by
a lot of people who would very much have liked to see me
dead and who wished for my destruction with a kind of
mystic delirium,

MYSELF : Amongst your papers I found a play in which
you express some less melancholy ideas. It is called The
Departare for Cythera* It is a manuscript which comes
from Compére’s Typing Bureau. T’ll let you have it.

CLEMENCEAU : Pouh! It is just a joke. I also have
this play: The Pretence of Happiness,2 and another one,
The Strongest, which I adapted from my novel. I had had
several conversations about The Strongest with Porel® in
order to get him to put it on. But Porel asked me to
shorten the third act. I tried, but I couldn’t do it. I
found that everything I had put in it was necessaty. Then
I gaveitup. That’s all I've done in the way of playwriting.

MYSELF (faking some papers out of the portfolic) : Yester-

Y L départ pour Cyibérs, a comedy in one act.

Cast : Mme. la Marquise d’Etlon, 30.
M. le Comte de Sombreuse, 4o.
Mme, de Boisvert, 5o,
Mlle Dorothée de Boisvert, 22,
Mlle Isabelle de Courvoisier, 6o.
M. le Docteur Ferrand, 70.
Mme, Lelong, a companion, §o.
Roussean, an old gardener.

The scene is laid at the Chiteau d’Etloo about 1910,

It is a sentimental bit of work which takes place in high society and abstrac-
tions. The theme is whether martiage does or does not kill love, * What ! * says
the Marquise d’Erlon, * shall these hypocritical conventions atrogate to themselves
the right to rule our every act, our every word, to the uttermost limit of hypocrisy,
whilst that wondrous bloom, that veiled messenger of the supreme emotion, comes
to the portals of a new life, and even the most delicate soul retiring within itself
will see itself hurled to the coarse gossips of the streets ? *

Personally I prefer the Salernes speech.

% Le Voile du Bonbewr was staged at the ® Renaissance * by Andrée Mégard and
Gémicr. The music was supplied by Gabriel Fauré, The piece was withdtawn
after a few performances,

3 Director of one of the ptincipal theatres of Paris,
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day I was re-reading this old letter of M. Viollette’s. It
bears the date of your first ministry, 1908, and concerns
the dissolution of the C.G.T. (Confédération Générale du
Travail).

CLEMENCEAU: Ohl What did he write? Was he
scolding me ?

MYSELF: Noj hewrites:  You have gained my vote !’

CLEMENCEAU : That’s nice ! (Indicating other documents
which I bave just spread out) And what are those ?

MYSELF : It is the correspondence between Poincaré
and yourself. What a tone you adopt towards him !

CLEMENCEAU : Yes, I suppose so. I had had a visit
from a certain Maurice Bernard, who said to me: ‘If you
have Poincaré elected President of the Republic he will at
once have you made President of the Council.” I got up
and showed Bernard the door. And I wrote to Poincaré :
¢ After the steps that you have dared to take with regard to
myself it gives me great satisfaction to tell you that I no
longer have the pleasure of your acquaintance.” !

prETRI: Gractous!| When was that ?
CLEMENCEAU : 1913,
PIETRI: Already !

1 On the 8th December, 1917, in the esplanade of Metz, when they wete present-
ing Marshal Pétain with his baton, M. Poincaré and M. Clemenceau went up to
cach other and embraced. But these cordialitics were not rencwed.
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‘I sHouLp cHOOSE HmM AGAIN’
18th May, 1928.

I arrive at the Rue Franklin. Piétri is zlready there.

CLEMENCEAU (seeing me coming in) : Well P

MYSELF: | notice in these pages which you’ve given
me to arrange a number of documents concerning the
attitude of the Allies with regard to Foch. These docu-
ments ate not signed ; I wonder therefore what to make of
them. Is it true that the Allies had protested against the
attitude of Foch, who never stopped criticising the Tteaty
of Peace? And that it was at your insistence that he was
able to remain at the head of the armies ?

CLEMENCEAU : It’s very simple. Foch only did what
suited him. 1 had asked him one day to forwatd a letter
to the general commanding the Army of Occupation in
Germany.  He returned it to me, and I was obliged to
send it directly. So what do you expect? The Allies
used to say ¢ How can we get on with a man who doesa’t
cven listen to you 2’

[Albert enters and announces Dr. Lanbry.

In my bedroom. (Albert goes o#t) Have you found
amongst the papers I've entrusted to you a rather long
memorandum I wrote on my relations with Foch and what
I thought of him ?

MYSELF: Yes. I'm just reading it. I'll return it to
you shortly,

CLEMENCEAU: No, keepit; it'sforyou. Youmay have
need of it.  Are the conversations which Foch had with my
brother Albert at Cassel discussed in that memorandum?
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MYSELF ; I believe so.
CLEMENCEAU : Then that’s it.

MYSELF : I'd like to put 2 question to you. It’s about
the defeatist propaganda during your ministry.

CLEMENCEAU : Go ahead.

MYSELF : You attacked M. Malvy with the help of the
document which I observe over thete on your table, and
which is a long report issued by the Secret Setvice, review-
ing in detail all the incidents of unpatriotic and revolutionary
propaganda in the factories and amongst the labour
organisations. Thanks to these pages—which read in a
most sinister way—I1 don’t know if you stll remember
them? . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Yes; they’re appalling.
MYSELF: . . . You turned out M. Malvy. You came

into power. You cut short the career of Messrs. Malvy
and Caillaux. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : And of scveral others as well, Martet.
In more explicit terms : Bolo, Lenoir, and the rest.?

MYSELF: Yes. DBut there still remain a substantial
number of people who will probably continue to hold the
opinions which you have accused M. Malvy of having
allowed them to hold. 'We have this paper on the defeatist
propaganda in M. Malvy’s time. But are you sure that
there is not another paper like it on the defeatist propa-
ganda in M. Clemenceau’s time ?

CLEMENCEAU : Well, it would surprise me. For
defeatist propaganda in my time could not have been very
powetful. Those fellows make a great deal of noise when
they’te permitted to, but if you tell them “ That’s enough!”
they keep quiet,

The revolutionary of that model is generally a failure
who hasn’t been able to succeed in anything within the
ordinary framework of Society by the normal and legal

1 Pxecuted for treason,
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means which it has established, so he tells himself that by
dragging Society into the mud, he will be able to profit
from the resulting mess. He is quite a pretentious being,
with a very high idea of himself, who, on beginning life,
expected to reach the top immediately, at one stroke,
thanks to his abilities, his eloquence and various other
things of that kind. He perceived presently that, as far
as the top is concerned, he is no more than the tram con-
ductor or the strect-sweeper. He concludes from this
that there is no justice, of, if there is, it doesn’t favour him
—like cverything else. They’re fools, but fools who
haven’t much more courage than the bourgeois—and,
good God! that’s little enough.

It’s ideas that give a man courage, and your revolu-
tionaries are as gifted with ideas as my boot. They have
spite, bitterness—but that doesn’t get one very far, Isaw
them during the war; I have talked with them and tried
to find something in them; it was pathetic. I’ve never
had the least trouble with any of those specimens, When
M. Malvy said to the Senate, * Don’t meddle with those
fellows! There will be a Revolution,” he was pulling our
legs. I didn’t even have to engage in a struggle with
them. They melted away like pale shadows.

I’ve had far less trouble with the anarchists than with
Poincaré and Foch. (Silence. Suddenly, and half-solemnly)
Speaking of Foch—well, you see, Martet, how Foch
conducted himself towards me, all the shabby little tricks
he played on me, how warily I was forced to proceed with
him-—yet despite all that he was the man we needed.
With Pétain, a loyal and trustworthy man who behaved
himself in exemplary fashion, the war would have lasted
another year,

Who else was there? Mangin? You could expect
anything from Mangin. He was capable of the best and
the worst. Fayolle? Maistre ? Castelnau ? Guillaumat ?
I see no one but Foch.
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During the final German offensive I was afraid ; I was
doubtful of him, Iused to make it 2 rule not to meddle in
military operations, but in cettain cases I say to hell with
rules—the country before everything. I therefore went
to see Pétain, I asked him, ¢ Well, what is your con-
clusion about Foch?’ And Pétain answered, “ I've seen
his plans—there’s nothing mote to say.” So I let him go
on. The Chamber demanded his head ; I defended him.
Moreovet, I spent two years defending him against evety-
body. And it was all the more to my credit that at that
time I had already perceived his opinion of tne, had already
realised that I didn’t like him, that I didn’t like people of
his kind, in whose souls ability and courage live side by
side with—less attractive traits. I defended him because
at bottom it was not a question in that situation of him or
of me, but of the country.

Foch, who knew how far he could depend on himself,
had this to his credit, that he leancd on Weygand. And
he had fire! He had the fire of all the devils in hell. I
admited him very deeply at Doullens. He went back and
forth at the Front, saying, ‘ You scold and dabble, but you
don’t fight! I shall fight before Amiens, in Amiens,
behind Amiens.” That’s the way to talk ! Whilst another
of our great commanders—we were walking in the court-
yard, this great commander and I—pointed out Haig, who
was also going back and forth, and said, * That man will
have to capitulate in open country in a fortnight, and we’ll
be lucky if we don’t have to do the same ! *

I repeat: if it had to be done again, even knowing
what I had to expect from Foch, I should choose him again.
I don’t regret anything,

1 Tt is quite clear in the original text that Clemenceau’s wrath was aronsed by
the anonymous generals’ weak-kneed talk of capitulation by the English and the
French, and that no reflection is intended on the late Lord Haig. On the contrary,
he clearly says that Haig  wes also going back and forth,’ as was Foch, and his
contempt is fescrved for the ‘ other of our great commanders * whe whimpered
while those two indomitable soldiers acted.—Transiator’s note.
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Focr’s THANKS

On the 26th Match, 1918, at Doullens, the English and
French Governments came to an agreement to entrust
General Foch with the task of ¢ Co-ordinating the activi-
ties of the English and French Armies on the Western
Front.’ !

The battle before Amiens was ended. The front
recoveted a certain measure of quiet, occasionally broken
by violent cannonading, There were several weeks of
waiting, then suddenly the thrust at Chatean-Thierry.

During the night of May 26~27 the Germans launched
a very violent bombardment zlong the entire sector
between the Forest of Pinon and Rheims. On the morn-
ing of the z7th the attack was begun. *The Franco-
British troops,” said the communiqué given out at 2 o’clock,
‘ arc resisting the German onslaught with their customary
bravery ; the battle is still raging.’

There’s nothing to fear. Foch is on the job.

The communiqué issued at 11 o’clock that night
observes, ‘ The struggle continued all day with extreme

1 Many pieces of fiction have been written about the Doullens Conference.
Tt has been said that Clemenceau was forced by the Allics to accede to the institution
of the single command ; this is based on a slight misconception, pethaps, of our
Allies’ mentalities. As a matter of fact Clemenceau had been preparing for this
measure since he ook office.

It has been said that Clemencean would have preferred Foch's supreme authority
to be limited to the operations before Amiens—this because Clemencean wished
to placate English susceptibilities,

It has been said that Clemenceau would have liked the command of the Allied

armics himself. Clemenceau’s comment on this was, ‘I'd even had a2 uwniform
made already, with the most gorgeous cap | *
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violence along the front of mote than 4o kilometres, from
the Vauxaillon region to the outskirts of Brimont. . . .
Several detachments of the enemy have reached the valley
of the Aisne, in the vicinity of Pont-Arcy . . .’ followed
later by these words :  The Franco-British troops are falling
back in good otder, . . .’

Take up your maps once more—those maps with which
you used to mark the breach in the English front two
months earlier and which you perused so often with your
cyes starting from their sockets. Observe the front
before the attack : Noyons-Rheims ; between these points
Pinon. Cutting this southeast-northwest line from east
to west is the course of the Aisne, and ten kilometres
farther south the Marne, On the Marne and 35 kilo-
metres from Meaux is Chateau-Thierry.

Chateau-Thietry is 80 kilometres from Paris. Note
the road which the Boches are going to take.

28th May, 2 o’clock communiqué: ‘The Germans
have crossed the Aisne between Vailly and Berry-au-Bac.
‘The Franco-British troops, in the face of an enemy greatly
superior in numbers, continued to withdraw in good order.’

The communiqué of 11 o’clock that night: °The
battle is developing with undiminished violence along the
line of the Vesle, which the Germans succeeded in crossing
this morning. . . .

z9th May, 2 o’clock : ¢ The German thrust has grown
in intensity . . . our troops ate slowly retreating to the
south and north-east of the heights above Saint-Thierry.
They are holding between the Vesle and the Aisne canal.’

11 p.M.: ‘ Soissons has been evacuated . . . we have
given ground to the north of Fére-en-Tardenois.”

soth May: ‘The Germans have gained possession of
Fére-en-Tardenois and Vézlly, . .

31st May: ‘German detachments have reached the
north bank of the Marne. . .

In five days they have crossed the Aisne and the Vesle,
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gained eighty-five kilometres—now they’ve got a foothold
on the Marne. And the thought occurs: But Foch!
Where is Foch? What’s he doing? What good is the
elaborate paraphernalia of the unified command ?’

On the 1st June the enemy pushes his advance-guard
to the outskirts of Chateau-Thietry. To the north-west
of Chateau-Thietry he seizes Neuilly-Saint-Front. This
attack has taken the form of a symbol—it is the sword
which every day is thrust deeper into France’s flesh, in
the direction of the heart, Paris, And the 11 P.M. cOm-
muniqué of the same 1st June says, ‘ The enemy forces
are still numerically superior. . . .’

In Paris there is tremendous commotion. 'The railway
stations are overflowing with people who feel a sudden
interest in the sunny slopes of the Mediterranean. The
Chamber is dejected, panicky. Again, as two months
earlier, I see hastening to the Ministry those men and
women who ‘ want to know,” who feel * that something is
being concealed from them,” who ‘heard the sound of
gunfire’ the previous night,

‘What about it now? Foch has been taken by
surprise, you see,’

* No—not really—you must give him time. . . .

‘Time? But look at the map. They’re within twenty
leagues of Paris.”

On the 4th there is a session of the Chamber. What
will be the subject of interpellation? Foch. Popular
assernblies always clamour for heads. It’s so simple!
Foch was 2 splendid idea which turned out to be deceptive.
They expected victory from him: the Boches are at Chateau-
Thierry, ‘There is nothing in this battle—supported by
us from beginning to end—to prove that Foch is a genius.
He has hurled men in to fill the gaps as well as he could—
but that’s been done these four yeats.

One deputy shouted, ¢ Give us the sign for which we
are waiting.” Then Clemenceau ascended the rosttum.



Marshal Foch
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‘ Nothing has developed since the brief but conclusive
inquiry which I conducted to justify any steps being taken
against anyone whatever. If it is necessary, in order to
obtain the approval of certain people prone to hasty
judgments, to abandon the leaders who have deserved well
of theit country, that’s an act of cowardice of which I am
incapable; don’t expect me to commit it—our splendid
soldiers have splendid leaders, great leaders, leaders worthy
of them in every respect.’

The interruptions cease.

Clemenceau goes on: ‘I repeat, I shall repeat as often
as necessary because it’s my duty to do so, that these fine
soldiers have fine leaders—those two great soldiers called
Foch and Pétain. General Foch enjoys the unanimous
confidence of the Allies. . . .” And the picture, the striking
human picture which gives so great persuasive strength to
his speech : “ Are we, because of a mistake which may oz
may not have occurred, going to require explanations from
a man whose head I've seen fall exhausted with fatigue on
a table piled high with maps? That I cannot permit.
Expel me from the rostrum if that’s what you're asking.’

Loud applause breaks out. Foch is saved.

Four months later an occasion presented itself to Foch
for thanking Clemenceau. On the sth of October Mr.
Lloyd George sent Foch his * sincere congratulations ” on
his birthday.

Marshal Foch rteplied : I am deeply touched, ete. I bave
not forgotten that it is fo your firmness that I owe the position
which I occupy to-day.’ '
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CLauDE MoONET
25th May, 1928,

Yesterday Piétri telephoned me: * Cogné? is in Paris,
We ate going to see his bust of the President.’

I arrive at the Rue Franklin and find Clemenceau with
Piétri.

CLEMENCEAU : So it seems that we are going to visit
a sculptor called Cogné.

MYSELF ; Good. Let’s go.

CLEMENCEAU : [’ve something to tell you, Martet, I
wanted to give you some of Poincaré’s letters which it may
interest you to examine later, but I can’t get at them
straight away ; they’re in the country,

MYSELF: Far from here ?
CLEMENCEAU : Quite 2 long way.

MYSELF: Have you confidence in the person who’s
taking care of them ?

CLEMENCEAU : Full confidence.

MYSELF : Then it doesn’t matter. They’re as well there
as elsewhere. 1 shall see them later. All I ask—just in
case of something unforeseen occurring—is that you tell
this person not to refuse to hand these letters to me.

1 Cogné is the sculptor of celebrities. From the Pope to M. Plerre Laval—
taking in Messrs. Caillaux, Barthou and athers on the way—he bustified the lot of
them (%er @ sonr bustifids),

I met him through Bernier and had already been to his studic in the Rue de
Villersexel ta see the bust which he had made of Clemenceau withost even baving seen
the original,
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CLEMENCEAU : Granted, (Indicating Piéiriy Furthes-
more, here is 2 man who can act as your witness,

MYSELF ;: Good.

CLEMENCEAU : So that’s fixed up. (Seeing we take some
papers from my portfolic) What’s that ?

MYSELF : Papers which it’s better I shouldn’t keep at
my house and which I'm returning to you.

CLEMENCEAU : Put them there. I also have some
papers to hand over to you—we’ve been cxchanging
papers in this way for some time—it gives us a somewhat
idiotic appearance. (He bands me a pile of papers) Lock
these over.

MYSELF (reading): A typed memorandum on your
encounters with Foch. I notice that a wotd is corrected
in ink, and T think T recognise Mordacq’s writing in this
correction,

cLEMENCEAU : Good. Go on,
MYSELF : Some documents about General Leblois.

CLEMENCEAU : Oh,yes. He wasagoodfellow. What
does he want ?

MYSELF: He sends you a confidential memorandum
concerning the request which he made for the reasons
which led to the decision telicving him of the command
of the Second Colonial Division, which he had held since
the beginning of the war.

CLEMENCEAU : Well, what did he want me to do about
it?

MYSELF : On the 11th January General Langle de Cary
had sent him the cross of the Legion of Honour; on the
22nd Joffte relieved him of his command. He doesn’t
understand what it’s all about.

CLEMENCEAU : Well, neither do I. Nor do I care.
Meantime I’d like a word with you about another matter.
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Piétri has told me of the opinion you expressed about the
book I'm writing. . . .
MYSELF : Which book ?

CLEMENCEAU : I’'m only writing one. I've only one
tight hand.

mysELF: The volume on Monet. I've no opinion
about it ; I haven’t read it.

CLEMENCEAU : Quite so. Nevertheless it appears that
you think a book by me on Monet rather a slight affair,
and that after having written Ax Soir de Ja Pensée 1 oughtn’t
to talk about painting.

MYSELF : 1 find it a little off the mark. I shouldn’t like
people to think that your silence is metely a scteen for
trivial occupations.

CLEMENCEAU : Well, that’s just the reason, you see—
I’'m writing this book precisely because it’s different from
Aw Soir de la Pensée. 1t 1 wrote in the same vein, I should
repeat myself. What do you want me to talk about ? My
little job on the Debts is finished: I’ve nothing more to
do but revise it and strike out certain passages. The frame
is too large, it would make a book—which I don’t want.
I shall publish it, however, after the elections. With
Monet I’'m doing something else—something which follows
naturally, nevertheless, on Au Soir de Ja Pensée.  T'm taking
up a question of which I’ve never yet spoken but of which
I ought to speak—the world’s emotional impulse as
expressed in religion or art. Well, I shall take art. I'm
setting aside 2 page to link it up with what went before.

Amongst all the men I've known Monet is probably the
one who gave me the clearest insight into certain things.
This describes him, doesn’t it ? He stands before a light,
he takes that light, breaks it into its component parts,
puts it together again. From the point of view of science
there is nothing more interesting. Once I said to him,
‘ Monet, the rest of us fools, secing a field or a sky, think
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“ This is a field and that’s a sky »” ; but for you that’s not so.
Those words “ field,” “sky ” have no meaning for you.
And that must be 2 kind of infatuation, an obsession with
you, for wherever your glance happens to fall you must
wonder not “ What is that ?” nor even “ What colour is
that 2 but “ Of what ate those spots composed ?” 1
should think your wits would be turned by that sort of
thing” He answered, ‘ You haven’t any idea how true
that is. One day I was at the deathbed of 2 woman I had
dearly loved, whom I still love deatly. I looked at her
temples and said to myself, “ There is a kind of violet
there—what is there in it of blue ? of ted ? of yellow ?**’

So you see how Monet lived. 1 shall tell a few other
stories to illustrate how proud and courageous he was.
This one, for instance: at the time Monet was selling his
canvases for twenty-five francs. One day, at Vétheuil,
he had painted the sunrise with the sun beginning to
illuminate the mist. He took it to a picture-dealer, who
looked at the canvas and said, € What I buy, you under-
stand, is painting. I don’t know how you made up your
reckoning for that ; it’s only canvas ; thercarea great many
portions of it which aren’t even covered. Put some paint
on it, and I’ll buy it for fifty francs without haggling.’
Monet said nothing—there was nothing to say. Five ot
six years passed. One motning the picturc-dealer came to
see Monet and noticed the Vétheuil canvas on an easel ;
he said to Monet, ¢ That’s very mce, that job over there.
Pl give you six hundred francs for it.

‘But don’t you remember ?’ said Monet, ‘ You refused
it once because there wasn’t enough colour in it. Well,
to-day yow’ll have to get it through your head that if you
offered me fifty thousand, I’d rather destroy it than give
it to you.”

He was a fellow with a knack, never satisfied with his
work, yet appreciating its wosth—he found the means to
reconcile both those charactetistics. I've known him in



206 CLEMENCEAU

bad times as well as good. I owe it to him to write this
book, don’t you think ?

MYSELF : Well, certainly, sir, but . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Begin with the principle that there are
always ‘buts’ in everything. The entire question is
knowing whether there are more ‘buts’ in favour of
doing a thing than there are against it. Do you want to be
agreeable ?  Tell me that there are at least as many buts
for writing Monet as against . . . poor Monet |’

MYSELF : He must have passed the last days of his life
in despair. . . .

[{ mean bis genins grew exasperated : the
more be became master of bis art the
weore be reached for distant and inaccessible
goals.  Clemencean believes that I mean
the cataract which Monet developed.

CLEMENCEAU : Not at all. Despite his cataract (he
was in a terrific funk of physical pain; he had undergone
a small preliminary operation, but the extensive interrup-
tion which the second one would have entailed—I did all
I could to make him have it—he was afraid of it)—despite
his cataract he could see well enough to paint and even to
improve his canvases. Do you remember his water-lily
studies ? I had prevailed upon him to give them to the
State. He had said to me, ‘Yes, I'll give them.” But
later he added, * I'll give them, of course, but I don’t want
them removed now. They can be taken away after my
death.” I wasn’ at all reassured; I was afraid that he
might mess them up. I had seen at his house canvases
of clouds which he had obviously spoiled, overloaded.
And 1 said to him, ‘1 don’t feel very easy. . . .> But he
didn’t answer, Later I went to Giverney. He led me
into his studio and showed me the canvases. ‘ How do
they strikeyou?’ A hundred times better—all illuminated,
ctherealized.
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One of his things which I think exceptionally fine is his
portrait of himself which I gave to the Louvre. Do you
know it? It’s his masterpiece. You know, it was his
habit to establish himself on the bank of his little stream,
to remain seated there for hours, looking at the water and
the reflections of the clouds in it, the flowers—he used to
return to his studio after that and cover one of his large
canvases in an hour. Well, that portrait, it’s he on the
day he decided to begin on his great water-lily frieze,
His eyes are half-shut, he is looking at his canvases, at all
that will happen both of joy and sotrow. It was a custom
of his to destroy his pictuses, to tear them to ribbons by
stamping on them or slashing them with a knife. I was
able to save that one. It was a bit of luck.

What I want to tell is the story of that conflict—a con-
flict which ended both in victory and defeat, a victory
because he left behind a vast body of work, including many
splendid things, a defeat because in that domain there is no
such thing as success. And, between us, I shan’t mind
giving alesson to the art critics, whose number is ludicrous.
Further, if I don’t take this subject, what subject shall
Itake? Politics?

MYSELF : You are quite right. Although, to tell the
truth, it’s not subjects that are lacking. Have you read
about the triumph—as the newspapers call it—of the left
in Germany, and, at the same time, the explosion of the
yellow-gas magazine in Hamburg ?

CLEMENCEAU: Yes; that means that henceforward
we can sleep in peace. It appears that the League of
Nations is going to take up this ‘incident.” So every-
thing will be all right. There is nothing to wait for now
but the sanctions. Martet, what a strange country oufs
is] To come back to Monet, when my book is finished
I'll show it you, and you will tell me what you think
of it. I shall follow your advice. Let’s go to Cogné’s.

[We go ont and get into the car.
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CLEMENCEAU AT HIS SCULPTOR’S

[In the Citroen, a [ittle coupé whose interior
is lined with pearl grey. Brabant is at
the wheel and handles the little darling
a bit violently.

MYSELF : What a lovely new car you have | Is it your
old Citroen done up ?

cLEMENCEAU : I’ll tell you what happened. I went to
see Citroen. I gave him my old car and said, ‘I need a
new one.” He answered ¢ Good, but a man who has done
what you have for the country isn’t in the same category
as an ordinary customer; I can’t let you pay a penny.’
I looked at him. I wondered if he was pulling my leg.
For some years I’ve not been accustomed to hearing that
sott of thing. I returned, ‘ All right. ‘That seems a pretty
good proposition to me. I accept your gift. But here’s
ten thousand francs which you will be so kind as to dis-
tribute amongst your workmen from me.’

PIETRI: You're forgetting that you handed over your
old car. Moreover, Citroen wouldn’t sell it again. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : No. He’s keeping it as a souvenir,
He’s a Jew, but a good Jew. Thete ate some good Jews.

MYSELF : They didn’t all crucify Jesus Christ.

CLEMENCEAU : Oh, evetybody mote or less crucified
Jesus Christ. They still crucify Him every day. . . .

MYSELF (excamining the accessories) : And I sec that there’s
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a pretty little contraption for necessary articles like a
powder-box, lip-stick. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Yes, indeed; 1 even said to Citroen,
‘It’s a pity that you can’t throw into the bargain a little
girl who might find these things useful.’

PIETRI: That bargain reminds me 2 little of the one you
once made at Djipur. . .

CLEMENCEAU: Oh, yes. Omne day in a little village
called Djipur, in the East Indies, I noticed at a dealet’s
a little statuette which represented a2 God and Goddess in
the act of making love, saving your presence. I said to
the dealer, ‘I like your statuette. How muchisit?’ He
answered, * Because it’s you, seventy-five rupees.” I said,
¢ Because it’s me, I offer you forty-five for it.” He raised
his hands to heaven. ‘Forty-fiverupees! You’re making
fun of me. What if anyone happened to hear of it?
People would say . .. and so forth. I said, ‘Forty-
five rupees.” Then he made 2 fine gesture of indignation.
‘ Impossible. I’d rather give it to you) °Agreed!’
I reached out my hand, took the statuette, stuffed it into
my pocket, and said, ‘ You are extraordinarily kind, and
I thank you. But it is quite evident that this gift can only
come from a friend to a friend.” *‘Yes, of course’
¢ Consequently, you won’t take it amiss if I in turn make
you a gift.” ©Naturally not” “Well, here are forty-five
rupees to use in good wortks.” He took the forty-five
rupees and we parted enchanted with each other.

[We arrive in the sad, grey little street
called the Rue de Villersexel. Cogné’s
studio is number 9. We cross the
conrtyard, Cogné’s assistant opens the
door for ur.  Cogné comes forward, bows,
 Mr. President] He is a small man,
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guite rouwnd and correct in every detail,
rosette (of the Legion of Honour), eye-
Zlasses, et

COGNE: I am greatly honoured by this visit, Mr.
President.

CLEMENCEAU : Let’s have a look at my bust.

[We go into the studio, which is full of
busts. Here are Caillaux, Laval,
Barthon, as well as Maurice Rostand
and the Pope.

The bust of Clemencean is set up in the
centre of the studio, on a high pedestal.
Clemenceau goes siraight o it, Jooks at
it, Studies it with knitted brows, walks
round it, shakes bis bead—all without
a word. Cogné waits. Piétri and I
alse wait, This lasts a long time,
perbaps a minute—and I am beginning
to wish I were elsewbere.

CLEMENCEAU (finally): Yes. (Another silence; more
beadshakings.) Yes. (Samebusiness) Yes, (Same business
agaiti—and again.) ‘There’s something there.

coGNE : Oh, Mt. President, now that I see you, I
realise that it’s imperfect. What a pity that I hadn’t seen
you before |

CLEMENCEAU : Yes.

COGNE: Your eyes, for instance. I see that they are
less deep set, mote on 2 level with your face. But I did
that from photogtaphs ; the shadows misled me.

CLEMENCEAU : And there’s also the distance between
the cheek-bones—do you see P—it’s not exactly like that—
there’s something of the Kalmuck in me. . . .
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CoGNE: Thete is something of the Kalmuck beyond
a doubt, Mr. President. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : And there too—the jaw is more . . .
COGNE : And the ears—the ears are a little less. . . .
CLEMENCEAU : Exactly. ‘The eats ate much less.

COGNE: Oh, Mr. President, I sce you now! That’s
it, Now I see you. If I dared, Mr. President, I should
ask you please to . . .

CLEMENCEAU : What ?
coGNE : I shouldn’t abuse the privilege.
CLEMENCEAU : Go on.
coGNE : If you would allow me to take a few photo-
graphs ?
CLEMENCEAU : All right. Take away.
[He sits down on a char.
Infive seconds Cogrié bhas arvanged a lamp
S0 that it ponrs its light on Clemencean’s
Jace and is flourishing a photographic
bulb, ready to press it, whia Clemencean,
who had kept his hat on, decides to take

it off.
cogNE: Oh, thank you, Mr. President! I didn’t
dare ask you. . . .

[And click ! Click! And click once
more. Clemencean is taken full-face,
right profile, Jeft profile.  Cogné comes,
goes, presses, clicks, When the cere-
mony is ended :

cocNE: Thete you ate, Mr. Ptesident. I've finished.

CLEMENCEAU ¢ Is that all there is to it? I haven’t
suffered too much.
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cogNE: And if T might dare ask one thing more,
Mt. President—it will be the last—I'll leave you in peace

after that. I should like to ask, Mr. President, if you’d
allow me to take some measurements. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Take away. . . .

{Cogné provides bimself with an enormous
pair of compasses and measures the
Sfamous € spread’ between the cheekbones,
the € spread’ between the ears, the beight
of the nose, ekc.

CLEMENCEAU (indicating the space befween nose and chin) :

And this,
COGNE: You're quite right. We mustn’t forget that !
[He takes this final measurement, then

bows and opens bis arms wide to indicate
it’s all over.

CLEMENCEAU : Splendid.

coGNE : With these, Mr. President, I shall make a bust
for you which shall have absolute trath—a perfect likeness.
I think that I’ve caught hold of you now, Mr. President.

CLEMENCEAU : I don’t doubt it.
COGNE : Do you know Laval, Mr. President ?
CLEMENCEAU : Laval?

COGNE: Yes, the deputy . .. the Senator . . . the
one who was a cabinet minister . . . hete’s his bust.

CLEMENCEAU (Jooking at the bust). Yes, of course. It
certainly is Laval. (Pornting at the bust of the Pope) And
who's that ?

COGNE : It’s the Holy Father, Mr. President.
CLEMENCEAU : The present one ?
CoGNE: The present one-——and M. Barthou, Mr.
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President (indicating the bust of Barthou : beard, eye-glass,
smile). Do you recognise him ?

CLEMENCEAU: 1 do. (He returns the bast's smile.)
Barthou |  (He points at a clay model of a Marshal of France
on borseback bolding the Marsbal's baton impressively across bis
thigh.) Why don’t you make me look like that ?

[And we leave.  Cogné telsphones me during
the afternoon.

coGNE : What impression did the President form ?

MyseLF: He was charmed, quite enchanted. But
he’s a man you must get to know—he’s not very demon-
strative. However, with the photographs you took this
morning . . .

CoGNE : I've nothing but bad luck ; my camera wasn’t
working.



XXX

ACROSS THE AGES AND THE ARTS

st June, 1928,

Albert shows e into the study. 1 wait for some time,
pethaps ten minutes, amusing myself as best I can. Iscan
the books on the shelves—works on sociology, geography,
philosophy.

There are photographs on the table, of pictures by
Monet—Véthenil, the Women with the Parasol, etc.
Finally Clemenceau entets.

CLEMENCEAU : Ah, Monsieur Martet. Forgive me for
having kept you waiting. I was engaged in making up
my accounts with my valet. Do you realise something
terrible is happening—the price of everything 1s double ?

MYSELF : | know. I know what I’m paying in rent.

CLEMENCEAU : Butlisten! What’sonetodo? There’s
no longer any way to . . .

MYSELF : I think the best thing is to get one’s share of it.

CLEMENCEAU : That’s all very well. Nevertheless we
must pay. And pay and pay. There are limits. Isn’t
anything being done to meet the situation? I thought
that commissions had been appointed to fight the high
cost of living. Aren’t you and everybody else tired of
being throttled ?

MYSELF : But what would you suggest doing about it ?

CLEMENCEAU : Take a dozen individuals and hang them,

MYSELF : Yes, if that would lower the price of cauli-
flowers. . . .
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CLEMENCEAU: Not a doubt of it. In twenty-four
hours. But instead of doing that, people—] know what
they do; they see that the cost of living is double, so they
double their incomes. By stealing. They turn into
thieves.

MYSELF : I haven’t even that resource, . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Then you’re beyond forgiveness. In
my time nothing more was necessary than to go out into
the streets. (He sits down) Sit down, Martet. (I st
down and look at him. He looks at me.) T’m bored.

MySELF: Ohl Why?

CLEMENCFAU : I’'m coughing. For two days I've been
coughing like a horse. I'm tired. I’ve had enough of
it. All this going back and forth—I've seen them doing
it for eighty years. It isn’t right. Poincaré—is there
anything that looks more like Poincaté than Poincaré ?
(He yawns. After an interval) By the way, you must give
me back the memorandum I wrote on my relations with
Foch. I mustlook it over. I wrote it quickly, and there
are probably some things to change.

MYSELF : I'll bring it back to you. I haven’t read it
yet. I’m sorting out your papers on the Commune.

CLEMENCEAU ; Are you finding anything in them ?

MYSELF : Some very interesting things.

CLEMENCEAU: Whatmadness! Itis one of the maddest
madnesses in all history. No one even knew what the
Commune was about. Those people killed, burned, got
themselves killed, at times magnificently, but they nevet
knew why! Did you go away for Whitsun ?

MYSELF; Yes, I went as far as the mouth of the Loire.

I discovered a country called la Briére, which is heavenly,
Marshes extending as far as you can see, with frogs.

CLEMENCEAU: Don’t know it. I went to Giverney
the other day.
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MYSELF: Are you working on your book on Monet ?

CLEMENCEAU : I'm doing odd bits. You know, about
Monet—I think that I can say quite 2 good deal about him.
For forty years I had him at the other end of 2 wire. Monet
took life as a strugple. I remember seeing him one day
in his poppy field, with four canvases set up in front of
him. He was going from one to the other, according to
the position of the sun. Well, that’s it, isn’t it? What’s
fine in Monet is that seriousness, that intensity. Thete
ate two self-portraits of Monet—the one I gave to the
Louvre and the one that was at Giverney. In the lattex
he shows his quality—a look that pierces you; there’s
something cruel, savage about it. He is looking at his
ricks. That was Monet; he threw himself into every-
thing like 2 man possessed.

I don’t like everything Monet did. Some of his things
are mediocre—his Cathedrals of Rouen. They’re anything
you like but stone.?

MYSELF : He didn’t want to reconstruct them architec-
tarally. He only tried to reproduce the play of light and
shade.

CLEMENCEAU: Nevertheless they’re bad. His im-
ptessions of Venice are bad. The light is depressing,
I’ve seen Venice and I know what she is. I know that sun
and that watet—his are silly. But you still have his hay-
fields—which are prodigious. And his water-lilies. One
should remove one’s hat before those water-lilies.

MYSELF : Don’t you find it odd that he was limited in
that way and never tried to pierce through to.the soul ?
CLEMENCEAU : To the what ?

MYSELF: The soul. He never attempted to pottray
human expressions. . . .
1 There was a time, however, when Clemencean loved Monet's Cathedmals,

I see rising,” he says somewhete, © the monolith in its powerful unity, in its
supteme guthority-—z flower in stone, vibrant, inundated with lighe, . . .
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CLEMENCEAU: Don’t take the soul too seriously,
Martet. Do you really believe that men have souls? Do
you believe that there is more of a soul in Gustave Hervé 1
than in a blade of grass ? No, Martet, he didn’t seek that
—although in his two portraits, on that day, ot rather on
those two days, he did penetrate to the soul. But as you
say, he was limited. Do you hold it against him? Not I.
It is one of the forms of courage and power. Your first
duty is to know yourself, and to limit your field of opera-
tions. He selected light—it wasn’t 2 bad choice.

MYSELF : What did you go to Giverney for on Sunday ?

CLEMENCEAU : I wanted to see the studies he made
when he was living on the banks of the stream. They are
very odd. They’ve nothing to do with any of the rest,
He only wanted his effect. They’re rough, wild, often
melancholy, I was given two or three hundred letters,
all those written to Monet by Mirbeau, Renoir and myself.
I’m engaged in looking through them now. Mirbeau was
—yes, he was 2 man all the same. There was, naturally,
a good deal of pose about him. He was a gentleman who
adopted an air and stuck to it through thick and thin.
One feels that he would have referred in the same terms to
a bowl of strawberties and cream or the murder of an
entire family. But after all his inspiration can only be
praised. Do you like Mirbeau ?

MYSELF: Yes, I consider him one of our greatest
writers.

CLEMENCEAU: I'm of the same opinion. An odd
fellow, rather tiresome, but with a splendid pen. His
628-E8 is a marvellous stunt. And his breeding, his
courage, his generosity | Renoir’s letters are also intetest-
ing. I don’t like Renoir; Monet used to reproach me
for it.

I A journalist who, aftcr having spoken of * erecting the flag on a dung-hill,’
becamz a passionate patriot,
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MYSELF: Renoit and Monet have many points of
contact.

CLEMENCEAU : Not in their work,
MYSELF : No, but in spirit.
CLEMENCEAU: You know, I can’t forgive bim for

having made woman a sort of monster. It’s enough to
disgust you with Iove forever after.

MYSELF : Are you in favour of love, sit ?

CLEMENCEAU: Aren’t you? Or do you prefer spon-
tancous generation ? Have you seen the buttocks he gives
those poor wretches ? It oughtn’t to be allowed. Where
did he ever see buttocks like that? I've travelled quite
a bit, but I’ve never run into them. But I realise—if it
gives you any pleasure—that he was somebody. He
sought.

MYSELF : And your letters to Monet ?

CLEMENCEAU: I don’t know what they contain.
Friendship and scolding, probably. That’s what my life’s
been made up of. I can’t like anyone without scolding
him. I've always had great respect for Monet. In the
first place we lived on two different planes—we never
collided, never fought. There was never any jealousy or
rivalry between us. In the second place he painted exactly
as I should like to have done had I been a painter—stubborn,
obstinate painting.! It’s stupid to say that genius is merely
long drawn out patience. Because in the first place
patience itself doesn’t mean anything—it requires more
than patience to get what you want—you must go straight
forit. And,secondly, there is onekind of genius, perhaps

1 Clemencean once weote in reference to the quays of the Scine: * The panting
crane, with the grating sound of iron, describes a large ciecle in the air. The great
hampers dip suddenly and pour out the ochrecoloured sand or tawny slag in a
sparkling golden shower. Huge slabs of Burgundy stone rear themselves into
white walls, wooden planks are piled up in a homely sort of building construc-

tion, and the rose or amber of the pale bricks brighten the river with 2 caress of
colours. . . ." That'sa Monet!
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the best and most precious, into which not a grain of
patience enters. But there is another kind which is due
to effort, a ficrce application, and to that, for my part, I pay
respect.

MyseLF: What is going to happen to the Givetney
canvases ?

CLEMENCEAU : He left everything to his son Michel.

MYSELF: And his daughter-in-law, his son Jean’s
wife ?

CLEMENCEAU : Well, he left her without a penny,

MYSELF : Impossible.

CLEMENCEAU : Yes, it’s true. I've told you before,
Monet was afraid. He was afraid of physical pain, afraid
of death. The operation I wanted him to have would
have allowed him to use his sight to the end. He funked
it. His courage left him at the thought of death—he
didn’t want to think about it. So he died without doing
anything for his daughter-in-law.

MYSELF : Extraordinary. And she was so exceedingly
good to him.

CLEMENCEAU : She was admirable, in every way. She
took care of him, pampered him. She watched over him
as if he had been her child. She helped prepare his
canvases ; she took cate of his investments.

MYSELF : | know.

CLEMENCEAU : Well, there you are] He leaves every-
thing to Michel’s discretion, which means that I shall have
the business on my hands. I said to Michel, ¢ What are
you going to do for her? Obviously you must fepair
your fathet’s oversight.” Michel replied, * Well, yes, I'm
going to fix all that up.” I said, ‘It isn’t a question of
fixing it up in the more or less distant future ; you must do
it right away !’ I know that he’ll do it. He’s not a bad
sort and his needs aren’t great. He’s having a little house
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built for himself on the banks of the Eure. He’s living
there. On behalf of the LouvreIsaid tohim, * You ought to
set aside the Two Women with the Parasol for the Louvre.”
He has done so. I also said to him, ‘ You ought to give
a canvas to the architect who fitted up the Orangery—he
didn’t overcharge for it.” He did that too. He really
does what he ought. Unfortunately thete he is, in his car,
running about the country—he’ll break his neck one of
these days and the little sister-in-law will be left without
a penny. So there you ate. That’s how I'm diverting
myself for the moment. A man’s life is interesting
primarily when he has failed—I well know. For it’s a
sign that he tried to surpass himself. Monet succeeded in
his. He found fame, money. Nevertheless I shall enjoy
seeing him again in these letters, reconstructing him,
finding an idea whete he probably had only an instinct.
I shall take the letters away with me to the Vendée. 1
shan’t be bored with them. I prefer that past to yout
present. Have you read about the Colmar trial 71

MYSELF : Yes.

CLEMENCEAU : What do you think about it ?

MYSELF : It's very sad.

CLEMENCEAU : That Berthou ? carried in triumph by
the priests] There’s proof for you of the disotientation
of everything! And Fachot ® insulted by 2 band of hood-
lums who threw stopes at him. And that lawyer from
Quimper who declared,  France must not be judged by
the abominable verdict which has just been rendered.
What do you expect to do after that? I have teceived a
letter from a former deputy from that region who says,
* When you wete young I followed and supported you.
Duting the war I disagreed with you. In memory of

1 The autonomist's trial. The verdict was returned on the 24th May.

1 Communist deputy, lawyer for the autonomists.

® The Public Prosecutor, Some time latet be was shot by a fanatic and
wounded.
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yout youth and the ideas which you formerly upheld, what
do you intend to do by way of protest against the degrading
spectacle at Colmar ?”  That shows you where we are,

MYSELF ; What’s the solution ?

CLEMENCEAU : For myself I see only one—to die. 1
no longer care to hear those things discussed. France
frightensme. People laugh, amuse themselves, understand
nothing, or if they do understand, they don’t cate a hang,.
The future no longer counts. Where shall we find our-
sclves one of these days, when we wake up? As for
myself, I shall be amongst the dead. T don’t ask anything
more,

MYSELF : When do you leave for the Vendée ?

CLEMENCEAU : At the beginning of July. If my book
on Monet is good, I shall publish it ; if it’s bad, I’ll toss it
into the fire. Have you seen those photographs over
there? 1 don’t know where they come from ; they’re
interesting, although they’re in black and white. You feel
the secking after colour—the pencil trying to drag it out.
. .. There’s a struggle going on there. He has the
secret of the convexity of the earth—have you noticed ?
You feel that it goes on beyond the line of the horizon.
The sky loses itself, it doesn’t stop.

I’m going to an exhibition of Bourdelle’s in the Rue
La Boétie. Do you know Bourdelle ?

MYSELF : I know his work.
CLEMENCEAU : What do you think of it ?
MYSELF : Good Lord !

CLEMENCEAU : That’s exactly my opinion. He does
Greek sculpture according to the German. He does
Gothic, Peruvian, Mycenean. Only there’s one thing that
bores me about him—he never does anything Bourdellian.

MYSELF : Perhaps because there has been a Peru, a
Mycenae. . . .
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CLEMENCEAU : And there’s never been a Bourdelle ?
It’s quite possible.

In any case he has queer flights of fancy. Do you
know what he neatly did for my Démosthéne? The pub-
lisher had ordered some bas-reliefs, from which engravings
were to be made. Wherenpon my Bourdelle had the idea
of doing my portrait in the guise of Demosthenes, dressed
in a toga, passing the dead in review in the Champs-
Elysées. Do you get the picture ?

MYSELF: It’s a pretty idea, as they say.

CLEMENCEAU : Can you see me in the Chamnps-Elysées,
holding a review of Poincaré, Jules Ferry, Franklin-
Bouillon, Frangois Albert? I said to the publisher, ¢ Oh,
no, { won’t have that” Bourdelle executed another most
extraordinary thing. It represents Xerxes on horseback,
turning his mount round and saying,  Don’t let’s go any
further., The ground is dangerous.’ The trouble is
(I’ll show you the thing presently) that Xerxes is on his
horse and his feet are dragging along the ground. Per-
sonally I have never seen that happen. When 1was young
I now and then had occasion to ride a horse, and 1 always
took care to select one tall enough so that my feet wouldn’t
drag in the mud.

MYSELF : Did Xerxes travel on horseback, then? I
always imagined him catried in a litter.

CLEMENCEAU : No, he must have been on horseback.
Don’t you remember how in Herodotus they decided to
take for their King the one whose horse neighed the first.
It’s an idea like another—as good as a plebiscite, at any
rate. And it was Darius’ mare who emitted the first neigh,
Bourdelle is a fantasist. He models his clay in such 2 way
that it gives, at first sight, the impression of power, and at
bottom . . . you feel what he’d like to do, what he’s
seeking, trying to do and can’t do. But now and then
he pulls it off. He performs a stroke of genius, with an
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air of swank—and it’s serious craftsmanship. However,
since I couldn’t have Phidias they tossed me Bourdelle.

MYSELF : ‘There aren’t many French sculptors.

CLEMENCEAU: In return there aren’t any foreign
sculptors at all. Foreigners can carve cherry-stones or
mountains, but as sculpture it simply doesn’t exist. They
would do much better to leave the poor stone in peace or
make roads of it. Amongst us, at one time or another,
there have been sculptors who knew how to turn out an
occasional good piece. There was Houdon—there’s going
to be a Houdon exhibition. I shall go to see that.
There was Rude. . . .

MYSELF : And Carpeaux.

CLEMENCEAU : He’s a little too Second Empire. His
grace is languid, a bit stupid. He gave lightness to stone,
but it’s a question whether stone was made to be light.
I don’t like Rodin.

MYSELF : Nevertheless . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Well, yes, I grant that you must say
‘ nevertheless "—perhaps it’s because 1 knew the man,
He was stupid, vain, and cared too much about money.
‘That’s quite a bit against him, isn’t it?  When I returned
from South America with the order for a bust I went to see
Rodin, who said to me, ‘ They must be made to pay as
dearly as possible.” It was his first thought.

MYSELF : There is the St. John the Baptist—and the
Man Walking, tense, nervous. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Yes, yes—there is also the Balzac.

MYSELF: Well, don’t you like the Balzac, sir? It’s an
admirable effort. It has probably nothing to do with
the real Balzac. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Probably—and it’s ridiculous.

MYSELF : But those two great eye-sockets—the cartiage
of the body—there’s something rather magnificent in it.
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CLEMENCEAU : Yes, yes. . . .

MYSELF : When you compare the Balzac of Rodin with
the Balzac of the Boulevard Haussman . . .

CLEMENCEAU : The man sitting in his dressing-gown ?
What a dreadful thing it is !

MYSELF : Have you seen Cogné again ?

CLEMENCEAU : Cogné? Oh, yes—he came to see me
the other day and photographed me again. He had
forgotten to light his apparatus.

[Enter Mickel Clemencean-—iall, thin,
dressed in grey, his lemples delicately
Silvered and his bearing young. He
bears an extraordinary resemblance to
bis father—a gentler, smiling version.

MICHEL CLEMENCEAU: How do you do, father ?
CLEMENCEAU : Oh, there you are |

MICHEL CLEMENCEAU: I’ve just come from Holland.
I went to convey your good wishes to the Burgomaster Six.

CLEMENCEAU : He's not very remarkable, is he ?

MICHEL CLEMENCEAU : Remarkable! Andthe Draper’s
Guild! That’s beyond words, too. And this. (He
indicates a yellowing photograph on the mantelpiece :  five
middle-ciass women in small white bead-dresses, their lips pinched
and their eyes dull or fierce.  They are the Commiitee of an alms-
bouse, capiured, appraised and fixed on canvas by Rembrandt.
What faces 1)

CLEMENCEAU : What frightful faces ! Philanthropy in
all its hotror |

MICHEL CLEMENCEAU: I like the Night Watch even
less. There’s an effect of light and shade. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Yes. It’s easier. But the man putting
on his gloves! He did that in two hours.
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MICHEL CLEMENCEAU : On my way back to Patis I went
to see my granddaughter.

MYSELF: Your granddaughter? Are you really a
grandfather ?

MICHEL CLEMENCEAU : Yes, George has a daughtet.

CLEMENCEAU : She’s a funny little thing., (He gess #p.)
Come along and see Xerxes.

[We pass into the bedroom. He takes
Bourdelle's bas-relief from a drawer and
shows it to us. It is a Xerxes with
buge arms and legs gesticnlating violently.
Boardelle was embarrassed by the necessity
of getting borse and man into so small a
frame. He scems to bave folded them
#p like lobsters being packed for ship-
ment in the bottom of a basket. In
addition Xerxes has the air of pointing
ont the way to bis horse by saying to him,
“ Come along. This way.

CLEMENCEAU : What do you think of it ?

MYSELF: ? ? ?

CLEMENCEAU : Hold on—in return look this over fot
me. (He shows me the catalogue of Bourdelle's exchibition. On
the cover is a photograph of Bosrdelle—spectacles bebind which
thoughts are soaring ; hair through which the breath of inspiration
is blowing) He missed his Xerxes, pethaps, but he
succeeded with his Bourdelle, eh, what ? (I netice the cast
of the Samos stele fastened on the wall) Youw’re looking at
that ? You can look at it all your life without getting tired
of it. When you are in Athens don’t forget to stop in
front of it: stop a bit also before the woman who’s tying
up her sandal. There’s 2 movement of her shoulders. . . .
Ah, Martet, the man who did that! (Showing me ont) So 1
ought to write Mozer? He’samanTIloved. . . .

e
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Two FRIENDS

Monet returned his friendship. The old painter’s last
yeatrs were made wretched by his eyes—that sight which
was becoming feebler each day, confusing the outlines of
things and distorting their values. . . . His © Water Lilies”
—those vast mad frescoes painted with great strokes of his
fiery brush in passion and anguish, which he gave to the
State and wanted to keep, gave again, took away again—
his pictures were not finished—the Orangery was not
ready—and all those phobias, those delusions of the sick
old man, all those obsessions and childish rages, all those
things he confided to Clemenceau in these burning letters
written in pencil in a trembling hand which painfully sought
to be legible, letters in which one can guess the weakness
and the suffering and which yet bum with virile and
brotherly affection.

Here are a few unpublished extracts :

11th September, 1916,

* I get on quite well despite some moments of complete
discouragement, and then I regain confidence just because
I fear that I shall not be able to see my way out of this
enormous labour.® . . .’

12th November, 1918,

‘ Dearest friend, 1 am on the point of finishing two
paintings to which I want to affix the date of the victory,
and I should like to ask you to act as intermediary in offes-

1 The * Water Lilies.” The fresco was divided into fifteen canvases.



TWO FRIENDS 227

ing them to the State.! It is a small thing, but it is the only

way I have of taking part in the victory. I request that

these two panels be hung in the Museum of Decorative

Arts 2 and I should be happy if they were chosen by you.
‘I admire you, and greet you with all my heart.’

10th Novembet, 1919.

“As I telegraphed to you yesterday, I have given
mature thought to what you said to me yesterday,® which
proves the friendship which you have for me. But what
can you expect ? I am very much afraid that an operation
will be fatal to me, that once the malady of the one eye is
overcome it will be the turn of the other. Then I prefer
to enjoy my bad sight, even to give up painting if necessary,
but at least to see to some extent what I love, the sky, the
water and the trees, not to speak of the friends who
surround me. And since I remember that a talented artist
whom I know has just been operated upon, I am prudently
going to find out the condition she is in aftet her operation,
and then I shall be able to make up my mind and tutn to
you again. I hope that you understand my reasons. . . .’

3zd April, 1921,
‘1 am going to Patis to see about my eyes and to make
up my mind.’
2gth June, 1921,
“ Iam continuing to work with keenness, but the highly
changeable weather is playing me dirty tricks.’

6th Septernber, 1921.
¢ I have done a great deal of wotk and am still working.’

25th November, 1921,
¢ Everything is all ready except arrangements with the

1 In the end Monet offered the State all his canvases.

2 The * Water Lilies > were not placed in this musenm. A special pesition was
found for them in the Orangery in the Tuileries.

3 Clemencean was advising him to be operated on for cataract,
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architect about the plans.! I have invited him to come on
Sunday to give me some necessary details without which
nothing can proceed.’

8th December, 1921,
¢ As for the Orangery I am afraid the architect is finding
himself in difficulties and that he is only thinking of keep-
ing expenses down ; nevertheless, I think that he should
be asked frankly if the gift which I am making does or does
not deserve that everything necessary be done in order
that my decorations shall be exhibited as I want them to be.’

He was sick. When he was better :

13th December, 19z21.
‘T am quite well. I was able to leave my room yestet-
day and to-day I have started work again. So life is
lovely.’

gth Janmary, 1922,

‘ What am [ doing in this world? Well, I paint and
then I wait for the appearance of the Echo National?
especially if you are writing in it.”

Clemenceau is in the United States. Claude Monet
writes to me 1

22nd February, 1922,
¢ Since you were kind enough to promise me news of

M. Clemenceau 1 should like to ask you what you know
about him, about his health particularly, and to Jet him
know how often I think of him and how happy I should
be to hear from him personally and learn if he is satisfied
with what he sees.  He has so accustomed me to his visits
that I miss him exceedingly—tell him that, please, and tell
him what pleasure it would give me to have a line from
him.’

1 The plans of the Orangery.

? André Tardieu’s paper. M. Clemenceau never wrote for it,
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The Orangery was not advancing. Monet wrote to
Paul Léon.r  No answet,
6th March, 1g22.
‘I am pledged therefore and he is not, and to judge by
the way things are going I am very much afraid we shall
not get anywhere. The Beaux-Arts is overflowing, with-
out a penny, and only looking about to gain time.”

4th May, 1922,
“ I am passing through some rather unhappy days. My
sight, alas, is going completely, and if you knew what that
means to me! It would do me good to see you. . . .

16th May, 1922,
¢ Two words to let you know that the wistaria 2 is just
coming out, that it will be beautiful in a few days, and that
a visit from you is required.’

22nd May, 19z2.
‘I had hoped to see you yesterday. You did not come,
which I greatly regret because the wistaria has never been
so beautiful and in this heat it cannot last very long.
Everything is splendid at the moment and this light is
dazzling.’
The bad time has come :

18th July, 1922.

¢ Despite all my will and my keenness for work I have
only had disappointments; nevertheless, I feel that I
could have done good wotk.’

gth September, 1922,

‘ Went to Paris yesterday for a consultation. Result:
the sight of one eye completely gone, an operation necessary
and even inevitable in the not distant future. While
waiting, a course of treatment which might make the other

* Head of the Beauxz-Arts, 2 In the gatden at Givemy.
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eye better and allow me to paint. ‘That done, I wanted to
look over the work in the Orangery. Not one workman.
Absolute silence. Only a little pile of rubbish at the doot.’

13th Scptember, 1922,
‘You are decidedly a marvellous man and I grow
prouder and prouder of your friendship. I am happy to
be able to tell you that the drops which they are putting
in my eye have had an extraordinary effect and that I can
already see better than I have for a long time.’

Finally, the decision was taken. The operation was
to be performed.

18th Decemnbet, 1922.
‘1 have only one wish: that it should take place as
soon as possible, towards the 8th or 1o0th January, for I can
scarcely see any longer.’

The operation is performed. Monet regains his sight.
He sees the sky once mote, the water and the clouds—all
that enchanted and tortured him. ‘The Orangery is nearing
completion—for everything comes to him who waits:
an exquisite frame where Monet’s genius can be displayed
in the kind of peace which befits Eternity.

His work is finished : that is, if work can ever be said
to be finished. . . .

Then he dies.
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ON A FEw Sorpiers—Parrs or CaLals P—
CASABLANCA
4th June, 1928,

I wait a minute in the study. Clemenceau entets,
carrying a framed engraving by Daumier, ‘ Don Quixote
and Sancho.’

CLEMENCEAU : Monsieur Martet, I shall give myself
the pleasure of depositing this in your hands so that you
can present it as a gift from me to your seventh child,

MYSELF : Thank you. It will remain on deposit a long
time.
CLEMENCEAU : Oh! why?

MYSELF: 1 cannot do everything : have children and
dream.
CLEMENCEAU : What if everybody said that !

MYSELF : It would settle everything.

CLEMENCEAU : 'That appalling dictum is not completely
devoid of sense. (Showing me the engraving) Do you
notice that if the horse takes another step he will have all
his four hoofs off the ground? And yet Don Quixote’s
air of assurance up there on top of him is magnificent.
What a wealth of ideas! It is even fuller of them than
Cervantes. Daumier was a grand fellow. . . . Naturally
he wasn’t apptreciated until as late as possible. That’s
the rule. 'Well, have you btought me my paper on Foch ?

MYSELF : Yes, hete it is.
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CLEMENCEAU : I’ll look it over.

MYSELF : I want to ask you a question : are you going
to give it back to me ?

CLEMENCEAU : Yes, of course. It’s yours. I don’t
want to keep anything.

MYSELF : Good. Because I find that this paper lacks
a conclusion. It stops short. It seems to me that there
should be something else. . . . What, Idon’t know.

CLEMENCEAU : It couldn’t do anything but stop short.
I wrote it one fine day in the Vendée, and, getting interested
in something else, I put down my pen and didn’t take it up
again,

MYSELF : | find the tribute which you paid to Foch
very touching.

CLEMENCEAU : Because of Doullens I can forgive him
everything. There was always Doullens.

MYSELF: You grant some fine qualities to Weygand.

CLEMENCEAU : It’s because Weygand is somebody.
He is ugly, deformed, twisted, and doesn’t care a damn for
anything, He is 2 man who must have had a good many
kicks on the behind when he was still in limbo. But he
is intelligent and he has a sort of indescribable sombre fire.
I was annoyed because he came and talked at the Allies’
Council of War, 1 said to Foch, * You haven’t even the
right to come here yourself. You are only here to answer
when you are called into consultation. At least make him
keep quiet.’

Weygand is a man—how shall 1 say >—dangerous,
able in a moment of ctisis to go far, to throw himself into
things headlong—and intelligently, a good deal more
intelligently than Mangin, who would have plunged in
headlong anyway.

Dangerous but valuable. And having one rare quality
—the ability to do his work without talking and without
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having it talked about. He went to Poland. I don’t
know what he was up to there—but whatever there was to
be done he did it. He put everything back in its right
place. The question was settled. He came back, didn’t
swagger, didn’t say anything, No one knows what he’s
doing or where he is. It’s rather fine. It isa’t that Foch
was silly, but his genius was of 2 good, childish, simple
kind. The other had in addition something subtle and
deep about him. Up to his neck in priests, of course.

MYSELF : Free-thinking soldiers aren’t very amusing,

CLEMENCFAU : No, that’s true.

MYSELF : Sarrail. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Oh, don’t speak to me about him!
And Percin, poor Percin !

MYSELF : He was put up in my district at the last elec-
tions. He got one vote.

CLEMENCEAU : It wasn’t mine,

MYSELF : Do you remember Breymann 1 ?

CLEMENCEAU : Yes, he was quite nice.

MYSELF: He had an exaggerated sense of justice.
Injustice made him quite ill.

CLEMENCEAU : They amuse me with their justice. If

you’re too strong for justice you don’t go into the army.
(Reflectively) You don’t go anywherte.

MYSELF: You were speaking about Mangin a little
while ago. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Yes,

MYSELF : What sort of fellow was Mangin ?

cLEMENCEAU : The dogged sort. He did what he had
to do in the African campaign and there was nothing more
1 Breymann was 2 Commandant when Clemenceau came into power. T had

him atiached to the Military Cabinet. A week later Mordacq had takea a dislike
to him.
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for him to do. He turned up at the front again and
reckoned that it was the same sort of thing. And from
time to time it was the same thing : a matter of waiting,
power, push. . . . But at other times it was necessary to
look further than that. It was I who reinstated him. He
had practically everybody against him.

MYSELF : Will you allow me to ask you one question ?
But I am afraid of bothering you. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Go ahead! The more you ask me the
happier I shall be.

MYSELF : Do you remember a quarrel which took place
between you and M. Poincaré in March, 1918, an exchange
of letters or telephone calls—I don’t remember exactly—
on the question of whether or not Patis should be evacuated
before the German advance ?

CLEMENCEAU : Yes, I remember very well. T had tried
to find men to work on the defences round Paris. 1 had
ransacked the bottom of every drawer—when I found men
for the purpose they took them away from me and put
them somewhere else. In consequence Paris was an
exposed city, SoIhad decided to leave Paris if the Boches
came and to continue the war in the provinces. Poincaré
wanted to stay—what would that haveledto? To having
himself captuted. The English had asked me, * Which
do you want to defend, Paris or Calais?* I answered,
‘Calais!” For, once at Calais, the Boches would have
held the Channel and everything would have been over.
Poincaré never undetstood that.

Moreover, I was neverable to come to anunderstanding
with Poincaré, Perhaps three weeks ot 2 month before the
Armistice Mangin * wrote to me, * My troops are advancing,
We have obtained results. But the men are tired.” Tom,
Dick or Hatry would have said—for example Pétain, who
paid a bit too much attention to the pros and cons—that

! Clemnencean was mistaken, 1t was Gouraud,
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it didn’t matter. But in Mangin’s fist the word *tired’
signified something. I said, ‘Stop!’ I communicated
this to Poincaté, who raised his hands to heaven, exclaim-
ing, “What? Stop? But you’ll hamstring our soldiers!’
Just that! ‘Then I got extremely annoyed.!

As for the matter about which you were speaking, the
question of whether we should abandon Paris, 1 don’t
believe there is a trace of a recotd left of my discussion
with Poincaté. . . . (Refecsively) Although . . . he must
have written me one or two letters about it. . . .3

MYSELF : Thete is also that old story—but I am afraid
I shall annoy you by jumping about this way. I was
putting my records in order. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Go ahead |

MYSELF : There are some facts which Y have been trying
to fix and for which . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Go on then. This old stoty ?

MYSELF : It is the Casablanca affair. It has often been
said that Prince Radolin, the German ambassador in Paris,
had come and said to you, ‘I am compelled to ask for my
passports,” and you answeted, ‘ What time does your
train go?’®

CLEMENCEAU : Yes—it’s a little too simple the way you
tell it. ‘The truth is that we just missed going to war that

1 This annoyance, which was scrions, was on $th October, 1918,

T M. Poificar? wroie tnany mote than two letters,

® * When the German ambassados threatened to demand his passports, which
was cquivalent to a rupture, Clemenceau was not frightened. He simply took out
his watch and advised his German Excellency to hurty up becsuse “ the Patis-
Berlin express leaves very shortly.”*  (Régis Michaud in his biographical notice of
Clemenceau in the Pages Frangaises.)

A more detailed version : © The (Gepman ambassador came to see the President
of the Council, ** If complete satisfaction is not given to my Govemment,” said be,
“1 shall be constrained, on the orders of His Majesty the Emperor, to ask for my
passpors.” M, Clemencean suddenly stood up, took ont his watch, Jooked at it
and answered impassively, * Your Excellency, the tmin for Cologne Icaves at
nine o’clock. It is now seven. If you do not want to miss it you will have to
hurry.” Never was a man more dumbfounded than the German Ambassador, who
went out after stammesing a few polite words,” {Abbé Wetterlé.)
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time. Ihadn’tsleptfortwonights. Inolongerremember
what we had done—I believe we had been pressing the
Germans and that Germany was asking impossible condi-
tions. I didn’t feel like granting them. But if in the end
it had been necessary. . . . I questioned poor Picquart,
who was Minister for War: ‘Can we risk it?” A thing
which I should certainly not do to-day, for Picquart was
quite the last man to whom one could put such a question.
Picquart said, © Give me two days to answer.” At the end
of two days he came back and said, ‘ We can.’ So I
refused what the Germans were asking. In order not to
seem to be doing it in any unfriendly spitit, I on my side
proposed a quite reasonable solution, which was to take
the question before The Hague Tribunal. And, the Boche
having by luck accepted, the question was submitted to
the Hague Tribunal, which returned a judgment practically
consistent with sound reason. At least I think so—and it
no longer mattered in the very least.

MYSELF : But Radolin ?

CLEMENCEAU : Oh yes, Radolin! 1 got on very well
with Radolin and we used to chat freely. He was a Pole
who had married a Frenchwoman, a Talleyrand-Périgord.
Why did Berlin send us that fellow ? Probably to put us
off the scent. He said to me one day, ‘ We beat you in
1870—it wasn’t very difficult. We shall probably beat
you a second time ; perhaps we shall beat you a third time,
and then we may find as a result of having beaten you so
many times we shall have accumulated an enormous pile
of money.” Don’t you find that amusing from the lips
of the German Ambassador? Hence it is possible that
Radolin came and said to me halfjokingly,  Oh, come
along now; you aren’t going to force me to ask for my
passports,”to which I may have replied, smiling and bowing,
 Well, if that is your decision I can only regret it and ask
you what time your train leaves, so that I can come and see
you off at the station . . . * or something like that. It



CASABLANCA 237

might have taken place that way. But baldly, as you tell
it, it’s not in my style,

MYSELF : There is also this telegram which you drafted
with your own good pen and which was so abrupt that
Pichon,! afraid, distracted, would have refused to send it.

CLEMENCEAU : Poor Pichon! It wouldn’t have been
the first time that events disturbed him a bit. I don’
remember that affair any longer. What is true is that I did
send an uncoded telegram so that the Boches should know
about it. Isaid: ‘I have come to the end of my conces-
sions,” That’s all. 'What else do you want to know ?

MYSELF ; Nothing more to-day.

CLEMENCEAU : I believe that with Monez T have enough
pleasute and enough work for a little while. I went back
to Giverny the other day. I saw that garden again. I
remember all that. . . .

MYSELF : When did Monet come to live at Giverny ?
CLEMENCEAU : [t must have been 1883,

MYSELF : Did the high road and the railway go across
his garden then ?

CLEMENCEAU : Mote accurately, his garden went to the
high road and he had not yet acquired the ground where
the stream and the little bridge are. He bought it when he
wanted to study the water, and when he wanted to paint
the ‘ Water Lilies * he had his big studio built. Befote that
he had his workroom on the first floot of the summes-house.
I remember I was in that workroom one day chatting with
him. He showed me some water lilies, not very interesting
and quite sober, but which I found very pretty. Isaid te
him, ¢ Monet, you ought to hunt out a very rich Jew who
would order your water lilies as a decoration for his
dining-room.” I believe that the ¢ Water Lilies’ in the
Orangery emanated from thatidea, I went to the Orangery
the other day and looked at them. . . . I must go back

1 Foreign Secretary in Clemenceau’s Czbinet,
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there once more. I shall then have absorbed what I
require of them. They are truly something sublime,

MYSELF : They are the interpenetration of everything.

CLEMENCEAU (pointing bis forefinger at me): 'That’s it
It’s a lesson about the universe which is worth all the books
in the world, Poor Monet! He suffered, you know.
.+ . One must suffer. One must not be satisfied.
Renaudel is satisfied. It’s very bad. Monet threw himself
on his canvases, kicked them to bits savagely. He de-
stroyed two very fine portraits of himself in that way.
The portrait which he gave me he brought out to me to
my car—I had gone to see him and was leaving. . . .
‘ Take this away—I might destroy it!’ With a painter
who slashes his canvases, who weeps, who explodes with
rage in front of his painting, there is hope.

[Albert annonnces Manrice Winter.t

CLEMENCEAU : Show him in.

[Enter Maurice Winter. He is gentle and
timid.

MAURICE WINTER : How do you do, Mr. President ?
How are you ?

cLEMENCEAU : I feel like 2 toy blacksmith who cannot
wield his hammer unless you pull the string. Martet is
giving himself the devil of a lot of trouble so that I shall
survive beyond my lifetime.

MAURICE WINTER: As a dying man you have just
written a book of twelve hundred pages; that’s a fairly
good proof of vitality.

CLEMENCEAU ; What’s become of your chief 7 They

1 Son of an cxecllent man who had been Clemenceau’s secretary for many years,

Maurice Winter is an Inspectot-General at the Ministry of the Interior. Clemenceau
had eatrusted him with the position of Director of National Safety during his

ministry,
1 M. Sarraut, Minister of the Interior.
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say that he would like to return to Indo-China.! That’s
a strange idea. I should like to write a life of Satraut,
What do you think? (Turning fo me) Thete are two
things that I have against Plutatch : (1) that he didn’t write
the life of Aristotle, and (2) that he didn’t write a life of
Phidias. Why didn’t he write them, Mattet ?

MYSELF : Probably because it was beyond him.

CLEMENCEAU: He owed it to wus. Phidias . . .
Phidias. . . . What an extraordinary thingl Thete was
something which came from God knows where—nothing
can explain it, neither the Orient nor Egypt . . . some-
thing which realised itself and was ended. That was
Beauty’s one day. Plutarch owed us the story of it.

It is true, as you slyly hint, that Plutarch wasn’t very
discerning. All he could do was the lives of soldiers.
You can always manage the life of a soldier. Winter, I
have fixed up a job for myself.

MAURICE WINTER: Bravo. You won’t have taken a
very long rest |

CLEMENCEAU : One shouldn’ rest too much: that’s
what you die of. I am writing a2 book on Monet. It’s
a rather beautiful thing, the life of 2 man who only knew
joy in suffering. Why does Sarraut want to go back to
Indo-China ?

MAURICE WINTER : Doubtless for the pleasure of being
a king.

CLEMENCEAU; In the heat they must be having out
there! What a kingship! I had experience one day of
the heat in Ceylon. I was sitting in the shade of a tree,
the river in front of me and the other side of it the jungle,
a twisted mass of tropical creepers. I knew that if I took
three steps away from that shade towards the river I should
fall dead. (To me) You will find it hot in Athens,

1 M, Sacraut was formerly Governor of Indo-China,
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MAURICE WINTER : You ate going to Athens ?
MYSELF : At the very height of August.

CLEMENCEAU : He’s crazy. That is the only way you
can explain him, You must see Delphi. There is a lady
of my acquaintance who came back from Greece—she
hadn’t even been to Delphi! What a fool! At Delphi,
with that landscape and those mountains—the things that
happened there couldn’t help happening. Thus it was
written. ‘ThenDelos! Youmustsee Delos! In Athens
I was stopping at an hotel in the Place de la Constitution.
During the night I heard under my windows a noise like
babbling streams—it was the Greeks walking backwards
and forwards talking politics.
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THE STABILISATION OF THE FRANC—THE FIRST JOURNEY
T0 AMERICA~—AT MAzas

7th June, 1928,
1 go into the bedroom. Piétri is talking with Clemen-
ceau about an inscription in Ax Soir de lz Pensée for a
Mz. MacPherson. Clemenceau scrawls the inscription.

CLEMENCEAU : Martet, what do you think of the
Mestorino affair ? 1

MYSELF : I think that President Mangin-Bocquet 2 was
so unmercifully pushed about by the public which wanted
to enter the court . . .

CLEMENCEAU : I saw that and my heart rejoiced at it.
For your Mangin-Bocquet did a thing which ought not to
be done: he brought his wife along with him. A judge
who does that is condemned out of his own mouth.

MYSELF : Morteover, they say that Madame Mangin-
Bocquet’s pear] necklace was stolen and that her son had
a thousand francs pinched from his pocket.?

CLEMENCEAU : Oh, so the whole family was there, was
it? I was ignorant of that tasty morsel. Well, Martet,
for once God acted like a man of spirit. . . .

And those fellows * who saw Truphéme killed, who saw
him lying thete on the ground, heard him crying for mercy,

1 The story of the jeweller who assassinated onc of his customers to rob him,
‘The murderer was brought before the Seine Assizes.

? President of the Assizes.

3 This was on 6th June. * A ctying scandall’® said the newspapers.

1 Mestoring’s employees.
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and said nothing, who didn’t even move! Aren’t they
going to lock them up? What’s happening, Martet?
What are our people coming to ?

MYSELF: The crowd at the Assizes were no less
extraordinary. At various times they burst out laugh-
ing. Bull-fighting, gladiatorial combats have been sup-
pressed . . .

CLEMENCEAU : But they’ve left the Assizes. There’s
not so much blood in evidence, (Turning to Piétri) Well,
are they stabilising or are they not stabilising ?

PIETRI ¢ I believe that they are going to stabilise.

CLEMENCEAU : That seems to me completely insane.
But since it’s so, since the franc is at four sous and since
absolutely nothing has been done to keep it from falling
to four sous, well, they ought to keep quiet aboutit! Why
the devil do they feel the need of crying, “ Do you realise
we are going bankrupt for the other four-fifths ! * 2

PIETRI : It scems that the Bank of France can no longet
stand the racket.

CLEMENCEAU : Perhaps it wasn’t necessary to let it go
as far as that! T repeat: what did they do for the franc ?
Nothing. M. Poincaté balances his budget—and after-
wards ? What is the budget anyway? Nothing, The
State’s budget is not France’s budget. It’s necessary to
balance the budget first, cost what it may, but after that
it’s necessary to do everything that has not been done,
everything that hasn’t even been attempted. But those
fellows don’t cate about anything but sparring for time |
And how did they balance the budget? By ctushing us
with taxes on the one hand—I don’t know if you suspect
it, but the more taxes there are, the morte the country is
impoverished—and secondly by btinging about inflation.
M. Herriot was responsible for inflation and loud cties went

up—but I don’t believe that M. Poincaré abstained
altogether from the practice !
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PIETRI: Yes. But M. Herriot didn’t have the authority
for it.

CLEMENCEAU : That’s the only difference ! M. Poincaré
got a nice little law passed. . . . What was done to testore
equilibrium and stability in this maze and chaos? In
selling, buying, production, export, import ? How does it
happen that livestock is diminishing and that the price of
chops goes up every day? I urge you to believe that if
I’d been head of the Government things wouldn’t have
dragged out like that! I would have chucked a certain
number of individuals into prison—not the little fellows,
not the beggars, but the big ones, those important gentle-
men who live in pompous houses. I’d have restored
order. Last year it was recognised that there was a surplus
in the Exchequer of I don’t know how many millions—
2 hundred or two hundred. What did they do with those
millions to lower the cost of living? They tossed them
to the bureaucrats! Thereby they increased the buying
power of thousands and thousands of people. They
thereby encouraged the merchants to abuse this increase
of buying power. They thereby raised the cost of living,
It is clear that the whole thing is idiotic.

PIETRI : Recently, in a restaurant opposite the Renault ?
factory, where the workmen have their midday meal, chops
were priced at two francs. One fine day the proprictor
put them up to 2.25 without notice. The workmen com-
plained, The proprietor said, ‘ You’ve just had your
wages raised | * ‘No, we haven’t,” answered the workmen ;
‘it’s not till next week that the rise takes effect.” ¢ Oh,
I see,” said the proprietor; ‘I beg your pardon!’ This
time he only charged them two francs for the chops, but
the following week calmly put them up to 2.25. And the
extraordinary thing about it is that this time the wortkmen
didn’t say 2 word, but paid their 2.25.

1 The motor car manufacturer.
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CLEMENCEAU : ‘The French people are getting it in the
neck. Andthose economies? What economies have they
effected? ‘They should be able to swallow any measure.
They wiped out the sub-prefects, that’s all! But, mark
you, they wiped out their work but not their pay. The
office was eliminated but not the office-holder. So when
you say to me, ‘ There is nothing else to be done but
stabilise,” I answer you, ‘Of course. When you are
chucked in the water with your hands tied behind yout
back and a fifty-pound weight tied to your feet, you can’t
do anything else but go to the bottom ! ?

MYSELF : How’s your book on Monet ?

CLEMENCEAU : Well, the * Water Lilies > make me un-
happy.

MYSELF: Oh, so it’s your turn. They made Monet
unhappy enough.

CLEMENCEAU: [ went to the Orangery yesterday.
There wasn’t a soul there. During the day forty-six men
and women came, of whom forty-four were lovers looking
for a solitary spot. You see how the crowd rushes to
admire him, Well, looking at the * Water Lilies * I realised
that everything I had said should be torn up. 1 take it
all back.

- MYSELF: The other day I went to the Pavillion de
Marsan to see the exhibition of ancient American art.

CLEMENCEAU : Oh, the pre-Columbians, all those
things . . .

MYSELF : For five francs I was allowed to contemplate
several dozen old pots and stones on which they tried to
cut things.

CLEMENCEAU : Quite! Thete is no ancient American
art! Now they are throwing themselves upon a mass of
absurd objects, and beautiful women are swooning in
front of 2 kind of peepshow manufactured by negroes.
« « « (Taking a magazine from his table) Here, look at that.
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Our ancestors of five thousand years ago. . . . (He shows
me the magagine. There is an illustrated article on some ruins
discovered in the Indies. Fragments of sculpture: a man's
head, a lion's bead.) Personally 1 prefer Praxitcles. . . .

MYSELF : Speaking of ruins, have you seen the tombs
which they have discovered neart the site of Ur ?

CLEMENCEAU : No, but I must tell you that T have no
confidence in Ur.

MYSELF: In those tombs they found, round the dead
king, his wives, his soldiers, his coachmen, his horse . . .
all butchered.

CLEMENCEAU : That’s very nice. It’s from those
people that we're descended. Doesn’t it annoy you to be
4 man ?

MyYSELF: What would you like to be? A praying
mantis ? She eats het lover. That’s no better.

CLEMENCEAU : But I believe that man is the only animal
who kills without reason or for reasons which are more or
less metaphysical. He’s a kind of buffoon! When you
leave this wotld you ought to breathe a sigh.

MYSELF : That’s called yielding up the spirit.

CLEMENCEAU : Thete is a very pretty allegorical picture
to be drawn from that: ‘Lotd, here is my spirit. It
embartasses me and in the long run it even disgusts me a
little.” ‘There is neither sense nor cleanliness except in
complete extinction,

MYSELF : Do you know that I have decided to go and
celebrate the Capture of the Bastille with you in the
Vendée? . . .

cLEMENCEAU : Good idea! We'll light the lanterns.

MySeLF : Thete is one thing that puzzles me: 1 should
like to know whether, if the Bastille were to be retaken,
you would have it back. . . .

[No answer.
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CLEMENCEAU : DI’ll show you my flowers, Martet, I
have some flowers which grow in the sand and obtain
theit nourishment from Heaven knows where. It’s a
mystery. We'll look at the ocean and exchange, as one
might say, philosophical thoughts.

MYSELF : You won’t have Mandel ?

CLEMENCEAU : Are you afraid of Mandel ?

MYSELF : I am a little afraid of eloquence. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Mandel comes without being invited.
In return for which I forget to keep him for lunch. But
don’t speak badly of that prodigy. Mandel has no ideas,
but he would uphold them to the death.

MYSELF : I have a question to put to you, sir. I shap’t
ptetend to you—I am trying to put myself in order and it
isn’t easy.

CLEMENCEAU : You are like Pelloquet, then ?

MYseLF : Pelloquet ?

CLEMENCEAU : Don’t you know Pelloquet ?  Pelloquet
was 2 kind of art critic.  One day he was going to lecture,
and so stammered out some vague remarks on art, painting,
and so forth. Suddenly he gathered up his notes, put them
under his arm and left the platform, saying, ‘I beg your
pardon, but there is no more order in my ideas than in my
notes !> He charged five francs for the lecture. It’s the
same Pelloquet who was once beaten in a duel~—do you
know why ? Because of the bouquetin Manet’s ¢ Olympia.
He declared that what caused the beauty and greatness of
the picture wasn’t the woman but the flowers. Gallant
Pelloquet! There he was, wounded in the palm of his
left hand. ‘They said to him, ¢ But, my poor friend, you’ve
caught your opponent’s sword with your hand!’ He
answered, ‘ No, but I had that hand behind my back—like
this. I was merely trying to steal away unnoticed. . . )’
What was your question ?
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MySsEL¥ : I should like to know why you went to
America in 1865 ?

CLEMENCEAU : Oh, that’s a large question. Because
I had just qualified as a doctor. I felt that democracy was
going to come into its own here. I said to my father,
‘ I'should like to go and see how it works over there.” He
said, * Go ahead.” I went,Isaw. ...

MYSELF: And?

CLEMENCEAU : And nothing. Democracy is democracy.
It isn’t a devastating success. But in the first place it’s
the inevitable result of human experience. In the second
place, democracy, aristocracy, plutocracy . . . what are all
those "ocracies worth ?  There is only one good ’ocracy,
and that is theocracy. Provided there is 2 God.

MYSELF : You wete speaking to me one day about the
telations between the whites and the blacks in the United
States.

CLEMENCEAU : Dickens described his trip over thete in
a book. He reproduced the advettisements to be found in
the American newspapers: ‘Lost, a negro recognisable
by a missing eye and a broken jaw. Please return him to
. . . And another one :  Lost, a negress answering to the
name of Eliza and recognisable by the fact that her ears
have been cut off.” That was the state of slavery in the
United States ! seventy yeats ago.

MyYSELF : Nevertheless Dickens had a great success in
America with his lectures.

CLEMENCEAU: He didn’t speak to them about that.
I was present at his lectures. He confined himself to
reading passages from his books: the death of Dora and

1 * Think of the abominations of Chtistian slavery in the United States . . .
(Preface to the Social Conflict). * Read in the American ncwspapers before 1860 the
descriptive notices of fugitive slaves. There are only marks of branding irons,
shattered jaws, eyes gouged out, limbs mutilated or cut off. s this the work of
Christian and civilised white men ?* {Quotation from the Sectal Conflict).
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the house of little David with its crows’ nests . . . do
you remember? And the Micawbers. . . . What a man
that Dickens was !

myYSELF : And when did you come back from America ?
In’69, 1 think ?

CLEMENCEAU ; In ’6g.

MYSELF: What did you do ?

CLEMENCEAU : Ireturned to my father’s house, and there
I did what he did himself. I practised medicine and rode
on horseback over the countryside.?

MYSELF ; And then you came to Paris ?

CLEMENCEAU : The war broke out, so I came to Paris,
Since I didn’t know where to find lodgings I stopped with
one of my friends, Lafont, who lived in Montmartre.
The 4th September came. There wasn’t anyone in
Montmartre capable of taking an interest in things.

. The Government appointed me mayor. Some time

1 1 had the good fortune to find the book in which this young doctor of under
thitty kept 2 record of his consuleations.

It is & book of 142 pages bound in green, On the cover Clemencean had stuck
a little pen-and-ink drawing showing two skeletons holding a kind of shield. One
of the skeletons holds a candlestick with a candle, and the other is atmed with
a scythe.

‘The patients’ names are entered alphabetically. For instance :
Baumard Nov. 20, 1869 2 visits 2. 50
1, 3-00
Barbot (La rochette) w s o T at§ francs 33.00

I ato

Matie Bird s B atq ,, 24-00
Bonnet (Libaud) Nov 21,1869 1 -§0

Nov, 22, 1869 1 consultation and
operation 5100

etc,

A consultarion and operation for five francs : charges were very reasonable.

Someumes Clemencean indicates the complaint. “Pmnct; umbilical hernia,
« « " And there is this account : a patient owes him 275 francs for s long coursc
nfvisits. We read ; * Bill wotalled up to 275 francs, so of which were paid in
August, 1870. Balance due: 225 francs. On October 16th 225 francs paid, less
1 frane I lose fot leaving it ont, and half 2 frane which she asked me to knock off,
Credit: z23.50."

From 1869 to October, 1871, Clemencean eamed 1900.50 francs,
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afterwards there were the elections. Two or three friends
and I drew up a poster. The people announced that it
was in conformity with their tastes. They elected us.
That was the beginning of my troubles.?

priTRI: Hadn’t you been in prison before your de-
parture for Ametica ?

CLEMENCEAU : Yes, in *61 or ’62,
MYSELF : What had you done ?

CLEMENCEAU : Opposed the policy of the Empire.?
I stayed at Mazas two months, That reminds me of an
incident in a comedy by somebody or other. There was
a son-in-law who thus reproaches his father-in-law :
‘You were six months in prison at Mazas!’ The other
answered, © Oh, that prison’s been pulled down !’

MYSELF : Now I want to bring you back to the war. . . .
CLEMENCEAU : Which war ?

mysELF : The war of 1914.

CLEMENCEAU : Oh, I’ve had so much of it.

MYSELF: You are accused of not having tried to isolate
Germany. . . .

1 Clemencean was appointed mayor of the XVIIIth arrondissement of Paris
on sth September, 1870: he was clected on gth November. On 12th February,
1871, he was elected Deputy for the Seine in the National Assembly. On
26th Masrch he resigned.

1 Clemencean had otganised a demonstration which was to take place in the
Place de la Bastille on the 24th February, 1862, It was to celebrate the inangusstion
of the Republican era.

On the 11th April, records M. Camille Ducray, Clemenceau was seated in the
dock of the Sixth Correctional Chamber, with Me. Hubard as his defender, and the
court was about to pronounce its judgment.

*It is established by the charge and the arguments that on the 23rd February
Clemencean committed the offence of direct provocation to an armed gathering,
with no harmful effects ;

* That he did in fact write and distribute, affix and cause to be affixed, a certain
number of posters in which he summoned various petsons to an assembly in a place
previously determined, with the intention of convoking a mob capable of disturbing
the public peace ;

¢ Therefore Clemenceau is sentenced to prison for one month and to pay half
the costs.’

At that time preventive detention was not confused with punishment,
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CLEMENCEAU: How useful that is! In what way
would you want me to isolate Germany ? Don’t you see
what’s happening to-day ? I must repeat to you that I
alone was representing Continental interests : against me
were England and America.

MYSELF : It is quite certain that with all those dynasties
expelled from their thrones Germany is more united than
ever. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : And afterwards? I know only too
well! How could it have been otherwise ? The Dorten
affair indicates so well what could have been hoped for
in that direction. In a city occupied by a French garrison,
under the very eyes of our soldiers and their officers the
Germans seized the Rhinelanders who wanted to secede,
to inaugurate and maintain friendly diplomatic relations
with France—in fine, the great idea of Mangin and Poincaré
—and cut their throats. A frightful business! Isolate
Germany! Like those people who wanted to make a
crime out of my being satisfied with the frontiers of 1870.
They would have liked those of Charlemagne. . . . I tried
to get Landau. One day I said to Balfour, Befote
Waterloo we had Landau ¢ it’s a bit of French soil. Idon’t
ask it of you, but if youwould offer it I should be pleased.’
Balfour put his hand on my shoulder and said, ‘ My poor
ftiend !’ Mind you, two days before the ratification of the
Treaty they nearly upset evetything. It was then that
Wilson said to me, ‘ You ate not going to send me back
to face my own country without something having been
done!’ Iansweted, ¢ Ishould be heartbroken, but I can’t
do anything more than escort you to your boat.” That’s
how I got the Sarre. . . . And what has been done with
the Satre?  Ask Poincaré and Briand what they have done
with the Sarre! Ask them what they are busy doing
with Alsace! (I ger #p.) Do you know what happened
to Piétri one day in Java? He said, ‘Listen! I think
that I have hit the wife of the Prefect of Police in the eye !
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I sought further information. . . . What did I discover ?
It was only the wife of the Sub-Prefect of Police,

PIETRI: Since Martet is engaged in taking notes for
History . . .

CLEMENCEAU: Yes, so he is. Martet is here, he is
listening. . . .

PIETRI: Tell him in detail what happened at Bandong.

CLEMENCEAU : And when Piétri left, the unfortunate
woman was heard singing on the river bank :

‘Nicolas ! Nicolas |
Don’t desert me ! ?

There are dramas in Piétri’s life. Au’voir! Come again.
Come often. Put your questions. Push me into a cotner.
Il answer. (While showing us out) Thete have also been
people who have accused me~—I have been accused of
everything—of saying to Czernin, * You’r¢aliar!’ Briand
referred to this in his chatactetistic voice, © You shouldn’t
have done that, I don’t speak in that way.” That
blessed Briand! Admit all the same that this planet is
an extraordinatily queer object.
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THERE ARE SoME Bap CONSCIENCES ABOUT |

It was on the 28th March, 1918, that the German
offensive against the Anglo-French front was shattered.

The first French communiqué announced the loss of
Montdidier, the second (issued at 11.0 P.M.) said :

¢ The enemy, continuing his thrust in the Montdidier
region with powerful forces, has attempted duting the day
to enlarge his gains to the west and the south of this town.

‘But with magnificent dash our troops counter-
attacked and at the point of the bayonet drove the enemy
out of the villages of Courtemanche, Mesnil, Saint-Georges
and Assainvilliers, which we have regained and are holding
firmly.

‘ The gain thus achieved along a front of ten kilometres
exceeds two kilometres in depth.’

It was the first serious counter-attack by our troops.
The reserves had artived.

On the 29th ‘our forces, continuing their success,
seized Monchel after a violent struggle.’” The com-
muniqué stresses ‘the indomitable resistance of our
troops.” We are ‘victotiously’ keeping the enemy in
check. On that day Pershing came to see Foch: ¢ All that
we have is yours. Use it as you like.” One felt the foz-
midable weight of this new sword falling into the balance.

And then, on the 3oth, the battle was resumed “on
a front of forty kilometres from Moreuil to Lassigny’
(the two o’clock communiqué). The front is extending.
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¢ The struggle is raging along a front of sixty kilometres ’
(the eleven o’clock communiqué). The Getman onslaught
is checked evetywhete. A tremendous Boche effort. A
tremendous and heavy repulse.

On the 31st confirmation of the repulse. ‘ Moreuil
taken by the enemy, regained, lost again, has been tetaken
at the point of the bayonet by Franco-British troops
mingling in the same ranks.” On the 1st April the battle
was continued ; all the enemy’s assaults wete repulsed.
Clemenceau left Paris in the morning, accompanied by
M. René Renoult. He returned on the 2nd: the danger
was over. M. René Renoult declared that he was © highly
enthusiastic.’

It was over—for the moment. . . .

Then, stecl having failed, other tactics were employed.
The Czernin affair.

On the 2nd April Count Czetnin, ‘ Minister of the
Royal and Imperial Court and of Foreign Affairs of Austria-
Hungary,” received a delegation from the municipality of
Vienna. Naturally he made a speech and said, * M. Clemen-
ceau made inquities, 2 little time before the beginning of
the offensive on the Western front, as to whether I was
ready o enter into negotiations and on what terms.’

On the 3rd April the speech was reported in Paris.
Clemenceau had left for the front that morning. They
telephoned to him. The Government statement appeared
on the 4th in the newspapers : “ On reading the despatch
. . . M. Clemenceau simply made this comment, * Count
Czernin lied ! ™’

On the 6th the newspapers published a fresh statement :
‘M. Clemenceau on coming into office had found con-
versations going on in Switzerland, on the initiative of
Austtia, between Count Revertera, a2 personal friend of
the Emperot, and Commandant Armand, of the Second
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Division of the General Staff, appointed for this purpose
by the then Minister for War. He did not think that these
conversations should be broken off. But he gave this
instruction, ““ Listen and say nothing.”’

It was now up to the Hapsburgs to speak. The news-
papers published a long statement from the Austrian
Government on thegth: ‘ The conversations took place on
the 22nd and 23rd August, 1917. They wete resumed in
January, 1918, at the behest of M. Clemenceau. . . .’

Clemenceau answered, “ A diluted lie still remains a
lie.

On the 12th the French newspapers published a letter
from the Emperor of Austria to Prince Sixte de Bourbon,
his brother-in-law, which had been presented to the
President of the Republic on the 3ist March, 1917. It
read: ‘I beg of you to convey secretly and in confidence
to M. Poincaré that I shall use all the means in my power
to satisfy the just clatms of the French with regard to Alsace-
Lotraine. . . . We must work to prepare the ground of
understanding for a basis on which official pourpatlers
may be entered into.’

In the newspaperts of the 14th the Austrian Govern-
ment declared, ‘ The letter is a forgery,” which drew from
Clemenceau the celebrated reply, ¢ There ate some bad con-
sciences about.” ¢ The original document was transmitted
in the presence of M. Jules Cambon, General Secretary to
the Ministry for Foreign Affairs, delegated for the purpose
by the Minister, to the President of the Republic, who with
the authority of the Prince conveyed a copy of it to the
President of the Counncil.’

Clemenceau’s reply went even further than these ‘ bad
consciences.” We read, ¢ Finding no way to save his face,
the Emperor Chatles stammers like 2 man who has been
caught out. . . .

Before this new style : ‘ Count Czernin lied . . . there
are bad consciences about . . . stammers like 2 man who
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has been caught out*; before these publications of ultra-
confidential documents and this kind of raking fire which
traversed Europe from right to left—bang ! bang !—there
was a great tumult in the camp of traditional diplomacy.
I rtemember M, Jules Cambon. . . . This very courteous
and correct man was completely aghast. He raised his
hands to Heaven. He looked at me for four or five
seconds and I thought that he was going to open his heart
to me. He contented himself with tapping me softly on
the shoulder, shaking his head and going out. . . . He
expected even worse things, They had never before
experienced these roarings of the tiger—what was going
to happen ?

This :

The Emperor Charles telegrapbed to William II on
the 16th April: ‘I have no intention of continuing the
discussion with France any longer. . . .” On the same
16th April the newspapers announced: ‘It is lcarnt from
Vienna that the Minister of the Royal and Imperial Court
and for Foreign Affairs, Count Czernin, has offered his
resignation to the Emperor, who has accepted it.’

It was the last ministry which Clemenceau was to
bowl over.

Something had given way on the other side.

And on the 17th, at dawn, in the ditches of Vincennes,
a man was shot : Bolo.

There was no connection, of coutse, between Bolo and
the conversations in Switzerland. But there was, willy-
nilly, in that roll of musketry a kind of savage full
stop to those troubled days when the word peare had been
circulated.
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TRAVELS

12th June, 1928,
CLEMENCEAU : I’ve been dreaming about Psichari? . . .
What’s become of him ?

MYSELF : Isn’t he dead ?

CcLEMENCEAU : 1 don’t know . . . people come, they
go. . . . Thete’s a man who adored me. He must have
come to a bad end.?

! The author.
 During the war Psichari had swom an overflowing and flaming passion for
Clemenceau.  He spent his time composing sonnets to his glory and sending me
these sonnets at the rate of five or six a week -
*25th Decembet, 1919,
“ Here it is piping hot.
But I must bind vou to silence,
Not 8 word.
The second is in the press, the most beautiful of all,
* Yours,
* JEan PsicHARL'

Then follows a sonnet entitled Sifence, which begins with these words :
* Yes, you bave bome the brunt ; not to speak, but
Toact!”
The next day :
¢ 26th December, 1519.
* DEAR SiR,
 Here it is, the loveliest sonnet,
¥ Well, no, it seemns to me less successful than the others.
‘ Yours,
¢ Jean Psicuarr'
Followed by :
' O Georges, who amongst us understands your sombre spivit 7 *
conclading with these lines ;
¢ You know how to hide, under a virile lightaess,
Under an iton glove the velvet hand [ *
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MYSELF : Afe you working P

CLEMENCEAU : Yes. I am not satisfied. I am doing
a job which isn’t coming out; to crown my good luck I
fell the other day in the garden. . . .

MYSELF : Really!

CLEMENCEAU : I had great trouble in getting up again.
I was covered with mud; for two days I suffered from a
kind of shivering. Whete are the days when I vaulted
the streams of the Marais ! with a pole? I tried to make
Geffroy 2 do it. . . . He couldn’t find anything better
to do than break his arm.

MYSELF : Didn’t you hurt yourself when you fell ?

CLEMENCEAU : No, I don’t think so. ‘Then I wondered
if I hadn’t got too much sugar in my blood. I had an
analysis made—I haven’t. But it is quite certain that I eat
things which don’t do me any good.

MYSELF : Why ?

CLEMENCEAU: Why? Because one get’s tired of
everything, even of taking care of oneself. And you?
What’s become of you ?

MYSELF : Great news! I've decided not to go to the
Orient.

CLEMENCEAU : Really! Why?

MYSELF : In order to work.

CLEMENCEAU : At what?

MYSELF : Something I am doing at the moment.

CLEMENCEAU : Something setious ?

MYSELF : Yes.

CLEMENCEAU : Good. Moteover, you know that the
best joutneys are those which you never make. The best
thing about 2 journey is the raitway timetable.

1 In the Vendée.
2 Gustave Geffroy, the author, who was an old friend of Clemenceau’s.
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MyseLr : I announced the fact to my wife. . . .
CLEMENCEAU : And she clawed your eyes out ?
MYSELF : She said, ¢ All right, let’s stay.’

CLEMENCEAU : Well, you can boast that you have 2
wife of a kind they don’t make nowadays. Where’ll
you go then ?

MYSELF : To a place called Tharon, near Pornic.? The
country is terrible, so much so that I shan’t be tempted
to stroll about.

CLEMENCEAU : I think you’re right. We shall be
neighbours. You will be able to come and see me. How
far is it from me ?

MYSELF : Less than a hundred kilometres, and if the
roads are good I should do it in two houts.

cLEMENCEAU : If T can’t put you up at my house I have
another next door, where you will be better off in any case
than on a bench. Will you bring your wife ?

MYSELF : If you will allow me to.

CLEMENCEAU : I felt that the tour of the Mediterranean
which you were contemplating was not the thing for you.
You know : Syria, Palestine, Jerusalem, they’re all a kind
of lice heap. When I was at Alexandria I wondered if
I ought to go there. I had read things about them that
deprived me of any desire to go neater. Where else were
you going ?

MYSELF : We were going to make a little tour in Egypt.
We wete planning to go as far as Constantinople, coming
back by way of Athens.

cLEMENCEAU : Well, you will do that later: you will
do it as it ought to be done. Egypt should have 2 whole
journey to herself. Or else it’s a farce. You must see
Khartoum. Once when I was at Khartoum someone said

1 On the Atlantic,
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to me, pointing out a woman who was passing, carrying
something or other on her back, ¢ That’s a slave.’

¢ Oh, how can youn tell ?°

‘ By 2 mark which she has. . . .

You should see the White Nile and the Blue Nile join
without mingling . . . two streams which flow on side
byside. It’s at Khartoum that the English under Kitchener
gave that drubbing to the Mahdists. At Wadi-Halfa [ saw
the Mahdi’s second in command in prison . . . what was
he called? . . . Osman Dignal! . .. a fine fellow with
eyes like coals and a great beard. His prison was the kind
of place which you can leave just as you like if you have the
slightest desire to. Osman Digna didn’t dream of going
away. Which is obvious proof that it is only in prisons
that you can have quiet. . . .

MYSELF : And freedom.

CLEMENCEAU : Not a doubt of it! And freedom, if
you take ¢ freedom ” in its noblest sense. He stopped there,
seated on a bit of straw, leaning against the wall, and spent
his days repeating his prayers. 1 don’t know what he ate
—bits of wood. But he was very happy. When I came
in he got up—I tell the story in A Soir de la Pensée. He
said to me, ‘ Oh, M. Clemenceau !’

They asked him : * But do you know M., Clernenceau ?’

¢ Certainly, and I was expecting him, . . .

They tell 2 good story about Osman Digna. Kitchener
went to see him ope day. He came in and said, * Don’t
you recognise me ?’

1 No.,

*I'm Kitchener.’

¢ Kitchener ?’

He had never heard Kitchener’s name. And Kitchener,
who had come there to astound him, to crush him under
the weight of his laurels . . . came out heartbroken. It
eluded his soldier’s brain.

1 See .Au Soir de ia Penste, vol. i, p. 215.
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Well, one day when the Governor was hunting over
that way, his beater said to him, ‘I beg your pardon,
Mr. Governor, but do you intend to release Osman
Digna ?’

“Well,’ said the other, ‘we are keeping him a bit
unjustly, but he doesn’t make a row ; he never makes any
complaint, I think that we shall keep him like that till
the end.’

The man answered, ‘ You do well to, because I warn
you—he tore my father’s eyes out and my mother’s,
violated my sister. . . . He wouldn’t be out of prison an
hout before I should cut his thtoat. And I'm not the
only one to entertain those sentiments towards him.’

Osman Digna, outside these little whims, was a very
nice fellow.

And Egypt is a lovely country.

At Khartoum the Governor lived in a building whose
windows were completely without glass. This turned out
to be rather embarrassing. One day when we were eating
there, some birds who had built their nests behinda picture,
came out in the middle of the meal and cleared all the food
off the tables.

Do you like trees ?

MYSELF : 1 find them a very pleasant addition to the
landscape. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Well, in Egypt there are trees—yes,
I suppose you might call them trees—palms, which look
like plumage, and baobabs, which aze like thick towers,
and enormous, with branches high up where a kind of nut
grows. They are very ugly. The peasants hollow out
the trunks and line them with cement. That makes a cistern
where the rainwater lies stagnant. They drink this water :
it’s filthy.

One day we wetre at the foot of one of these trees and
tried to knock down some nuts ; there was nothing we
could use, neither stones nor sticks, We threw camel
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droppings. We looked a bit silly, I fancy. An old
woman came along, old and ugly, and said to us, ‘You
know, in my time I was very attractive and pretty—I was
the Mahdi’s slave I*  Just as she might have said, 1 was
the queen of the world.” And she added, * When men
took their pleasure with me, well, you can believe me,
they didn’t regret it!’ As if she might have said, ‘I
took all the prizes in my class !’

Travel, Martet. You’ll sce how strange the world is.
One day I was hunting something or other—the marabout
ot the tufted crane . . . the marabout is a sympathetic
animal. I could quite willingly join up with a marabout.
You might with accuracy call him a peasant who loses
himself in his work. I was there with my gun, looking
at the animal—I didn’t even think of firing—when suddenly
they all flew away and I saw a man with gold spectacles
appear. Isaid to him, © What are you doing here ?’

He answered, ‘I am a Dutch missionary.’

¢ Oh, and are you succeeding in your efforts 2

He answered, ¢ They are a little obstinate.”

I asked him, * Are you sure that they don’t say the same
about you ?’

MYSELF : As if Egypt hadn’t already enough gods. . . .

CcLEMENCEAU : One day we were following the course
of the Nile. There was a man who wore two pairs of
braces to support one-third of a trouser, and who stopped
me and asked me who I was. I said to him, ¢ And you ?’

‘T am the American bishop of this station.’

Then I told him who I was. He took me home with
him. He lived in a house built of 2 kind of metallic canvas
as protection against the mosquitoes, with a pretty dis-
agreeable kind of wife, who in herself must have been
worse than several million mosquitoes and three or four
swarms of locusts. He must have married her as the
consequence of a deadly sin, to mortify himself,

I wanted to know how the natives went about making
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a fire with two sticks. ‘The bishop’s wife wouldn’t allow
it. “Not here! Do it outside!’

I said, ¢ No, madam, it must be done here.’

‘ You will burn my catpet.’

‘ We will extinguish it for you. Go ahead, light it!’

As you see, an impossible woman., Then I saw how
they made a fire. A man took a stick of hard wood, and
one of soft ; in the stick of soft wood he made a hole with
the point of his knife; he sharpened the stick of hard
wood, twisted it tound with his hand . . . thete was some
smoke . . . he breathed on it and that caused a flame.

MYSELF : But don’t they also make a fire by rubbing two
flints against each other ?

CLEMENCEAU : No; one thing that you don’t know—
your ignorance is inctedible. What did they teach you
at school ?

MYSELF : At the *Varsity there was a man who examined
me on comets, I hadn’t any trouble in telling him what
their tails were made of.

CLEMENCEAU : It’s appalling! So you simply don’t
understand anything about anything ?

MYSELF: Not very much. . . . But is there anything
very much that one can understand ?

CLEMENCEAU: You can put questions to yourself.
Then put this one about flint. Two flints knocked against
each other don’t give out spatks.

MYSELF : Oh, why not ?
CLEMENCEAU : Because you must have iron.
MYSELF : Why?

CLEMENCEAU : Because that’s the way it happens to be.
When I was young, at a place called Mouilleron-en-Pareds,!
I rubbed two stones together like that ; they gave out 2

! The village in the Vendée where Clemenceau was bom,
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phosphorescent gleam which had 2 rather queer odou.
I tried to find out where this odour could come from. . . .

MYSELF : What did Science have to say about it ?

CLEMENCFAU : She didn’t know anything about it.
In all these proceedings there wasn’t the least suggestion
of a flame. Because what makes the flame is the patticles
of iron which sepatate and ignite on contact with the ait.

My bishop had six women servants who spent all their
time with jugs on their heads going to get water from the
Nile, to fill a kind of cistern. He seemed to find every-
thing quite satisfactory. It must have reminded him of the
Samaritan. He had taylorised the Samaritan. He took
me to his church, a kind of hut with two or three benches,
one of which had three legs, and 2 pulpit which was made
of an old broken soap box—and that was the lot. I asked
him, ¢ Have yon many of the faithful ?’

¢ Well,” he answered, ‘I have got six, my six servants ;
but when I fire them they go back to their own religion,
Otherwise it might breed bad feeling and no one would
speak to them any longer.’

MYSELF : It sounds successful,

CLEMENCEAU: It isn’t bad. He gets five thousand
dollats for it. I thinkit’s five thousand or six or something
like that. Add the heat, the terrible noise of the sun
making everything dry up, boil, crackle ; add the Nile—
then you have Egypt. And you see people living on the
banks of the Nile making a species of boat out of 2 wood,
as hard as stone, from which they have removed the pith.
They hunt the hippopotamus in them.

MYSELF : Are there hippopotamuses ?

CLEMENCEAU : There are. ‘The hunters have a bow
and arrow and a rope. ‘They fire at the beast ; when the
hippopotamus has had enough, they pull the rope; you
see an enormous, slightly comic mass appear, which they
cat,
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MYSELF : And the desert ?

CLEMENCEAU : It’s strange. I’vecrossedit. Carcasses
of camels, varieties of white partridges. . . . There ate
plenty of things to die of. Once I was sleeping in a train ;
it was like sleeping in an oven. There was one of us who
had an ingenious idea. In order to get to sleep he lay
down outside on the ground. Then some people came
along. He feceived a heavy shower of blows with
cudgels. . . . He didn’t do it again,

I went to Berber. It’s thete they take the indiatubber
from Port Sudan on the backs of camels. It’s a very
impressive business. Under a tent you have women who
roll the balls of gum between their fingets and throw them
in the air to rid them of dust. As the tent is traversed by
the rays of the sun, the result is millions of stars dancing
silently. Go and see it.

MYSELF : But you've been everywhere. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : I have been to all the places where they
said it would perhaps be better not to go. They are
vety nice, very kind people, but you feel that for a yes or
no they might cut your throat ; they don’t attach the least
importance to this gesture,

MYSELF : What is the most beautiful thing you saw ?

CLEMENCEAU : Oh, the second cataract. A volcano
of black stones. Did I ever tell you this? Our boat, a
little steamer, got out of order, neatly foundered. An
Arab came to tell us that it was going down. It was
certainly the last place for a shipwreck. For thete wasn’t
anything there. . . . I heard them tapping oniron. They
patched it up again as best they could, thanks to which
the boat was able to wait till it reached port before going
to the bottom.

MYSELF : And Karnak ?
CLEMENCEAU : Well, at Karnak you see columns formed
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of clustered papyri from which emerges 2 tuft of foliage
which is the capital. There ate columns which are verit-
able monuments. When you compate them with the
little Greek columns of the Parthenon ot of the Asclepieion,
there is something ridiculous about it. You shouldn’t
limit yourself to Egypt, Martet. You ought to see India.

MYSELF : I know. One should see everything.

CLEMENCEAU : India is something quitc insane. You
know that it’s not very long since the English forbade the
funeral pytes on which they used to burn widows. But
there still remains the marriage of ten year old children
with men of sixty. On the following day they are in
such a condition that they go into hospital. Thete is
an Ametican woman who saw that and who exposes its
hotrors.

MYSELF : What do you think of the Indian dancing
girls ?

cLEMENCEAU : Well, once I came to the outskirts of a
town (I don’t know what its name was) on the banks of
some sacred stream or other, and half 2 dozen very beautiful
women came up and surrounded me. I made signs to
them. I thought that they wete like all other women.
The Englishman who was there with me said :

‘ In heaven’s name, I beg of you not to speak to them.’

‘Oh! Why not?’

“If you speak to them it will cause a terrible scandal.
When you zddress those women you are disgraced. It
would be in all of the papers the next day.’

Brr! I'm terribly afraid of the Lit#/e Benaresian and of
the Haidarabad Bearon! So I had them dance. They
executed 2 few indifferent steps which reminded me, in a
less exotic way, of the Universal Exhibition of 1878, and I
continued on my way.

MYSELF : You must have met some missionaties out

thete also,
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CLEMENCEAU : Yes, indeed. At—oh, somewhere—in
the jungle were two missionaries who had seen me at the
front. They wanted to meet me again, I asked them:

¢ Well, what are you doing here ?’

They said :

* The natives are bored, so we tell them stories and play
with their children.’

* Do you also talk to them about religion ?’

“ Oh yes, at the right time.’

There’s another most ludicrous thing, the caste system.
There was a Rajah who wouldn’t dine with me be-
cause it would have contaminated him. Since I didn’t
specially want to dine with him, I was quite satisfied just
to sit at his table; I presided at the dinner, and after the
food he came over. We sat down together on a divan
and began to tell each other stories. There is your caste
system.

MYSELF : And the women ?

CLEMENCEAU : They’re not up to much. They only
know how to laugh and produce children. They spend
their lives being pregnant. When you say to them,
¢ Still another ?° they laugh. It’s appalling,

MYSELF : Are they happy, those people ?

CLEMENCEAU : When they’re made to wotk, no. You
force civilisation on them, make roads and bridges for
them: they don’t understand and they die. But I re-
member one day we wete travelling along a road by cat.
There wete crocodiles crossing the road in order to get
from one pool to another. ... I noticed roads which
broke off completely and became buried in the jungle.
They reminded me strikingly of the little sunken roads of
the Vendée. I said to the man who was guiding me:
‘Let’s go that way for a little while” We plunged in.
But we weren’t able to go very far. At the end of twenty
minutes I had to stop—the road had become a kind of
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chaos of stones and trees. Then the folk who live in the
jungle came up to us and began to talk to us about all sorts
of things. They appeared to be delighted with life.

MYSELF : But the famines.

CLEMENCEAU : Thete are famines. . . . Then they die
off like flies. It’s one of their established routines. . . .
Thete are some countries whete you die of arterio-sclerosis
or alcoholism. Qut there you die of hunger. During
my entire journey I only saw one old man. You ought
to se¢c what they eat—a kind of black pteserve which
tastes like rotten fish. And the dogs! Species of skele-
tons tunning about—not one cunce of flesh on them, and
eyes distracted with hunger. There isn't anything, not
even refuse. They eat whatever they find, even stones.

Because of these widows reduced to a state of slavery,
and the little girls violated under pretext of marriage,
India sends a kind of shiver over you. The English point
to all that and say, ‘ You sce. It’s been a good job, never-
theless, bringing civilisation to those people.” But all
they would have to do would be to forbid those horrors
and they would disappear. There might be some diffi-
culties, but you’d only have to fire on them once or twice——
everybody would be on the side of the shooters.?

MYSELF ¢ My next voyage will not be to India.
cLEMENCEAU : Ohl Where will it be ?
MYSELF : To Greece.

CLEMENCEAU: You're right. You should always
begin with Greece. You should also end with her.

1 Cletnenceau left Patis on the 215t September, 1920.  He embatked at Mar-
seilles on the Cordilfire. He telegraphed from Pore-Said on the 27th, * Good
crossing. Health fine. Everything all right’ From Colombo on the 2nd
October, ¢ Excellent health.  Weather splendid.  Excursions Sunday and Monday.”
From Singapore on the 17th, ¢ Asrived safely. Health excellent, Leaving Friday
for Batavia.! Then he was in India. He stayed there three months. On the
13th Pebroaty, 1921, he telegraphed from Mysore, © Everything fine. We left
Colombo 23rd.  Batring the unexpected shall be at Marseilles 15th March.’
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mySELF : In spite of the Greeks, It’s rather sickening
to find Pangalos installed thete after Pericles.

CLEMENCEAU : It certainly is very trying. They've
inherited nothing from their ancestors except their garrulity.
What talkers they are! You’ll see them, while they eat
cutious objects which they call artichokes, and which
are merely thistles—they dip them in salt—talking, talk-
ing inexhaustibly, See Olympus. Do you know that
Pausanias was still able to see wooden columns at Olympus
in the second century? I went to a place where they
said it was impossible to go, and as a matter of fact it
wasn'’t very easy—to Phigalia.

MYSELF : Where is it ?

CLEMENCEAU : In the north of the Peloponnesus. It’s
a place which was full of temples. You still see them on
the ground. You can take a stroll amongst the archi-
traves, It’s an impressive sight. Also see Agtigentum,
Sytacuse .

MYSELF : Paestum !

CLEMENCEAU : Naturally you’ll see Paestum |

[Albert announces < M, Jaeger.’

CLEMENCEAU: Yes. In my study. He’s the son-in-
law of Dr. Bucherl.t

MYSELF {getting #p) : I'll disappear. Presently I should
like to ask you why you were born at Mouilleron-en-Pareds.

CLEMENCEAU : Why I was . .

MYSELF : Yes,

CLEMENCEAU : Ah, you’re on that subject now, ate
you? It’s very simple: because my mother, who came
from the petite bourgeoisie—her brother’s father was a
solicitor at Saint-Jean d’Angély—the Clemenceaus were of
the bourgeoisic before the Revolution, a fact of which
they were as proud as peacocks—my mother didn’t want

1 Editor of the Alrare Frangaise,
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to have her confinements at L’Aubraie, where she would
have had to stay with her father-in-law, who was an old
imbecile and didn’t like her. She went to Mouilleron
with her parents.

MYSELF : The Clemenceans came from L’Aubraie ?

CLEMENCEAU : No, the Clemenceaus wete from Mou-
champs. Don’t you know Colombier? It's the little
family chiteau. One day I'll take you to see the house
where I was botn, at Mouilleron, and the bit of earth where
I shall be buried, at Colombier., Those two points will
mark the span of my sad rainbow. . . .

My father was a doctor, my grandfathet was a doctor.
He went to inspect the cows in a white tie and a high hat.
When he met me in the courtyard of the chiteau, he used
to say to me, ‘ Where are you going, little fellow?” I
would answer, ‘I'm going to the kitchen” He would
1eply, ¢ Your place isn’t in the kitchen, it’s in the drawing-
room.” In the drawing-room there was, by way of amuse-
ment, my aunt who used to read Mme de Sévigné. It was
very dull.  When I was able to ride and take a gallop in
the fields, life was attractive. Until then it was deadly. I
can undesstand why my mother preferred to undergo her
confinements elsewhere.

myseLF : How did L’Aubraie ! happen to come into
your family ?

CLEMENCEAU : My great-gtandfather acquired it through
his wife, His wife’s family was very proud of it, and always
for the same reason : they had had it before the Revolution.
It wasn’t national property.

MyYSeLF : And what did your great-grandfather do ?

1 In The Strongest thete is a description of 2 chiteau which point for point
rescrmbles L’ Aubraie—it’s the manor house of Henti de Puymaufray. * Situated
in the rectangle made by the muddy waters of its moat, the wan chétean faised
towards the skies its expressionless three-storey fagade with its latticed, funereally
black windows. The drawbridge, whose shaking supports have for two centuries

been sunk into the stone, is affixed to the arch, surmounted by battlements,
which gives access to the fortress.”
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¢cLEMENCEAU : He was also a doctor.  He had been one
of the Five Hundred, After this he was appointed sub-
prefect of a sub-prefecture which no longer exists:
Montaigu. He took advantage of the appointment to
make speeches and issue proclamations on the glory of
Napoleon, to his heart’s content.

[ noticed on his table a pamphler :
‘ Clemenceau’s  Geistliches  Ver-
maechtnis,’
MYSELF: Aha!
CLEMENCEAU : Yes, it’s by a Boche. He’s probably
abusing me violently. Vermaechtnis, What does it mean ?
Impotence 2

MYSELF : No. Legasy.

CLEMENCEAU : Oh, really? Are you sure? That
sutprises me . .. Ver . . . ver . . . (He goes into the
hall and looks for a book on the shelves) 1 had a German
dictionary, but everything disappears round here. Some-

body must eat them. . . . Ah, here itis. (He begins 1o turn
the pages.) Ver . .. ver .. . vermaechtnis . . . lgacy. . . .
That’s funny !

MYSELF :  Clemenceaw’s Spiritwal Legacy. At least he
doesn’t abuse you in the title.

CLEMENCEAU : These Boches, all the same! Extra-
ordinary people. There’s an inscription by the author
which takes ten lines. Is he pulling my leg, I wonder?
No, he’s simply a fellow without malice. Their great
quality lies here—they don’t become enfeebled. They’ll
fall on us at exactly the right moment. (He gets #p.) T’ll
go and see the little Jaeger.
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CLEMENCEAU’S ANCESTORS

I often observed that Clemenceau was not very familiar
with his family’s history. Fortunately there is an
abundance of information elsewhere.? In going through
the legal and parochial records of vatious villages of the
Vendée—Mouchamps, Mateuil-sut-le-Lay, Saint-Michel en
I'Herm, etc., it appears that there was formerly a certain
Jehan Clemencean, the protégé of Mgr. de Sacierges,
bishop of Lugon.

Jehan Clemenceau had been apprenticed to the Marnef
brothers, who wete printers in Portiers. He had learned
his trade and returned to his native village, Mareuil-sur-le-
Lay, where Mgr. de Sacierges had his palace. He had
opened a printing-works and a stationer-bookseller’s shop
and married Isabella Voyneau, Lady la Touche, of Dissais,
near Mareuil, on 12th January, 1498. The business had
prospered and Jehan Clemenceau had become 2 person of
importance. By letters patent of King Louis XII, given
at Blois the sth February, 1508, he had been exempted
from zll public duties.

Jehan Clemenceau had two sons. The younger,
Jacques, became, in 1547, vicar-general to Mgr. d’Hilliers,
who had succeeded Mgt. de Sacierges; later he was
¢ Master of the Music to the Cathedral Chapter *—an office
of high dignity.

The elder, Frangois, lord of la Couffardiére, was

1 See especially a remarkable study by Heary Cassira (J'ai T'%, 15th December,
3p18). M. Cassita mentions the researches made by M, Louis Brochet, an archivist,
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Seneschal of Lugon and of Moustiers-sur-le-Lay. In this
capacity he held, on the 23rd January, 1570, an inquiry
into the depredations committed by the Protestants on the
houses of the bishops and canons of Lugon and Moustiers.

Frangois Clemenceau martied Jehanne Orceau, daughter
of the Revenue Officer of the manor of Moustiers-sur-le-
Lay. Hehad oneson, from whom sprang the two branches
of the Clemenceaus, those of La Serrie and those of
Colombier.

The generations passed on. The Clemenceaus formed
a Clemenceau line. In 1623, Squire Clemenceau, a doctor
at Nantes and man proficient in his art, was ennobled by
letters Patent of King Louis XIII, who gave him arms
“ divided, in the one half gules with a key atgent, in the
second a seal of gules on argent.’

On the 8th March, 1709, Pierre-Benjamin Clemenceau
was botn: he studied for the bar and became a Patlia-
mentary advocate, He married as his second wife, in
1748, Charlotte-Anne Bouquet, daughter of Paul, lord of
the manor of Chadeliére, and of Anne-Louise Chapeau.

A son was born the 29th May, 1749, and called Piette-
Paul Clemenceau. He practised medicine for several
years and later was elected, on the 2nd September, 1791, 2
member of the depattmental administration of Fontenay-
le-Comte. In 1792 he was mayor of the commune of
Mouchamps.

The insurrection broke out in the Vendée. Pietre-
Paul Clemenceau was appointed a medical officer in the
Armies of the West. At the beginning of the year VIII
he was head of the municipal administration of the Canton
of Mouchamps. In Floréal (Revolutionary month zoth
April-19th May) he was appointed sub-prefect of Montaigu.
He was a conscientious and zealous official. I have several
of his reports to the Prefect of the Vendée—they are
marvels of bureaucratic style. He served the Emperor
faithfully. His superiors were delighted with him. He
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received letters of warm commendation,! and finally,
coming to Paris, was received at the Tuileries :

¢ S1R,

¢ The Court Chamberlain, in obedience to the command
of his Majesty the Emperor and King, has the honour to
inform you that there will be a levée at court on Monday,
24th March, 1806, at 9 o’clock in the evening, R.S.V.P.

He was invited to the wedding ceremony of His Royal
Highness the Prince of Baden to Her Imperial Highness the
Princess Stéphanie Napoleon. Cardinal Caprara asked
him for the honout of his company at dinner, ‘ on next
Monday, the sth of May, at five o’clock sharp, at the
Hotel Biron in the rue de Varennes. There will be no
ladies present.’

And this little card, which was sent to him by the
Grand Master of Ceremonies :

‘ The Grand Master of Ceremonies, in obedience to
the command of his Majesty the Emperor and King, has
the honour to announce that the marriage of His Majesty
with the Archduchess Royal Marie-Louise will take place
in the grand ball-room of the Louvre.

‘You are invited to be presented in the first drawing-
room in the Museum Gallery, next the Chapel.

‘ This ticket is for personal use only, to
be presented on entering. Entrance
will be by the two side staircases of
the Clock Pavilion from the side of
the river-bank or of the Carrousel.
The doors will open at seven o’clock
and shut at midnight. Ladies will
wear Court dress and gentlemen
cvening dress or uniforms.’

1 These latters, printed in the otiginal, are omitted here because of their length.

—Transialor’s mote.
T
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In 1776 Pierte-Paul Clemenceau had martied Chatlotte
Maillot, daughter of Charles, Squire of I’Aubraie, in the
parish of Mouchamps. He died in 1825.

His eldest son, Paul Jules Benjamin, born the 22nd of
June, 1777, was 2 doctor, like his father. In 1801 he married
Marie-Thérése Gabrielle Joubert, by whom he had one
son, Paul-Benjamin, in 1810.!

Paul-Benjamin, a doctor like his father and grandfather,
married, in 1839, Sophie Emma Eucharis Gautreau, of
Mouilleron-en-Pareds, by whom he had three daughters,
Emma, Adrienne and Sophie, and three sons, Georges,
Paul and Albert,

The register of Georges Clemenceau’s birth reads :

“In the year one thousand eight hundred and forty-
one, on the thirtieth of September, at five o’clock in the
evening, there appeared before us, the Mayor and Public
Officer of the State for the Commune of Mouilleron-en-
Pareds, Canton of la Chateigneraye, Department of the
Vendée, M. Paul Clemenceau, physician, domiciled at
Nantes, who presented for registration a child of the male
sex, born on the twenty-eighth of this month at half-past
nine in the evening, at the home of Monsieur Frangois
Gautreau, landed proprietor resident in the borough, and
his wife Madame Sophie Eucharis Emma Gautreau ; he
declared his intention of giving to the said child the
Christian names of Geotges Benjamin ; the said declara-
tion and presentation took place in the presence of Messts.
Pierre Auget, baker, aged fifty-two, and Jacques Lazate
Chabinier, carpenter, aged thirty-two, both domicilied in
the borough of Mouilleron and friends of the child’s father ;
and both appeating, signed this instrument after reading.’

! Born at L'Aubraie 28th April, 1810, Died at 'Aubraie 231d July, 1897
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CoroniarL Poricy-—FERrY, GamBETTA, THIERS, JAURRES

1gth June, 1928,

MYSELF: You were speaking to me the other day about
your ‘ctimes "—I should like to ask you about another
‘crime” with which you have often been charged—your
struggles with Jules Ferry. You accused Ferry of two
things—with not organising the Republic with sufficient
speed and system . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Yes.

MYSELF : Secondly, you criticised his foreign policy and
his colonial policy. As far as his domestic policy goes,
they might answer you that, if Ferry did not want to hasten
democracy’s triumph after the fall of the Empire, it was
because he was inclined to distrust democracy, its possible
results and the difficulties into which it might lead the
country—and seeing what has happened, pethaps he
wasn’t altogether wrong. In regard to his colonial policy,
it can’t be denied that the colonies supported us in our
struggle, shared our sense of national honour, and gave us
men.

CLEMENCEAU (who has been listening impatiently) : Is that
all? Martet, 'll answer you. I must tell you in the
first place that I'm not a simple ideologist who made a cult
of the Revolution. At PAubraie there wete portraits of
Robespietre, of Saint-Just and other such marvels in all
comers of the house. My father used to tell me that
they were gods and that there were none beside them.
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My father brought me up a Republican. I fought under
the Empire for the Republic. The 4th of September
One day I found myself face to face with Ferry, I
understood that Ferry was incapable of bringing the
Republic to realisation. You tell me ‘ If he didn’t otganise
democracy sooner and more quickly, it’s because he dis-
trusted democracy.” That’s a mistake, Martet. It’s only
because he couldn’t do any better. He wasn’t a dishonest
man. But in the matter of intelligence he was sub-normal,
unable to do anything, even to put two words together.
These fellows usually have at least the gift of the gab—
they may not have anything but hot air to express, but they
express it. When you went to see him he looked at you
with vacant eyes, made banal little jokes, and that was all.
And if they made him President of the Council, it was
precisely because he was of no use for anything.

Well, in those days my great scheme was, as you know,
free and compulsory secular instruction. With Barodet
and 2 few others I went to see Ferry. I told him all that,
He said, ¢ Free instruction. It’s impossible. We haven’t
the means. What I'm trying to do now is to increase the
subsidies. Compulsory? What are you asking! The
people would never permit it.”

And that’s how things are going on to-day and will
continue to go on so long as they continue to make laws
without the will to enforce them. The Republic turns
out quantities of laws——she forgets to station a policeman
beside them. Every now and then she even makes laws
which say that such and such a thing is forbidden by virtue
of such article in such law, that this article has not been
enforced but that beginning to-day all that will be changed
—and you soon see that it’s metely tantamount to the law
proclaiming its own bankruptcy.

* As for secular instruction,’ said Ferty, ¢ it’s not to be
thought of ; there would be a frevolution.”
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Whereupon, after having assured us that the three things
were impossible, he did them; he spoke one way and
acted another,

As for his foreign policy, he succeeded in his pretty
little four de foree of throwing Italy into the arms of Germany
by putting his hands on Tunis. I blamed him for that in
no uncertain terms. I even—a memoir, Mattet !—re-
member making a little speech on this subject one day, a
little speech for which I had prepared carefully. Some
time later the Berlin correspondent of the Times, whom I
knew, went to see Bismarck, The latter asked him, ¢ Who
is this Clemenceau ?’

* Well,” said the other, “he’s a young man, a doctor
who’s this and that. . . .’

* Oh,’ said Bismarck, ‘ he said a thing or two the other
day—he’s a lad to keep your eye on.’

As for colonial policy, I blamed Ferry for throwing away
our men and money on remote expeditions when we needed
them a good deal more urgently at home,

MYSELF : If you had it to do over again, would you
still oppose that colonial policy ?

CLEMENCEAU : In the same way, Martet, and with the
same energy, if we still had the German menace always
before us, a declining birthrate, an army and navy barely
sufficient to defend the metropolis, and if, finally, France
persisted in wanting colonies without colonists. The
French don’t want to leave Paris, Bordeaux, Marseilles.
The French don’t want to have children, What’s all this
fuss about colonies then ?

Furthermore I blamed Ferry for making these colonial
expeditions—I also blame him for the way in which he
made them, You can’t have any idea of the stupidity, the
incompetence which ruled these undertakings. One day
Fetty said to me from the rostrum, © A battle has taken
place near a town which isn’t marked on the map.”

I replied, © Excuse me, but the town is marked on the
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very maps which you disttibuted to us. And that town
is . . .’ He hadn’t even looked at the map!?

The people and the millions they gambled with, with-
out knowing where or against whom—and all the corrupt
dealing that went on behind it. A colonial policy is a good
thing, Martet, when it uncovers a few genuine truths for
export to the poor devils, black or yellow, who otherwise
wouldn’t care a hang most of the time. But when it
merely setves to enrich a few people, to found companies,
to exploit capital resources, to make these same yellow and
black folk sweat gold, then, with your permission, it doesn’t
arouse much enthusiasm in my breast. There is a great
drawback attached to colonies, namely, that in general
they are very far away and almost anything can go on
there without anyone ever going out to have 2 look, and
when investigators ate sent out they come back two or
three years later when the matter is no longer of interest—
and usually they return delighted, for some mystetious
reason, with the result of their investigations.

MYSELF: But the help which the colonies sent us
during the war ?

CLEMENCEAU: Yes, there is that, That brings to
mind this story which I heard in India. There was a man
who rose early every morning and went out into the
country with his gun. Every time he heard a nightingale
sing he killed it. One day his wife said to him, ¢ See here,
youw’re killing all these poor little beasts; it’s horrible.
It’s a kind of killing that serves no purpose whatever.’

‘You shouldn’t say that,” answered the man. “If I
didn’t go out to kill those little beasts I should remain in

1 Speech of the 27th November, 1884, on affairs in Tonkin :

The President of the Council: *The action took place near a town whose
name is not on the map.’

M. Clemencean : * 1 regret exceedingly, Mr. President, to call your attention to

the fact that the name of this town is cerrainly on the map which you distributed
to us-—it's the town of Hung-Quan, You haven't looked at the map—that’s your
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bed, gnd I find it does me good to take a little walk in the
morning.’

Even the stupidest actions have their good side—the
colonies gave us Mangin, He was a dangerous man, and
if he had lived he would have done things which it would
have been better not to do. But he knew how to fight,
and in that underbrush and in those marshes of his he canght
the flavour, the meaning of combat. He made war like
a soldier and not, as did a pack of others, like an office-
holder.

And there were not only the whites who went and
saturated themselves and took shape in Aftica or Asia.
There were the blacks, the Senegalesc, whom I used to see
going by in lorties, serene and smiling, and who fought like
wildcats,

One day at the front I saw a detachment of these fellows
from a distance, with 2 man on hotseback circling about
them. I asked who they wete, and was told that no one
knew. So I went up to them in the car. They wete
blacks who wete just coming out of the trenches, where
they had been forgotten for eighteen days. You can
imagine what they were like—lumps of mud. They were
returning with their rifles broken, their clothing in rags—
magnificent. When they saw me they began to play the
Marseillaise, with anything whatever, tapping on stones and
bits of wood—it was the answer to my attacks on Ferry.
I spoke to them. I don’t know if they understood. I
told them that they were engaged in liberating themselves
by coming to fight by our side, that through blood we
should become brothers—sons of the same civilisation,
the same philosophy. Wotds—small enough in truth in
comparison with them, their courage and nobility.

They wete splendid. ‘The Boches complained because
we sent blacks against them. But there is no Boche, no
doctor of the Univetsity of Betlin or of Munich, who is as
handsome or magnificent as any one of these Senegalese.
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What have they anyway, the Boches? Their science?
They’te gifted in psychology? What does that amount to?
Yes, I know all that. Nevertheless the fact remains
that when Ferry pushed us toward Tonkin—° because we
found it did us good to take a little exercise in the morn-
ing >—he diverted us from the one thing it was imperative
that we should heed and fear-~Germany ; whilst I knew
well that it was not at Tonkin that our destiny would be
decided, but right here, where it actually was decided.

MYSELF : There’s one thing I don’t understand very
well, sir, and that’s this : it is said that Bismarck did every-
thing in his power to encourage our colonial schemes in
order, as you say, to divert out attention. I wonder,
therefore, why we didn’t in our turn apply the same policy
to Germany and why we took her colonies away ?

CLEMENCEAU : Because, in the first place, T had that
grudge on account of the snippet of the Congo which
Caillaux had turned over to them, It was a dishonourable
business. It would have been better to give them the
whole Congo. So we took that, the English took some-
thing else, all that they could take ; finally, everything was
taken from them. And I don’t regret it.  When a people
have done what the Boches did in Belgium and France, it
is hardly for them to say ‘ We want to civilise Africa.’
They’d do better to civilise themselves first.

MysELF: And Gambetta? What did you think of
him ?

CLEMENCEAU : Gambetta was a man of another stamp,
another spirit, than Ferry. He was a foreigner, who relied
greatly on the sonorousness of his voice, from which,
however, he obtained striking effects. Not many ideas.
He had conducted the war—both well and badly, but more
badly than well—but he certainly did conduct it, and as
well as he could. And he had profoundly generous
impulses—his philosophy was beautiful and noble, I
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liked Gambetta, and respected him. He didn’t know very
well where he was going, but he went with ardour.!

MYSELF : And Thiers ?

CLEMENCEAU : Thiers? That’s very easy: the Ver-
saillais, returning to Patis,? killed 20,000 men, women and
children. One day I went with my sister to Mouilleton-
en-Pareds, We met 2 man who had just left the military
service. My sister said to him jokingly, ¢ Ah, Untel!
You must have played some scurvy tricks while you wete
in the Army of Versailles.”

He answered with the air of 2 good fellow,  Well, miss,
scurvy tricks are all accordin’. All I can tell you is that
with my last shot I fired into the stomach of a woman who
was near the end of her carrying petiod.”

Thiers was the savage, limited type of bourgeois who
steeps himself in blood without flinching.

MYSELF: A little while ago I put this question to you
about the war you waged against Ferry—it’s quite certain
that if you had known then what you know to-day, if you
had been acquainted with democracy as you are . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Yes—well ?

11 found amongst Clemenceau’s papers this letter, addressed to M. Georges

Clemenceau, Mayor of the XVIII Arrondissement, Paris :
¢ Bordeaux, 3rd February, 1871.

¢ My Drar CremmnceAu,—Paris has fallen. But we must stil] think of France
and the Republic, znd look in the provinces for the co-operation on which we have
a right to count,

‘There is a large city which demands at its head an ardent republican, 2 man of
courage yet of broad and concilistory spirit. Challemel-Lacour fulfills these
qualifications in the bighest degree ; but his strength is exhausted, and it is necessary,
in order not to jeopardize so valuable u life, to find a successor who shall be worthy
of him and of Lyons,

It is you whom I have selected. You were heid in Paris by the expressed
wish of your fellow-citizens and by your duties ; unfottunately the cessation of
bhostilities does not permit you to believe that you are as necessary as you were, and
1 need you for a mote urgent post.

¢ Come then, without raising objections, for it is still a question of serving the
Republic. Come.

‘ Fraternal greetings,
“ LEoN GAMBETTA.

2 After the Cormmune.
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MYSELF : Would you all the same . . . ?

CLEMENCEAU : What is there beside democtacy P—will
you tell me that ? Democracy is men—it is man. If man
is foolish and stupid, obviously it’s very embarrassing.
But I don’t see any remedy for it. All systems have ended
in the same way—in the mire. It is humiliating for a
country to have had men like Louis XIV and Louis XV,
who were streets below Fallieres.? You shouldn’t growl
against the Republic and democracy just because you see
them embodied in chimney-sweeps. Monarchy would
probably be embodied in the same individuals, and if it
were embodied in others, the latter would be no better
than the former. The annoying and irremediable thing
about it all is that, whether you have a Republic or a
Monarchy, there will always be at the head of the State a
Doumergue, 2 Deschanel or a Charles IX ; that is, there
will be men, nothing but men.

MYSELF: In ten years, between 1885 and 1895, there
was such a change in the situation, such disillusion,

CLEMENCEAU: Yes, It ended with Jaurés. When
the Republic was set in motion, everything cleaned up, the
way prepared, then the Socialists turned up with Jaurés
and plunged in—and that was the beginning of the end.
Till then our struggles were kept within the borders of the
country—they threw wide all the doors.

Jaures had enormous talent. But there was something
mischievous in the man. He had extraordinary gifts,
which I myself had difficulty in resisting, but he was with-
out greatness or dignity or generosity . . . or humanity,
Yes, he was without humanity, Probably that’s why he
named his paper as he did.® Behind Jaurés’s humanity
and humanitarianism there was always something hostile
and threatening. Behind his idyllic pictures you could
see rising the smoke of civil war. He had none of the
qualities which bestow the true love of humanity on a man

! Recent President of France, * Humanity was founded by Jaurés.
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—aneither the smile, nor the tolerance nor self-doubt, nor
scepticism—nothing. Humanity was, to Jaurés, numbers,
the mob, brute strength. He fought for the side which
was bound to win. I prefer Baudry d’Asson, who fought
for hopeless causes and gathered painfully behind him
three dozen rattle-pates.

I remember Jaurés during the Rochette ! business. I
got Lépine? to imprison Rochette without notifying
Briand, who was Keeper of the Seals. Why? because
I had no confidence in Briand, who had caused the release
of one of his socialist friends the day before. I said to
myself, ‘If I speak to Briand about this, the beans are
spilled.” Well, Jaurés got wind of it, and did everything
in his power to embarrass me. I wouldn’t tell him, * It’s
because I distrust Briand.” He would have gone at once
to his followers and told them about it.

Yes, a mischief-maker, and dangerous. If we had had
him about during the war, we should have lost.

MYSELF : How do you think it’s all going to end ?

CLEMENCEAU : All what ?

MYSELF: The expetiment in democracy we'te in
process of making ? '

CcLEMENCEAU : I don’t know. Probably with a general
who, having decision and system, will sweep it all away as
he likes. Then you will see the Empite once more, the
priests. . . .

MyseLF : And it will all have to begin over again.

CLEMENCEAU : Yes. But I shall no longer be mixed
up in it. Let them scramble out of it themselves. I've
done enough fighting for liberty, and enough fighting
against myself to make that same liberty secondary to the
safety of the country. During the war I trampled on
evetything, had people shot—it would be true to say that
shooting often brushed by me, and very closely.

1 The financier, 3 Prcfect of Police.
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One of my worst memoties is the time I left Paris
duting the Commune. I said to myself ¢ They ate going
to shoot all the people under my jurisdiction. I can’t
however give it the sanction of my authority.” One of
my friends, an Ametican, gave me his papers and I left.
I took the train and went as far as Saint-Denis, where the
Versaillais troops were. A man stopped and questioned
me. I answered in English, treating the man affably and
joking. After a minute or two of this little game he had
enough and let me go on my way. I wanted to go to
I’Aubraje. I thought “I shall be fairly quiet there” In
otder to go to I’Aubraie I had to go first to Alengon and
then to Nantes, where Father Waldeck-Rousseau, an old
catholic and a worthy man, gave me a fictitious passport.
Provided with this passport I arrived in Lugon on the day
of the fair. I found my father and it was all over.

MYSELF : Didn’t the Government disturb you ?

CLEMENCEAU : No.!  On one occasion I was asked for
my passport, and I showed it. A ripping passport! It
all amused me very much. . . .

} The Government did not seem at bottom to regard Clemencean with any
great fury. In this connection Bemnier sent me three documents which are not
lacking in relish.

The firse is an anonymous letter addressed to the Ministry of the Interior, where
it was recorded on the 14th June, 1871:

¢ A friend of order warns the Minister that comrade Clemenceau, an ex-mayor of
Paris, sent to Bordeaux to tncite that city to insurrection, is hiding in the Vendée
with his father, 2 league from Sainte-Hermine, He does not go out by day;
the authoritics afe unaware of his presence, but he is there and can be taken whenever
you wish. The entire country will greet his arrest with pleasure, for everyone
detests these Red scoundrels and especially leaders as dangetous as this Clemenceau.
Sainte-Hetmine is the country-seat of the canton, near Lugon, artondissement of
Fontenay (Vendée}. Let justdce be done.”

The second is a telegtam from the Ministry of the Intetior to the Prefect of the
Vendée ; it is dated 16th June, “ An anonymous letter informs me, etc.”

The third is the Prefect’s answer. ‘La Rochesur-Yon, igth June, 1871,
The information in the anonymons letter is correct,  This person, according to the
sub-prefect of Fontenay, is actually with his farnily at Sainte-Hermine ; the neigh-
bourhood is so little in sympathy with him that he dare not go out for fear of being
hooted at. His political ideas are wety radical, but I think opposed to the
Commune and 1o the atrocites which it comrmitted.”

With which M. Thiers’ Govesnment appeared to be satisfied.
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FroM 5TH SEPTEMBER, 1870, TO 15T MARCH, 1871

The documents which Clemenceau collected concern-
ing the 18th March, 1871, are innumerable; there are
fewer on the weeks which preceded the drama; I find
only these old yellow papers :

Tur. Repusric or FRANCE.
MAaIriE oF PArIs.

THE Mayor or Paris.

NOTICE

The citizens whose names follow hetewith are appointed
Mayors of the twenty arrondissements of Paris :

1825 Arrondissement

Georges Clemencean.?

Given at the Hotel de Ville at Paris this sth day of
September one thousand eight hundred and seventy.

ETiENNE ARAGO.,

Office of the
Councillor of State
Secretary-General. Pasis, the.. ....186.

1 He was living with his friend Lafont, 19, rue Capron, at the time.
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MEMORANDUM

Citizen Clemenceau, having been appointed mayor
provisionally, is required to proceed at once to the Mairie
of the 18th arrondissement and take possession of it.?

Paris, the sth 787 1870,
The Mayor of Paris,
ETiENNE ARAGO.

Tue REPUBLIC OF FRANCE,
MAIRIE OF PARIs
Mavor OF Parrs,

NOTICE

The citizens herein-named are appointed assistants in
the twenty arrondissements of Paris . . . ... ... ....

LAFONT
SivonNoT

given at the Hotel de Ville at Paris the 6th September, 1870.
ETIENNE ARAGO.

182D Arrondissement {

A poster :

REPUBLIC OF FRANCE
LIBERTY—EQUALITY—FRATERNITY

MAIRIE OF THE 18ts ARRONDISSEMENT
Citizens :

Shall France be swallowed up in the abyss and disappear,
or shall she resume her former rank in the vanguard of the
nations ?

! From this day the task began. It was a heavy ooe.  Food had to he found
for the civil population | childten tequired milk and it had to be found. Sheltet
had to be found for the refupees. Coal and ofl were urgently needed. The
National Guard had to be armed and drilled. The ramparts had to be inspected.

As if that weren’t enough, this youthful mayor of 29 undertook to secularize the
schools.
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That is the question which ptesents itself to us to-day,
and which it is our duty to answet.

The enemy is at the gates of the city. The day is not
distant, perhaps, when out breasts will be the country’s
last rampart.

Every one of us knows his duty.

We ate the children of the Revolution. Let us find
our inspiration in the example of our forefathers, and
like them we shall conquer.

Vive la France |

Vive la République !
Paris, the 23rd September, 1870,
Associates : The Mayor,
J. A. Laronr. G. CLEMENCEAU.
A. SiMonor.
Another poster :

REPUBLIC OF FRANCE
LIBERTY—EQUALITY--FRATERNITY
MAIRIE OF THE 18t ARRONDISSEMENT

The citizens of the 18th Arrondissement protest with
indignation against an armistice which the Government
can only agtee to by committing treason.

Paris, the 315t October, 1870,
The Mayor of the 18th Arrondissement,
Associates : G. CLEMENCEAU.
J. A. Laronr.
A. SiMoNoT.

The Novembet elections took place :

ReruBLIC OF FRANCE.
MAIRIE OF PARIs,
Paris, the gth November, 1870.

To Citizen Clemenceau, Mayor of the 18th Arrondisse-
ment ;
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Citizen,

According to the abstract of the returns with which I
have been provided, it appeats that you have been elected

Mayor of this arrondissement.
I ask you therefore to assume the direction of the

Mairic immediately, and to request your associates, who
have also just been clected, likewise to enter upon their
duties.
Fraternal greetings,
The Mayor of Paris,
ETIENNE ARAGO,
A Poster:

REPUBLIC OF FRANCE
LIBERTY—EQUALITY—FRATERNITY
MAIRIE OF THE 18te ARRONDISSEMENT

Citizens :

Your suffrages, so freely given, impose setious duties
upon us. We shall endeavour to fulfil them.

The hour of sacrifice is about to sound. By your self-
denials for the republic, by nobly bearing with stubborn
patience the long trials before you, you will ensure the
safety of our country.

Vive la France | Vive la République |

Associates : The Mayor,
J. A. LaFoNT. G. CLEMENCEAU.
S. DEREURE.

(JAcLarD, unable to sign).

On the 8th February, 1871, he was elected a Deputy for
Patis.!  He proceeded to Bordeaux.?

‘The Lazssez-passer which was delivered to him on the
sth carried the following details :

Name ;: CLEMENCEAU,

1 By g6,000 votes. 'The armistice had been signed ten days.
% Leaving Lafont in charge of the Mairie.
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Christian names : Georges Benjamin.

Occupation : Doctor of Medicine.

Residence : 19, rue Capron.

Age: 29,

Purpose of voyage: Delegate to the Convention
(Gironde).

Route followed : Via Toulouse (Hell Gate).

The seals of the Prefecture of Police and of the general
staff of the army of Patis ate affixed to the document.

On the back, in Gothic charactets :

French Republic.

The person herein described has permission to pass
through the German lines, etc.?

On the first of March, after one quiet trip to Paris on
personal business, he was back in Bordeaux-—which did
not prevent him from having the following poster stuck
on the walls of his arrondissement in Paris :

REPUBLIC OF FRANCE
LIBERTY—EQUALITY—FRATERNITY
MAIRIE OF THE 18t ARRONDISSEMENT

Citizens :

One last trial has been reserved for us, a fearful and
humiliating trial—that of secing the enemy enter Patis,

We have been handed over without conditions,

All resistance has been rendered hopeless. Any act
of aggression would be fatal to us.

If any of you still believe it to be their duty to die and
to bury their wives and children under the ruins of the
city, let them think of the futile results of so hopeless 2
struggle, let them think above all of the Republic.

Only the Republic can revenge and repair our disasters.

1 In Getman.—Translator’s note,
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The Republic cannot perish if all its citizens stand to
atms to defend her when the time comes.

You showed your confidence in us on the day after cur
proclamation of the 31st of October. It was our duty,
before the following day, when we went to present our
credentials, to warn you against fatal disturbance,

Citizens, on your calmness depends the safety of
France and the Republic.

Vive la France ! Vive la Republique !
Paris, the first of March, 1871,

Associates : The Mayor,
J. A. LaronT. G. CLEMENCEAU.
S. DEREURE.
JacrLarD,

Eighteen days after this appeal for composure the
Commune broke out.

1st of Matrch, 1871, in the auditorium of the Louis
Theatre at Bordeaux.  Jules Grévy presides. Some figures
are handed up to him, He announces the result of the
vote on the peace preliminaries: 546 deputies have
voted in favour of ending the war, 107 against. Amongst
those opposed was Georges Clemenceau.

On the following day he signed the following letter,
addressed by 37 deputies ‘to the Representatives of the
Departments of the Lower Rhine, the Upper Rhine,
Moselle, Meurthe and the Vosges ’: :

DeaR CoLLEAGUES AND CITIZENS :

Yesterday we associated ourselves, by our cheers, with
the declaration which one of your number! made from
the rostrum on the subject of Alsace and Lorraine—we
wish to assure you that the representatives of Republican
France still share your sentiments and opinions. We feel

1 Keller,



REPUBLIQUE FRANCAISE

LIBERTE, RGALITE, FRATERNITE

MAIRIE 18 ARRONDISSEMENT

Clloygens,

Aujourdhui, & midi, la Mairie du 18 Arrondissement a 6té envahie
par une troupe armée. Un officier de la (Garde Nationale a 0sé sommer
le Maire et ses Adjoints de remettre la Mairie aux mains dun delegué
du Comité central de la Garde Nationale.

Le Maire et ses Adjoints, revétus des insignes municipaux, ont. en
présence de fous les Employés de la Mairig, sommé le ohef du poste
dexpulser les envahisseurs. Celui-ci. aprés en avoir conféré avec son
commandant, a répondu qu'il se refuseit 4 obtempérer 4 cet ordre et quil
était disposé a préter main-forte aux violateurs de la Loi. Le chef des
envahiseeurs a alora mis en arrestation le Maire ot deux de ses Adjoints,
qui ont été conduits au poste entre deux haies de Gardes nationaux
Quelques minutes aprés. on vebait déclarer au Maire et aux deux
Adjoints élus du 18 arrcndissement quils étaient LIBRES de se retirer

CITOYENN,

Nous avons & cceur d'éviter un cornflit dont les résultats désasireux
nous épouvantent. Voild pourquoi nous cédons & la force sans en appeler
4 la forco. Mais nous protestons hauterment contre lattentai dont la
Garde Nationale du 18 arrondissement sest rendue coupable sur la
personne de Magistrats républicains librement élus, et qui se rendent
ici publiquement le témoignage quils ont accompli lewr devoir.

VIVE LA FRANCE! VIVE LA REPUBLIQUE!
Paris, 12 22 Murs 1371
Le Maire du 18' Arrondissement,

6. CLEMENCEAU.

Les Adjoietn au Maire do SR Arrondisemenl,

J-A. LAFOAD, V. JACLARD.

B R T e

Clemenceau., as Mavor, protests avainst his arrest o the Naenal Guard 22 March, 1871
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ourselves as strongly bound to the heroic populace which
you represent as they feel themselves bound to our com-
mon fatherland. Moreover we have declared and we do
again declare that the National Assembly and the French
people as a whole have no right to make a single one of
your constituents a subject of Prussia. Like yourselves
we maintain that any law or treaty, vote or plebiscite
which shall cede any part whatever of Alsace or Lotraine
is null and void in advance. Whatever happens the
citizens of those two regions shall remain out compatriots
and brothers, and the Republic promises never to surrender
its claim on them.
We cordially accept the hand which you tender us,

Fraternal Greetings.

Nothing remained now but to wait forty-seven
years. . . .
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TaE DrEYFUs AFFAIR—CLEMENCEAU IN AMERICA

26th June, 1928.
MySELF ¢ Good morning. You’re smiling.

CLEMENCEAU : I’ve always got a smile, Martet.

MYSELF : I've known you at times when you didn’t
have very much of one.

CLEMENCEAU : For instance ¢

MYSELF: On the 16th July, when, having made your
first speech against Malvy in the Secret Committee,® you
had only five or six votes including your own. Are you
working ? :

CLEMENCEAU: Yes. I shall have finished before 1
leave,

MYSELF : How can you work in this frightful heat ?

CLEMENCEAU : I’m very comfortable here. I have my
window open—when I’m tired I go and pick 2 rose in the
gatden. (On the table there are four or five yellow roses,
their thorns trimmed off and arranged in a little Japanese
vase of bronge or earthenware.) ‘That one over there is of
a most extraordinary colour—like a young gitl to whom
you’ve just made z slightly improper remark. Speaking
of roses, I've just had a visit from Mandel. He sat down
in that chair and poured out 2 most magnificent flow of
words, which didn’t convey any exact meaning to me.
Mandel is of the line of the Prophets. He is quite content
to remain in 4 haze, . . .

1 Of the Senate.
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MYSELF ;: Did he vote for the four-sou franc ?

CLEMENCEAU : No, he voted against it.1 He has one
virtue, has Mandel : he pushes straight on and doesn’t mind
in the least being alone. Perhaps it’s because he only
looks for ideas in himself instead of going begging them
trom other people. Will the Jews go to Paradise? It
would annoy them to be separated from Mandel. . . .

MYSELF : God would never do that !

CLEMENCEAU : So there’s my report, Martet. What’s
yours ?

MYSELF : Oh, I’ve fifteen things to tell you.
CLEMENCEAU : All right. Begin with the fifteenth.
MYSELF : Your memorandum on Foch ?

CLEMENCEAU : P'll get at it as soon as I’m near the end
of Monet. Fourteenth ?

MYSELF : Didn’t you tell me once that you had some
letters from Matthew Dreyfus which would clear up
certain points in the Dreyfus affair and that, if you found
them, you would give them to me ?

CLEMENCEAU : I don’t remember. 1 don’t think that
I kept Matthew Dreyfus’ letters. If I did, I have no idea
what I did with them. Documents and I, you know. . . .
Moteover, I don’t know what these letters could clear up
for you. Besides, Matthew Dreyfus is a very good chap—
I’m sute that if you were perplexed and needed information,
he wouldn’t refuse it to you.

MYSELF : What were the relations between Alfred and
Matthew ?

CLEMENCEAU : They’te brothers.
MYSELF : | mean—how do they compare intellectually ?
CLEMENCEAU : When Dreyfus came back from Devil’s

1 The whole of the scheme of the Monetary Act was passed in the Chamber by
430 votes to 18, Amongst the 13 was Mandel.
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Island, Matthew Dreyfus wrote me, ‘I’'m going to bring
him to see you.” He was a curiosity—Fancy ! a traitor
who hadn’t committed treason. Matthew Dreyfus turned
up with his man. I looked him over and said to myself,
‘ Really, this can’t be his brother—what kind of fellow can
hebe?’ Helookedlikeapencil-seller. That was Dreyfus,

MySELF : What did he make of the Dreyfus affair P

CLEMENCEAU : Nothing. He’s the only one who didn’t
undetstand it. He was I don’t know how many abysses
beneath the Dreyfus affair. It’s much better so, however,
They can’t accuse us of having allowed ourselves to be
seduced by his personal magnetism. He didn’t have three
ha’pence worth of it. Poor Dreyfus! Everything that
happened to him was, as you can well understand, com-
pletely, ludicrously his own fault. You know, they made
him write something—his hand trembled—they said to
him, ‘ Aha! Your hand’s trembling, captain,’

He would stammer somnething or other. He should
have answeted, ¢ My hand’s trembling ?  Well, what of it ?
What do you conclude from that ? That I’ve committed
treason? 1 watn you that your superior rank doesn’t
mean anything to me—if you even attempt to insinuate
that sort of thing, F'll slap your face.’

That would have calmed them down a bit.

MYSELF: You began by believing in Dreyfus’ guilt,
didn’t you ?

CLEMENCEAU : Naturally. You had to begin with that
assumption.! What a period that was! And yet in the
end it did good, it caused a housecleaning. We couldn’t
have gone to war with that canker in our midst, Of course,
once the affair was over everybody went his own way and
things returned to where they were—but the useful work
had been done.

1 He bad written in Justice, * Alfred Dreyfus is & traitor and I shall not insule
any soldier by putting him in the sxme category as this scoundrel,”
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During the war I met every sort, Dreyfusards and anti-
Dreyfusards, and, amongst the latter, rabid anti-Drey-
fusards who saw red and threatened to have a stroke every
time you opened your mouth on the subject—lunatics for
the most part—and others—that’s odd—who wete men
of sense with a head on their shoulders, but who didn’t
like Jews. So they thought that through hatred of
the Jew and love of a kind of expressly manufactured,
imaginary fatherland, they could flout reason, justice and
humanity. ‘That was going a bit too far.

MysELF : Nevertheless it’s difficult to doubt Estethazy’s

guilt. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : He confessed everything. But you
know an incident like that becomes a matter of faith, of
mete hypnotism—like Jesus walking on the waves. You
may say to such people, * But it’s impossible to walk on
the waves|” They’ll answer you, ¢ Explain it as you like
—I saw it.” To which there is obviously no reply. From
the moment that the discussion ceases to be whether or not
Dreyfus is guilty but whether ot not Jews are birds of ill-
omen, whether or not it is desirable that a2 Jew be the guilty
party, whether it is bad for the country and the army that
a court-martial may have been in error, and so forth,
atguments of that sort can just drag on until the world
comes to an end.?

MYSELF: You also told me that you would show me
your article on the Debts. . . .

1 On the eve of the Ammistice Clemenceau received the following letter

¢ DEAR MR. PRESIDENT,

¢ 1 wanted to let the flood of congratulations which you received on your birthday
go by before sending you my own on the oceasion, 1 em not forgetful of the past
and I have a faithful memory. But what I want to express to you to-day is the
seatiment which we all hold on this march to victoty, a sentiment which has led
our soldiers to bestow on you the very charming nickname of * Father Victory.”

* Please accept this expression of my loyal devotion.
© Avsrep Dreveus,’
Lt.-Colonel Dreyfus.

Commanding the artillery arsenal ar Otléans,
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CLEMENCEAU : Yes, that’s easy. It’s over there, in 2
corner. . . . I'll give it you presently. Next, Martet.

MYSELF : Next, sit—it’s rather complicated. I should
like to ask you how your mind was moulded. I own that
it rather confuses me. I don’t even petceive the influences
which acted upon you.

[Clemencean at first opened bis eyes wide.
After a few seconds bis surprise disap-
peared and he began to disentangle and
arrange bis ideas.

CLEMENCEAU : Well, I think that the only influence
which had any effect on me was—yes, my father’s.!  Whete
did he imbibe his ideas? Certainly not from his family,
who were practically all unfriendly to him. I believe that
he got them from Michelet, of whom he always spoke with
the greatest respect. My father was at bottom a romantic
who had cattied the literary theories of Victor Hugo and
those people over into politics and sociology.

In the ordinary course of the day I didn’t see my father
much—he didn’t do a great deal, and like 2ll people who
don’t do anything, was always very busy. But at table—
my father wasn’t a man who attached great importance to
the pleasures of the table—he spoke largely of his reading,
enunciated his philosophy in fits and starts and, little by
little, I absotbed it. He used to talk about Danton.
[ must say that I wasn’t for Danton.

MYSELF : Nor Robespierre either ?

CLEMENCEAU : No, by God! What 2 mongtel lot of
fellows they were! Mangy dogs! My fathet’s influence
began to get hold of me when I entered the Academy at

1 Geffroy has drawn a very vivid picture of Clemenceau’s father ; © His hands
clasped behind him under his grey coat, wearing his straw hat and his coarse, heavy
shoes, his face shaved to the eyes, which flashed behind gleaming spectacles, a half-
smile playing about his carefully shaved lips. . . .
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Nantes as a student in philosophy. I was a day-scholar.
So, in the evenings, at dinner, my father . . ,

MYSELF : Were your parents living at Nantes then ?

CLEMENCEAU: Yes.! My father was a docror of medicine
in a2 vague way. Luckily he never had a single patient—
he’d have killed them abruptly. He used to ask me at
dinner, * What did you learn to-day ?”* I would tell him,
I would repeat the clerical theories which had been served
up to me during the day, on the soul, on life, death and so
forth, and he would discuss them. I was caught between
two fires. The next day in class I would turn to my
philosophy instructor—I was very outspoken—and say
to him, ‘But there is a counter-argument, sir, to what
you’re saying. How can you reconcile this one and that
other? ...

MYSELF: It was your debut in interpellations. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Once, pointing my finger at my instruc-
tor, I said, ‘ But you’re losing the thread of your argument.’

His answer was,  Leave the room !’

At Nantes my father used to go to a reading-room—I
saw the house again some time ago—it belonged to Pére
Plangon—I don’t know if the reading-room still exists.
It was a latge room, a little larger than this one, where
people came to read and gossip—odd folk, who had seen
the Revolution and Napoleon. My father pointed one of
them out to me and said, “ Do you see that man over there?
He’s an old friend of Marat.’

1 wasn’t vety clear as to who Marat was ot what he
had done, but Marat was a colossal name which strack me
because of its association with all that blood, that bathtub,
Charlotte Corday. Therefore I had a great respect for
this old fellow.

All these people were peaceable and tolerant bourgeois,
but naturally thete were some police-spies amongst them.

1 g, Rue de Calvaire,
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My father used to walk back and forth in this room, holding
forth on the Empire and the priests. He did it so often
that in 1858 they arrested him. It was in relation to
Orsini’s attempt at assassination, There’s no need to tell
you that my father had been involved in Orsini’s affairs
about as much as you or I. I remember going with my
mother to see him in ptison, and bringing him his little
valise, for he was going to be sent to Algeria; in front
of the spies I went up to him and said, ‘T’ll revenge
you!l’

He answetced, ¢ If you want to revenge me, wotk | *1

He went away. Whereupon they must have realised
that he wasn’t very dangerous. He had a little money and
thercfore wouldn’t want to bring society down. . . . He
arrived at Marseilles and was about to embark when the
order came to let him return., Then there was a terrific
scene between my father and the prefect of police. My
father, shouting at the top of his lungs, said to the prefect,
‘ You’ll see, I’ve no need to bind my son to Hannibal’s vow.
You’'ll have enough trouble with this lad yet!”®

MyYSELF : Did your father go back to Nantes ?

CLEMENCEAU: Yes. He had to, not being allowed to
leave it. Then, since his family had taken refuge at
I’Aubraie, he left the windows and shutters open, in order
to make it seem that there was someone in the flat—we
lived on the ground floor and the whole place might have
been burgled—he leaped on a horse and arrived at 1’ Aubrale,
having evaded the police.

1 Certain prople have tried to fix this scene seven years carlicr. Geffroy,
particularly, writes, © Arrested at the time of the Coup d’Etat of 5851, . . 7 Geotges
Clemenceau would have been rather young,

3 A lirtle pamphlet mentioned by Mr. Henry Cassita, The Suspects of 1858, gives
the names of M. Clemencean’s ¢ accomplices *—° Several days after Orsini’s attempt,
the report spread to Nantes that ordets had gone forth to arrest s number of
respectable citizens who were known as republicans. Their narnes were : Clemen-
ceau, do::tor of medicine, Massclin, printer, Even, tiler, Pageot, tanner, Lescux,
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And it would all have gone off very nicely if my sister
Emma——the only one of my sisters still alive—hadn’t gone
mad on learning of my fathet’s arrest. She remained in
that condition eighteen months—she had to be taught to
read all over again.!

I recall two scencs connected with my father, who was
an extraordinary man, reserved yet ebullient—they may
have been told me or I may have witnessed them. The
first happened during the June uptisings. I should tell
you that I had an uncle, Paul Clemencean, my fathet’s
brother, an altogether charming tman, a bit reactionary. . . .

MYSELF : What did he do?

CLEMENCFAU : He hunted., He was never known to
do anything else. He had a pack and a whipper-in with
which he went hunting with the bloods of the countryside,
self-invited—he was a bit of a gate-crasher—and we never
overlooked a chance of rubbing it in. Well, when the
Assembly felt itself threatened, it appealed for help to the
provinces against the Parisians. All the Vendeans had
armed and equipped themselves, and one day, I remember,
I went into the kitchen and saw my uncle’s whipper-in
melting up bullets. My uncle Paul was getting ready to
go! My father was informed and came in as if blown by
the wind. He said to my uncle, ‘Paul, if you go to
defend those swine, I'll go too—L’ll go and join the
Parisians,’

So in the end no one went. The two brothers wete

1 The Suspects of 1858 : * Doctor Clemencean had nothing of the conspitator
about him ; but, of a fie and subtle mind, he had more than once vented his
sarcasms at the expense of certain persons who hated him because of his pointed
and biting epigrams. He was sbout to be embarked for Africs when a grave
occurrence, which had profoundly agitated public opinion at Nantes, compelied
the authorities to give way. At the time of his removal, in fact, his daughter, 2
young woman of marked talent, had been suddenly struck down by catalepsy, in
consequence of which she lost her speech.  For several months she hovered between
life and death. The entitre city of Mantes participated in the sufferings of this
unhappy family and such sevete censure was expressed that the authorities had
Dr. Clemenceau brought back without delay.’
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very fond of each other. My uncle Paul was a naturally
pleasant and charming man. . . .

MYSELF : What’s become of him ?

CLEMENCEAU : What becomes of all of us. He died
of scatlatina~—which enabled my father to bring us up
propetly, For my father wasn’t rich. With my uncle’s
money, since my father was a good manager and economical,
he was able to make ends meet.

MYSELF : What was the other scene ?

CLEMENCEAU : It took place when my father was
arrested in 1858 ; there was a friend of his, a good fellow,
but not very clever, who turned up and said triumphantly,
‘ I’ve been able to get a letter of introduction for you from
the Bishop of Nantes to the Bishop of Algiers.’

‘ Leave me alone, you idiot. It’s you and those like
you who are sending me there.’

And he tore up the letter.

MYSELF : How old were you when you left Mouilleron ?
CLEMENCEAU : I must have been two ot two and 2 half.
MYSELF : Where did you go ?

CLEMENCEAU : We went to Nantes.

mySELF ¢ Didn’t you go to I’ Aubraie ?

CLEMENCEAU : Well, we went there now and then.
My father adored horses. My brothers and I were brought
up on horseback.

MYSELF: And your studies? Before you went to
college ?

CLEMENCEAU : It was my mother who first undertook
them. Ishould add that she taught all my sisters. There
wasn’t one of them who went to boarding-school. My
mother was an extraordinary woman. She learned Latin
in order to be able to teach it to me.  After that I went to
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a little private class. Then to the academy. I remember
that I entered in the fifth form.

MYSELF : What sort of memoties have you of it ?

CLEMENCEAU : Pleasant ones. I realise now that they
didn’t teach me anything they should have taught me.
My instructor in the fifth standard was the father of Vallgs,
a violent man who always seemed on the point of swallow-
ing everybody up, but thete was no harm in him, I had
an instructor in history and geography—what was his
name? Gregory! He wrote some quite well-known
books. Well, just think, he taught us geography without
an atlas | He dictated his lessons : ¢ The Loire has ttibu-
taries on the right. . . .’ And history in the same way :
¢ Dagobert II ascended the throne in . . .> Is that how
they always teach in the schools ?

MYSELF ¢ I had an instructor of anatomy who dictated
his courses in the same way: ‘The back of the eye is
covered with the filaments of 2 nerve (he pronounced it
netrvvv) which is called the o-pe-tic netvvv. . . )

CLEMENCEAU : It’s dreadful. They made me translate
Demosthenes at the rate of three lines a2 month.  Just the
thing to make me disgusted with him forever. When
I wanted to get a translation of Demosthenes in French in
otder to try to understand something, 1 had to get my
father’s permission. There I remained until I took my
bachelor’s degree.?

MYSELF : Were you a good student ?
CLEMENCEAU: Not too good. I don’t think that 1

1 On the 27th May, 1922, Clemencean was present at the unveiling of the
Monument to the Dead of the Nantes Academy. He made a few short spesches.
In one of them he said, * I went through this old academy. At that time children
weren’t very sensible.  ‘They had impudent faces, sherp tongucs and a mischievous
light in their eyes. They have become men—at what a cost. 1 don’t know how
you regard me exactly—perhaps like one of those old owls, beating his wings
against the breeze, whom our country-folk nail to their barn doors for the crime,
according to the story-teller, of beingable to see by night. In Athens the owl was
the bird of wisdom. . . .’
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took many prizes.! For my degree my father promised
me ten francs if I passed it. I did pass it. I'm still
waiting for the money.

MYSELF ; After taking your degree did you at once take
up medicine ?

CLEMENCEAU : Without delay. My father bad been
a doctor, so had my grandfather and great-grandfather.
I took my examinations and entered the School of Medicine.

MYSELF : Are your memories of it pleasant ?

CLEMENCEAU: Very. If you want to study medicine
propetly, there’s no doubt you must do it in the provinces.
There’s no lack of ‘cracks,” and the atmosphere is right.
Bonds are forged between professors and students which
do not exist in Paris. There was only one boring feature
—the good Sisters. I would go into their garden and eat
their apricots. Then I'd say to them, * What difference
does it make to you, since in any event they don’t go to
the patients 2’

I was suspended a fortnight for my pains. I went
back there a little while ago, and it was exactly the same.
I wanted to see the operating-theatre and was told, “ It’s
very titesome, but a Sister has the key and she’s at Mass.’

MYSELF : At heart you have a delightful quality of
youth, . . .
CLEMENCEAU : Yes, I realise it, Add to the above a

1 Tt was amusing to look up the prizes and honours won by Clemenceau as a
student :

Fifth standard--4th honouts (aretssit—next to prizetman} in Latin composition.

and ,,  in classic oratory and elocution.
Fourth ,, None
Third . znd ,, in English.

ad |, inclocution,
Second ,, 3rd ,, inchemisty.

srd ,, in oratory.

In rhetoric, the highest place but one, and in natural history the 2nd prize.
Honourable mentions in Freach otation and in Engligh,

}#§ In philosophy Clemencean demonstrated his powess : be carried off the finst
Ptize for Latin translation and the first prize for his Prench easay.



CLEMENCEAU IN AMERICA 303

distant cousin of my grandfather’s who nearly married him
and who in the end marsied one of Charles X’s bodyguard.
While tiding in the Champs-Elysées this bodyguardsman
and his wife were run over, and she, having broken some-
thing that ought not to be broken, couldn’t have any
children; they lived in a pretty chiteau, Vachonniére,
near Mortagne, They had some fine property in Mortagne
as well. It now belongs to a M. de Grandcourt. We'll
go to see it. When I wanted to go off on a jaunt with
a gitl, Id establish my alibi there. I would spend 2 fort-
night at Nantes and a day at Vachonniére.

MYSELF : And then you did your thesis. . . .

CLEMENCEAU: Yes. On the Generation of Anatomic
Elements,

MYSELF : I haven’t read it. I should like to.

CLEMENCEAU : Oh, it’s of no interest. It’s a compila-
tion. But there are two or three passages which might
amuse you. (He gets up and takes a book from the chest of
drawers.) . There you are. It’s the second edition, the
one with Robin’s preface. It was published by a man
called Germer-Baillere, who offered to republish my
thesis in exchange for a translation of one of Stuart Mill’s
books. When I left for America I took the Stuart Mill
volume with me, and translated it there, It was my
apprenticeship to English.z

MYSELF : You left for America in 1865 and feturped in
1869. What did you do out there ?

CLEMENCEAU : Because of two or three ladies who were
interested in me I established myself in New York ; after-
wards I gave lessons in a school for young ladies at Stam-
ford, Connecticut. I went there on Mondays and came
back on Tuesdays, sleeping there om Monday nights.

L _Auguste Comie and Positivism, a wanslation by Dr, Georges Clemenceau.  Parls,

Genmer-Baillére, 1868,
A new edition was published by Alcan in 1843,
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What did 1 teach them? A little French—I also taught
them riding. Now and then they’d tumble off into a ditch.
It was there I got martied.?

MYSELF : Have you kept up relations with your old
schoolmates at Nantes ?

CLEMENCEAU : Well, there were four of them who could
excel in whatever subject they chose. One has become 2
tax~collector somewhere, another a customs clerk, the third
a notary’s clerk, and the fourth—I forget what—even less
than the others ... which proves that you mustn’t
attach too great importance to scholastic success.

MYSELF: Do you like to call up memoties of your
youth? . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Ah, what 2 youth T had ! I see all those
people again—there were mediocrities amongst them—
and superior people as well—very superior., My grand-
mother Joubert was a fine pattern of a woman, She was
the one who was present at the capture of Montaigu by
the Chouans,® The Chouans had for artillery one old
cannon which came somehow or other from the chiteau of
Richelieu. T’ve told you also how, on seeing a Chouan
who was armed only with a stick, she said to him, ‘ But
what are you going to fight with, my good man? Haven’t
you got a rifle ?’

1 ¢The Mayor of the Commune of la Réorthe, canton of Sainte-Hermine
{Vendée), certifies that he has published and posted on successive Sundays, the
gth and 16th of the present month, the proclamation of marriage betwreen Monsieur
Geotges Benjamin Clemencean, Doctor of Medicine, aged 27, bormn at Mouilleron-
en-Pareds and resident st Réorthe, bachelor, the legitimate son, of full age, of
Monsicur Benjamin Clemenceau and his wife Emma Gautreaw, householders,
resident at la Réorthe,

“ And Miss Mary Plummer, houscholder, botn and resident at Springficld,
Magsachusetts, United States of America, aged 19, spinster, minot, and legitimate
daughtet of Mr, Plummer and his wife Mary Taylot, resident at Springfield,

* We further certify that we have been notified of no opposition to this marriage,

¢ Mairie de 1a Réorthe, 23rd May, 1869,
* The Mayor :
*A. Gaory!”
The marriage took place in New York on the 25rd of June.
2 Vendée rebels in the Revolution.
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“ Oh, no, Madame, there aren’t enough for everybody.’

¢ What are you going to do, then ?’

‘ Well, when the battle begins, I'll kneel in a cotner
and tell my beads.’

Not a bad idea, eh ?

There’s another 1 regret—my uncle Paul. Everybody
loved him. One day my brother Paul had gone to
PAubraie. My grandfather looked at him, like this, and
said to him, ¢ You bear a name which is very dear to us.

My grandfather was Mayor of Réorthe, which includes
I’Aubraie. When my father was released in 1848 he went
to my grandfather and said, ‘ You’re going to resign as
mayor at once, do you hear, or you’ll never see me again
in all your life.’

That was the tone he used to him. You can under-
stand why my grandfather’s favourite was Paul, who was
always smiling and care-free,

MySELF: Can’t you give me your article on the Debts ?

CLEMENCEAU : Oh, yes. (He takes the manuscript from
bis wardrobe)) There. I’ll throw in the dust as well,

MysELF : Will you allow me to come back this week ?

CLEMENCEAU: Do come. I haven’t told you every-
thing, I haven’t given you my recollections of prison.
When I've told you everything I'll take you to the Vendée
and lead you to strange nooks and corners, where, one day
in my life, there appeated to me such . . . The Copse
is a mysterious thing. Il show you that Wood of Mad-
ness, which is certainly an ancient sacred grove. It’s
there, dominating the entite country. No one lays 2 hand
on it. 'The people say that it’s a landmark for boats.
It's not true. They leave it unmolested because from
generation to generation the word has been handed
down. . ..

You will sce—the Vendeans are agreeable folk. The
Vendean women are small and well-knit ; they don’t seem
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to stir, they don’t say anything, whatever the situation.
There was—still another story, Martet—a girl whom we
used to know. One day she appealed to my father.
Something had gone wrong. It came out that she was
about to have a child. My father said to her,  But how
did it happen ?’

‘Well,” she said, ‘a commercial traveller was going
along the road on horseback.’

‘I see. He began to tell you jokes, you answered—
and the needle was threaded. . . .’

‘No. He got off his hotse, tied it to a tree, and that’s
how it happened.’

* But didn’t you say anything 7’

*No. What could I say ?’
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THE DEBTS—CLEMENCEAU AND THE PRESIDENCY
20th June, 1928,

CLEMENCEAU : DI’ve just discovered a book. Guess
what it is.

MYSELF : ?

CLEMENCEAU : Mommsen’s History of Rome.

MYSeLF : Hadn't you ever read it ?

CLEMENCEAU : Yes, but 'm reading it again. What
do you think-—I’ve had the idea of writing a book on the
decadence of Rome.

MYSELF: A goodidea. It will be a pendaant to Démes-
théne. You can never tell these people too much about
decadence, how certain ways of looking at things are bound
to lead to destruction.

CLEMENCEAU : That’s so, isn’t it ? I think I’ll be able
to entertain you with it. . . .

MYSELF : I've brought back your article on the Debts
and your medical thesis. I won’t compliment you on
your work on the debt question——you’re making fun
of it. But it’s all right. All the arguments are there,
It’s written with a loftiness and at the same time a brutality
that should shake without wounding, Even the Americans
can’t fail to understand.

CLEMENCEAU : I think that Hoover will be clected.
Smith has the fact of his being a Catholic against him.

Myserk : Oughtn’t it to be ?

CLEMENCEAU : No. That sort of thing’s very bad.
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Observe that Catholicism over there is not a State institu-
tion, as here. It’s a religion. What difference can it
make to them if a man eats a wafer or a piece of bread ?
But they are like that. I shall not publish my atticle until
after the election. Even not then unless the question of
the Debts comes up. If the discussion is opened I shall
say, < Excuse me, but I too have a word to say.’

MYSELF : Next, your medical thesis. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Did it send you to sleep ?

MYSELF: Not at all. On the contrary, I found it very
interesting. Fifty years removed, it’s yet the first seed of
Aw Soir de In Pensée.

CLEMENCEAU : Really ?

MYSELF: Yes, indeed,

CLEMENCEAU (reflectively) 1 It’s true—there’s that in it,

MYSELF : There are the same ideas and the same manner.
People who reproach you for your changeableness have
only to read that thesis.

CLEMENCEAU : Oh, the people who reproach me for
changeableness | They’te the ones who consider con-
stancy to be the act of thinking of nothing. A bit of crust
in a corner doesn’t change its opinions. They forget one
thing—that the bit of crust has no opinions.

MyseLrF ; All your theoties of matter which appeared
in Au Soir de la Pensée ate in your thesis. You haven’t
changed them in the least. . . . I’m surprised at one thing
—how did your examiners in 1865 have the courage to -
accept that thesis ¢

CLEMENCEAU : Not only did they accept it, but they
gave me 2 specially good diploma.?

2 THE FRENCH EMPIRE

Dmroma or Docror o MEDICINE

In the name of the Emperos.

‘The Minister and Secretary of State for the Department of Public Instruction :
Having examined the certificate of proficiency for the rank of Doctor of Medicine
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MYSELF: They were hardly the ideas of Napoleon III,
however.

CLEMENCEAU : Not exactly. But don’t deceive your-
self, my poor friend—they hadn’t read it.! It was a thing
outside of their line and it didn’t intetest them, Instead of
questioning me on my thesis, as they should have done,
there was a2 member of the Boatd, Potain, who examined
me—can you guess on what >—scarlet fever ! That made
Robin, who was in charge of the thesis and who understood
its argument, burst into an exclamation, Have you read
what he wrote in the preface to the second edition ?

MYSELF: Yes; Ialso tead, in that second edition, your
heated arguments on the origin of things and what you had
to say, without evasion, of those people who claim that
you can derive something out of nothing.

CLEMENCEAU : Really? What did I say about that ?

MYSELF: It’s an observation at the end of the book.
(Reading) * Great caution should be exercised lest we
attach the meaning “ beginning ” to the word “ origin.”
As a matter of fact “beginning ” is something of which
we can form no conception, having never seen and being
unable to imagine the possibility of it. If matter could
issue from “nothing,” unquestionably it would begin.

granted, on 13th May, 1863, by the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Paris,
to Geotges Benjamin Clemencean, Esquire, bom at Mouilleton-en-Pareds, depart-
ment of the Vendée, on the 28th September, 1841,

Having examincd the approval given to this certificate by the Rector of the
said University,

Now ratify the said certificate and

Give by these presents to the said Clemenceau the diploma of Doctor of Medicine,
to enjoy it with all the tights and prerogatives therewith associated by laws, degrees,
and regulations.

‘The signatures follow, including that of the recipient.

1 Raoul Ducray states that © theses of the doctorate type were very much ia
vogue at that time, Ferdinand Taule, Clemenceau's comrade who contributed
with him to Travwif and who was acquainted with the same judges 2nd the same
prisons and was for a long time director of the Lariboisitre Hospital, had also
submitted one of these materizlistic theses,”

soth May, 1865.
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But what is “ nothing ”? How can we represent it to
ourselves ? What conception can we form of it? If I
go ditectly to the meaning of this word, I find a negation
and nothing else. Our minds can grasp matter and only
matter. When we express the thought of “ nothing,” we
merely picture a negation of matter, It is very simple
to recognise that that is purely subjective and without
teality. . .
CLEMENCEAU : But of course !

MYSELF : ‘ Nothing equals nor something. Something is
an objective conception. 'The absence of something is a
subjective one. Being unable to understand norhing, we
find ourselves unable to conceive of a beginning. And
not only can we not conceive of it, but we can assert that
there can’t be any. . .

CLEMENCEAU : Otherwise reason has no meaning and
there’s no purpose in writing books. . . .’

MYSELF : ‘ Ex nibilo nibil. Even if that nihil had any
reality, any beginning would npevertheless remain an
inexplicable thing. The coming-into-being of matter
would imply, in fact, an origin outside itself, a force without
a base to rest on, a quality without a possessor, a non-
sense, in 2 word. . ..’

CLEMENCEAU ; All of A« Soir de la Pensée is there !

MYSELF : ‘ This idea of “ beginning » is therefore com-
pletely devoid of meaning ; it is counterfeit money which
should be left to the Don Quizotes of Pute Reason to use
as cutrency amongst themselves. What they, in fact, call
the origin of things is the beginning of the world, a thing
impossible to explain, which they nevertheless do explain,
2 thing beyond understanding (I mean for a healthy brain)
which they make it their profession to understand.’

CLEMENCEAU ; It’s very entertaining. Idon’ttfemember
having said that. I can turn my pen in the inkstand three
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times and try to give thirty-six tutns to my thoughts; 1
shall never be able to think in any other way. There will
always be a great many people to tell you, ¢ On Monday
God created light ; on Tuesday He created the sun.’ For
according to the Bible that’s how the good God wotked.
First, He created light, and then He created the source of
that light. There are millions of people who read and
repeat that. They believe in it unshakably. You know,
thete are two ways for man, There is the domain of the
teason and the domain where reason has no place—where
it is forbidden to reason to enter. That can go on a long
time. Don’t forget, presently ask me for my book. My
fitst edition.! Now put your questions.

MYSELF : Well, amongst your papers I came across the
trail of a man with whom you wete very close before leaving
for America in 1865, a man called Jourdan ?

1 The cover of the first edition reads :
De la Génération
des

Elements enatomigues

par
le Dr. George {sic) Clemencean
Ex-interne des Hopitaux de Nantes
Ex-interne provisoire des Hopitaux de Paris
Paris
J. B. BAILLIERE et FILS
Libraires de I"Académie Impériale de Médecine
Rue Hautefeuille 1g.
186§

Robin's preface is missing, Instead thete is * declaration by the author.’

¢ The exact observation of phenomena is science’s point of departmre—to group
and analyse them is its purpose. I bring forward no new discoveries ; I merely
assemble the facts.

* I alone am respoasible for the opinions T express. Ido not hold them because
I have written this work ; I have written this work because I hold them:.

* 1 hope that M. Robin will accept my thanks for his kindness in allowing me to
make use of him, helping me with advice and providing me with whatever informa-
tion I required.”

M. Robin’s preface to the second edition begins with these words : M. Clemen-
ceau’s purpose has been to exhibit the whole group of facts, specific aad general,
the study of which has led him to the conclusions he expresses relative to the manper
in which anatomical elements are gencrated.” Substitute * the manner in which
anatomical clements are generated * by * the problem of the universe * and you have
an excellent description of Aw Seir de /o Penste,



312 CLEMENCEAU

CLEMENCEAU : Jourdan. Yes, indeed.

MYSELF : Who died of cholera in 1866 and seems to
have played an important part in your life. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Yes, that’s right.

MYSELF : Who was this Jourdan ?

CLEMENCEAU : [ had known him while I was 2 medical
student in Paris. I had met him at the café at the corner
of the Boulevard St. Michel and the Boulevard St. Germain.
Do you know it ? It was there that people like Andrieux,
Lefont and others used to meet. Jourdan was about
twenty years older than I. He was descended from the
Marshal Jourdan, the Fleurus man. He was a fellow with
brains, strength, and fine spirited eloquence. He had had
the rare good luck to be appointed Crown solicitor by
Louis Philippe in that island called—is it Bourbon Island ?
No—La Réunion. Bourbon Island became Maurice.

MYSELF : I think Maurice had been the Ile de France.

CLEMENCEAU : Then that’s it. It’s Bourbon that
became La Réunion. You get lost in all those islands.

I remember—it’s an amusing tale—meeting the
Governor of Maurice Island at Ceylon, during a voyage
to India, He spoke French as well as you or I, and when
I showed my surprise, he said, ‘ But 'm compelled to.
Everybody speaks French out there, the newspapers are
published in French, the plays ate performed in French.
Some time ago some people came to me and said, “ We'd
like to belong to France again” 1T teplied, “ I don’t see
anything against it, but don’t forget that England bought
you last year for twenty millions in sugar.”” So they went
away. Next day they returned and said, “ Well, thete’s no
hurry about it.” So that’s how it remained.’

Where was I ?

MYSELF: Jourdan. . . .
CLEMENCEAU : Oh, yes. He had married a wife- who
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had been married before and brought Jourdan az small
fortune. Jourdan, who wasn’t rich and had great delicacy
in these matters, although a former Crown solicitor,
showed the greatest respect for his wife, always called her
* Madame,’ and in ordet to be sure to detive no advantage
from this money lived completely apart. I don’t even
know if he shared his wife’s bed—he was probably afraid
of wearing out the sheets. It was quite a strange house-
hold. Joutrdan inttoduced me to his wife, and I became
a friend of hers; after Jourdan died she made me her
tesiduary legatee. She left me a Poussin—I kept it with
me, of near me, for many years. ‘Then I grew tired of it—
it’s easy to grow tired of Poussin. So I'sold it. It’s now
in America. As regards Jourdan I had a great friendship
for him combined with 2 deep respect. When I left for
the United States in 1865 we agreed to keep up contact
and write each other. The other day I found some letters
addressed to Jourdan from me. I burnt them.

MYSELF : You weze wrong.

cLeMENCEAU: Oh, burning’s a good thing. And
Jourdan used to write me. When he died I really felt as
if T had lost the last support to which I could cling—1I was
alone. It was a deep sotrow. (He muses.) Jourdan—
Pm glad you spoke to me of Jourdan. I've got a photo-
graph of him, I believe. If I find it I'll give it to you.

MYSELF : I notice amongst your papers that your father
took you to London to sec John Stuart Mill before you
left for America.

CLEMENCEAU : Yes.
MYSELF: What did he talk to you about ?

CLEMENCEAU : Oh, various angles of positivism. 1
was going to translate a2 book by him on the subject. We
had a talk about it. (He gets up, Jeaves the room, and returns
with a shockingly dirty book) Hete’s my thesis. It’s the
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copy which I took to America with me. Hold on—there
ate some leaves which I gathered out there in it. (He
offers it to me. A silence) Poor Jourdan! I see him
again, in that café. . . .

MYSELF : Democracy was a lovely thing in those days.

CLEMENCEAU : Yes, like all things which are yet to be
born.

MYSELF: ] also found amongst your papers some
documents relating to the 16th May.* ‘Thete was a sort of
committee of delegates from the Left, amongst whom were
Gambetta, Charles Floquet and others, who used to meet
at Leon Renanlt’s—you were the secretary., Who was
Leon Renault ?

CLEMENCEAU : Well, he became Prefect of Police, poor
devil, and I think he’s still living in some corner or other.
Can you imagine Gambetta, at that time, a fellow swamped
in illusions, getting himself into the frame of mind of a
conspirator ?  He had annexed himself to 2 general of the
name of Yung, I think, and with the help of the genetal we
were going to do amazing things, Gambetta and I—for
I was a sort of understudy to him. It was going to happen
at Lille. There’s no need for me to depict for you
Gambetta’s conspiracies—they were screamingly funny.
Naturally T had taken the matter very seriously, on account
of Gambetta, on account of this general—because I was
young and because, I must admit, it often happens that
when one takes things setiously like that, well, you never
know, they can become serious. ‘Things ate not serious
in themselves.

MYSELF : No?

CLEMENCEAU : Certainly not. They’te setious because
of the conviction you put into them. However, I took
this all very seriously, and gave each Deputy or Senator
1 brought along 2 slip of paper beating a number and

1 See Chronalogical Table for ¢ Scize mai* conspiracy.—Tranrlator’s woie,



4

7

Clemencesu in 18

Clemencean as Medical Student, 1862






THE DEBTS 31§

instructions for his particular job on the great day. We met
in a café—near the Rue du Bac—on the site whete the
State Deposit and Consignment Bank now is, MacMahon
stopped all that, fortunately, Otherwise it is obvious that
we should all have gone to prison.

MYSELF: But you didn’t apprise the delegates of the
Left of your plans ?

CLEMENCEAU : No. Certainly not.
MYSELF : Then what happened in the committee ?

CLEMENCEAU : Nothing. What always happens in
committees—nothing. They just jabber away into the
air, Thete were as many opinions as delegates, and no
one was able to persuade any one else; every man spoke
for himself and only listened to himself. Just 2 muddle.
Pve spent my life playing politics with people who didn’t
know what they wanted. Who didn’t even know whete
they were and why they were there. Perhaps you haven’t
noticed it, but since I let go the reins, thete is no longer
a Parliament. There is no Jonger either a majority or a
minotity, nothing but vague thrusting. People no longer
know around whom to group themselves and whom to
follow, They need someone to tell them, ‘Do this or
that!” Then they’d be for that man or against him.
More likely against. For an Assembly looks at you
askance if you tell it that it must do something, The
present Parliament is nothing—that of fifty yeats ago didn’t
amount to much either.

1 Clemenceau himself drew up the minntes—in a handwriting often quite
ill=gible—of the sittings of the ¢ Committee of the Members of the Left of the
Chamber of Deputies,” Here is the report of the meeting of the 8th November,
1877; it was held in the moming at M. Léon Renaulr’s :

¢ Present : MM. Proust, Louis Blanc, Clemenceau, L. Renault, Floquet, Lépine,
Gamberta, Brisson, Albert Grévy, Goblet, J. Ferry, Lockroy, erc.

 The meeting is opened. Clemenceau is appointed secretary.’ (A long and
heated debatc, led by Gambetta, follows, on the constitution of the Chamber and

the ¢ griefs of the country ' and the complaints of the Left against the Right for its
electoral policy.—Transiator's note.)
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MYSELF : Another question, sir; I want to bring you
to 1919-1920—t0 the subject of the Presidency of the
Republic. You’ve been censured for not putting yourself
forward as candidate for the Presidency of the Republic
in 1920, and it is said that if you had done so, you would
have been elected, which I personally believe.

CLEMENCEAU : But you aren’t in the least informed on
the matter. Think back to the time when I was shot at
by that fellow—what’s his name? Cottin—I stayed here
a week with a bullet in my back. Whereafter I got up and
went to the Chamber, still with my bullet. The news-
papers reported that when I entered the room, the Deputies
cheered. But mark this, Martet—when I enteted, not a
cheer was raised, not a single one.  Yet, thank God, I still
had that bullet in my body—with which a gentleman did
me the favour, without any request on my patt, of thanking
me for what I had done for the country. . . . I hadn’t
committed suicide !

Well, not one cheer. There you have the sentiments
of the Chamber with respect to me.!

At the public ballot they all voted for me solidly, of
course, and with all their might—the country had its eye
onthem. Butat the secret ballot naturally those gentlemen
were out to get their own back. They dragged up heaps
of reasons. It was rumoured that 1 was about to marry
one of my mistresses ; then that I was very ill, half-senile

1 On the sth Decernbet, 1918, Clemnenceau ascended the rostrum of the Chamber
to announce the surrender of Austria, M. Lauche shouted, * Tell ns about the
Salonika Army!’ M. Camille Reboul, * You've begun by criticising.” While
Deschanel was begging them not to interrupt Clemenceau, M. Raffin-Dugens was
heard to fling out, * Say * Long live the Dictatot ™ and have done with it.” Then
Clemenceay resumed his seat. MM, Mayéras and Renaudel asked leave to put
questions. M. Renaudel declared, * Those who consider that the conntry expects
its representatives to ask for the whole truth have a right to be heard.’ There
were muttmurs, M. Renaudel proceeded, “ I know that in these enthusiastic sessions
everything one szys gets distorted. . . .* MM. Bracke, Moutet, Longuet and others
offeted shocked and grieved protests.  * There ate already a number of them who
won’t forgive the victory,” said Clemenceau that evening.
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—what about Deschanel, eh? *—and that it would be
tantamount to a state burial of me in the Elysée Palace,
something to be avoided at all costs. I was consequently
fed up with the business even before it began, Further-
more—from this point of view I am a little nearer the
Republican spirit than all those fellows who present them-
selves for the presidency as for the Acadenmiy, with their
polite calls, their gossip, their promises and undertakings
—I hold that one doesn’t become a candidate for a place
like that. In any event that feeling’s stronger than I—
I’ve never been a candidate for anything. The proposal
comes from the outside, not from me. Mandel, by dint of
pestering me, obtained 2 paper from me in which I said that
if my friends wanted to vote for me, I would submit to
gentle pressure.? After this came the conference in the
Senate where the trial run was held? In view of
the result I withdrew my namet You sece, it’s very
simple.

1 Tt will be recalled that the late President Deschanel lost control of his mental
faculties.— Translator’s mofe.

¥ ‘The newspapers of 15th January, 1920, published the following paragraph :
‘M. Clemenceau has formally authorised his friends to present him as candidate
for the Pregidency of the Republic, stating that he was teady to accept the post if
the Convention were to entrust him with it. Consequently the friends of the
President of the Council have decided to have voting papers printed in his name
and put them beforc the members of the two bouses who are to take part in the full
Convention.”

On the 15th Clemenceau received one of the Deputies.  He told him, * Once

Tve been nominated by the full Convention, I shan’ctry to get out of it.” He added,
¢ Entrust me with two more years. I've won the war—the peace must now be
won.'
% On the r6th January, in the Salle des Brosses of the Senate. It was open to all
the members of Parliament. ‘There were 812 votes, Deschanel received 408 ;
Clemenceau, 389 ; M. Poincaré, 16; M. Lion Bourgeois, 5; M. Jonnart, 3;
Marshal Foch, 1.

¢ Immediately after the result of the vote was announced, the Cabinet Ministers
and Under-Secretaries went to see the President of the Council. A conference
took place. Clemenceau wrote the following to the President of the National

Assembly

* Mn, PresmomnT, )

*Ibeg to inform you that I withdraw the permission I gave to my fricnds to put
me forward ss candidate for the Presidency of the Republic, and that, if they
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MYSELF : But why did Parliament dislike you so much ?

CLEMENCEAU : My ftiend, for a very obvious reason :
because, though in form I was addressing myself to Patlia-
ment, it was always to the country to which I spoke in
reality. My speeches always went over the heads of the
Deputies and Senators, and I always made them under-
stand that, defeated or not, it was always the country which
could, in the last resort, judge between me and them.
That’s what I did in the Malvy business. When they told
me, in 1916, ‘ You’ve only six votes,” I replied, © That’s
of no importance. The country will pass upon it.” And
that’s what happened.

Well, a Parliament doesn’t like that sort of thing, A
Parliament is always irritated with 2 man whose politics
are national in scope. Furthermore, they always held this
against me, that I aroused a terrific distrust in my friends.
I doo’t know why, but they were always in a terrible funk
because I dragged them into places where they had no
desire to go. It is obvious that they would have had no
such fears with Deschanel. There wouldn’t have been
that business of the train. And the crossing-keeper’s
cabin,? all that extraordinary affair—like fiction in history.

go further and obtain for me a majotity of the votes, I shall refise the post so
offered.
* G, CLEMENCRAU,'

The following day, at Versailles, BB8 Senators and Deputies voted ; Deschanel,
734; M. Jonnart, 54; Clemenceau, §3; M. Poineard, 8; Marshal Foch, B;
M. Léon Bourgeois, 6.

The following events then took place :

On the 13th the Clemencean cabinet resigned. Millerand was called to the
Elysée,
chnthcuthofMa}'Dcschmd went to Montbrisen to unveil the monument
to Senator Emile Reymond. At Montargis he fell out of the carrisage window.

On the z1st September Clemencean left for India, Ignace, Mandel, Loucheur,
Klotz, Reux, myself and others went to see him off at the Gare du Lyon, Waving
of hats and handkerchiefs—and on the 23rd the Convention elected Millerand
President of the Republic.

1 Afeer falling from the tmain Deschanel had been picked wp by a crossing-
keeper who was unsble to believe that this men in pyjamaes was the Presideat of
the Republic,
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Martet—it was handled vety nicely. He was charming,
was Deschanel

MYSELF : One can’t help wondering what would have
happened if you had been elected.

CLEMENCEAU : There’s nothing to wonder about, my
dear fellow. I shouldn’t have remained in office three
months. What they wanted was someone who would let
them alone. I shouldn’t have waited a week before going
off the deep end. You must realise that if I had agreed to
talke over that job it wouldn’t have been for the purpose
of opening Horticultural Exhibitions. I should have done
or tried to do something. You wouldn’t have seen me
giving my blessing to Locatno, to the reinstatement of
those fellows who neatly did us in, and letting off traitors,
spies, deserters, and other scoundrels of that kind. . . .
I should have jumped out of my coffin one fine day and
said, ¢ No, I can’t have that-—1 can’t lend my name to that !’
They chose Deschanel, and they were perfectly right.

Do you see—the mote I think of these things, of the
kind of folly by which this country is possessed, as if victory
had unbalanced it, the more it seems absolutely necessary
that I write that book on Rome’s decadence. It isn’t that
I like Rome, or feel any pity for her. What a vile people
the Romans wete at bottom-—cold, surly, cruel, limited!
I love Greece ; I can’t love Rome.

mYSELF : No, they were complete opposites.

CLEMENCEAU : But there ate some illuminating com-
atisons to draw and lessons to detive from them.
They had their Deschanels—they had their Millerands.

T When Clemencean published Framce before Germany in 1916 he received this
note from Deschanel :
* 4th August, 1916,
* Dear MR, PRESIDENT,
* I"ve finished your book. It’s magnificent. I can’t deny myself the plessure
of telling you so, ete. . . .

¢ Plegse accept, eic. . . »
* Paur DescHANEL®
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Millerand! When I remember that on leaving office 1
said to him, ¢ You’re going to have matters in your hands
now. I've been holding conversations with kings, cabinet
ministers, and ambassadors for two years now; I'll tell
you a little about what’s been going on.’

He answered, ¢ It’s hardly worth the trouble !’

I handed the government of France over to him, I
handed Europe over to him, Martet, and he took it as if it
had been a pebble! Yes, you may well say that when
I needed somebody to govern Alsace, it was Millerand
whom I selected ; he was still the best available. You see,
my dear fellow, this world is far from perfect.

MYSELF : It was made too quickly.
CLEMENCEAU : Are you still coming to the Vendée ?
MYSELF : Mote so than ever.

CLEMENCEAU : I should warn you so that you may
watn your wife—the beds are a bit narrow.

MYSELF : We’'ll manage to squeeze in.

1 T discovered amongst my papers & rather amusing document ¢ an invitation
in which ‘ The President of the Republic and Madame Millerand beg that
Monsieur Geotges Clemencean, Member of the French Academy, will hononr
thern with his company at 4 soirée to be given in the Elysée Palace on Wednesday,
January the twenty-ffth, at 1o o'clock.’ In the upper right-band corner these
two words appear in violet-coloured ink : * In Uniform.’



XLI
JourpaN

A large yellow envelope on which a goose-quill has
scrawled : ¢ Jourdan.’
Four letters, all addtessed to Clemenceau, tumble out.

I

To Monsieur Georges Clemenceau, D.M., cfo M. Mataran,
21, Bockmann Street, New York, U.S.A.

Paris, 10th 7bre, 18065,

My Dzear GEORGES,

Your letter posted on August 21st arrived on the third
of this month. T awaited it with impatience, as I hope you
realise. I saw your father on his return from London—
twice, in fact. I found him more cheerful and busy than
depressed. It is true that he is reserved, and the stronger
his feelings ate the more he keeps them to himself. I
needn’t tell you that he freely resigns himself to your going
away, but, underneath, he seems to be looking about for
distractions in his lonesomeness and capable of finding
them in the agricultural pursuits which so readily attract
him. But regrets for what has been left behind shouldn’t
divett you from the duty of looking before you.

Your injunction was unnecessary and my slightly
jealous friendship would have suffered too much from the
commonplace picce of indiscretion which you feat, to per-
mit me to take the risk of it. I’'m not surprised at the mood
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you’re in. That’s as it ought to be and I'm pleased
by it. It’s a good thing to cling to your mother’s petti-
coats and your father’s affection, and I thank you for
having shown me so simply the feelings which you can
fiever have too strongly. 1 was deeply moved by what
you told me of your impressions when you wete saying
good-bye to your father, and this gave me great pleasure,
both for your sake and mine; for yours because I like to
see you that way, knowing only too well that your pride
will again assert itself, and for mine because, having never
actually expetienced these tender emotions, I like to think
about them.

There is one point on which I am not in complete
agreement with you. You say, ‘ You may well believe
that I didn’t write a word home about these feelings. . . .’
Why not? A word from the heart always does good,
and it’s no evidence of lofty virtue not to utter it to those
who expect it but don’t dare ask for it. To your mother,
at least !

Your father described for me in detail, and very cheer-
fully, your interview with John Stuart Mill. I thought that
he would say 2 word about the commission with which you
said he might entrust me, to find out about sending you
your allowance. But he didn’t speak of it, and as you well
know, I on my side said nothing to him about it. This
gives me cause for a complaint. You know your great
fault—I remind you of it without ceremony. Men were
made for you to walk beside, not over their heads, aristocrat
that you are.!  ‘The less one has the right to ask, the mote
one demands; I'm like that, as you know. But why
ovetlook speaking to your father about a thing that’s
already been arranged, and why, on the othet hand, tell
Schmolk that I’ve been commissioned to pay the freight on
your cases of books from Paris to Havre, and to Sauve, the
tailor’s manager, that I am to send him something every

1 The good Jourdan knew his Clemencesn well |
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month on account of the 575 francs which you owe him,?
when you haven’t said a word to me about it? This
damned question of money makes me uneasy about you.
You have too much-—for your father has been very
generous——to make it necessary to give up any large pro-
jects you may have, and you haven’t enough to make it
unnecessary for you to earmn more. What are you going to
do? You may have to exercise great economy, dictated
by a strong will. . . .

Since your departure I'm quite alone and miss you
more than I care to say.

* Clemenceau tock away with him to Americy vast quantitics of clothes and
books,
Here ate two bills for the year 1865 ;
Old and Modcm Books.
23, Boulevard Saint-Martin,
ETTENNEB SAUSSET,
Successor o AcHire Faups,
M, Crmemiceav, Dr,

14 Juillet Challemel, Phifosopiie. 2.2§
Pouchet, Univers, 2,50
Washingtoa. 2.7§
Catlyle, 27§
Spinoza, 3 vol, 8.23
Degcartes, .7y
La Fontaine, Fabler. 3.50
Proudhon, 2 vel, 6.00
De Maistre, La Papr, 2.75
ete., eic
Associamion GEvfRaLs
D'OuvriErs TAILLEURS.
33, Rue de Turbigo,
M, CrEMENCEAU, Dr.
23 Juillet 1865 1 Black frock-coat 100 Fres,
1 Flecce-lined overcoat 90 ,,
1 Pair striped trousers 58 ,,
1 _,, of same 35 »
1 Prit wool summer trousers 3z,
1 Pair black eatin breeches 1 .
1 Black broadcloth waistcoat 20

etc., etc,
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I fled for four or five days immediately after you left,
to go and kiss my wife. The trip did me good. Decidedly
a devoted wife is 2 good thing and I feel myself realising it
all the more as I see so little else left to me.

I fancy that you have either remained in New Yotk in
the z1o-franc-a-week room which you found, or else that
you went to Norwich, that you are going to set to wortk
without delay and finish the translation of Mill’s work on
Positivism. It should be sent over in time for the new
publishing season. It will be like dropping a card to your
old friends. Lefort has left. Lafont has gone to live in
the Batignolles quartet, and your Venus de Milo, who is
now at home on my mantelpiece, sends you her Olympian
greetings.

I should have a long letter from you in October ; you
will have recovered from the stupor which always goes
with a great shaking-up, and in chatting with me about
affairs, like 2 solicitor, and of the things that are going on
under your eyes, like an intelligent onlooker, of yourself as
a friend to a friend, you will give me a substitute for the
brother and son I’ve never had. Don’t forget me. My
wife thanks you for your good wishes, and only complains
of one thing, that you remembered to send them so late,

Your devoted,
Jourpan,

I
The 11 gbre, 18¢5s. Pommier de Bin
par Cour-Cheverny (Loir-et-Cher).
My Dsar GEORGES,

I'm behindhand with this correspondence ; I’ve had
your letter since the 21st of October, yet I'm only writing
you now. You ask why my friendship and punctuality
have failed ? T've had a thousand things to do. - Then I
went to the country for a fortnight’s rest and here I am at
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your disposal. You understand that to wtite you 2 casual
word or two isn’t in my line ; I preferted to wait.

My wife’s not getting on too badly ; I'm quite well ;
my affaits are in good shape ; I'm satisfied ; my mind is at
ease. It’s 2 good time for a chat.

Dear Georges, will you do me a great favour? Let me
‘tutoyer ’ you and treat you as a younger brother whom I
love and for whom I have all the ambitions which my
failings and my sense of proportion don’t allow me to have
for myself. You are far away and I miss you every day ;
you can grant me that much.

Before speaking with you for a bit about America, of
which you are beginning to write so pleasantly, I should
bring you up to date in news of the various friends or
acquaintances you’ve left here, in so far as I know myself,
for more and more I’m living the solitary life of a wolf.

Honour to whom honour is due, Pichat has a law-
suit on with Mangin. He is accused of an insult to religion
and incitement to hatred and contempt for the Govern-
ment by the quotation of some verses by Marc Monnier
and their interpretation as follows : © Agnes is the Church ;
Armolphe the Pope; Horace Victor-Emmanuel and Pail-
lasse is France.” The lawsuit seems absurd to me, but
from that very fact I believe that it’s a feud of long standing
and that our friend will be badly nipped. The hearing
will take place on the 16th.

Jobey wants to be remembered to you. He would
like to have an exact description of the Federal and Con-
fedetate uniforms, with the distinguishing marks of rank.
He is at gtips with an American novel he’s writing. I
doubt whether he’ll obtain fame and fortune from this
wotk. He is better at singing about hunting and the
table as a good liver than composing epic poems about the
American Civil War,

There was a2 Convention of students at Li¢ge, Regnard
and Rey seem to have been the more or less fortunate
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heroes of the occasion. It seems that black crépe was
donned and swords flourished in honour of Matetialism.

Politics are marking time and there’s very little cholera
hasn’t done to us.! A calmness prevails which ocutdoes
the smooth surface of the Ocean when it sleeps. M. Hugo
is singing about woods and streets.? I have no news about
the second edition of your thesis, except that the thesis
itself has been very favourably commented upon.

I wrote to Italy to try to get you a job as newspaper
correspondent. Here is what the charming Mauro Marchi,
who was re-elected at Cremona almost unanimously,
answers, ‘ The Italian newspapers, even the most important
ones, pay about as much attention to American affairs as
they did in 1840, and, even if they are interested in them,
afe not in 2 position to pay a special cortespondent, I'm
sorry for your friend, but that’s how matters stand.’
Mauro’s answer, in view of the complete knowledge which
he has of the Italian press and his friendship for me, shows
me that it’s hopeless to expect anything for you in that
quarter. Can’t we try somewhere else ? Who knows but
what we might do something with the Temps® or the
Avenir.  You seem to have stumbled on a very good idea
in wanting to do something for fame in the Phare. We
should be able to get anything through Pichat,

It is unnecessary to tell you with what interest I read the
second part of your letter. It was well said as well as well
thought out. But you must take care of your eyes. We
aren’t handsome enough fellows to neglect those two lamps,
in which burns everything that’s fine and good in you.
The devil. I'm paying you compliments, so here I shall
allow myself a very tiny stricture. . . .

I like the picture of your Monsieur Forster : ¢ Customs
have a higher value than law,” you say., °The number of

1 He wis to die of it three months later,
Y Somgs of the Strestr and the Woods.  Appeared in 1866,
3 We know that that edvice was taken.,
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tepressive laws which nullify themselves before taking
effect is great. Over here it is the natural course of events.’
Here is the answer ; that course is the matk of a truly free
country, which governs itself instead of receiving its
impulses through external pressure. Law in such a
country is much more an effect than a cause and one undet-
stands why it survives even after the reason which caused it
has been replaced by another. I only think that you are
wrong in saying, especially in reference to domestic life,
that a social current is forming which has not yet been
spoken of. In his second volume De Tocqueville * has an
excellent chapter on this question. That’s not to say that
there has been nothing to analyse and note in the last
thirty years, Far from it; but actually the movement
you speak of has been observed. Amongst other things
this movement clearly proves the powerful effects of a
country’s political institutions on its social economy.
Just as there isn’t the breadth of a hair between the political
economy of the Institute of France and Carrey’s, yet these
two systems, so similar and both regarded as true in two
countries by their legislators, have produced quite different
economic results,

I am not sorry about the great wotk of translating the
book on logic——it would have required too much time and
effort for a hollow honour and on conclusions which are
always in dispute. I prefer the translation of Mill’s book.

L Democracy in America (1835).

Ifound amongst the memoranda which Clemenceau brought back from America
two or three pages on which he scribbled spontaneously © A few teflections * on
Dumocracy in America, It has been said that M. de Tocqueville's book had
the rare good luck to please all parties, It's true, and I see a serious criticism in the
fact, The hook which pleases everybody is like the man who has no enemies.
He may be honest, worthy, even interesting, but it is certzin in advance that he
lacks @ centre, that he has no philosophy, and that even if by chance he stands for
certain principles, he won’t fight to the finish for any of them." There are some
interesting passages in these reflections. This one, for instance : * When you do
good, you stir up the ill-disposed against you. It is certainly less dangerous to do
evil, fot the hatred of well-disposed people, when they go as far as bringing them-

sclves to hate, ig infinitely less to be feared than that of the wicked, whom no
consideration will soothe and whom no moral scruple will check.”
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It’s more real. There has just appeared another work
on utilitarianism, which has been translated in the Reowe
Nationale. 1t appears to be by a tejuvenated Bentham;
I haven’t read it yet.

My wife sends het affectionate greetings, and I too,
with all my heart. ‘Take care of yourself and send me exact
instructions, which I shall execute like a loyal soldier.

JourpAN.

11
Paris, 1o February, 1866,

My Dear GEORGES,

M. Dourlan, one of your former colleagues on the
Committee, will bring you this letter. I had a visit from
him, and at the same time learned that he was going to
New York. 1 gave him 2 letter—I am not urging you to
take him up. You know him better than I, and if I can
judge by my personal impressions, he must be one of the
friends whom you’ve missed and of whom you’ve thought.
He has been overcome by a profound disillusion and is
leaving to look for what one no longer finds here, men and
a clean struggle in the full light of Iiberty.

He’s not the only one in the grip of this new kind of
upsidedown nostalgia. Rey left for Heidelberg two days
ago, blessing his judges for having provided him with so
good an opportunity of seeking elsewhere all that life here
is lacking, We’ve sunk lower than ever. I hated secing
Rey go; I used to see him every day and he had almost
become a substitute for you. I like him so much because
he reminds me of you by contrast every minute. I'm
afraid he has nearly touched bottom. His head is in the
clouds and his feet not firmly enough on earth. But he has
a delicate temperament and 2 lofty character.

The newspapers are becoming more and more vile, and
that makes me wonder whether, even if we succeeded in
getting you a cortespondent’s job, you would want to take
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advantage of our success. It is generally thought that we
shall insert a finger into Mexican affairs and settle them.!
‘The Latin races are being submerged ; they have been for
a long titme, ever since the Reformation,

I'm waiting impatiently for your work on Mill. I
hope that you will make use of me.

It didn’t in the least make me shudder to hear that you
want to study America in the light of the Positivist method.
Only I think, and Littré’s book on Comte from which you
quote is a proof of it, that that method has up to now been
more negative than affirmative. It has been useful in over-
throwing a priori presumptions, but I don’t see what it has
built up in the field of moral and political science, or to
put it better, Comte and even Littré himself undertook to
show its comparative impotence. This first observation is
true. Now I'll run through the aphotisms which fill your
last letter. They are too well put and thought out for
you to have forgotten them. Pl only have, then, to quote
from them here and there to enable you to follow the
connection,

I confess that 'm not at all convinced of what you say
on the organism, its structure and the environment in
which it functions. It may be true for the organism in the
ordinary sense, stomach, lungs, etc. ; 1 doubt whether it’s
true for man, and the transition seems to me to be sur-
mounted with too much facility. A man is something
beside pure organism. I shall never sacrifice the idea of
liberty to a materialistic or providential theory; its part
may be small but it exists.

The transition from individual to collective man re-
mains 4 clumsy affair and you don’t need a connecting link
toexplain it. Ishould liketo believe inthelaw of heredity,
but has it the infallibility you attribute to it? If this
law acts in so absolute 2 manner and if the environment

1 The result of this intervention was that the United States evoked the
Monroe Doctrine and Napoleon III, withdrew, leaving his puppet Emperor, the
Archduke Maximilian, to be executed by, the Mexicans.—Tranclator’s nofs.
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only intetferes to encourage or prevent the hatching of
the transmitted germs, without adding anything of its
own, the idea of progress would be difficult to grasp, and
even, without speaking of progress, it would be hard to
understand why, in the same country and the same century,
two generations bear so small 2 resemblance to each other.

Everything that you say, after advancing these first
points, seems to me well-conceived and clearly reasoned.
Thanks for having spoken to me of these things. Don’t
pay too much attention to my answers, work hard, and
keep your affection for me. Tibi.!

Jourpan,

v
In another hand :
Paris, the 15t March, 1866,
DEear Frienp,

I have some very sad news to break to you. Your
friend, I may say our friend, for I had learned to appreciate
him in the little time we spent together, last Monday
succumbed to a quite sudden attack of cholera.

Having gone to Brest the previous week, he brought
back the fatal germ with him. In barely five days our poor
friend was dead. I had seen him a few days before his
trip. He had delighted me, as always, with his courtesy
and good humour. We spoke of you, of how things were
going in America, of France’s future, which never seemed
to be far from his mind, and despite the difference in our
ages, despite the disillusions of all sorts, from which he
had suffered more than I, it was he who was the optimist
and I the pessimist. When I say optimist I perhaps
exaggerate 2 little, for he did not conceal the difficulties in
the present state of affairs, But he had that serene faith
which never deserts those who have struggled passionately
in 2 noble cause. Perhaps he also magnified his hopes a

1 ‘The letter is cutious and traly high-minded. It shows how this somewhat

sombre but subte and conscientious mind was trying to round off the corners of
the neophyte in Positvism.
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little, seeing how weak mine were. In any case he had a
healthy understanding of men and things. His conversa-
tion, in which the ‘I’ invariably gave way to wider con-
siderations, was usually to the point and full of fine shades.
Bound to the past by his public actions and his private
affections, he judged it without bitterness, yet without
complacency. He didn’t entertain that feeling of ridicule
for the men of 1848 which most of them have kept toward
one anothet, and he often laughed at their vanity while
regretting their inadequacy.

His was, in a word, a clear-sighted and wise spirit,
stripped of vulgar ambition, active, loyal, in fine a man who
might have rendered great service and who cannot be
replaced. For he was the only one of our contemporaries
who didn’t cherish illusions about the past and future of
France.

1 did not have the privilege of seeing Jourdan during
his last illness. I only learned on Monday evening at
five o’clock that he had taken to bed. I ran over to his
house. He had just died. He had suffered a great deal
during the last two or three days. But the attack was so
violent that all feeling was soon dulled, and at the moment
of death his nervous exhaustion was so great that he
would have passed away in his sleep if his frightened wife
hadn’t awakened him. He was stretched out on his sofa
like a convalescent. Wakened, or rather snatched from
the comatose sleep which was prostrating him, he threw
himself on his poot wife’s bosom, saying, * My poor friend,
what a strange illness!” Then he collapsed and died.

A letter from you arrived on the evening before. It
was still unopened at the time of his death.

Good-bye, and my most cordial greetings,

TOULET.

Poor Jourdan }—a little place had to be found for him
in these pages, whete so many dead are lying.
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Like BEARDED WOMEN

3rd July, 1928B.
CLEMENCEAU (showing me a book lying open on bis table) :
I'm engaged in studying the Carthaginians,
MYSELF : Ah, Mommsen.

- CLEMENCEAU: It’s interesting. It’s written from a
point of view altogether narrow and without horizons.
That’s what’s good about it.

MYSELF: I've brought you two books; first, this
album of Druet’s where you will find reproductions of
some Monets. . . .

CLEMENCEAU (##rning over the leaves of the album) : ‘Thanks.
I'll Iook at it.

MysELF: One thing I didn’t know was the portrait of
a man with an enormous umbrella and a tie like a bit of
string. . . .

CLEMENCEAU: Oh, that’s fine! I didn’t know it
either. What a beak! You hardly know whether it’s
grotesque or magnificent. He did that under Manet’s
influence. It’s obvious if he had wished to take up figure-
painting, he would have done it as well as landscape and
gone at it as profoundly and violently. ‘This good fellow’s
done in a most frightening manner. And his trousers |
The most expressive thing in the pictureare the trousers. . . .

MYSELF : Will you have finished your Monet soon?
CLEMENCEAU : It’s being typed. I've only a few days’
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work left on it. Pll take it away to the Vendée, After
that Pl attack the Decadence,

MYSELF: I've also brought you this book by Félix
Sartiaux on the ancient civilisation of Asia Minor. He’s
a man of intelligence and says things that will please you.

CLEMENCEAU : I know him. T believe that he has
studied the subject seriously.

MYSELF : There are some pages on Miletus, Ephesus
and Pergamos which will interest you. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Asia Minor is a charnel house of dead
cities. When you think of zll those races who followed
and exterminated one another—the Hittites, the Phrygians,
the Lydians—Achilles and Agamemnon disembarked there
when it was already very old.

MYSELF: They haven’t excavated the hundredth part
of it. What’s so depressing is to see that the French
School at Athens has altogether only a few thousands for
its excavations, whilst the English, the Germans and the
Americans come along with millions, open work-shops. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : My friend, there was a fellow, a French
scholar, who bought the excavation rights at Pergamos—
he sold them again to the Germans. (Turning the pages)
Oh, here’s the Hera of Samos which is in the Louvre.?
Shall I tell you a stoty about the Hera of Samos ?  There’s
a little band around the middle of the trunk, with an
inscription onit. If you want to read the translation of that
inscription you have to go to London, my lad, to the
British Museum, where they have a cast of the statue.
I said to the Louvre people, ¢ Can’t you put 2 translation
of the inscription on the base of the statue ¢’

1 Catalogue of Antique Marbles, p. 41 * Juno, draped, a statue which is probably
the copy of an ancient ex-vote in wood ia the form of acolumn ; the head is missing :
the dedicatory inscription is cut in a vertical line on the outside border of the robe,
Gift of P, Girard. Temple of Juno at Samos.”
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They replied, ‘ There are a great many inscriptions
already. ‘The public complains that there are too many.’
And there you are, Martet.?

MYSELF: Sartiaux takes up the defence of the De-
cadence. He has a great respect for the Hellenistic period,
which, he says, has been judged too sevetely and which
has produced some fine things.

CLEMENCEAU : Which are they ? In any case it didn’t
produce master spirits. Don’t let them put it over on
you. Look at the Parthenon. Look at the Erechtheion.

MYSELF ; I’'m a little lost with the Erechtheion.

CLEMENCEAU : Because you shouldn’t try to take it
in at a glance. It's two, three temples. You have the
Catryatides. You have the east portico and the north
portico. They brought those together for lack of room.
Nothing ought to resemble Pere-Lachaise as much as the
Acropolis. A man wanted to erect a monument to his
father—he stuck it thete any old how. When the Pro-
pyleia was being built, there was an idiot who tumbled
from the roof and was killed. They erected 2 statue to
him on the spot where he fell. You can still see the base
of it.

MYSELF: As for the Parthenon, there is 2 metope at
the Louvte.2 It’s pretty bad.

1 Therc is a letter which Bzbelon once sent him with tefarence to antique
statuary, the one thing which probably gave Clemenceau the purest joys of his life 1
* Monsieur le Sénateur,—The Carthaginian sarcophagus of which I spoke in my
lecture is in the Louvre, in the Salle des Mosaiques de Renan, on the ground floor ;
it’s the room patallel to the garden museum designed by M. Dujardin Baumetz.
There are two splendid sarcophagi, the finest that P. Delattre found ; one is that
of a Rab or High Priest of Baal Hammon—1 hadn’t the time to show it to my
listeners, Both sarcophagi are at the far end of this room, which bas for so long
been under repair, on either side of the staircase. And whea you go to admire
them, Monsieur le Sénateur, I am sure that you will also admire to at Jeast the same
extent the iabel, on which the Governors of the Louvre tax all their ingenuity not
to say thar these sarcophagi were the gift of the artist who made them. Believe
me, etc.’ The Louvre labels have bad a bad press,

Y Catalogue of Antigue Marbiss, p. 44 “ Metope representing a centaur abducting
2 womuan, tenth metope on the southern facade. Acquired by Fauvel ; Choisenl
collection.”



)

La -1t

.

l j j : ,Hﬁm;‘vﬂ:‘.m .:
' I s v ok 300

THE LAST PORTRAY|

A drnang by Hene $odard






LIKE BEARDED WOMEN 33§

CLEMENCEAU : Yes, it’s rather heavy. There’s a horse
who looks like a seal. But the Panathenea! What
serenity | And you must remember the fellows who made
it were ordinary low-wage workmen. Phidias saved
himself for the pediments. (Silmce.) It’s certain that
Athens is worth mote than Rome. Nevertheless there
was something to Rome—men like Tacitus and the younger
Pliny. Moreover, Rome or Athens, Athens or Rome,
what interests me is the way in which races ascend, ascend
—and at the end of it all, what’s left? It’s just the old
story of the sun which over and over again sets mathe-
matically into the water. If you want to form a judgment
about anything you must take a view over the ages—must
not be satisfied with ten yeats, or 2 hundred years. When
you have ten or twenty centurics spread befote you,
everything inevitably becomes clear, renews itself, and the
same causes have the same effects ; you see that the same
mob which destroyed Athens destroyed Rome. Ewverything
was said and done in vain-—that’s the way of the wotld.

MYSELF : Sit, I found amongst your papers notes which
you took with the view of writing 2 book on women.
I should like to ask you why you’ve always been an anti-
feminist.

CcLEMENCEAU : Oh, yes. I began that book when I
was 2 medical student—a book of which I never wrote
a line! I merely set down the chapter headings. I
wanted to study woman, in relation to man, her conduct,
her sphere, her development, to show to what she might
lay claim, to what she might raise herself, physically and
mentally—which ate the same thing—outside the field of
politics, naturally,

MYSELF : Why that exception ?

CLEMENCEAU : My friend, it’s strength that determines

1 A pistake, (An article was written, which appears in the French edition,
bat has bere been omitted because of its length.)
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all of this world’s conduct. Whether for better or worse,
that’s how it is: a woman hasn’t the strength. She is
led by whoever wants to take the trouble. Amongst
us she’s led by the priest. (I made a gesture.) Yes, indeed,
and I see no need to give the priests any additional strength,

MYSELF : But are you as much afraid of the priestly
petil as the Bolshevist peril ?

cLEMENCEAU : The Bolshevist peril? There is no
Bolshevist peril, It’s a thing of the moment. Don’t you
realise that for a time there will be killings and throat
cuttings, and then everything will very quickly return to
where it was before. Those things can’t last. One must
eat, after all. In ten years Russia will have a bourgeois
government. She already has a bourgeois government,
Every now and then they shoot a few individuals just to
put people off the scent. But that only deceives con-
genital idiots. She has reformed het army and re-opened
her banks. One of these days you’ll see the priests coming
back. The circle will be closed. Since there have been
men there has been Bolshevism. Every fifty or a hundred
years it breaks out. Now and then it doesn’t get any-
where. But in either event the martyrs to the good cause
of Bolshevism can rest easy in their graves; they won’t
have had their heads broken for nothing. The principles
which undetlie a Revolution are not those which undetlie
a government or a State. Once violence has done its
work you put it aside.

‘The priests are another matter. They make less noise,
but they are mote cunning, and, as regards our self-respect,
our real liberty and dignity, as dangerous. I haven’t told
you about the answer I had before the war, from one of
my father’s farmers, a decent, respectable fellow. I said
to him, ‘You ought to vote for M. Untel. He’s a
republican.’

He answered, ¢ No, master, I shall vote for whoever
the curé tells me to.’
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MysELF: Don’t you find it odd and paradoxical that
the right to vote is given to any lunatic or drunkard and
that it’s refused to Mme. Curie, for instance ?.

CLEMENCEAU : As far as Mme. Cutie is concerned you
hit on an unfortunate example, my friend ; I’ve observed
her for some time, and seen her surrounded by a mass of
people—queer folk—and taking part in all kinds of things
that have nothing whatever to do with radium, I wonder
if she isn’t much more dangerous than the drunkard in
question ; when a person is intelligent, cducated and, into
the bargain, has a twist in his intellect, when he’s lacking
in fundamentals, that’s a bad thing,

Now, if you tell me that the vote should be taken
away from certain of the masculine sex, there, Martet, 1
grant you whatever you ask.

MYSELF : You must realise, sit, that 2 woman is usually
a factor for reason and equilibrium in het home. . . .

CLEMENCEAU: In domestic life, yes. And in her
domestic life she should be given all rights, all security
you like against the man, whose life of work and struggle
makes him 2 beast three times out of four. But in political
life you must have other qualities than reason and modera-
tion. You must go out, get yourself insulted, roll up your
sleeves, measure yourself against others, and, at the right
moment, begin to take action. What do you expect?
I can’t see the woman-man. They produce an impression
upon me—like bearded women. I should never have
been able to marry a woman doctor. Medicine presupposes
indifference and cold-bloodedness which were never
intended for women.

MYSELF: Nevertheless there are women who are
feminine and none the less have good sense and judgment.

CcLEMENCEAU : There are, my friend—that’s obvious.
But how many ?

MYsELF: And how many such men ate there, sir?
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I’m not a feminist, ot if I am, it’s not because I have
unlimited confidence in women’s political talent—I haven’t
yet come to that. It’s because I distrust man’s political
acumen.

CLEMENCEAU : In that case I trepeat: we agtee !

MySELF ¢ 1 consider that from the morment one has taken
the path of illogic—for universal suffrage, you will grant,
is a step in that direction . . .

CLEMENCEAU : I do grant it,

MYSELF : ‘Then logic demands that we follow that path
to the very end, and, since we’ve given the vote to men of
all sorts, intelligent or idiots, members of Temperance
Societies or paupers, we ought to give it to women also.

CLEMENCEAU : Yes ?
MYSELF ;: Of course.

CLEMENCEAU : It’s an odd logic that demands that you
pursue it to an end in madness |

MYSELF : At bottom what frightens you is the priest,
and you have that fear because you belong to a very
Catholic country; if you had been born elsewhere, you
mightn’t have the same ideas.

CLEMENCEAU: At Saint Vincent-sur-Jard the muni-
cipality rents an enormous piece of ground to the curé for
forty francs a year. It’s worth a thousand. I said to the
mayot, ‘ Why doyoudoit?’

He answered, < Well, I did talk to the curé about it.
But he said, if you raise the rent, the bishop will remove
me.’

And there you are. The processions aren’t yet too
packed. I think that there are three or four important
personages to take a stroll with the curé: a millionaire
peasant called Bernard, a major of artillery, whose house is
next to mine at the edge of the sea, Martin-Decaen and one
or two others—I no longer remember who they are~—but
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everybody goes to mass; the church is crammed. So it
isn’t very surprising to see the people marching at his beck
and call like kids—and you’d like to organise the women
the same way.!

MYSELF : I wanted to ask you something else. The
other day we were talking about Thiers. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : [ve told you what I thought of him.
What do you expect me to think of Thiers? There’s no
one who detested me more. There are two pairs of eyes
that I remember: Thiers’ and Marshal MacMahon’s.
When Marshal MacMahon looked at me, it was with the
look with which the arrogant Hippolytus would have
regarded 2 monster—a look filled with loathing.

MYSELF : But how did you happen to clash with the
Marshal ?

CLEMENCEAU : I was secretary to the National Assembly ;
in this capacity I was invited to official banquets and tecep-
tions. That is, if the Marshal was able to swallow me |
I walked about in the midst of all that grandeur with my
usual charming smile. . . . Thiers was a man who firmly
abstained from having an idea, who literally had no per-
ception of anything. During the Commune he did the
same as he had done in the Rue Transonain, and with the
same ferocity. And not only did he do it, but he boasted
and crowed about it. Did I tell you about the abominable
act he committed ? After having promised to leave the
Parisians their guns, he took them away—which was the
cause of everything that happened. . . .

MYSELF : Pethaps it would have been no less unwise
to leave them ?

1 There ave two letters which I found relating to Clemenceau’s anti-clericaliam,
General Perreaux wrote him from Dacte ot 4th January, 15057 ' Allow me, at
the beginning of the New Year, to wish you success in the colossal job you®ve under-
taken and are carrying on. I mean the struggle against the despotism of Rome,’
And on the eve of his departure for the United States: * Pars, gth November,
1922, Mr, President, the vicar of St. Gervais prays for a good voyage and a happy
retum for you.  Accept my respectful greetings, etc.—GAUTHIER.’
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CLEMENCEAU : Well, first, he shouldn’t have promised
to leave them and, secondly, he should have removed them
intelligently. You don’t handle mobs that way. He was
one of those hide-bound fools who fancy that you can
achieve something with an order written on a piece of

paper.
MyYSELF : And Galliffet? Did you know him ?

CcLEMENCEAU: No. He was also a swine! You
shouldn’t forget that they were all like that. When the
Versaillais entered Patis, they shot a deputy, Millitre, whom
of course they hadn’t the right to touch. Much they
cated! They shot him on the steps of the Pantheon,
after having tried to make him beg for mercy on his knees,
which he refused to do. He said to them, ¢ You can kill
me. Killme. Butyou won’t humiliate me.’

1 T found amongst the documents on the Commune which Clemencean gave

me these * minutes * of a sort, where the * swine ’ is painted to the life
' Galliffet Inguiry.

“Itappears from the testimony of MM. Leliévse, Bresou and Michot, inhabitants
of Chatou (Scine-ct-Oisc), that on znd April, 1871, at cight o’clock in the morning,
three National Guards, an officer and a sergeant crossed the Seine; together with
the workets engaged on the Chatou bridge, then under repair, they came into the
town,
* They entered the establishment of M. Rieux, restaurant-kecper and wine-
merchant, situated in the rue de Saint-Germain ; they ordered 2 breakfase which
was served to them a few minutes after their atrival. One Tranquard, also an
inhabitant of Chatou, a sergeant in the Firc Brigade, Ieft the place at the end of a
shott time to notify General Galliffet, who he knew was on reconnaissance in that
country, of the presence of these wretches,

“ An hour later General Galliffet, at the head of fifteen cavalrymen, arsived before
the Rieux establishment, arrested the National Guards, bad them taken to a point
sevesal metres from the restanrant and lined up agzinst a wall, despite the pleas of
m poot unfortunates ; he gave the command to fire and they fell diddled by

ts.

*The people, at the bead of whom was M. Laubenf, mayot, of Chatou, attempted
to protest against this horrible massacre ; M. Laubeuf used words to this effect to
General de Galliffer: * General, these men are harmless; acrest them, take them
away, bring them before o court-martial which will pass judgment on them, but
spare us the horrible spectacle of needless butchery which nothing can justify. We
beg you in the name of humanity,” The general's reply to his plea was * Shoot
those mscals | Then turning to the mayor he gaid, * I order you to be silent, and if
you're not satisfied, I'll do the same 1o you”*

The paper goes on to say that Tranquerd received a medal and was oamed
Captain of the Fire Brigade for his serviees, but died of remorse,
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For six days they kept on shooting, wildly, blindly—
it rested with the concierges :

¢ Are there any Communards in your house ?’

The concierge would answer, “No. Oh, wait 2
minute | ‘Thete is one here, he looks like one of those
scoundtels who pour petroleum about and set fire to it.’
They dragged them out, and—bang !

How did I happen to come safely through all that?
I don’t understand it yet. There was at that time a brave
woman—my old friend Louise Michel. She was splendid
before the Versaillais, She told them, ¢ Don’t think for
a moment that I'm afraid of you. I despise you. You’te

brigands, murderers. I tell you so, and you can kill me
if you want to.’

MYSELF : Why didn’t they shoot her ?

CLEMENCEAU : They wete afraid, by God! I’d known
Louise Michel when I was mayor of Montmartre and wanted
to separate Church and State. I had written a nice letter
to all the teachers, male and female, saying, ‘I don’t ask
much of you. I metely want you not to require the
catechism from your pupils, and not to take them to the
curé.’? Amongst the teachers there was only one who

1 Here is theletter. It is a lithographed circular,

* 1 hear that the priest of your parish has summoned you for to-morrow, Tuesday,
to celebrate High Mass with your pupils in his church.

“In the first place I must remind you that, being a civil instimition, you are not
bound by the orders of your parish priest.

*It is imperative that every person’s liberty of conscience be serapulously
respected,  In summoning the children of your school to proceed in a body to any
place whatever given over to the practice of any creed whatever, without consulting
their individual opinions or those of their parents, you would be bringing ot sceming
to bring a regrettable pressure on their conseiences. It is the Municipality’s duty
to put an end to these abuses,

¢ Like every other citizen, you are absolutely free to practise whatever religion
you may choose and in whatever way you choose.  Your individual pupils have
the same absolutc right to go to such church as they wish, with or without their
parents, so long as the latter consider it suitable, But it is impossible that you
should ever think of convoking them in 2 body to celebrate any religious rite, . . .

* You will observe that you ate forbidden to take the children in your school to
catechism.

* The children ate free to go to catechism of not, with their pareat’s consent,
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answered—Louise Michel. She took the right attitude.
Afterwards she was of course guilty of stupidities; I
became estranged from her. It proves that with women
. . . Like Séverine. Séverine was very nice, very gallant.
Now there she is, with all those people, and every time
she has'a chance to throw her arms around a traitor’s or
2 spy’s neck, she doesn’t fail to do so and to assute the
gentleman, with the greatest possible amount of publicity,
of her unutterable respect for him. Say what you will,
it doesn’t make you want to be a feminist.

MYSELF : There’s another distinguished petson about
whom I want you to say 2 word.

CLEMENCEAU : Oh! Who?
MYSELF : His Majesty Edward VII, King of England.
CLEMENCEAU : Edward VII was a fine and, yes, charm-

duting their holidays, But I cannot allow you to devote the ime belonging to
instruction to the dogimas of any religion whatever.
* The Mayor of 18th Arrondissement.
‘G. CLEMENCEAU.

* Paris, 26th October, 1870.

1 There is a very interesting letter addressed to * His Excellency, Monsieor
Clemenceau, President of the Council of the French Ministry, Hans Belveders,
Carlsbad.” It bears the seal of the royal arms of England.

¢ Hotel Weimar,
‘ Marieabad.
¢ 23rd August, 1gc8.

¢ Major-General Sir Stanley Clarke presents his compliments to H.E, Monsienr
Clemencean and is desired by His Majesty King Edward (Duke of Lancaster) to
itrvite him to lunch at the Hotzl Weimar, on Wednesday, August 26th, at one o’clock,
and to beg him to come in ordinary travelling costume,

* His Majesty has also invited Monsicut Isvolsky.’

In The Times of 24th December, 1920, the editor-in-chief of thatjournal, who was
formesly its special correspondent in Austria-Hungary, gave the details of 2 con-
versation which took place at Matieabad on 26th August, 1908, between King
Edward and Clemenceau : * In the course of this lengthy conversation, M. Clemen-
cean had expressed his fears about the future of international relations and already
foresaw a probable conflice. “ England,” he eaid, “ has confidence in the power of
ber fleet to destroy the German fleet, but for France the danger of invasion is very
ml"’ r

Here The Times ends by reproducing in French Clemencean’s very words:
* It wasn't at Trafalgar, which was nevertheless a very brilliant naval victory, but
at Waterloo, which was & small battle, that England broke Napoleon’s power.’



LIKE BEARDED WOMEN 343

ing man, who really did ail that he could. A gay dog,
but, like most gay dogs, a man of resource. You know
that nevertheless his wife the Queen-Mother—who’s still
living, I think P—had gtreat veneration for him. When
I went to London, my car passed in front of her palace,
and, in ordet to see me go by, she came out on the pavement.
They told me that, so I went to pay my respects to her.
Something gruesome and comic put in an appearance, a
kind of old court servant, very gorgeously attired, with a
flower in his buttonhole, bent double by age, who came to
do the honours almost on all-fours. After a time the
Queen said to me, ‘ Do you realise that I went out into the
street yesterday to see you go by ?’

She led me to a large portrait of het husband and, point-
ing to it, said, ‘ He was a splendid man. There’s never
been a better on earth.’

MYseLF: And George V7

CLEMENCEAU : He’s charming too. ‘They’re all worthy
people—what do you expect 7 They do their job as best
they can. ,

MYSELF: You haven’t lost your memorandum on
Foch ?

CLEMENCEAU : No. (Indicating the drawer of his table)
It’s there. I’m letting it lie. You will profit from it.
Have you been out in the country recently ?

MYSELF: Yes. The other day I went to a place called
Champlieu. It’s on the outskirts of the Forest of Senlis.
I found thete an old Roman city, with a temple, a theatre,
baths. . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Of which nothing remains ?

MYSELF : Not much.

CLEMENCEAU: It’s better so. Roman architecture
gains a great deal by being in ruins. Do you know
Pompeii ? That’s worth the trouble of going to see.
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I saw a dead city like that in India, with streets and houses.
I only wonder how these people managed to get into their
own houses. There’s only an opening high up and
nothing to climb up by.

MYSELF : Perhaps they had ladders. . . .

CLEMENCEAU: You've an answer for everything.
Ruins. The world is paved with ruins. We take walks
in cemeteties, and stroll amongst skeletons. I remember
that at Tegea, where thete is a vast temple to Athena—
I wonder what it was doing thete P—a man came along
locking for me. He said, ‘I’ve a lucerne field whete you’ve
only to stoop down in order to gather Tanagras.’

I went there with him. I picked up quantities of them
—all broken, of course. . . .

MYSELF : Why of course ?

CLEMENCEAU : Because business must go on. When
Critias, son of Critias, brought his little statue to the priest,
the priest smiled at him and said,  Thank you, my friend.’
He vwraited until Critias had returned home, and broke the
statuette. In this way the statuette business remained
prosperous : the priests must have received a percentage.
It’s at Tegea that there is the little museum with that head.
I've shown it to you twenty times. Come along all the
same. (Hegets #p.) Come and see the head, Martet. (We
go into the study. Clemencean, showing me the cast of the Tegea
head) What about it, eh ?
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SoME JEWS

_ 6th July, 1928.
Clemenceau is at wotk. 1 enter with my wife, We
exchange greetings and sit down.

CLEMENCEAU : Well, Monsieur Martet.
MYSELF : It seems that we’ve lost a great financier.

CLEMENCEAU : Which great financier ? Loewenstein ? 1
If by any chance this great financier was a Jew . . .2

MYSELF : As well as being a Jew he was occupied with
money matters, . . .

CLEMENCEAU : Not a bad death., A bit showy. . ..
MYSELF : Empedocles . .

CLEMENCEAU : Just what I was going to say. Speaking
of Israel, ’ve just had a visit from Edmond de Rothschild.
He can still stand on his legs. . . . Well, Edmond de
Rothschild is, as Jews go, a good Jew. He stayed a
minute, and told me things which weren’t devoid of good
sense, which is rather rare in one who holds so great a
power with money—even things which had an air of the
nobility about them. Edmond de Rothschild does not
follow his ideas up systematically. Those thirty millions
which he gave for laboratories—it’s very nice, don’t you

1 Fell from his acroplane, 4th July, 1928, while crossing the Chaonel

¥ ‘This brings to mind an amusing ancedote which has been repeated about
Clemencean. During the war he was severely censored at times for having
sppoioted Klotz as Finance Minister. Clernenceau’s answer was: I like him—

he's the only Jew I've ever met who knows nothing whatever about money.
~—Translator’s mots,
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think, and he a Jew? And he’s satisfied to be a Jew.
One day 1 said something unpleasant about the Jews,
whereupon he stood up, pounded on the table—yes,
Martet—and said, ‘ Monsieur Clemenceau, the Jewish
race is the greatest race in the world.’

And he began to talk to me about his Judas Macca-
baeuses. I rather like it, not the Maccabees, but that one
shouldn’t be ashamed of being what one is—it’s the only
way of being it decently.

D—— is another sort. He said to me, ¢ I’ve some-
thing like 110 or 140 millions—I don’t even know exactly.
And the boring thing is that I don’t know how to spend it.”

I answered, ‘It’s senseless. Can’t you become in-
terested in a job? Give the money to something worth
while 7’

He assumed a knowing smile. ‘Have you anything
to tecommend ?’

He feckoned that I was going to touch him on behalf
of a person or 2 hospital. 1 said, ‘ No, I don’t know any.
It’s for yourself—that your life may have some meaning.’

MysELF : It’s difficult to know both how to make and
how to spend money.

CLEMENCEAU : That’s what he said. My father only
taught me to scrape and pinch. Can you realise that I'm
distressed when my clerks write letters on headed paper?
I want them to write on scrap paper.” He recognises it—
that’s something.

I had a curious expetience this morning ; needing a
hair cut, I sent for a batber. Hecame. Hehadamouthful
of gold teeth.

MYSELF : Schliemann would have liked that.

CLEMENCEAU: Yes. You know, you should see his
Mycenean excavations. He’s got a lot of cheek. He had
said,  You should find Agamemnon over there” They

1 Another large Jewish financier.



SOME JEWS 347

dug, and found something which might well have been
Agamemnon,

MYSELF : Why not ?

CLEMENCEAU: Quite. Schliemann said, ‘But you
ought to find two others.” They dug some more. They
found a couple of other chaps. A triumph for Schliemann,
The unfortunate part is that the next day they found a
fourth, a fifth—an entite collection. . . .

MYSELF : All the Atrides, Schliemann did archaeology
a very bad turn.  He entirely pillaged Troy.

CLEMENCEAU : You must always be suspicious of the
Boches ; when they find themselves in front of a city,
their blood tells—they demolish it.

[We get up and nrove toward the door.
MYSELF : Have you read Sartiaux’ book ?

CLEMENCEAU : Yes. It’s good. But there are two
ot three compliments to Christianity in it. It’s a pity
there ever was such a thing as Christianity, One might
have lived so well worshipping Jupiter, Mercury, all those
gallant deities who weren’t jealous of opposition, and who,
every time another god came along, squeezed up a bit to
make room for him, Whilst your God . . . (Tv =y wife)
Are you a Christian, Madame ?

My WIFE : Doubly so. I was baptized a Catholic and
took my first communion as a Protestant.

CLEMENCEAU: And didn’t you get matried in the
synagogue ? You did wrong. You should bid for all
the pictures.

(We have arrived at the door. As we are
shaking hands :

CLEMENCEAU (Jooking at us) : Are you happy ?
MYSELF: Wetrytobe. . . .
CLEMENCEAU : What is happiness ?
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AT SAINT-VINCENT-SUR-JARD.
soth July, rg28,

A lovely soft blue sky across which glide enormous,
lazy white clouds.

Machecoul. Challans, etc., , . .

On leaving Saint-Vincent the car is swept by a puff of
wind carrying the pungent odour of seaweed. The road
leads toward the sea. On the right an isolated hut—the
famous Ocean Café for whose tenants Clemenceau wishes
ruin with the least possible delay.

Then a little forest of pines in which the road becomes
entangled. At the entrance is a notice, ¢ Private Property.’
I rush in. There it is, what the post-cards of Jard and
Talmont call ¢ The cottage of M. Clemenceau.” A long
farm-house with a tiled roof. In front of the house
a confusion of flowers and shrubbety which grow
mysteriously in the sand dunes. Beyond the garden the
pale gold strand, and beyond the strand the smiling ocean
dreaming in the sun,

A man in white is sitting on a bench facing the sea—
it is Clemenceau.

He catches sight of us, ¢ Hello, thete youare | ° Without
giving us the chance to say 2 word he asks, ¢ What do you
think of my revolving fountain ?’

* Wonderful.’

‘ Wouldr’t you think you were in the Parc Montsouris?*

A man’s head appears between two clumps of foliage.
‘Hey |’ calls Clemenceau. * Those spindle-trees must be
cut down. They block the view.’



The Cottage and the Garden in the Vendde
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He turns to us. ‘That’s my gardener., He won't
understand that I like to see the ocean. Come along and
see your rooms.’

“Two? That’salot....

‘1 told you the bed is as nartow as a canoe. Now
come this way. Here are my cypresses. Look at them—
they gtow like weeds. Moreover, everything grows in
this grass.’

‘ There are two ot three . .

¢ Say it—they’re dead. ‘That’s because of a tecent high
wind. Turn round—what about that ? That blue thistle
—those rose-coloured things? That sort of fern with
which the wind is playing—isn’t it lovely? And that—
and that? The sea and the sky. That lovely little cloud
which looks as if it had been forgotten in moving. . . .2

¢ There’s an island away off on the horizon. Piétri
maintains that it’s Corsica. I think it’s the Ile de Ré.’

On the left and at the far end of the latge bill-hook,
which is the shape the golden shore takes, is the headland
of Groin. Distant ships. Gulls. The gentle sound of
the waves breaking on the sand-bank. . . .

¢ Come and do the tour of my castle. . . .

Behind the house lies a small enclosure of flowers
which is protected by a broom hedge.

¢ In the morning I come and sit here,” says Clemencean.
‘I look and I listen, Tiny birds come and perch on the
tips of the branches and sway and send forth their little
chirps.’

We go into the sitting-room. It’s a kind of large wood
cabin which Clemenceau had built and which he filled with
the furniture from Bernouville.? There are windows
looking out on the country, and one on the sea. Thete
are no foundations—it stands directly on the sand.

We cross the toom and go out by a kind of manger of

1 Diminagemeni—ihe removal from one house to ancothet.—Trantlator’s note,
! Clemenceau had sold the property which hie had at Bernouville in the Eure,
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the Nativity, which Clemenceau has made his favoutite
corner. Tree trunks support the roof of branches. It
opens out on to the sez; the sound of the water-spouts
and the waves is borne in gently by the breeze. .

* So Stresemann is coming to Paris,” says Clemenceau.,
¢ Will they decorate the town with ﬂags 2’

He takes my arm. ° Come and see my nest. . . .

We take a few steps in the sand, and suddenly he orders,
‘Stop! Stoop down !’

He separates a clump of undetbrush. I find myself
staring into a downy crater filled with horrid little heads
from which eyes stand out in the form of violet-coloured
tumours.

“It’s cost me sixteen thousand francs to build dykes
for my garden. Otherwise the ocean would have swal-
lowedit. . . .

A terrace surrounds the shore. We walk through
yellow iris.  © Just look at that. They grow all over the
place. 1 can’t sit down anywhere without an iris growing
between my feet. . . .°

We sit down on z wooden bench worn and scarred by
the sea-winds.

‘ Let’s dream,’ says Clemenceau.

¢ About what ? > Iask,

“ The Brothethood of Man.’

Albert appeats behind the bench. * Monsieur le
President, lunch is ready.’

‘ Splendid,” says Clemenceau, ‘ That dream gave me a
hollow feeling, Let’s eat.

H
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THE CRADLE AND THE GRAVE

15th August, 1928,

I received this telegram: ° WILL YOU LUNCH WITH ME
WEDNESDAY AFTERWARDS GO TO COLOMBIER. CLEMENCEAU.”

This time it’s raining. The roads are full of peasant
women in small white head-dresses and carrying large
umbrellas.

I find Clemenceau in his bedtoom.

‘Pm better. But I had a bad go of it. The truth
must be admitted—I'm breaking up in every way. What
did you do with your wife? Didn’t you bring her? She
funked the ttip? I’'m re-reading a book which ist’t at all
bad—Siories of Merovingian Times.

“ A bit theatrical, . .

‘It’s right all. Have you seen my dog? No?
Aren’t you curious? He’s a Scotch terrier with a most
sympathetic face. I can’t live without dogs. They have
such silences. . . /

At noon we are eating.

“ What do you think of this bass ?’

* Excellent, You have travelled, sit. . . .

¢ Alittle. I know this world’s roads fairly. . . .

‘ Have you ever seen a country where the food is as
good as in ours P’

‘ Never.’

‘Recently I dined in a Chinese restaurant ; it nearly
killed me. . .

‘By Jove! yes. At Singapore they spread a Chinese
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banquet before me—sharks’ fins, swallows’ nests, and so
forth. Those concoctions ought to be prohibited.”

I watched him devouring his food ravenously, fiercely.
I can’t help exclaiming ¢ Oh!’

‘ What’s the matter?’

 You give the impression of having a capital appetite.
I thought you were ill.’

‘I want to die happy. Eat.

After the stewed peaches and coffee we make a start.
‘Two pillows have been installed in the Rolls, and Clemen-
ceau hollows out 2 place for himself in one of them. The
rickety old vehicle lumbers forward with a whir. The
struggle begins. Pot-holes and bumps. We negotiate
the little hump-backed bridges at full speed. Clemenceau
is hutled against me and I tumble over on to him, Crash!
Bang !

‘I wonder if he’s watching what he’s doing,’ says
Clemenceau, referring to Brabant, the chauffeur.

Sainte Hilaire, Avrillé, Mouthiers-les-Maufaits and its
covered market, Mareuil. The famous grove. The
tangle of little valleys. The toads bordered with leafy
hedges. The gray houses roofed in rose-coloured tiles.
Bonnezeau, Chantonnay. Brabant goes on, his head
down. . . .

Mouilleron . . . Rue Georges Clemenceau.

¢ That’s the house in which I was botn something like
eighty-seven years ago. ‘They’ve put up a plaque.’

'The car stops before a large house with a flat and dreary
fagade. I glanced at the plaque, * The man to whom
ascends the gratitude, . . . etc.

We go in. It is 2 bakery. One notices first a little
shop full of six-pound loaves split in half. Then the
Michonneaus, Father Michonneau, Mother Michonneau,
the son and daughter-in-law.

We go into the sitting-room, a large square apartment
whose windows open on the street.
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‘ I’ve danced first-tate polkas there,” says Clemenceau,

Mother Michonneau drags me off. ‘Come and see
where he was born.’

We climb a little wooden staircase. On the first floor
is a series of large square rooms.

Mother Michonneau pushes a doot open. There it is.
A bedroom. The window looks out on the back garden
and the grape-arbour.

‘The next room (she opens another door) is where he slept
when he wassmall. ‘Through a third door is a third room,
which he occupied when he was older.

One would think that only he had lived in this house
and that the house is full of him and him alone.

We go down again. Clemenceau chucks the old
woman under the chin: ‘I’'m jealous of you. ’

‘Why?’

* You’ve a handsomer moustache than 1.

When Father Michonneau complains of his feet, which
make it difficult for him to get round, Clemenceau cries,
‘ You mustn’t die before me !’

‘Tl not let myself, I’ll do all I can not to.”

‘Hello!’ exclaims Clemenceau, recognising a cup-
board. ‘TI've been shutup in that.’

We leave. The grove is given life and dramatised.

Réaumur, °© The chitean is still there,’ says Clemenceau.
¢ There are still descendants of the family in it. Probably
they don’t even know what a thermometer is.’

The valleys become deeper. Pousauges with its
ruined keep. Le Boupére and its fortified church.
Mouchamps. . . . The Rolls becomes entangled in a road
which is nothing but a dry ditch. It climbs, curves down.
Suddenly : ¢ There’s Colombier.’

Haystacks. Masses of broken stonmes. In the midst
of them is visible a latge building pierced by nartow,
widely-spaced windows, and by two dove-cote tutrets.

Z2 A



354 CLEMENCEAU

Behind it rises the squat tower which sutvives from the
old chiteau.

Men and women come up to him. He recognises
them.

‘Howareyou?’ ° Hello, there’s Monsieur Georges!’

Jokes about life and the familiar old theme of death.

‘Let’s go in)’

A large square room with a beamed ceiling and an
arms-rack over the mantel. You feel the sadness of dreary
lives and of toil. Clemenceau looks all about him. He
looks at the men who have called him © Master,” at a child
who is coughing,

All of his youth eddies through the four walls of this
room, the great wood fire whete he dried his damp clothes
after hunting, the table where he devoured enormous
dishes of food with his fifteen-yeat-old appetite; the
rafters on the ceiling which he used to ask questions about
the future. . . .

Two or three words about the child’s cough: ‘I can
no longer use a stethoscope—I can’t hear anything. . .
He takes my arm,  Come zlong.’

We again cross the courtyard, whete the hens are
pilfering and the dogs scratching themselves.

He points out an enclosure planted with trees.

‘It’s there.

What’s there? He opens a doot and we go in. A
terrace planted with acacies which ovetlooks the bed of
a stream.? In the centre of the terrace has been erected
the Samos stele.?

* Stoop down. Thete’s my fathet’s grave. . .

I stoop. It is situated on a lower level, on a kind of
second terrace. A little iron frame, without a2 name.
Weeds.

‘ Mine is beside it. It’s already dug.’

1 The Petit Lay.
% Itis the bas-relief made by Sicard after the sicle in the Actopolis Museum,

?
-
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THE CRADLE AND THE GRAVE 33%

Trees. Many trees. There is a great simplicity about
it, and yet at the same time a great arrogance. And a kind
of peace as of the beginning of the world.

I remove my hat. Clemenceau nudges my elbow.
‘ Keep yout hat on, It’s nothing.’

Then, pointing to “ his grave * :

‘ Take a look at it. There in a nutshell is all that you

can say about me—a hole in the ground and a great deal
of noise about nothing.’
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